

Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 1: Development

Build business integration applications

Build mediations

Use adapters

Carla Sadtler Srinivasa Rao Borusu Sergiy Fastovets Thalia Hooker Ernese Norelus Fabio Paone Dong Yu

Redbooks

ibm.com/redbooks



International Technical Support Organization

Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 1: Development

June 2008

Note: Before using this information and the product it supports, read the information in "Notices" on page xi.

First Edition (June 2008)

This edition applies to IBM WebSphere Process Server V6.1 and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1.

© Copyright International Business Machines Corporation 2008. All rights reserved. Note to U.S. Government Users Restricted Rights -- Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

Contents

Notices
Preface xiii The team that wrote this book xiii Become a published author xv Comments welcome xv
Chapter 1. Introduction to the products11.1 WebSphere Process Server21.1.1 Introduction to the product21.1.2 V6.1 highlights31.2 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus51.2.1 Introduction to the product51.2.2 V6.1 highlights61.3 WebSphere Adapters71.3.1 WebSphere Business Integration Adapters71.4 WebSphere Integration Developer9
1.4.1 Introduction to the product 10 1.4.2 V6.1 highlights 10
Chapter 2. Concepts for development. 11 2.1 SCA and WebSphere Process Server 12 2.1.1 Service components 12 2.1.2 Service component assembly 14 2.1.3 Import and export bindings 17 2.1.4 Quality of service. 21 2.2 WebSphere Process Server components 21 2.2 1 WebSphere Process Server specific components 22
2.2.1 WebSphere Process Server specific components 22 2.2.2 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus specific components 26 2.2.3 Common event infrastructure 27
Chapter 3. Basics of development. 29 3.1 WebSphere Integration Developer key features 30 3.1.1 Base tools and run times. 30 3.1.2 Developer roles. 30 3.1.3 Workspace and perspectives 31 3.1.4 Assembly diagram. 32

3.1.5 Editors	33
3.1.6 Business Integration view	36
3.1.7 Physical Resources view	37
3.1.8 Other Business Integration views	38
3.2 Working with WebSphere Integration Developer	39
3.2.1 Typical development flow	39
3.2.2 Start WebSphere Integration Developer	42
3.2.3 Using the Business Integration perspective	43
3.3 Project types	44
3.3.1 Libraries	44
3.3.2 Modules and mediation modules	46
3.4 Business objects	53
3.4.1 Business object fields	53
3.4.2 Business graph	54
3.4.3 Creating a business object	54
3.4.4 Adding fields to a business object	55
3.4.5 Creating a business graph	62
3.5 Interfaces	63
3.5.1 Creating a new interface	65
3.5.2 Adding operations	66
3.6 Module assembly	69
3.6.1 Module assembly diagrams	69
3.6.2 Mediation module assembly diagrams	73
3.6.3 Generating a binding	74
3.6.4 Using adapters	78
3.7 Business object maps	79
3.7.1 Data transformation types	80
3.7.2 Creating a business object map	81
3.8 Using a stand-alone reference	85
3.8.1 Invoking the reference from a JSP	89
3.9 Working with databases in the workspace	91
3.9.1 Derby databases	91
3.9.2 Using the Database Explorer to connect to a database	92
3.9.3 Using the SQL editor	95
3.9.4 Loading data into tables	96
3.9.5 Viewing and editing data in the tables.	97
3.9.6 Closing connections	99
3.10 Derby ij tool	99
3.10.1 Create a database	100
3.10.2 Database disconnect and reconnect	102
3.10.3 Drop tables	103
3.10.4 Viewing a database	104

3.11 Deploying modules	. 105
3.11.1 Deploying the module for testing.	. 105
3.11.2 Deploying the module for production	. 105
3.12 Test tools	. 105
3.12.1 Integrated test environment	. 106
3.12.2 Component testing	. 110
3.12.3 JSP component testing	. 114
3.13 Team development	. 115
3.13.1 Sharing your integration project	. 116
3.13.2 Using CVS	. 117
3.13.3 Install CVS and create a repository	. 117
3.13.4 Adding a CVS repository to the workspace	. 118
3.13.5 Sharing a project with CVS	. 119
3.13.6 Checking out a project from CVS	. 122
3.13.7 Checking in changes to a project to CVS	. 122
Chanter 4. Duilding husiness intervation explications	107
4.1. Typical development flow	100
4.1 Typical development for modulos	120
4.2 Service components for modules	120
4.3.1 Creating a Java component	130
4.3.2 Creating a "HelloWorld" sample	131
4.4 Business processes	134
4.4.1 Types of business processes	134
4.4.2 New enhanced business process features with WebSphere Proc	ess
Server V6.1.	. 136
4.4.3 Creating a business process	. 139
4.4.4 Business process editor	. 146
4.4.5 Building blocks of a business process	. 148
4.4.6 Using partners in a business process	. 148
4.4.7 Using variables in a business process	. 151
4.4.8 Using activities in a business process.	. 153
4.4.9 Using elements in a business process	. 177
4.4.10 Using correlation in a business process	. 178
4.4.11 Using handlers in a business process.	. 179
4.5 Human tasks	. 184
4.5.1 Implementations and types of human tasks	. 185
4.5.2 Creating a human task	. 189
4.5.3 Human task editor	. 195
4.5.4 Building blocks of a human task	. 197
4.5.5 People assignments	. 198
4.5.6 User interfaces	. 206
4.5.7 Escalations	. 206

4.5.8	Ad-hoc tasks	209
4.5.9	New human task features in WebSphere Process Server V6.1	210
4.6 Adm	inistering processes and tasks	212
4.6.1	Business process templates and instances	212
4.6.2	Human task templates and instances	213
4.6.3	Administering process and task templates	213
4.6.4	Business Process Choreographer Explorer	214
4.6.5	Administering process and task instances	217
4.6.6	Business Process Choreographer Observer	219
4.6.7	New, enhanced Business Process Choreographer features with	
	WebSphere Process Server V6.1	219
4.7 Busi	ness state machines	221
4.7.1	Creating a state machine	223
4.7.2	Business state machine editor	227
4.7.3	Building blocks of a state machine	228
4.7.4	Using correlation properties in a state machine	228
4.7.5	Using states in a state machine	230
4.7.6	Using transitions in a state machine	233
4.7.7	Vending machine sample	236
4.8 Busi	ness rules	237
4.8.1	Cashback business rule sample	238
4.8.2	Rule groups	239
4.8.3	Rule sets	244
4.8.4	Decision tables	252
4.8.5	Business rules manager	261
4.8.6	New, enhanced business rules features with WebSphere Process	
	Server V6.1	264
4.9 Sele	ctors	265
4.9.1	Creating a selector	265
4.9.2	Configuring the selector	269
4.9.3	Adding selectors to the assembly diagram	271
4.10 Inte	erface maps	271
4.10.1	Creating an interface map	273
4.10.2	2 Adding the map to the assembly diagram	281
0		005
	5. Building mediations	285
5.1 Web	Sphere Enterprise Service Bus architecture	280
5.1.1	Mediation modules	286
5.1.2		288
5.1.3		289
5.1.4		290
5.1.5		291
5.1.6	Security	293

5.2 Service message objects	294
5.2.1 SMO structure	294
5.2.2 SMO manipulation	304
5.3 Typical development flow	305
5.4 Creating a mediation	306
5.4.1 Mediation flow editor	309
5.5 Service connection and invocation	312
5.6 Transformation primitives	318
5.6.1 XSL Transformation primitive	318
5.6.2 Business Object Map primitive	325
5.6.3 Database Lookup primitive	327
5.6.4 Message Element Setter primitive	333
5.6.5 Set Message Type primitive	336
5.7 Routing primitives	339
5.7.1 Message Filter primitive	339
5.7.2 The Endpoint Lookup primitive	343
5.7.3 Fan Out and Fan In primitive	348
5.7.4 Service Invoke primitive	352
5.8 Tracing primitives	355
5.8.1 Message Logger primitive	355
5.8.2 Event Emitter primitive	358
5.9 Error Handling primitives	361
5.9.1 Fail primitive	361
5.9.2 Stop primitive	361
5.10 Custom Mediation primitive	361
Chapter 6. Mediation examples	363
6.1 Database Lookup example	364
6.1.1 Create the database and connection	365
6.1.2 Create the mediation module	368
6.1.3 Complete the assembly diagram.	370
6.1.4 Wire the operation connections.	371
6.1.5 Build the mediation flow	372
6.1.6 Response flow.	376
6.1.7 Preparing the run time	377
6.1.8 Test the module	380
6.2 Message Element Setter example	385
6.2.1 Build the assembly diagram	385
6.2.2 Operation connections	385
6.2.3 Build the request flow	386
6.2.4 Build the response flow	387
6.2.5 Test the module	389

6.3 Set Message Type example	391
6.3.1 Build the ExternalCustomerLib library	391
6.3.2 Build the ExternalCustomerInfo Web service	392
6.3.3 Build SetMessageTypeMediation module	399
6.3.4 Create an anyType business object and the interface	400
6.3.5 Wire the connections	402
6.3.6 Build the request flow	402
6.3.7 Response flow	407
6.3.8 Test the flow	409
6.4 Message Filter example	419
6.4.1 Create the module	419
6.4.2 Build the response flow	419
6.4.3 Message Filter primitive	420
6.4.4 NorthCarolinaXSLT XSL Transformation	425
6.4.5 Test the flow	427
6.5 Endpoint Lookup example	429
6.5.1 Building ThirdPartyCustomerInfo	429
6.5.2 Export the service as a Web service	432
6.5.3 Export the service definitions	434
6.5.4 Load the definitions to the registry	436
6.5.5 Configure the registry to WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus	447
6.5.6 Create the mediation module	449
6.5.7 Create the interface	450
6.5.8 Build the assembly diagram	450
6.5.9 Build the operation connections	452
6.5.10 Build the request flow	453
6.5.11 Build the response flow	458
6.5.12 Test the flow	459
6.6 The Event Emitter primitive	461
6.6.1 Operation connections	462
6.6.2 Build the mediation flow	463
6.6.3 Test the mediation.	466
Chapter 7 Using adapters	471
7 1 IBM WebSphere JCA Adapter architecture	472
7.1.1 Different types of WebSphere JCA Adapters	. 474
7.2 IBM WebSphere Adapter Toolkit	. 476
7.3 Enterprise Metadata Discovery	476
7.4 Tools for creating JCA adapters	477
7.4.1 Using the external service wizard	477
7.4.2 Using the adapter pattern wizard	478
7.4.3 Adapter deployment options	479
· · · ·	

7.5 Example: Using the WebSphere Adapter for JDBC 479 7.5.1 Creating an authentication alias for the database 491 7.5.2 Creating the data source for the database 492 7.5.3 Deploying the module to the test environment 498
Appendix A. WebSphere Integration Developer installation503Installation of WebSphere Integration Developer504Hardware and software requirements504Getting started with the installation504
Appendix B. Additional material511Locating the Web material511Using the Web material512
Related publications513IBM Redbooks publications513Online resources513How to get IBM Redbooks514Help from IBM514
Index



Notices

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not give you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing, IBM Corporation, North Castle Drive, Armonk, NY 10504-1785 U.S.A.

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law: INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM Web sites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those Web sites. The materials at those Web sites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those Web sites is at your own risk.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are fictitious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

This information contains sample application programs in source language, which illustrate programming techniques on various operating platforms. You may copy, modify, and distribute these sample programs in any form without payment to IBM, for the purposes of developing, using, marketing or distributing application programs conforming to the application programming interface for the operating platform for which the sample programs are written. These examples have not been thoroughly tested under all conditions. IBM, therefore, cannot guarantee or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of these programs.

Trademarks

IBM, the IBM logo, and ibm.com are trademarks or registered trademarks of International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both. These and other IBM trademarked terms are marked on their first occurrence in this information with the appropriate symbol (® or ™), indicating US registered or common law trademarks owned by IBM at the time this information was published. Such trademarks may also be registered or common law trademarks in other countries. A current list of IBM trademarks is available on the Web at http://www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml

The following terms are trademarks of the International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both:

AIX®	IBM®	Redbooks®
CICS®	IMS™	Redbooks (logo) 🤣 🛽
ClearCase®	Informix®	Tivoli®
Cloudscape®	Lotus®	WebSphere®
DB2®	MVS™	Workplace™
developerWorks®	OS/2®	z/OS®
i5/OS®	Rational®	

The following terms are trademarks of other companies:

Oracle, JD Edwards, PeopleSoft, Siebel, and TopLink are registered trademarks of Oracle Corporation and/or its affiliates.

SAP, and SAP logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of SAP AG in Germany and in several other countries.

EJB, J2EE, Java, JavaServer, JDBC, JSP, JVM, Solaris, and all Java-based trademarks are trademarks of Sun Microsystems, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both.

Excel, Microsoft, SQL Server, Windows Server, Windows, and the Windows logo are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries.

Linux is a trademark of Linus Torvalds in the United States, other countries, or both.

Other company, product, or service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

Preface

This IBM® Redbooks® publication provides developers with information about building and testing applications for IBM WebSphere® Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. It helps developers with the tasks of creating business integration applications and mediations. It also includes information about the use of adapters.

This is the first book of a three-part series:

Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus:

- Part 1: Development, SG24-7608
- ▶ Part 2: Scenario, SG24-7642
- ▶ Part 3: Runtime, SG24-7643

The team that wrote this book

This book was produced by a team of specialists from around the world working at the International Technical Support Organization (ITSO), Raleigh Center.



Carla Sadtler is a Consulting IT Specialist at the ITSO, Raleigh Center. She writes extensively about WebSphere and Patterns for e-business areas. Before joining the ITSO in 1985, Carla worked in the Raleigh branch office as a Program Support Representative, supporting MVS[™] customers. She holds a degree in mathematics from the University of North Carolina at Greensboro.



Srinivasa Rao Borusu is a Senior IT Specialist at IBM India Software Labs, Bangalore. He is currently working as a WebSphere Consultant with IBM Business Partner Technical Strategy and Enablement (BPTSE) Developer Services team, enabling and supporting worldwide business partners on WebSphere products. Since he joined IBM in 2000, he has played various roles, including Tech Lead for the IBM Java[™] Virtual Machine Support during his tenure at OS/2® worldwide

support center. His technical portfolio also includes one FILE rated patent, four IBM SOA and WebSphere product certifications, and several published articles.

He holds a masters degree in Computer Applications from the Andhra University, Visakhapatnam, India.



Sergiy Fastovets joined IBM in 1996 in the Research Triangle Park. He has 10 years of experience in design, development, and sales support in the Host Integration area. In 2006, Sergiy transferred to the IBM UK where he is an IT Consultant for WebSphere Software Services. He holds a degree in mathematics from the University of Saint Petersburg, Russia. His native town is Poltava, Ukraine.



Thalia Hooker Ph.D., is a Consulting IT Specialist and member of the WebSphere Americas iPoC Team. She executes proof-of-concepts using the WebSphere platform to show customers how IBM solutions and products can help them meet their integration requirements. These solutions and products include Service Oriented Architecture (SOA) and WebSphere Business Process Management products such as, WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.



Ernese Norelus is an IBM Certified Consulting IT Specialist with the ASEAN Software Services team in Singapore. He has been in IT for 10 years, with eight years of experience presenting, teaching, and proposing solution architectures to customers using the WebSphere business integration portfolio. He is also a well-known conference speaker, and he holds certifications in IM/DB2®, Lotus®, Rational®, Tivoli®, and WebSphere. He holds degrees in Biochemistry and Computer

Science and Information Technology Management from the Université du Québec à Montréal, Québec, Canada.



Fabio Paone is in WebSphere technical sales supporting the Channel (Business Partners) in Italy. He has four years of experience as a developer in the Rome Tivoli Lab, primarily in J2EE[™] development. He is certified as a WebSphere Application Server Administrator (versions 5, 6, and 6.1) and has participated in WebSphere Application Server certification test reviews.



Dong Yu is a Staff Software Engineer at IBM China Development Lab. He has four years of experience in the WebSphere Business Integration Field. His areas of expertise include WebSphere Process Server installation and Configuration. Dong holds a master degree in Software Engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical University.

Thanks to the following people for their contributions to this project:

Stephen Cocks IBM UK

Rich Conway International Technical Support Organization, Poughkeepsie Center

Margaret Ticknor International Technical Support Organization, Raleigh Center

Become a published author

Join us for a two- to six-week residency program! Help write a book dealing with specific products or solutions, while getting hands-on experience with leading-edge technologies. You will have the opportunity to team with IBM technical professionals, Business Partners, and Clients.

Your efforts will help increase product acceptance and customer satisfaction. As a bonus, you will develop a network of contacts in IBM development labs, and increase your productivity and marketability.

Find out more about the residency program, browse the residency index, and apply online at:

ibm.com/redbooks/residencies.html

Comments welcome

Your comments are important to us!

We want our books to be as helpful as possible. Send us your comments about this book or other IBM Redbooks in one of the following ways:

► Use the online **Contact us** review Redbooks form found at:

ibm.com/redbooks

Send your comments in an e-mail to:

redbooks@us.ibm.com

Mail your comments to:

IBM Corporation, International Technical Support Organization Dept. HYTD Mail Station P099 2455 South Road Poughkeepsie, NY 12601-5400

1

Introduction to the products

This book focuses on the development of business integration solutions for IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. Development activities are performed using IBM WebSphere Integration Developer. This chapter introduces these products and includes the following topics:

- WebSphere Process Server
- WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus
- WebSphere Adapters
- WebSphere Integration Developer

1.1 WebSphere Process Server

WebSphere Process Server is one of the key products in the IBM WebSphere Business Process Management suite. WebSphere Process Server integrates with WebSphere Portal to deliver business process management through a portal.

In this section, we provide a brief introduction to WebSphere Process Server.

1.1.1 Introduction to the product

A *business process* is a series of tasks executed in a specific order that an organization follows to achieve a larger business goal. WebSphere Process Server is a *process engine* that provides a hosting environment for business processing. It provides support for the Service Component Architecture (SCA) programming model. WebSphere Process Server includes support for both Web Services Business Process Execution Language (WS-BPEL) based process flows and business state machines. It supports the integration of business rules and for the incorporation of tasks that are carried out by users (human tasks) in a business process.

WebSphere Process Server is underpinned by IBM WebSphere Application Server Network Deployment, giving it extensive J2EE capabilities and the qualities of service (QoS) of that product, including the high availability, scalability, and security features. The administrative facilities of WebSphere Application Server have been enhanced to support processes and mediations. In addition, WebSphere Process Server provides several Web-based applications for managing the various aspects of business processes:

- Business Process Choreographer Explorer for managing business process and human tasks.
- Business Process Choreographer Observer that creates reports about events that occur during the execution of business processes and human tasks.
- Business rules manager that assists the business analyst in browsing and modifying business rule values.
- Common Base Event browser to retrieve and view events in the Common Event Infrastructure (CEI) event database.
- Failed event manager to find and manage WebSphere Process Server failed events, which can be a request sent to an application from an external source or an invocation to a Web service.
- Relationship manager to manipulate relationship data manually to correct errors found in automated relationship management or to provide more

complete relationship information. *Relationships* are services that are used to model and maintain associations between business objects and other data.

WebSphere Process Server incorporates the functionality of WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus to execute *mediations*. Mediation service applications intercept and modify messages that are passed between existing services (providers) and clients (requesters) that want to use those services. Both business processes and mediations can be deployed to a WebSphere Process Server application server.

Development of business integration processes for deployment to WebSphere Process Server and mediations for deployment to WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus is done using WebSphere Integration Developer. The tools are designed so that users can compose integrated business solutions easily without programming skills.

Information Center: The WebSphere Process Server V6.1 information center is a critical resource for learning about and using WebSphere Process Server:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.websphere.wps.610.doc/welcome_top_wps.htm

1.1.2 V6.1 highlights

Note: For a full list of what is new in WebSphere Process Server V6.1, see:

What is new in this release (AIX®, HP-UX, Linux®, Solaris™, Windows®, i5/OS®)

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/co m.ibm.websphere.wps.610.doc/doc/covw_new.html

What is new in this release (z/OS®)

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/co m.ibm.websphere.wps.z.610.doc/doc/covw new.html

The highlights of this release include:

New platform support, including support for i5/OS and 64-bit Windows and UNIX® platforms. You can find a full list of supported platforms at:

http://www-1.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?rs=2307&context=SSQH9M&uid= swg27009829

Performance enhancements

- ► New support for export and import bindings:
 - HTTP 1.0 and HTTP 1.1 are now supported as a general transport.
 Previously, HTTP support was provided only as a transport for SOAP over HTTP Web services.
 - Generic JMS is now supported to provide the ability to use any JMS 1.1 Application Server Facilities (ASF) compliant providers. Previously, support included only WebSphere MQ and the WebSphere Application Server default messaging provider.
 - Support has been added to allow you to use WebSphere Transformation Extender for data bindings
- Business objects can now be validated at run time. Validation can be done implicitly at the interface on all objects (for example, in a test environment) or programmatically.
- New structured activities
 - The Cyclic Flow activity allows you to add links that go back to a previous activity. Prior to V6.1, flow could only go forward and While Loops were commonly used to create cycles of activity.
 - The *ForEach* activity allows processing a dynamic number of work branches to be processed in parallel or serially. A completion condition can be specified to terminate the flow before all branches complete.
- Human tasks have been enhanced with extended people directory support, participant substitution, auto-deletion for completed tasks, and batch processing support.
- The Business Flow Manager now supports a generic JMS interface and extensions to the generic Web Services interface.
- The Business Process Choreographer Explorer has been enhanced to allow the substitution of users, suspend human tasks and business processes for a specific time, and to include other usability features.
- Forms that are created using IBM Lotus Forms Designer (integrated into WebSphere Integration Developer) can be used as the user interface for human tasks and processes.
- ► The WebSphere Portal Server My Task portlet can be extended with portlets that are generated from WebSphere Integration Developer.

1.2 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus

Information Center: The WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1 information center is a critical resource for learning about and using WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.websphere.wesb.61x.root.doc/info/welcome.html

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus delivers an enterprise service bus (ESB) infrastructure to connect applications that have standards-based interfaces (typically a Web service interface described in a WSDL file). WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus can be obtained as a stand-alone product. It is also included in WebSphere Process Server.

In this section, we provide a brief introduction to WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.

1.2.1 Introduction to the product

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus intercepts the requests of service consumers and fulfills additional tasks through mediations in order to support loose coupling. When the mediation completes, the service providers are invoked. WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus provides pre-built mediation primitives and easy-to-use tools to enable rapid construction and implementation mediations.

The mediation tasks include:

- Centralizing the routing logic so that service providers can be exchanged transparently
- Performing tasks like protocol translation and transport mapping
- Acting as a facade in order to provide different interfaces between service consumers and providers
- Adding logic to tasks such as logging and fan-in and fan-out operations

1.2.2 V6.1 highlights

Note: For a full list of what is new in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1, see:

- What is new in this release (AIX, HP-UX, Linux, Solaris, Windows, i5/OS) http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/co m.ibm.websphere.wesb610.doc/ref/rwesb releasenotes.html
- ► What is new in this release (z/OS)

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/co m.ibm.websphere.wesb610.zseries.doc/ref/rwesb_releasenotes.html

The following new and updated mediation primitives provide some of the new features in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1:

- The Service Invoke primitive is used to call a service from within a mediation flow, which is similar to a Callout node but the flow continues rather than switching to a response flow. It can retry a failed call, as well as route the call to another service or different endpoints of the service.
- The Callout node has been updated so that it also can retry a call to the same service or to a list of endpoints.
- The Fan Out and Fan In primitives are used to perform aggregation and broadcasting operations. Fan Out allows you to send a message multiple times or to send new messages created using single message as input. Fan In allows you to receive multiple messages and combine them into one message.
- The Endpoint Lookup primitive has been updated. The primitive is used to retrieve dynamically a service endpoint from the WebSphere Service Registry Repository. The primitive has been updated so that an alternate target list can be populated during the lookup. This alternate target list is used for service callout retries.
- ► The Set Message Type primitive allows you to overlay message fields with more detailed structures. It lets you do the equivalent of casting a generic data type to a more specific data type.
- ► The *Business Object Map* primitive allows you to use a business object map for message transformation. This is a new alternative to XSLT transformation.

1.3 WebSphere Adapters

Enterprise information systems (EIS) provide the information infrastructure for an enterprise by providing a set of services to clients, for example:

- Enterprise resource planning (ERP)
- Customer relationship management (CRM)
- Human resource systems (HR)
- Relational database systems

Adapters provide integration with enterprise information systems that do not provide service interfaces. They allow you to take advantage of these existing IT assets in your service-oriented architecture (SOA) without significant programming, thus simplifying integration. Adapters are presented as SCA components.

Adapters can be divided into two classes:

- WebSphere JCA Adapters
- WebSphere Business Integration Adapters

1.3.1 WebSphere JCA Adapters

WebSphere JCA Adapters provide a mechanism that allows for the integration of an existing EIS infrastructure with the WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Server Bus server. They provide a service-oriented approach to EIS integration. Resource adapters offer a consistent framework for access to back-end systems and their applications.

WebSphere JCA Adapters are compliant to the Java Connector Architecture 1.5 specification, the J2EE standard for EIS connectivity. This standard provides a managed framework. That is, quality of service (QoS) is provided by the application server, which offers life cycle management and security to transactions. WebSphere JCA Adapters are also compliant with the Enterprise Metadata Discovery specification with the exception of the IBM CICS® ECI Resource Adapter and the IBM IMS[™] Connector for Java.

The following IBM WebSphere Adapters are supported for WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus:

- IBM CICS ECI Resource Adapter Version 7
- IBM IMS Connector for Java Version 9.1.0.2.4
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Email Version 6.1
- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for FTP Version 6.1
- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for Flat Files Version 6.1
- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for JDBCTM Version 6.1

- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for JD Edwards® EnterpriseOne Version 6.1
- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for Oracle® E-Business Suite Version 6.1
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for PeopleSoft® Version 6.1
- ► IBM WebSphere Adapter for SAP® Software Version 6.1
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Siebel® Business Applications Version 6.1

WebSphere Adapters are included with WebSphere Integration Developer. CICS, IMS, JD Edwards, Oracle, PeopleSoft, SAP, and Siebel resource adapters are shipped in WebSphere Integration Developer for development purposes only. That is, you can use them to develop and test an application. When deployed to a production server, your application will need a licensed runtime resource adapter. Note that when you build your service, you have the option of embedding the resource adapter with the service. If you use that option, your resource adapter licensing might allow you to use the embedded resource adapter as the licensed runtime resource adapter.

1.3.2 WebSphere Business Integration Adapters

IBM WebSphere Business Integration Adapters do not comply to either the JCA architecture or the Enterprise Metadata Discovery specification. The WebSphere Business Integration Adapter artifacts must first be created using the tool set that is provided with the WebSphere Business Integration Adapter Framework. Unlike the IBM WebSphere Adapters, none of these adapters are supplied for development purposes.

Some additional differences between the IBM WebSphere JCA Adapters and the IBM WebSphere Business Integration Adapters include:

- IBM WebSphere JCA Adapters rely on standard JCA contracts to manage life cycle tasks such as stopping and starting. IBM WebSphere Business Integration Adapters rely on the WebSphere Adapter Framework to manage connectivity.
- With WebSphere Adapters, you use an external service wizard in WebSphere Integration Developer to discover an EIS system and its available information. The external service wizard develops business objects from the discovered information. WebSphere Business Integration Adapters use a separate Object Discovery Agent (ODA) to probe an EIS and generate business object definition schemas.
- An outbound service type in WebSphere Adapters is known as request processing with WebSphere Business Integration Adapters. An inbound service type in WebSphere Adapters is known as event processing with WebSphere Business Integration Adapters.

- WebSphere Business Integration Adapters always reside outside of an application server at run time. The server communicates with this type of adapter through a Java Messaging Service (JMS) transport layer.
- WebSphere Business Integration Adapters use an asynchronous stand-alone runtime architecture (the WBI Framework) with WebSphere MQ or JMS as the underlying transport protocol. Originally designed for WebSphere InterChange Server, they remain available for WebSphere Message Broker, WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, and WebSphere Process Server users transitioning from WebSphere InterChange Server or WebSphere Business Integration Server.

WebSphere Adapters V6.1 no longer ships the WebSphere Business Integration components. WebSphere Adapters V6.0.2 is available for the users requiring the WebSphere Business Integration components for the following adapters:

- Flat File Adapter
- ► FTP Adapter
- ► Email Adapter
- ► JDBC Adapter
- PeopleSoft Adapter
- ► JD Edwards EnterpriseOne Adapter
- ► SAP Software Adapter
- Siebel Business Applications Adapter
- Oracle eBusiness Suite Adapter

1.4 WebSphere Integration Developer

Information Center: The WebSphere Integration Developer V6.1 information center is a critical resource for learning about and using WebSphere Integration Developer:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.wbit.610.help.nav.doc/topics/welcome.html

WebSphere Integration Developer is the common tool for building SOA-based integration solutions across WebSphere Process Server, WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, and WebSphere Adapters. It simplifies integration with rich features that accelerate the adoption of SOA by rendering existing IT assets as service components, encouraging reuse and efficiency.

In this section, we provide a brief introduction to WebSphere Integration Developer.

1.4.1 Introduction to the product

WebSphere Integration Developer enables integration developers to assemble complex business solutions that require minimal skills, whether they involve processes, mediations, adapters, or code components. Users can construct process and integration solutions using drag-and-drop technology without having a working knowledge of Java.

In addition to providing the tools that are necessary to build and assemble these artifacts, the product includes a full test framework that allows you to execute results in a seamless fashion in an environment that is identical to that found in production but without having to perform the steps to administer and configure such an environment.

1.4.2 V6.1 highlights

WebSphere Integration Developer has been enhanced to support the new features and functions in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1 and WebSphere Process Server V6.1.

2

Concepts for development

This chapter provides information about key concepts that are required to develop applications for WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus and WebSphere Process Server.

The chapter includes the following topics:

- SCA and WebSphere Process Server
- WebSphere Process Server components

2.1 SCA and WebSphere Process Server

Service Component Architecture (SCA) is a set of specifications that describe a model for building applications and systems using service-oriented architecture (SOA). SCA encourages an organization of business application code based on components that implement business logic. These business applications offer their capabilities as services through interfaces and consume services that are offered by other components through references.

SCA separates business logic from implementation. The implementation of business processes is contained in *service components* (also referred to as *components*), which can be assembled graphically in WebSphere Integration Developer. The service components can be implemented later.

There are four basic tasks that are required to build service-oriented applications for WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus using SCA:

- The implementation of service components that provide services and consume other services.
- The assembly of service components to build business applications, through the wiring of service references to services.
- The generation of bindings to define the transport and protocol that are used to connect to external clients and services.
- The assignment of quality of service attributes.

2.1.1 Service components

A service component consists of an implementation, one or more interfaces that defines its inputs, outputs and faults, and zero or more references. A reference identifies the interface of another service or component that this component requires or consumes.

Figure 2-1 on page 13 shows an SCA module with its service components, interfaces and references. The implementation types for the service component are specific to a business integration module in WebSphere Process Server.



Figure 2-1 Block diagram of a component

A service component has an implementation that is associated with it that performs the logic of the module. You can implement services using a variety of programming paradigms, from process-flow style BPEL processes, to state machine-style event management, to declarative business rules style. The style of implementation that you select is determined both by your comfort level with a given paradigm and the nature of the problem.

The following implementation types are available for service components in a business integration module:

- Interface maps
- Business state machines
- Java objects
- Processes
- Human tasks
- Selectors
- Rule groups (business rules)

A service component in a mediation module is implemented as a *mediation flow*.

2.1.2 Service component assembly

A service component is presented in a standard block diagram referred to as a *module assembly*, or in WebSphere Integration Developer, as an *assembly diagram*. Figure 2-2 shows an example of an assembly diagram. It contains components that are wired together. The figure shows the implementation for the components, but you can also add untyped components to an assembly diagram to implement later.



Figure 2-2 Service component module

Interfaces

An *interface* provides the input and output of a component and is independent of the internal implementation of the component. The interface specifies the operations that can be called and the data that is passed, such as input, output parameters, and exceptions.

All components have WSDL type interfaces. Only Java components support Java type interfaces in addition to WSDL type interfaces. If a component, import, or export has more than one interface, all the interfaces must be of the same type.

An interface supports synchronous and asynchronous interaction styles.

References

A *reference* (sometimes referred to as a *partner reference*) is required when one component uses another component. It is defined on the component that wants

to use another component. A reference specifies the interface that is used in the invocation of the other component.

The implementation type of the component determines the type of interface that its partner references can have. All components support WSDL interfaces in their partner references.

A service component can include zero or more references to other service components or imports included in the current module.

You can define references in two ways:

- You can in-line the reference in the service component definition. In this approach, the references are available only to the service component in which the references are included.
- You can include reference definitions within the stand-alone references file. In this approach, the references can be used by a non-SCA client or by another component within the module. An example of a non-SCA component that might use a reference in the stand-alone references file is a user interface component such as a JSP™ that needs the ability to invoke a particular service. In order to invoke the service, the client needs a reference so that it can use the SCA run time to lookup the appropriate target.

By simply naming a reference and specifying its interface, the component implementation author can defer binding that reference to an actual service until later. At that later time, the integration specialist will do so by wiring the reference to the interface of another component or import. This *loose coupling*, which allows for deferred binding and the re-use of implementations, is one of the key reasons for using SCA.

Stand-alone references

Stand-alone references allow services that are not defined as SCA components (for example, JavaServer[™] Pages) to invoke SCA components. Stand-alone references contain partner references that identify the components to call. On their own, stand-alone references do not have any implementation or interface.

A module assembly can contain one stand-alone reference artifact. You can add partner references to the stand-alone references and wire them to target components or target imports.

Stand-alone references can be used in a mediation module. They can be deployed to either a WebSphere Process Server or a WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus server.

Exports

An *export* component exposes an interface for use by external service callers or other SCA modules. An export has an associated binding that describes the physical communication mechanism to be used. The interface for the export describes how a caller must interact with the module. It shields the implementation of the module from the caller. The export component is wired to the first component in the module, for example, a business process or mediation flow component.

Imports

Import components identify services outside of a module, so they can be called from within the module. An import component has an associated binding that specifies the means of transporting the data to and from the external service.

Every import has an associated interface. Thus, the import can be wired to any other component that has a matching Interface type reference. The caller of the import has no knowledge that it is calling an import, only that it is calling another SCA component that has a specific interface.

Wires

Wires are used to assemble these nodes in a module assembly. There are two types of wires:

The first type of wire comes from a partner reference (the source) that is defined for a component or stand-alone references and goes to a component or import (the target). In this case, the wire identifies the component or import (target) that is accessed when the source component uses that partner reference. By default, a partner reference allows only one wire leading from it unless the partner reference's multiplicity property is changed to 0...n.

The target of a wire should support the interface or interfaces that the source specifies. If the partner reference on a source node cannot find a matching interface on the target node, you will have the option to create an interface map or to add a new interface on the target. Also, a WSDL partner reference cannot be wired directly to a Java interface.

The second type of wire comes from an export (the source) and goes to a component or import (the target), as illustrated in Figure 2-3. In this case, the wire identifies the (target) component that provides the service. An export can only have one wire leading out of it.



Figure 2-3 Wire the business process component to a human task component

Data is passed between the components in the form a business objects (in business integration modules) or service message objects (in mediation modules).

2.1.3 Import and export bindings

Bindings determine specifically how the import and export components interact with clients outside the module. Bindings specify the message format, protocol, and invocation style details for a particular interface.

In order to convert data external to WebSphere Process Server to and from data objects, some transport bindings require a data binding to be specified. The data binding translates between the data that is provided by the transport binding as part of a message and a data object. For information about the data bindings for each transport binding type, refer to the WebSphere Process Server V6.1.0 information center, which is available at:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/index.jsp?topi
c=/com.ibm.websphere.wps.610.doc/welcome_top_wps.htm

Messaging bindings

Using a resource adapter or using the JMS API directly are two ways to connect to a messaging provider. Another way is to use native calls to a messaging provider such as IBM WebSphere MQ. These calls are made using the Message Queue Interface (MQI). MQ JMS uses the JMS API (as opposed to MQI) to access WebSphere MQ. The following messaging bindings are available for use on import and export components:

MQ binding

WebSphere MQ bindings allow interoperation with native WebSphere MQ or WebSphere Message Broker applications using WebSphere MQ. Conversion for the data to and from an MQ message is accomplished through the MQ header and body data bindings.

The MQ binding does not currently support the publish-subscribe method of distributing messages. MQ client connections are the only type of connections supported.

The binding settings specify the information that is required for connection to MQ, including the destination names, queue manager name, and the host name for the queue manager.

MQ JMS binding

MQ JMS is a set of Java classes that enables communication with JMS applications using WebSphere MQ as the messaging provider. If you are using an MQ JMS binding, you can define the destination using one of the following methods:

- Specify the JNDI name for a pre-configured messaging provider resource, that is the JNDI name for the queue or topic and the JNDI name for the connection factory
- Specify properties that are required to configure a new messaging provider resource, meaning, the WebSphere queue manager and WebSphere queue name.

If the import or export component has an interface with a one-way operation, then both queues (point-to-point) and topics (publish/subscribe) are supported by the MQ JMS binding. For request-response operations, only point-to-point is supported.

In WebSphere Message Broker, you can use either MQ or JMS input and output nodes as the corresponding message point. No special configuration is necessary on the MQ JMS binding that would make it necessary that you use one or the other.
JMS binding

The JMS bindings provide support for JMS communication using "plain" JMS messages (that is not SOAP). You have the following options for JMS bindings:

- The default messaging provider that is included in WebSphere Application Server. The transport mechanism for this provider is the service integration bus within WebSphere Application Server.
- The WebSphere MQ messaging provider. You can use an installed WebSphere MQ as the messaging provider.

Destinations are defined to the JNDI namespace and the bindings designate the JNDI name for the destination.

► Generic JMS binding

The generic JMS binding application provides integration with non-JCA 1.5-compliant JMS providers that support JMS 1.1 and implement the optional JMS Application Server Facility, including Oracle AQ, TIBCO, SonicMQ, WebMethods, BEA WebLogic, and WebSphere MQ.

Destinations are defined to the JNDI namespace and the bindings designate the JNDI name for the destination.

Guidelines for messaging bindings

A key decision by developers is choosing the best strategy for a particular application. Some guidelines are:

- ► If you are working with native JMS applications, then use JMS bindings.
- If you are working with JMS applications that are using the MQ backbone, then use MQ JMS bindings.
- ► If you are working with native MQ applications, then use the MQ binding.

The portability versus performance trade-off is another factor to consider.

- If portability is important, choose JMS bindings.
- If performance is important, using WebSphere MQ with native calls might be the appropriate choice.

MQ JMS bindings provide some portability with some performance benefits over JMS bindings. The choice of strategy decides what type of binding to select.

Web service binding

Web services bindings allow the call-out of SOAP-based Web services (through imports), as well as exposing SOAP-based Web services interfaces (through exports). Both SOAP/HTTP and SOAP/JMS are supported.

Both the HTTP and JMS transport types are presented as one binding type in WebSphere Integration Developer, but when you generate a Web service binding, you are asked which transport type you want to use. SOAP/HTTP is more common than SOAP/JMS.

As SOAP is well-defined and maps cleanly into the SCA and SDO model, there is no requirement (or facility) to provide any form of data binding, either for imports or exports. The Web services bindings support the well-known encoding styles: document/literal, doc-lit-wrapped, RPC-literal, and RPC-encoded.

When you generate a Web service binding for an export, a WSDL file for the service is created. When you generate a Web service binding for an import, you can specify an existing WSDL file for the service or launch a wizard to help you define the service.

A Web services binding that uses SOAP/JMS, supports JMS using the default WebSphere Application Server default messaging provider in a point-to-point configuration. The SOAP/JMS binding does not support: generic JMS, MQ JMS, or the JMS broadcast mode.

SCA binding

An SCA binding on an import component specifies an SCA-bound export component in another module. That export can be connected to either a component or import. As a result, the SCA import binding requires only two pieces of information:

- The name of the export that it is calling
- The module containing that export

The export must also have an SCA export binding. If the export has any export binding other than SCA, you cannot import it in another module with the SCA import binding. You must import it with the corresponding import binding type.

HTTP binding

HTTP is a widely-used protocol for transferring information on the Web. The HTTP binding supports the HTTP 1.0, HTTP 1.1, and SSL protocols.

Messages are presented to components in a manner that preserves HTTP format and message header information. An existing data binding framework is extended for HTTP conventions and provides mapping between SCA messages and HTTP message headers and bodies.

When you install an SCA module containing HTTP imports or exports, the runtime environment is automatically configured appropriately to allow connectivity to HTTP.

An HTTP binding on an import specifies the endpoint URL for the target application. An HTTP binding on an export specifies the context path for your module.

WebSphere Adapters

WebSphere Adapters enable interaction with enterprise information systems. The Enterprise Service Discovery tool can be used to create import and export components representing applications on the systems. An EIS binding is associated with the adapter.

2.1.4 Quality of service

Qualifiers in SCA allow developers to place quality of service (QoS) requirements on the SCA run time. There are several different categories of qualifiers available in SCA:

- Security
- Transactions (with ActivitySessions as a special type)
- Reliable messaging

Each qualifier has a particular scope within the Service Component Definition Language (SCDL) specification for an SCA component where the qualifier can be added (interface, implementation, and partner reference).

2.2 WebSphere Process Server components

WebSphere Integration Developer provides an assembly editor where the developer groups service components into modules and specifies which service interfaces are exposed by the module to outside consumers. Services that are available include imported components such as Java beans or Web services and service components that WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus provide. Modules are then connected to form complete integration solutions.

Figure 2-4 shows the components of WebSphere Process Server and indicates where they are developed in WebSphere Integration Developer.



Figure 2-4 Key features of WebSphere Integration Developer

2.2.1 WebSphere Process Server specific components

WebSphere Process Server provides a hosting environment for business processing. WebSphere Process Server includes ESB functionality that is provided by WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. Both business processes and mediations can be deployed to a WebSphere Process Server application server.

This section focuses on the components of WebSphere Process Server that support business processing applications. This type of application is developed in a module, also referred to as a *business integration module*.

Business state machines

A *business state machine* provides another way of modeling a business process, enabling a business process to be represented based on states and events.

It is an event-driven business application in which external operations trigger changes that guide the state machine from one discrete mode to another. Each

mode is an individual state, and this mode determines what activities and operations can occur.

State machines are useful modeling aids for developing real-time or event-driven systems because they show dynamic behavior. You can develop state machines during all phases of a software project and for business modeling. You can use state machines in the following situations:

- During business modeling, you can create state machines to model a use case scenario.
- During analysis and design, you can model event-driven objects that react to events outside an object's context.
- During analysis and design, you can use several state machine diagrams to show different aspects of the same state machine and its behavior.

Business processes

The *business process* component in WebSphere Process Server implements a WS-BPEL compliant process engine.

Business processes are an important concept in today's integrated environments and play a key role in business-to-business and enterprise application integration scenarios by exposing the appropriate invocation and interaction patterns. Processes are the building blocks for developing consistent distributed applications in heterogeneous environments.

Process-based applications are composed of two distinct pieces:

- A process model that describes the logical order in which the different activities of the process model are being carried out
- ► The individual services and components that implement the various activities

Therefore, a business process is a set of business-related activities, rules, and conditions that are invoked in a defined sequence to achieve a business goal. Those activities can be a variety of different resources that are represented as one or more SCA components. All activities are logically connected with implicit or explicit connectors (control links), which define the logical order in which the business process is executed. Process activities can be executed in sequence or in parallel, depending on the business requirement and the internal dependency of the process steps.

The purpose of the business process container (BPC) is to interpret the process templates, manage the life cycle of business processes, navigate through the associated process model, and integrate the appropriate business functions.

A business process runs under one of two execution modes:

- Microflows run under a single transaction in a short period of time.
- Long-running business processes run in a series of chained transactions over days, months, or even years. Long-running processes can be optimized with respect to transaction boundaries.

Business process developers can declare transaction behavior for invoke, human task, and snippet activities:

- Commit before guarantees that the activity runs in a new transaction.
- Commit after guarantees that the current transaction is committed after executing the activity.
- Requires own guarantees that the activity runs in a new transaction and the current transaction is committed after executing the activity.
- Participates behavior states that the activity runs within an existing transaction, if one is available.

Human tasks

Human tasks in WebSphere Process Server are stand-alone components that can be used to assign work to employees or to invoke any other service.

Human tasks are used to allow components to "invoke humans as services." The *human* is actually a person that is authorized to select that task from a group of authorized users. Because the human is considered simply a service, the replacement of one service for another is just a simple matter of component wiring or assembly. As a result, an operation performed by a person in the first place could be replaced by an operation represented as a business process, a Web service invocation, an operation on an enterprise bean, a CICS transaction, or other component interfaces.

Human tasks provide a common interface for humans to deal with human centric and automatic tasks in a uniform way. Client applications using the HTM API provide users with a single view to start, for example, a BPEL process, a document management system, or a Workplace[™] application. The API allows users to create and start tasks independently of their implementation and, as a result, to provide a uniform administration scheme throughout applications.

A task activity contains the data that is required to complete the task. Some of this information comes from the specific business scenario (as an example, the creation of purchase requisition). The properties of a task type represent the meta information specific for that task. Meta information can be specified when creating a task or by defining a task type called *task template*.

The human task manager provides the human task capabilities for WebSphere Process Server to:

- Start a process or other service components
- Implement staff activities
- Allow for process administration
- Create tasks dynamically that involves humans or services

The human task manager addresses the following basic scenarios:

- The machine-to-human (M2H) scenario is the classical staff service component scenario where a process engine (a machine) creates tasks for people who participate in the execution of a business process.
- The human-to-machine (H2M) scenario is different in the sense that it allows a person to create a task that is executed by an automatic service. An example of an automatic service is a BPEL business process or an arbitrary Web service that can do a variety of functions, such as invoking a SOAP service, calling a CICS transaction, invoking a method on an enterprise bean, or retrieving a document from a document management store.
- In the human-to-human (H2H) scenario a task is created by a person (a human) for another person. An example is a travel approval request that is created by an employee for his manager. Especially for ad-hoc scenarios, this scenario plays a major role.

Selectors

A *selector*'s main job is to determine dynamically which implementation to invoke based on some defined set of criteria (currently, based on a date and time). Think of a selector as a router that routes inputs and outputs to the appropriate target component based on a certain date (past, current, or future).

Business rules

Business rules are a means of implementing and enforcing business policy by externalizing business function, which enables dynamic changes of a business process.

Relationships

A *relationship* establishes associations between semantically equivalent business entities. For example, when customer business objects exist in different EIS applications with different keys, correlating key values allows synchronization of record creation and updates across systems. WebSphere Process Server manages the relationship data, not the application, and simplifies the task of the integration developer. Relationship is one of the transformation rules that you can set from a business object map. Therefore, the participants are at the business object level. Relationships are an SCA artifact that you can define in a shared library, and those modules that contain participating business objects need to include the library as a dependency.

Business objects

Business objects are enhanced Service Data Objects (SDOs). SDOs provide an abstraction that can be used over various types of data, providing a common mechanism for accessing data. Business objects include extensions that are important for integration solutions and are used to further describe the data that is being exchanged between SCA services.

Special business object types

Application-specific business objects (ASBOs) are business objects with a data structure that corresponds to a particular application. Adapters create an instance of an ASBO at run time to hold application data, information about the data, and actions to be performed on the data.

Generic business objects (GBOs) are business objects with no application-specific Information and not tied to any application. It is a canonical representation of the information that is held in an ASBO. The generic business object serves as a common application- and implementation-independent data set.

Business graph

A *business graph* is the container around the top level of a business object. The business graph adds change summary, event summary, and verb capability to the business object. For example, a business graph can represent a synchronization scenario between two EIS systems.

2.2.2 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus specific components

Development of mediations for WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus development is similar to that of developing business processes for WebSphere Process Server. However, a mediation is developed within a mediation module that has a mediation flow component as its implementation. The mediation module is a specific type of SCA component that can process or mediate service interactions.

Mediation flow components

A *mediation module* can have one mediation flow component. The implementation of the mediation module is a *mediation flow*.

Mediation flows contain mediation logic and the processing steps of a request declared in a graphical way using mediation primitives. Mediation flows are distinguished between a request flow and a response flow. In both directions, logic can be added or modifications can be applied to process a message.

Service message objects

Messages can come from a variety of sources, so the payload has to be able to carry a number of different types of messages. Mediation primitives need to be able to operate on these messages, and service message objects (SMOs) represents the common representation that is needed. The SMO model is a pattern for using SDO DataObjects to represent messages. SMO extends SDO with additional information to support the needs of a messaging subsystem.

2.2.3 Common event infrastructure

Events occur all the time within a software system. An *event* can be defined as something interesting that happens within the environment. This might be as simple as the completion of a step in a process or as sophisticated as the arrival of a new customer order. The Common Event Infrastructure (CEI) is a powerful technology that is implemented within WebSphere Process Server and that provides for the creation, consumption, and warehousing of events. The events are generated by a standard API and are available to be consumed by applications that might also use this API. The content of an event is configurable by the component that produces it but always contains a base set of attributes that are common to all events.

CEI provides the ability to audit, monitor, and track the execution of processes throughout the entire life cycle. The application that creates the event object is called the event source. The event source passes the event object to the event infrastructure. The event infrastructure's role is to extract information from the WebSphere runtime environment and add it to the event object. The event object is then passed onto any applications that have expressed an interest in receiving it. These applications are called event consumers. The event infrastructure also stores the event object in a database for later retrieval.

28 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development

3

Basics of development

WebSphere Integration Developer is the common tool for building SOA-based integration solutions across WebSphere Process Server, WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, and WebSphere Adapters. This chapter discusses the development concepts and methods that are common across these products using WebSphere Integration Developer. It includes the following topics:

- WebSphere Integration Developer key features
- Working with WebSphere Integration Developer
- Project types
- Business objects
- Interfaces
- Module assembly
- Business object maps
- Using a stand-alone reference
- Working with databases in the workspace
- Derby ij tool
- Deploying modules
- Test tools
- ► Team development

3.1 WebSphere Integration Developer key features

WebSphere Integration Developer is a development environment for building integrated applications. It enables integration developers to create, manage, and test services for IBM WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. The features in WebSphere Integration Developer separate business logic from implementation details.

3.1.1 Base tools and run times

WebSphere Integration Developer is built on the Rational Software Development V7.0.0.5 Platform, which is based on Eclipse 3.2 technology. Each IBM product that is built on the Rational Software Development Platform coexists and shares plug-ins and features with other products that are based upon this platform. The Rational Software Development Platform is installed once per system with the first product that is installed. As other products that are built on this platform are installed on the system, only the necessary plug-ins are installed.

Note: For more information about Eclipse and tutorials, visit the following Web site and explore the Getting Started pages:

http://www.eclipse.org

3.1.2 Developer roles

There are two primary user roles that are associated with WebSphere Integration Developer:

- integration developer
- Application developer

Integration developer

The *integration developer* integrates existing and new services and users into the business process definition the service composition components. The specialist typically uses visual composition tools and service-bus configuration tools to wire abstract service components that comprise the business processes. The *integration specialist*, along with the *enterprise architect*, is involved in establishing an approach that satisfies the security and quality of service requirements of the enterprise when composing services from business partners and other service providers outside of the enterprise operational environment.

The integration developer is the primary role. This role focuses on building service-oriented solutions. This user role expects the tooling to simplify and

abstract advanced IT implementation details. The integration developer is familiar with basic programming constructs such as loops, conditions, and string manipulation.

Application developer

The *application developer* implements the design for services that are provided by the software architect. This includes using an appropriate language and technology in which to implement the services, and following the design for those components provided by the software architect. It might also include working with existing application functions, languages and technologies. The developer assists the software architect in identifying potential re-use of these functions and in helping determine how best to extend or re-factor those functions to enable a better fit with the business design.

Unlike the integration developer, the application developer is typically knowledgeable in one or more programming languages or application development platforms. The application developer also has a basic understanding of one or more technologies that are associated with building integrated business applications such as SOA, process choreography, workflow, WSDL, or BPEL. Because the application developer has more extensive knowledge of the implementation details that are associated with building a business application, it is this user who typically implements the application specific business logic for the actual business application being built. In addition, with the introduction of the SCA programming model, it is also the application developer who exposes specific application logic as an SCA service component.

3.1.3 Workspace and perspectives

When you open WebSphere Integration Developer, you select a workspace to contain projects and test environment configuration. A *workspace* is a collection of projects and other physical resources that you are currently developing in the workbench. You can have multiple workspaces to segregate project development, switching between workspaces when necessary.

WebSphere Integration Developer provides perspectives for development, testing, and team repositories. A *perspective* is a grouping of views that are geared toward specific tasks. The primary perspective for working with business modules is the Business Integration perspective.

3.1.4 Assembly diagram

When you create a module (for business services) or mediation module, an assembly diagram for the module is created. As you add components to the module, you populate the assembly diagram with these components.

Figure 3-1 shows the Business Integration perspective with one module defined. The assembly diagram for the module is in the editor area on the upper right. Selecting a component displays information about it in the Properties view (bottom right). From the assembly diagram, you define the interfaces to each component, generate binding information for access to the module, and generate the implementation for service components.



Figure 3-1 Business Integration perspective - assembly diagram

Icons in the module assembly diagram indicate the type of component or artifact. For example, Figure 3-1 shows:

- An export for the module. A Web service binding was generated for this component, denoted with the number icon.
- ► An interface is defined on each component, denoted with the ① icon.
- ► References denoted by the **11** icon.
- ► An import component with a JMS binding, denoted with the 🐏 icon.
- ► A rule group, denoted by the E, icon.
- An import component for an adapter interface. It has an EIS binding, denoted by the icon.

3.1.5 Editors

Each artifact has an associated *editor* that provides features suited for editing that artifact (for example, WSDL files, XML, components, and so forth). The two primary editors that you use are the *business process editor* and the *mediation flow editor*.

Double-clicking a component in the assembly diagram opens the component for development with the appropriate editor. For example, Figure 3-2 shows a business process open with the editor.



Figure 3-2 Business process editor



Figure 3-3 shows a mediation flow open in the editor.

Figure 3-3 Mediation flow editor

3.1.6 Business Integration view

The Business Integration perspective has a Business Integration view that provides a logical view of the key resources in each module, mediation module, and library (as shown in Figure 3-4 on page 36). Use this view to locate artifacts with which you want to work. Double-click the artifact to open it in an editor.



Figure 3-4 Business Integration view

3.1.7 Physical Resources view

The Physical Resources view shows all of the file-level resources from the modules and libraries in their natural form (as shown in Figure 3-5). For example, business objects are stored as XSD files, and interfaces are represented in WSDL format. You can also see generated artifacts that are not shown in the business Integration view, such as classpath files, the sca.module files, and the file resources for the resource adapters.



Figure 3-5 Physical Resources view

3.1.8 Other Business Integration views

The Business Integration perspective has additional views that you might find useful as you develop your modules. You can add views that are not in the perspective by default by selecting **Window** \rightarrow **Show View**.

References view

The References view shows all of the artifacts that reference the selected item in the Business Integration view, and it shows all the artifacts that it references (as shown in Figure 3-6).



Figure 3-6 References view

Outline view in Show Outline mode

The Outline view in the Show Outline mode displays all the elements in the assembly diagram that is open in the editor pane. You enable the Show Outline mode by clicking the $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{bmatrix}$ icon.



Figure 3-7 Outline view

3.2 Working with WebSphere Integration Developer

The basic steps that you follow for development in WebSphere Integration Developer are very similar, regardless of whether you are creating modules or mediation modules. This section takes you through these basic development steps. We discuss more details for developing the component implementations in Chapter 4, "Building business integration applications" on page 127 and Chapter 5, "Building mediations" on page 285.

3.2.1 Typical development flow

This section provides an overview of the development process for business integration and mediation modules.

A typical development flow is as follows:

- 1. Start WebSphere Integration Developer and open a workspace (described in 3.2.2, "Start WebSphere Integration Developer" on page 42)
- 2. Switch to the Business Integration perspective for development (described in 3.2.3, "Using the Business Integration perspective" on page 43).

3. Create a library to store artifacts, such as business objects and interfaces, that are shared among multiple modules (described in 3.3.1, "Libraries" on page 44).

Best Practice: Artifacts such as business objects (data types) and interfaces need to be created within a library and referenced by the module. A library, such as a module, contains resources and code for applications. Libraries allow you to share these resources and code between modules. However, unlike modules, libraries cannot be deployed by themselves.

4. Create a new module or mediation module (described in 3.3.2, "Modules and mediation modules" on page 46).

A module has an assembly diagram that shows the components of the module and how the interfaces and references are wired together. The module is the basic unit of deployment for WebSphere Process Server.

- 5. Create the business objects to contain the application data, for example, customer or order data (described in 3.4, "Business objects" on page 53).
- 6. Create the interface and define the interface operations for each component. The interface determines what data can be passed from one component to another (described in 3.5, "Interfaces" on page 63).
- 7. Create and implement the service components.

A service component for a module can be implemented as one of the following components:

- Java objects
- Business processes
- Human tasks
- State machines
- Rule groups (Business rules)
- Selectors
- Interface maps

We discuss how to implement the components in a business integration module in Chapter 4, "Building business integration applications" on page 127.

A service component for a mediation module will be implemented always as a mediation flow.

We discuss how to implement the components in a business integration module in Chapter 5, "Building mediations" on page 285.

- 8. Build the module assembly by adding the service components, imports, and exports to the assembly diagram. Bind the imports and exports to a protocol (described in 3.6, "Module assembly" on page 69).
- 9. Test the module in the integrated test environment (described in 3.12, "Test tools" on page 105).
- 10. Deploy the module to WebSphere Process Server.

When you deploy a module to the test environment or to WebSphere Process Server, WebSphere Integration Developer packages the module as a J2EE EAR file.

For any given module project, there can be up to three J2EE staging projects that are generated with naming conventions based off of the module project's name:

- An Enterprise Application project.
- An EJB[™] project (which includes the generated EJBs that represent the runtime artifacts that make components into reality).
- A Dynamic Web project (which includes artifacts that represent Web components, for example servlets and JSPs). A dynamic Web project is generated when needed.

You cannot see these projects in the Business Integration view. To view these projects, you need to change perspectives, for example, the Web perspective.

Note: J2EE staging projects (EJB projects and Web projects) are generated artifacts from the deployment process. When you issue a **Project** \rightarrow **Clean** command, the system discards the former J2EE staging project and regenerates it.

This step is discussed in *Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 3: Run time*, SG24-7643.

11. Share the tested module with others on the team by putting it in a repository (described in 3.13, "Team development" on page 115).

3.2.2 Start WebSphere Integration Developer

To start the WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1 with a new workspace, follow these steps:

- 1. From the start menu select Start → Programs → IBM WebSphere Integration Developer → IBM WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1 → WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1.
- 2. Start WebSphere Integration Developer and create a new workspace in C:\itso\DevWKSP, using upper case characters where specified.

🚯 Workspace Launcher					
Select a workspace IBM WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1 stores your projects in a folder called a workspace.					
Choose a workspace folder to use for this session.					
Workspace: C:\itso\DevWKSP	Browse				
Use this as the default and do not ask again					
	OK Cancel				

Figure 3-8 Workspace launcher

3. When the WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1 opens, close the Welcome page.



Figure 3-9 Business Integration Welcome page launcher

3.2.3 Using the Business Integration perspective

The Business Integration view provides a logical view of the key resources in each module, mediation module, and library. Within each project, the resources are categorized by type. You can also use the Business Integration view to navigate through Java and J2EE resources and to open the various Java and J2EE editors. See Figure 3-10.



Figure 3-10 Business Integration perspective

By default, when you launch the product, the Business Integration perspective is opened. This perspective includes views that are designed for working with SCA modules and their implementation. If the Business Integration perspective is not open, you can open it as follows:

- 1. Select **Window** \rightarrow **Open Perspective** on the menu bar.
- 2. Select **Other** from the drop-down menu.
- 3. Select the **Business Integration perspective**. If you do not see the perspective, select **Show all**.

The Business Integration view is the primary navigation tool for the perspective. Modules and their artifacts are organized in a logical manner. Double-clicking an item in this view opens it with the appropriate editor in the editor area (upper right section of the perspective).

The Physical Resources view provides a comparable view of the modules and their artifacts, but it is organized to reflect the actual file structure on the system.

3.3 Project types

A *project* is an organized collection of folders or packages that are related to a single work effort. The project types that you work with most in WebSphere Integration Developer are *modules*, *libraries*, and *mediation modules*.

3.3.1 Libraries

Often, artifacts need to be shared so that resources in several modules can use them. A library project is used to store these resources. Libraries contain the following artifact types:

- Data types
- Interfaces
- Mappings

In order for a module or mediation module to use the resources from a library, the library has to be added as a *dependency* to the module. A library cannot be deployed by itself. However, you can add a library to the module and select to deploy it with the module.

Also, you can add library dependencies to a library. For example, if one library uses resources in another library, then you need to add the library dependency.

You can define dependencies when you create the project, if the library exists, or later using the dependency editor.

Creating a library

To create a new library, follow these steps in the Business Integration perspective:

Right-click the Business Integration view and select New → Library from the context menu (Figure 3-11). If Library is not an option, select Other → Library.



Figure 3-11 Create a new library

2. Enter a name for the library and ensure that the "Use default location" option is selected (Figure 3-12). Click **Finish**.



Figure 3-12 Name the new library

The new library is created, and you can view the structure of the library in the Business Integration view, as shown in Figure 3-13.



Figure 3-13 Library structure

3.3.2 Modules and mediation modules

The fundamental project type for building an SCA application in WebSphere Integration Developer is a *module*. A module is a project that is used for development, version management, and organizing business integration resources.

A module that includes business integration logic is referred to simply as a module or sometimes as a *business integration module*. A business integration module can contain various types of components, such as business processes, human tasks, rules, state machines, and so forth, that are assembled together to achieve an intended business goal. A module must be deployed to a WebSphere Process Server runtime environment.

Modules that provide mediation services are referred to as *mediation modules*. Mediation modules contain mediation flows and other components that are required to provide the mediation. Mediation modules can be deployed to WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus or WebSphere Process Server runtime environments.

Modules and mediation modules, packaged as enterprise archive files (EAR files) are the basic unit of deployment into WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus runtime environments.

Creating a module

The following steps illustrate how to create a module and the resulting structure of the module:

 Right-click in the Business Integration view and select New → Module (Figure 3-14). If Module is not an option, select Other → Module. The New Module wizard opens.



Figure 3-14 Create a new module

2. In the Module Name field, type the module name, as shown in Figure 3-15.

Module Create a new business integration module. A module is a project that is used for development, version management, organizing resources, and deploying			
<u>M</u> odule Name:			
🗹 Use defaul	t location		
Location: C:/i	tso/DevWKSP/CustomerModule Browse		
Open modu Business integra They can contair together for the	le assembly diagram tion modules can be deployed and run on WebSphere Process Server. n many types of components, such as business processes, assembled purpose of business integration.		
?	< Back Next > Einish Cancel)	

Figure 3-15 Create a new module

If you have a library defined in your workspace, click **Next** to select the required libraries for this module. If not, click **Finish**. In this example, we have a library, and click **Next**.

3. Select any libraries that you want to add as a dependency as shown in Figure 3-16 and click **Finish**.



Figure 3-16 Add dependencies

4. The new module and artifacts display in the Business Integration view, as shown in Figure 3-17.

Folders exist for the artifact types that can be placed in the module, and the assembly diagram opens.

Note: Dependencies, data types, interfaces, and mappings can be shared across modules only when they are stored in libraries. You need to create in the module only artifacts of these types that you do not intend to use beyond the module.

The assembly diagram opens but is initially empty.

🚯 Business Integration - CustomerModule - Assembly Diagram - IBM WebSphere Integration Deve				
File Edit Navigate Search Project Data Run Wind	low Help			
1 📬 • 🖩 🌰 1 📾 • 1 💣 1 💁 • 1 🛡 1	28 🛷 🗄 🔁 🗧 🥥 🗄 🖢 🗧 🎋 🔶			
🕼 Business Integr 🖄 Physical Resour 🖓 🗖 😴 CustomerModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙				
	Palette Palette Palette			
E Favorites				
	🗁 Components			
- 🖉 Business Logic 🧃 Human Task				
🛁 🗁 Data Types	C- lava			
- Unterfaces				
🛄 🚣 Mapping				

Figure 3-17 New module

5. The next step is to create the artifacts (for example, business objects, and interfaces), to implement the logic (Figure 3-18 shows the possible artifacts that can be created to implement the business logic), and to populate the assembly diagram with the components for the module.

🔠 Business Inte	× Physical R	eso 🗖 🗖 🗌	
	🔁 🖶 🗁 🗞	□ 🔄 🏹	
🖃 🛃 CustomerMa	dule		
🔁 Assembl	y Diagram		
🖳 🔁 Depende	encies		
🛛 🗳 Business	Logic		
🔤 🔤 Data Ty	New	Project	
🖳 😃 Interfac	Open	🚽 🔗 Business Prod	ress
🎰 💩 Mapping	🗈 Сору	😤 Business Stat	e Machine
🖻 Dafamana 🔗	💼 Paste	😭 Decision Tabl	е
References 23	🗙 Delete	🔊 Human Task	
	迠 Import	🔚 Rule Group	
· ·	🛃 Export	📑 Rule Set	
CustomerMod	🔊 Refresh	Selector	
	Tran	Other	

Figure 3-18 Create new business logic artifacts

Creating a mediation module

To create a mediation module, open the Business Integration perspective and do the following steps:

- 1. Right-click in the white space of the Business Integration view and select New \rightarrow Mediation Module from the context menu.
- 2. Enter a name for the mediation. Select the target run time (mediations can run in either WebSphere Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus run times). Then, click **Next**. See Figure 3-19.

Module name:	CustomerMediation	
🕑 Use default	location	
Location: C:/it	so/DevWKSP/CustomerMediation	Br
Target runtime:	WebSphere Process Server v6.1	
-	WebSphere ESB Server v6.1 WebSphere Process Server v6.1	
Create media	tion component	
Name: Custom	erMediation	
Mediation module Process Server, messages betwee	s can be deployed and run on WebSphere Enterprise Service Bu They contain flows, which link together operations for modifying en service consumers and service providers.	is or i ani

Figure 3-19 Create the module

3. To add dependencies, select the required libraries as illustrated in Figure 3-20.



Figure 3-20 Add libraries as dependencies

4. Click **Finish**. The new mediation module displays in the Business Integration view, and the assembly diagram for the module opens, as shown in Figure 3-21. Note that the assembly module has one component by default that represents the mediation flow because we elected to create the mediation component in step 2.

A mediation module can have the following implementation types:

- Mediation flow
- Java



Figure 3-21 CustomerMediation assembly diagram

3.4 Business objects

Business objects are one of the primary building blocks of any business integration solution. They are containers for application data that represent business functions or elements, such as a customer or an invoice. WebSphere Integration Developer enables the simple creation of business objects using the business object editor.

3.4.1 Business object fields

A business object contains fields that define the content of the business object. Business objects can extend (define a super-set of fields) other business objects through parent/child relationships; however, a business object can only inherit from a single parent. These objects can also be used in conjunction with each other to perform a desired task. You can create and edit business objects using the business object editor.

Essentially, business object fields are the mechanism through which you define what information a business object can hold and how that information should be accessible. Each field has a name, type, cardinality, and other optional properties. A business object is simply a container for the data that is specified in its fields. An empty business object without fields is essentially useless because it does not have the means to actually hold any data.

Business objects are the primary data structure for:

- Business data
- Data types that are defined in WSDL (interface) definitions

WebSphere Integration Developer's *business object editor* is used to build and edit business objects and their fields through a graphical interface.

You can add fields to a business object after you create it. In addition, you have the following options:

- Create a new business object that inherits data from an exiting business object
- Create a new business object from entries in an existing business object
- A business object can contain scalars or arrays of other business objects

3.4.2 Business graph

Business graphs are related to business objects. A business graph definition is the wrapper added around a simple business object or a hierarchy of business objects to provide additional capabilities, such as carrying change summary and event summary information related to the business objects in the business graph.

3.4.3 Creating a business object

Business objects are created in the Data Types folder in a library, module, or mediation module. To share a business object among modules, create it in a library.

To create a new Customer business object:

- In the Business Integration view, right-click the Data Types folder and select New → Business Object from the context menu.
- 2. Enter the name for the new business object and, optionally, a folder name (Figure 3-22). If the folder does not exist, it is created.

New Business Object						
Business Objec	Business Object					
Create a new business object. Business objects are containers for application data that represe functions or elements, such as a customer or an invoice.						
Module or Library:	CustomerLibrary	Browse				
Namespace:	http://CustomerLibrary/gbo	🗹 Default				
Folder:	gbo	Browse				
Name:	Customer					
Inherit from:	<none></none>	Browse				

Figure 3-22 New Business Object wizard

3. Click Finish.
The new business object (Customer in this example) is created in the location that you specified and opens in the business object editor. See Figure 3-23.



Figure 3-23 New business object

3.4.4 Adding fields to a business object

With the business object editor, you can build and edit business objects and business graphs (Figure 3-24). Use this editor to add, delete, and reorder fields and to change the type of an field. To add a simple field to the business object:

- 1. Click the Add a field to a business object icon.
- 2. Replace the default name, field1, with the name of the field (that is, Customerld), as shown in Figure 3-24.



Figure 3-24 Business Object editor

3. You can take the default type, String, or select a new type by clicking String and selecting a type, existing business object, or **New** (to create a new object) from the drop-down menu as shown in Figure 3-25.

🕄 CustomerMediation - As	ssembly Diagram 📋 *Customer 🗙
▼Business object	👂 û û 🗱 🗮 🗮
Customer	ring
	Browse
	New
	Gate Contraction
	date i ime
	🕞 float
	hexBinary
	string
	🛱 time
	Customer http://CustomerLibrary/gbo

Figure 3-25 Select the field type

4. Repeat the previous step to add each field. If you create the fields in the wrong order accidentally, you can use the up and down arrows in the toolbar to change the order.

A *field type* can be a simple type or a business object type. You can select from the list of existing business objects in the drop-down menu, or you can create a new one. In the next example, we create a new business object called *Address* as the data type for the CustomerAddress field in the Customer business object. This example also illustrates the use of an array for a field.

To create a new business object type for CustomerAddress, follow these steps:

1. Click **string** and click **New** to start the New Business Object wizard (Figure 3-26).

🖯 Custo	omerMediation - Assembly Diagram 📋 Customer 🗙
▼Busi	iness object 🛛 🤪 🏦 🗮 🗮
Ç	Customer
	CustomerId string
	e CustomerNumber string
	e CustomerName string
	e CustomerType string
	e CustomerStatus string
	e CustomerAddress string
	Browse

Figure 3-26 Building a complex business object

2. Enter the name and location values for the new business object and click **Finish** (Figure 3-27). In this example, the new business object, Address, is placed in a library.

🚯 New Business Object				
Business Object Create a new business object. Business objects are containers for application data that represent business functions or elements, such as a customer or an invoice.				
Module or Library: Namespace:	CustomerLibrary http://CustomerLibrary/gbo	Browse New		
Folder: Name: Inherit from:	gbo Address <none></none>	Browse Browse		
?	< Back	Next > Finish Can		

Figure 3-27 Creating a super-set business object

3. The new business object opens, and you can populate the fields as shown in Figure 3-28.

*(Customer 🛛 📋 *Add	ress 🗙	
▼B	usiness object	分	ન
ſ	🛱 Address		ı
	e AddressLine1	string	
	e AddressLine2	string	
	e AddressCity	string	
	e AddressRegion	string	
	e AddressState	string	
	e AddressCountry	string	
Ŀ	-	//	L

Figure 3-28 Derived business object

4. Save and close the new business object to go back to the original business object, Customer. The new Address business object shows as the type for the CustomerAddress field.

5. Next, define CustomerAddress as an array of Address objects. Select CustomerAddress and in the Properties view (lower right pane), and then select the Description tab. Select Array. Note the brackets ([]) display in the field data type to indicate it is an array. See Figure 3-29.

🗂 Customer 🗙			
-Business object 🗿 🍄 🤌 💥 🗮			
Customer	• 🖃 🛄 Address		
CustomerId string	e AddressLine1 string		
CustomerNumber string	e AddressLine2 string		
e CustomerName string	e AddressCity string		
e CustomerType string	e AddressRegion string		
e CustomerStatus string			
CustomerAddress Address []-			
Build Activities Properties 🛛 Problems Servers			
Description Element - CustomerAddress			
Documentation Name: CustomerAddress			
Application Info Type: Address { http://CustomerLibrary/gbo } Browse N			
Required Array			

Figure 3-29 List of addresses as a complex element type

6. Save the business object.

You can view and edit business objects in table format to make it easier to examine the fields and their properties in a single view. To open the Customer business object definition as a table:

- 1. Double-click the Customer business object in the Business Integration view to open it.
- 2. In the business object editor, click the Display this business object in a table view icon as shown in Figure 3-30.

▼ B	usiness object 🗊 🗘 🦆	×		
	🚊 Customer	[Display this business object in a tab	o <mark>le view.</mark>
	<u>A</u>			
	e CustomerId string		e AddressLine1 st	ring
	CustomerNumber string		e AddressLine2 st	ring

Figure 3-30 Display business object as a table

Figure 3-31 shows the table view. You can toggle back and forth between these views.

V	Business object 🛛 🎝 🕆		
	Name	Type Display this business object in a diagram view.	Min Oc
	eCustomerId	string	0
	e CustomerNumber	string	0
	e CustomerName	string	0
	eCustomerType	string	0
	e CustomerStatus	string	0
	CustomerAddress	Address	0
	e AddressLine1	string	0
	e AddressLine2	string	0
	e AddressCity	string	0
	e AddressRegion	string	0

Figure 3-31 Table view of a business object

3.4.5 Creating a business graph

You can also create a business graph of your business object. In the Business Integration view, right-click the business object and select **Create a Business Graph** from the context menu.

The new business graph definition opens in the editor as shown in Figure 3-32.

🕼 Busine 🛛 Physic 🗖 🗖	😢 CustomerMediation - Assembly Diagram 🛛 🔞 Custom	ierBG 🛛
2 ⊕ ≥ 3 CustomerLibrary	•Business graph 🗿 🏵 🕹 🗶 🗮	
	CustomerBG	📋 Customer
Address	e customer Customer	
Re X Ou Vis		
() ~ ⇒ ~ ⊕	Build Activities Properties 🔀 Problems Servers	
CustomerBG Customer Address	Property	Value

Figure 3-32 Business graph created from a business object

The business graph provides a verb field. Figure 3-33 shows the initial properties of this field. The verbs that are allowed for this business graph are enumerated in the properties. The back-end system that receives this container uses the verb to determine what to do with the container.

Build Activities 🔲 Pro	operties 🛛 Problems Servers Console		
Description	Element - verb		
Documentation Application Info	Name: verb Type: string { http://OrderManagementLib } Browse		
	Minimum length Collapse whitespace Maximum length Only permit certain values Enumerations Patterns		
	Create Retrieve Update Delete UpdateWithDelete Remove		

Figure 3-33 Business graph verb properties

3.5 Interfaces

Interfaces link the components in a module. The inputs and outputs of each component, specified by the interface, determine which data can be passed from one component to another. An interface is created independently from the implementation of the component. An interface can also be created for a component that has no implementation; that is, the implementation is done later.

The following approaches can be taken in developing an interface. Which approach you choose depends on your circumstance.

 Top-down development: Use this methodology when there is no existing interface to work with. You launch the interface editor, provide a name for the interface, and add one or more operations to it. Inputs, outputs, and faults are added to each operation.

- Bottom-up development: Use this approach when you already have an interface that was created as a WSDL file. In this case, you import the interface into a module and then start the interface editor. The editor displays the interface as operations, inputs, outputs, and faults. You can then use the interface editor to modify operations, inputs, outputs, and faults.
- Meet-in-the-middle development: Use this approach when you have an interface that either exactly matches the interface needs for a component or is close to what you need. Drag the interface onto the component, and it either is a perfect fit, or you might need to make a few modifications to it with the interface editor to make the interface work. Meet-in-the-middle development saves you development time.

An interface map enables you to connect components, despite disparities in their respective interfaces. For example, when two components that have interfaces with different method names need to be wired together, an interface map enables these two components to interact. The interface acts as a mediator between the two components, mapping the operations and parameters of both the source and target interfaces.

Note: An interface map cannot be used in a mediation module. It can only be deployed to a WebSphere Process Server.

3.5.1 Creating a new interface

This section describes the process of creating a new interface. The example that we use here creates a new interface called *CustomerDeliveryInterface* with a one-way operation that accepts a CustomerBG business graph input. To create a new interface:

- In the Business Integration view, expand the library or project folder where you will create the interface. Right-click Interfaces and select New → Interface from the context menu.
- 2. Enter the name for the interface and the location in the first panel of the New Interface wizard. Click **Finish**. See Figure 3-34.

🚯 New Interfac	🚯 New Interface Wizard				
Create a new in Enter a name for th parent folder (optio	nterface ne new interface and select a module and a nal) where the new interface will be created.				
Module or Library: Namespace: Folder: Name:	CustomerLibrary http://CustomerLibrary/wsdl/CustomerDeliveryInterfa wsdl CustomerDeliveryInterface	Browse	New		
0	< Back Next >	Finish	Cancel		

Figure 3-34 New interface wizard

The new interface is added to the folder in the Business Integration view, and the interface opens for editing, as shown in Figure 3-35.



Figure 3-35 CustomerDeliveryInterface

3.5.2 Adding operations

You can use the interface editor to build WSDL port type interfaces that are used to define some SCA components (Figure 3-36). You use this editor to add and to remove operations and specify an operation's inputs and outputs.

Two operation types are supported:

- Request-response operations: A request is sent, and a response is returned to the interface. The operation has an input and an output that is defined by default. You can add additional input and outputs for the operation, and you can add faults.
- One-way operations: A request is sent, and no response is needed. The operation has only an input defined. You can add additional inputs.

To add a new operation and input parameter to the interface:

1. In the interface editor, click the Add One Way Operation icon as shown in Figure 3-36.



Figure 3-36 Add a one-way operation

2. Change the operation name from operation1 to a meaningful operation name (customerDelivery in this case) as shown in Figure 3-37. You can also change the name in the Properties view.

🖸 *CustomerDeliveryInterface 🗙				
🕶 Operations 🛛 👹 🐉	; 🖓 🖗 👰 🙀			
Operations and their parameters				
	Name	Туре		
- to customerDelivery				
Input(s)	input1	string		

Figure 3-37 Interface operations editor

Depending on the type of operation, you have additional active icons to help add input [a], output [a], and fault [a] fields and to delete a selected field or operation [a].

- 3. In the Input(s) row, click the default input of **input1**. Type over this name with a meaningful name (inputCustomerBG). You can also change the name of this field in the Properties view.
- Click the string value in the Type field. Then, scroll down and select the business object or, as in this example, the business graph (CustomerBG). See Figure 3-38 on page 68.

▼Operations 30 their parameters			
	Name	Туре	
total customerDelivery			
DI Input(s)	inputCustomerBG	string	
		dateTime double float hexBinary string	
uild Activities 🔲 Properties 🕴 Problems Servers		🛱 time	
Description 🖾 Input		Address http://Cu	
Name:* inp Type:*	utCustomerBG string	CustomerBG http://Cu	

Figure 3-38 Interface Operations wizard

5. With the new input field selected, you can view its settings in the Properties view as shown in Figure 3-39.

*CustomerDeliveryInterface ×					
Operations Solutions Operations and their parameters					
		Name	Tγ	/pe	
🗢 🐉 custome	erDeliv ery				
DI Input(s)		inputCustomerBG		ustomerBG	
Build Activities Properties 🕴 Problems Servers					
Description	Di Inp	ut			
	Name:*	inputCustomerBG			
	Туре:*	CustomerBG {http://Custo	merLibrary/gbo}	Browse	Open in Business

Figure 3-39 Interface description

6. Save and close the new interface definition.

3.6 Module assembly

A module provides business services that are modeled as SCA components that are wired together in an assembly diagram. The WebSphere Integration Developer's assembly editor lets you build applications by assembling the SCA components that make up the module.

The assembly diagram is created when you create the module. Business integration modules initially have an empty assembly diagram. Mediation modules initially have one component that is implemented as a mediation flow.

3.6.1 Module assembly diagrams

WebSphere Integration Developer provides a number of methods that are designed for convenience during the performance of different tasks for populating the assembly diagram. You will see some of these methods in the various examples throughout this book. To simplify the process for illustration purposes, consider the following flow for assembling the components in an assembly diagram:

- 1. Create a new module. This process also creates the assembly diagram.
- Open the assembly diagram in the assembly editor by double-clicking Assembly Diagram for the module in the Business Integration view (Figure 3-40). Initially the diagram is empty.

You can drop existing components to the assembly diagram, or you can use the palette to drop a new component on the diagram. Double-clicking a new component starts a wizard to help you build the implementation for the component.



Figure 3-40 Initial assembly diagram

 Add a new business process component. In the Business Integration view, right-click Business Logic and select New → Business Process. Complete the wizard to create the new business process component.

During the process, you create a new interface or select an existing interface for this component. You also identify the operation in the interface that starts the process.

At this point, the business process opens in a separate editor. See Figure 3-41.



Figure 3-41 Business process logic

- 4. Close the business process logic.
- 5. Return to the assembly diagram and drag the new business process from the Business Integration view to the assembly diagram as shown in Figure 3-42.

😴 *CustomerModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙		
Palette Palette		
Components	कि के	
Human Task		
🚰 Java 文 Process		
F Rule Group		

Figure 3-42 Add the business process logic to the assembly diagram

6. Add import components to the assembly diagram for services the process will call. You can add these to the diagram by dragging an existing export from this or another module, an interface from this module or a library, or a Web service port to the diagram. Alternatively, you can use the palette to create a new import component to the diagram.

Dragging an existing artifact to the diagram to use as an import allows you to select the component type and binding. For example, when you drag an interface to the assembly diagram, you will have the options shown in Figure 3-43.



Figure 3-43 Creating imports and exports

7. Wire the business process to the interface for the import component as shown in Figure 3-44.



Figure 3-44 Wire the business process to the import component

This creates the reference as shown in Figure 3-45.

😴 *CustomerModule - As	sembly Diagram 🗙
🔹 💳 Palette 💳 👘	
<u>}</u> •. ⊂. °.	
🔁 Favorites	
🔁 Components	ITSOOutbound
💁 Untyped Component	1 CustomerProcess
寣 Human Task	
PI-	

Figure 3-45 Wire the import component

8. Import components must have matching reference partners in the business logic implementation. If you add an import to the assembly diagram and no reference partner exists in the implementation, you see an error.

Because we have not added any logic to the business process, the simplest way to fix the error is to regenerate the implementation for the business process component. Select the business process in the assembly diagram, right-click, and select **Regenerate Implementation**. The problem with this method is that you lose any work that you have done to the business process logic.

9. Add additional components as needed (for example interface maps, human tasks, adapters, and rule groups). Wire the business process to the interfaces for these components, creating references in the process. See Figure 3-46.

😴 *CustomerModule - As	sembly Diagram 🗙
	1.1 ITSOOutbound 1.1 Its ITSOOutbound 1.1 Its CustomerRuleGroup 1.1 Its FlatFileOutbound

Figure 3-46 Assembly diagram

- 10.Generate an export for the business process. Right-click the business process, and select **Generate Export** \rightarrow *binding type*.
- 11.Generate bindings for any import and export components that do not already have them.

3.6.2 Mediation module assembly diagrams

The process for populating a mediation module assembly diagram is very similar to the process for a module, though somewhat simplified because you do not have as many choices for implementation.

A typical flow for assembling the components in an assembly diagram for a mediation module is:

- 1. Open the assembly diagram in the assembly editor by double-clicking the Assembly Diagram for the module in the Business Integration view. The assembly diagram has a mediation flow component.
- 2. Add import components to the assembly diagram for services that the mediation will call. You can add these to the diagram by dragging an existing export, Web service port, or interface to the diagram. Alternatively, use the Palette to create a new Import.
- 3. Wire references to the interfaces.
- Generate an export component for the business process. Right-click the mediation flow in the assembly diagram, and select Generate Export → binding type. You can elect to create the binding when you create the export, or later.

5. Generate bindings for import and export components that do not already have one generated.

3.6.3 Generating a binding

Each export and import component must have a binding generated for it before deployment. The binding determines the type of transport used for the message and the characteristics of the transport. To generate a binding:

1. Select the export or import component on the assembly diagram. Right-click and select **Generate Binding** → *binding type*.

Generate Binding 🕨		HTTP Binding
Re	Generic JMS Binding	Mestraging Binding 🕨
Re	JMS Binding	SCA binding
	MQ Binding	Web Service Binding
Cc	MQ JMS Binding	hber1

Figure 3-47 shows the binding options for an export component.

Figure 3-47 Export bindings

Figure 3-47 shows the binding options for an import component.

Generate Binding 🕨		HTTP Binding
Re	Generic JMS Binding	Messaging Binding 💽 🕨
Re	JMS Binding	SCA Binding
	MQ Binding	Stateless Session Bean Binding
Cc	MQ JMS Binding	Web Service Binding

Figure 3-48 Import bindings

2. Use the Properties view to define the required transport settings.

JMS binding example

This example illustrates how to define a JMS binding for an export component, which allows a JMS client to call the process. In this example, we add an export component with a JMS binding to the business integration module shown in Figure 3-49. In this case, we have not yet created the export component. We will define the export component and binding at the same time.



Figure 3-49 CustomerProcess assembly diagram

To define a JMS binding, follow these steps:

1. Right-click the business process and select Generate Export \rightarrow Messaging Binding \rightarrow JMS Binding.



Figure 3-50 Generate an export component with a JMS binding

2. Complete the information that is required for the JMS binding as shown in Figure 3-51.

IMS messaging domain:	Publish-Subscribe				
End-point configuration	End-point configuration				
Configure new messaging provider re	 Configure new messaging provider resources 				
OUse pre-configured messaging provide	ler resources				
JNDI name for activation specification;	CustomerModule/JMSExport_AS				
JNDI name for receive destination:	CustomerModule/JMSExport_RECEIVE_D				
Security configuration					
Specify a Java Authentication and Au	uthorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential when server security is enabled				
J2C Authentication data entry:	SCA_Auth_Alias				
Data format					
Data binding configuration: *	com.ibm.websphere.sca.jms.data.impl.JMSDataBindingImplXML Browse				
Function selector					
Function selector configuration: *	com.ibm.websphere.sca.jms.selector.impl.JMSFunctionSelectorImpl Browse				
0	OK Cancel				

Figure 3-51 JMS binding options

The options are as follows:

- a. The domain options depend on the type of operations that are defined on the interface. Interfaces with only one-way operations can support both publish/subscribe and point-to-point domains. Interfaces with request-response operations only support point-to-point.
- b. JMS bindings require a JNDI namespace entry that defines the messaging resources (activation specification, queues, and topics).

You have an option to create the connections and destinations that are required for the JMS binding when the component is installed on your server, or you can specify the JNDI name of existing resources on the server.

- c. JMS resources can require security authorization. You can specify the J2C authentication data entry to use for this purpose at run time.
- d. A data binding provides a mapping between the format that is used by an external JMS message and the SDO representation that is used by the module.

Click **Browse** to open the Data Binding Selection window. Select **Show predefined data bindings**, and select the data binding. In this example, we serialize the data as XML. Then, click **OK**.

🔂 Data Binding Selection	- 🗆 🔀
Show data binding configurations	
 Show predefined data bindings 	
O Show data binding classes	
Filter by name (? = any character, * = any String):	
Matching data bindings:	
Business Object XML using JMSTextMessage	
Serialized Business Object using JMSObjectMessage	
Simple JMS BytesMessage Data Binding	
Simple JMS MapMessage Data Binding	≡
Simple JMS Message Data Binding	
Simple JMS ObjectMessage Data Binding	
Simple JMS StreamMessage Data Binding	
Simple SMS TextMessage Data binding	
Qualifier:	
G com.ibm.websphere.sca.jms.data.impl.JMSDataBindingImplXM	1L
? ОК С	Tancel

Figure 3-52 Select the data binding

e. The function selector is used to determine which operation corresponds to an incoming message.

Click Browse to select a function. Select Show predefined function selectors, and select JMS default Function Selector. Click OK.

3. Click **OK** again to create the export component and binding. The export component is created with the same interface as the business process and are wired to the process. See Figure 3-53.



Figure 3-53 Full module assembly in the assembly diagram

4. You can view and modify the values that you specified for the bindings and additional settings in the Binding tab in the Properties view.

3.6.4 Using adapters

WebSphere Adapters provide a mechanism that allows for integration of existing EIS infrastructure with process integration applications. Adapters can be plugged into the process server to provide connectivity between the EIS, the process server, and the business integration application.

The external service discovery wizard discovers applications and data on an EIS and lets you generate services from the discovered applications and data. During this discovery, a resource adapter is imported and used to create a service to access the information from the external system. The generated artifacts include the interfaces and business objects, the import or export component, and an EIS binding to provide communication with the service on the EIS system.

To create an export component that uses an adapter, select an adapter from the Inbound Adapters folder on the assembly editor palette and drag it onto the canvas. Complete the fields in the wizard to generate the export.

To create an import component that uses an adapter, select an adapter from the Outbound Adapters folder on the assembly editor palette and drag it onto the canvas. Complete the fields in the wizard to generate the import.

Figure 3-54 shows the list of both application adapters (for example, PeopleSoft, SAP, and so forth) and technology adapters (for example, Email, JDBC, and so forth) available on the palette of assembly editor.



Figure 3-54 List of Outbound and Inbound Adapters

For more detailed discussion about adapters, refer to Chapter 7, "Using adapters" on page 471.

3.7 Business object maps

The business entities that travel through WebSphere Process Server are in the form of service data and business objects. A business object map provides the means to map each part of an input message to the corresponding part of an output message.

Note: Unlike interface maps, business object maps can also be used in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.

WebSphere Process Server data mapping support provides the following capabilities:

- Transforming data values from one or more fields in a source business object to one or more fields in a destination business object.
- Establishing and maintaining relationships between data entities that are equivalent but are represented differently and cannot be directly transformed.
- Enabling access to external mapping resources, such as databases for performing queries.

3.7.1 Data transformation types

The data transformation types that you can use in business object maps are:

- Move: Assigns the value in the source to the target.
- Extract: The source value must be a string, which extracts a portion of the string and assigns it to the target. This is similar to the String.substring() method in Java.
- Join: Combines the values of two or more sources into one, and assigns it to the target. The target of a Join transform must be a string.
- Submap: The source and target must be business objects (that is, they must be complex types). The input and output of the specified business object map must be of the same type as the sources and targets of the transform.
- Custom: Specifies custom logic for mapping the inputs and outputs by using Java code.
- Assign: Sets the constant value to the output.
- Relationship: Performs relationship management. The source and target of a Relationship transform must also be complex types.
- Relationship Lookup: Performs relationship management between static cross-referencing data. The source and target of a Relationship Lookup transform must be simple types.
- Custom Assign: Similar to Custom, except that it does not take any input. It is also similar to Assign, except that you can use more logic in assigning the values using Java (using the text or visual editors).
- Custom Callout: Similar to Custom, except that it does not take any output. It can be useful for initialization before executing any transforms.

3.7.2 Creating a business object map

This example illustrates how to create a business object map. In this particular example, the map transforms a GBO (Customer) to an ASBO (ITSOCustomer). Follow these steps:

- In the Business Integration view, expand the module or library. Right-click the Mapping folder and select New → Business Object Map from the context menu.
- 2. In the New Business Object Map dialog box, enter the name and location for the map as shown in Figure 3-55. Click **Next**.

🚯 New Business Object Map			
Business Object Map Create a new business object map. Business object maps are used to transform data between source and target business objects.			
Module or Library: Namespace:	ITSOModule	Browse	
Folder:	map	Browse	
Name:	CustomerBG_to_ITSOCustomerBG		
0	< Back Next >	Finish	

Figure 3-55 New Business Object Map wizard

3. Click **Add** to select the input (source) and output (target) business objects click **Finish**. In Figure 3-56, two business graphs are selected.

🚯 New Business Object Map	×
Business Object Map Create a new business object map. Business object maps are used to transform data between source and target business objects.	
Inputs:	
<pre>[© CustomerBG http://CustomerLibrary/gbo</pre>	Add Remove New
Outputs:	
R ItsoCustomerBG http://www.ibm.com/xmlns/prod/websphere/j2ca/jdbc/itsocustomerbg	Add Remove New
Pack Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 3-56 New business object map wizard

The new map is created and opens in the editor.

Tip: The mapping editor requires a wide view to show all the business object fields. You can make the mapping editor full-screen within the perspective by double-clicking the top bar of the view. You can go back to the original perspective layout by double-clicking again. See Figure 3-57.

🖧 CustomerBG_to_ITSOCustomerBG 🗙	N
■Business object map	h\$
CustomerBG_to_ITSOCustomerBG	
•Transformations 👔 🚑 🍠	× 🖙 🎜 💸 🗄 🍕 🚳 🛛

Figure 3-57 Double-click here to make the view full-screen

4. Map the source elements to the target.

As you hover the mouse over an element in the source business object, an orange circle displays. Select the circle, and drag it to the target element.

Connections made between two elements in a business object have the Move action as the default. You can change the transformation type by clicking **Move** and selecting a new transformation type from the drop-down menu.

Connections made between the source and target at the business object level are created with Submap as the transformation type.



Figure 3-58 Mapping CustomerBG to ItsoCustomerBG

5. Submaps have an underlying map that defines the mapping between the fields in the source and target business objects. The submap mappings are creating in the Details tab of the Properties view for the submap. A submap is stored as a new map. To the right of the business object map field, click the **New** button to provide a name for the new map. See Figure 3-59.

Build Activities 🔲 Properties 🗙 Problems Servers				
Description	Transform - 2			
Details	Business object map:* Customer to ITSOCust	omer 🔽 New Edit		
Sources/Targets				
Event Monitor	Submap inputs:			
Global Event Settings	Transform source	Submap input variable		
	CustomerBG/Customer	Customer		

Figure 3-59 Properties tab to create the Customer_to_ITSOCustomer map

6. The new map opens. Map the fields as shown in Figure 3-60.

🗟 *CustomerBG_to_ITSOCustomerBG 🔂 Customer_to_ITSOCustomer 🗙				
▼Business object map				
Customer_to_ITSOCu	Istomer			
▼Transformations	2 🗟 🖗 🔰	(字 録 念 日 怨 き 9 (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2)		
🖄 Customer		â	ItsoCustomer	
CustomerId :	string	1 Move	e custid str	
CustomerNumber	string	2 Move	e custdesc str	
e CustomerName	string	• 4 Move		
CustomerType	string	• 3 Move	e custtype st	
CustomerStatus	string	5 Move	e fiscalcode sti	
🗄 🖻 CustomerAddress /	Address []	-•	e address sti	
			e zipcode sti	
			e city sti	
			e state st	
			e soldtodate int	
			e budget int	

Figure 3-60 Submap

7. Close the submap and save the business object map.

3.8 Using a stand-alone reference

A stand-alone reference allows you to access a process from a non-SCA client (for example from a JSP in a J2EE application). The stand-alone reference is put in the assembly diagram.

Note: Only one stand-alone Reference node available in each assembly diagram at a given time.

To add a stand-alone reference to the assembly diagram:

- 1. Select **References** from the Palette, and drop it on the canvas.
- 2. Wire the stand-alone reference to the process component.

If multiple interfaces exist, select the interface (**CustomerDeliveryInterface** in this example).

When prompted, if you want to convert the WSDL interface to Java interface, click **Yes** because you will be using a Java client (the JSP). See Figure 3-61.

Note: In most applications, you use WSDL definition interface definitions, which is one of the few times that you use Java (the exception to the rule).

🚯 Add Wire				
There are one or more references on this component that are described by WSDL interfaces. It is simpler to develop Java clients if they use component references that are described as Java interfaces. Would you like to convert the WSDL interfaces used by this component's references so that they use Java interfaces?				
Remember my decision and do not ask me again.				
Yes	lo Help			

Figure 3-61 Accepting CustomerDeliveryInterface wiring

The stand-alone reference is now wired with the process component as shown in Figure 3-62.



Figure 3-62 Assembly Diagram with Stand-alone Reference

3. Save the assembly diagram.

4. The Properties view for the stand-alone reference resemble those shown in Figure 3-63.

Note: The name of the stand-alone reference is CustomerDeliveryInterfacePartner, which is the name of the non-SCA components that are used to locate the stand-alone reference. (You will see this name used later in the Java code of the client JSP.)



Figure 3-63 Stand-alone References Properties

In the Business Integration view, you see a new class file is generated with the name of the interface (CustomerDeliveryInterface) as shown in Figure 3-64.



Figure 3-64 Java Usages class file

5. Double-click the **CustomerDeliveryInterface** class file and observe the generated file with customerDelivery method as shown in Figure 3-65.



Figure 3-65 Generated class file

3.8.1 Invoking the reference from a JSP

The following steps illustrate how to build a client to invoke an SCA component from a JSP:

- 1. Create a Web project and create a JSP in the project.
- 2. Add code in JSP to invoke the process (see Example 3-1).

Example 3-1 JSP code snippet to call the CustomerDeliveryInterfacePartner client code

```
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.ServiceManager" %>
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.Service" %>
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.bo.B0Factory" %>
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.scdl.*" %>
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.scdl.*" %>
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.*" %>
```

```
<%@ page import="com.ibm.websphere.sca.sdo.*" %>
<%
trv {
  ServiceManager serviceManager = new ServiceManager();
  Service service =
(Service)serviceManager.locateService("CustomerDeliveryInterfacePartner");
   BOFactory boFactory = (BOFactory)
serviceManager.locateService("com/ibm/websphere/bo/B0Factory");
  DataObject inputCustomerBGB0 = boFactory.create("http://CustomerLibrary/gbo",
"CustomerBG"):
  DataObject inputCustomerB0 = boFactory.create("http://CustomerLibrary/gbo",
"Customer");
  inputCustomerBO.setString("CustomerId","100");
  inputCustomerBO.setString("CustomerNumber","JS00");
  inputCustomerBO.setString("CustomerName", "Jane Smith");
  inputCustomerBO.setString("CustomerType", "Partner");
  inputCustomerBO.setString("CustomerStatus", "Active");
  inputCustomerBGB0.setDataObject("Customer", inputCustomerBO);
  service.invoke("customerDelivery", inputCustomerBGB0);
}
catch (ServiceBusinessException e) {
  System.out.println("Exception occured: ServiceBusinessException" + e);
}
catch (Exception e) {
  System.out.println("Exception occured: Exception" + e);
%>
```

- 3. Open the dependencies for the business integration module with the stand-alone reference. Add a dependency for the Web project as a J2EE project.
- 4. Make sure that the "Deploy with Module" option is selected so that the Web project is added to the EAR file.
3.9 Working with databases in the workspace

WebSphere Integration Developer provides the Data perspective to help you integrate databases into a solution. This perspective provides tools for creating connections to and working with the following database types:

- ► Cloudscape®
- DB2 UDB
- DB2 for i5/OS
- DB2 for z/OS
- Derby
- Generic JDBC
- Informix®
- MySql
- Oracle
- SQL Server®
- Sybase

To open the perspective, select **Window** \rightarrow **Data Perspective**. If the Data Perspective is not in the list, select **Other** and then **Data** in the Open Perspective panel.

3.9.1 Derby databases

Apache Derby is a Java relational database management system that is included with WebSphere Process Server 6.1 and, thus, WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1.

There are two approaches to working with Derby databases:

- Using WebSphere Integration Developer Database Explorer
- Using the ij tool

Two variations of Derby are included with WebSphere Process Server:

- Derby Embedded (for stand-alone servers)
- Derby Network (for distributed server environments)

Neither version is appropriate for a production environment.

3.9.2 Using the Database Explorer to connect to a database

The Data perspective includes the Database Explorer view that allows you to define connections to databases and to work with those databases (Figure 3-66). In the Database Explorer view click the plus (+) sign to view all available connections. By default, a sample connection for Derby is included.



Figure 3-66 Data perspective and the Database Explorer view

Connections are generally made to existing databases, but if you are working with Cloudscape or Derby, you can create a new database at the same time that you create the connection. Follow these steps:

1. Right-click **Connections**. and select **New Connection**. (You could also simply click the New Connection icon .). See Figure 3-67.



Figure 3-67 Add a new connection

- 2. On the New Connection panel, select the database type.
- 3. Enter the information that is required to connect to the database (as shown in Figure 3-68 on page 94). This information varies depending on the database server type that you select, but the basic properties remain the same. Enter:
 - A name for the connection
 - Information that is required to connect to (or create) the database

Connection identification		
Select a database manager:	JDBC driver: IBM D	B2 Universal
	Connection URL de Database: Host: Port number: Use client authe JDBC driver class: Class location: Connection URL:	etails ORDERDB 9.42.170.187 50000 entication com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver 307211720\driver\db2jcc_license_cisu2.jar Brow jdbc:db2://9.42.170.187:50000/ORDERDB:retrieve
0		

Figure 3-68 Create a new database connection

4. Use the Test Connection to test the connection to the database.

5. Click **Finish**. The new connection shows in the Database Explorer view. You can see the schema, tables, and other data for the database as shown in Figure 3-69.

👫 Database Explorer 🗙 🖳 🗖	
🖮 👍 ORDERDB [DB2 for Linux, UNIX, and Windows V9. 🔼 🕔	
🖮 🚺 ORDERDB	
Groups	
🖨 🗀 Remote Servers	
🗄 💼 🗀 Undefined Remote Servers	
🗄 🗀 Defined Remote Servers	
🖨 🗀 Schemas	
🕀 🐨 🔛 DB2ADMIN	
🖨 📲 DBADMIN	
🕀 🗀 Aliases	
🕀 💼 Dependencies	
🕀 🗀 Federated Stored Procedures	
😟 🗀 MQTs	
😟 🗀 Nicknames	
🗄 🗀 Sequences	
😟 🧰 Stored Procedures	
🖨 🧰 🧰 Tables	

Figure 3-69 New connection

3.9.3 Using the SQL editor

You can use the SQL editor to execute SQL statements against the database to which you are connected:

- 1. Click the Open SQL Editor icon in the toolbar of the Database Explorer view to open a New_Statement_1 tab where you can type or paste SQL statements.
- 2. When you have entered the statements, right-click anywhere in SQL editor panel, and select **Run SQL** from the pop-up menu.
- 3. In the Connection Selection panel select **Use an existing connection**, and select the connection.
- 4. Click Finish.

You see the DataOutput report shown in Figure 3-70. Each SQL statement is executed, and its result is reported in the Status column.

Properties	Tasks	Problems	Error Log	Model Rep	oort	୍ରିଆ Data Out	put 🗙	Bookmarks	Serv
Status		Action	OB	ject Name	^	SQL Editor			
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQ	L Editor		Messages (Parameters	Results	Profili
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQL	L Editor		Starting run		u 11	
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQL	L Editor		a tarting tart			
🗸 Succes	is	Run	SQI	L Editor		ALTER TABLE	"ITEMWHS"	1	
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQI	L Editor		ADD FOREIGN KEY ("WHSID") REFERENCES "WAREHOUSE"			
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQI	L Editor					
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQI	L Editor		("WHSID")			
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQI	L Editor		ON DELETE	NO ACTION		
🗸 Succes	s	Run	SQ	L Editor	~	ON OFDATE	NOACHON		
<						Run successf	ul		

Figure 3-70 SQL output

3.9.4 Loading data into tables

Data can be loaded into tables from a file that contains the data. For example, the data for the CUSTOMER table is stored in a file (see Example 3-2)

Example 3-2 Database data to load

```
"10001", "John Smith Corp.", "G", "ABC000000001231", "245 South
Road", "12601", "Poughkeepsie", "NY", 1000, 50000
"10002", "Jane Doe Inc.", "G", "ERT0000000001235", "3039 E. Cornwallis
Road", "27709", "RTP", "NC", 50000, 15000
"10003", "YXZ itso Corp.", "F", "LKJ000000001232", "4205 S. Miami
Blvd", "27709", "RTP", "NC", 10000, 5000
"10101", "John Smith Corp.", "P", "ABC000000001231", "245 South
Road", "12601", "Poughkeepsie", "NY", 1000, 50000
```

To load the data into the table:

- 1. Expand the schema, then expand Tables.
- 2. Select the table, right-click, select **Data** from the pop-up menu, and then select **Load**.
- 3. On the Load Data panel select the input file and review the file format parameters to make sure that they correspond to the format that is used in the data file that you plan to load. Then, click **Finish**.

You can see the results in the DataOutput window as shown in Figure 3-71.

ିଞ୍ଚ Data Output	💱 Data Output 🗙								
Status	Action	Object Name	"DBADMIN"."	ITEMWHS"		Þ			
✓ Success	Load	ITEMWHS	Messages	Parameters	Results	Profiling Da			
 Success 	Load	WAREHOUSE	Loading "DB	ADMIN". "ITEN	4WHS"				
 Success 	Load	ITEM							
 Success 	Load	CUSTOMER	Data loadin	g was success	ful.				
			90 row(s) lo	aded.					

Figure 3-71 Results

3.9.5 Viewing and editing data in the tables

Working with the data in the tables is easy with the Database Explorer. Using the CUSTOMER table as an example, to view and edit data in the tables:

1. On Database Explorer window right-click the table, and select $Data \rightarrow Edit$ as shown in Figure 3-72.



Figure 3-72 Edit tables

🖽 CUSTOMER 🕱			
CUSTID [VARCHAR/103]	CUSTDESC [VARCHAR(30)]	CUSTTYPE [VARCHAR(1)]	FISCAL
10001 Close	John Smith Corp.	G	ABC000
10002	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10003	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
10101	John Smith Corp.	Р	ABC000
10102	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10103	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
10201	John Smith Corp.	G	ABC000
10202	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10203	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
10301	John Smith Corp.	G	ABC000
10302	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10303	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
10401	John Smith Corp.	G	ABC000
10402	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10403	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
10501	John Smith Corp.	G	ABC000
10502	Jane Doe Inc.	G	ERT000
10503	YXZ itso Corp.	F	LK30000
<		-	>

A new tab opens that shows the contents of the table (Figure 3-73).

Figure 3-73 Table contents

2. To save the updates press Ctrl+S, or right-click and select Save.

If you want to restore the changes that you just made, right-click and select **Revert**. You can insert and delete rows as well.

3. To exit, click the *X* at the top of the tab.

3.9.6 Closing connections

The context menu for the connection has options to disconnect and reconnect to the database.

To gracefully close the database connection, select the connection, right-click, and select **Disconnect** (Figure 3-74). The icon to the left of the connection changes color from green to yellow.



Figure 3-74 Disconnect from the Derby database

To reconnect select the connection, right-click and select Reconnect.

3.10 Derby ij tool

Another way to work with Derby database is to use scripts and the ij scripting tool that comes with WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1, WebSphere Process Server 6.1, and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus 6.1. You can find more information about ij at:

http://db.apache.org/derby/papers/DerbyTut/ij_intro.html

Here, we provide just a quick demo on how to get started with ij. To start the tool, open a Command Prompt window and type:

WID root\runtimes\bi v61\derby\bin\embedded\ij

If you are working with a WebSphere Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus installation rather than WebSphere Integration Developer, replace WID_root with WPS_root or WESB_root respectively.

C:\WINDOWS\system32\cmd.exe - C:\IBM\WID61\runtimes\bi_v6... -

C:\itso>C:\IBM\WID61\runtimes\bi_v61\derby\bin\embedded\ij ij version 10.1 ij>

Figure 3-75 Starting ij

Now, you are ready to work with ij.

Note: Every ij command ends with semicolon (;).

You can use:

- The help; command to learn more about the tool.
- The run 'filename'; command to execute scripts.

3.10.1 Create a database

Databases are created by running scripts that contain the SQL that is required to create the database and tables. For example, Example 3-3 shows a portion of the script that is used to build the ORDERDB database, create the tables, and import data to the tables.

```
Example 3-3 ConnectCreateLoadORDERDBTablesLoad.ddl
```

```
-- ConnectCreateLoadORDERDBTablesLoad.ddl
connect
'jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\ORDERDB;create=true;user=dbadmin;password=
dbadmin';
CREATE TABLE "DBADMIN"."ITEM" (
```

```
"ITEMID" VARCHAR(10) NOT NULL ,
"ITEMNAME" VARCHAR(30) ,
"PRICE" INTEGER NOT NULL ) ;
```

```
ALTER TABLE "DBADMIN"."ITEM"
ADD PRIMARY KEY
("ITEMID");
... (more here) ..
CALL SYSCS_UTIL.SYSCS_IMPORT_TABLE (null,
'ITEM','C:\itso\RedBookData\Item.data',null,null,null,0);
```

Example 3-4 shows the ij command to run this script and the output.

run 'C:\junk\testDerby_ddl\ConnectCreateLoadORDERDBTablesLoad.ddl'

Note: If the command hangs, be sure that you entered the semicolon (;) at the end of the command.

Example 3-4 The ij command and output

```
C:\WID61\runtimes\bi v61\derby\bin\embedded>ij
ij version 10.1
ij> run 'C:\itso\RedBookData\ConnectCreateLoadORDERDBTablesLoad.ddl';
i.j> -- ConnectCreateLoadORDERDBTablesLoad.ddl
connect
'jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\TESTDB;create=true;user=dbadmin;password=d
b
admin';
ij> -----
-- DDL Statements for table "ORDERHEADER"
_____
 CREATE TABLE "DBADMIN"."ORDERHEADER"
                                     (
     "ORDID" VARCHAR(40) NOT NULL,
    "CUSTID" VARCHAR(20) ,
    "AMOUNT" INTEGER ,
     "SUBMITTERID" VARCHAR(30),
     "STATE" VARCHAR(10) .
    "CREATIONDATE" TIMESTAMP ,
     "COMPLETIONDATE" TIMESTAMP ,
    "ITEMID" VARCHAR(10) NOT NULL ,
    "ITEMOTY" INTEGER NOT NULL ) ;
0 rows inserted/updated/deleted
ij> -- DDL Statements for primary key on Table ORDERHEADER
ALTER TABLE "DBADMIN"."ORDERHEADER"
  ADD PRIMARY KEY
   ("ORDID");
```

```
0 rows inserted/updated/deleted
... more output here ..
ij> CALL SYSCS_UTIL.SYSCS_IMPORT_TABLE (null,
'ITEMWHS','C:\itso\RedBookData\Ite
mwhs.data',null,null,null,0);
0 rows inserted/updated/deleted
ij>
```

Note that the output indicates:

0 rows inserted/updated/deleted

Data was actually loaded into the tables, which can be verified with Database Explorer. However, note that you have to disconnect from the database in the ij session before accessing the same database from the Database Explorer. Otherwise, you will get an error.

3.10.2 Database disconnect and reconnect

Use the following commands to disconnect from a Derby database (as shown in Figure 3-76):

disconnect; exit; ij> disconnect; ij> exit; C:\itso>_____

Figure 3-76 The command to disconnect from a Derby database

To reconnect to a database, use the following command (as shown in Figure 3-77):

connect 'jdbc:derby:file;create=true;user=userID;password=pw';

```
C:\itso>C:\IBM\WID61\runtimes\bi_v61\derby\bin\embedded\ij
ij version 10.1
ij> connect 'jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\ORDERDB;create=tru
;user=dbadmin;password=dbadmin';
WARNING 01J01: Database 'C:\itso\sampleDB\ORDERDB' not crea
ed, connection made to existing database instead.
ij> _
```

Figure 3-77 The command to reconnect to a database

3.10.3 Drop tables

To drop tables and disconnect from the database, create a script with the commands and run it from the ij tool.

Note: The order in which the ORDERDB tables are dropped is important because of imposed constraints. The script that is used to drop ORDERDB is called DropAllORDERDBTablesDisconnect.ddl.

Figure 3-78 shows the commands that are included in this file and that are executed by the script.

🐼 Command Prompt - ij
arehouse.data',null,null,null,0); Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> CALL SYSCS_UTIL.SYSCS_IMPORT_TABLE <null, 'itemwhs','c:<br="">mwhs.data',null,null,null,0); Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> run 'c:\itso\RedBookData\DropAllORDERDBTablesDisconnect ij> DropAllORDERDBTablesDisconnect.ddl</null,>
DDL Statements for dropping all ORDERDB tables
DROP TABLE "DBADMIN"."ITEMWHS"; Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> DROP TABLE "DBADMIN"."CUSTOMER"; Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> DROP TABLE "DBADMIN"."ORDERHEADER"; Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> DROP TABLE "DBADMIN"."ITEM"; Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> DROP TABLE "DBADMIN"."WAREHOUSE"; Ø rows inserted/updated/deleted ij> disconnect; ij> =

Figure 3-78 The DropAllORDERDBTablesDisconnect.ddl script

3.10.4 Viewing a database

You can type SQL statements directly in ij to interact with a database. For example:

connect 'jdbc:derby:file;create=true;user=userID;password=pw'; SELECT * FROM table; (view output) disconnect; exit;

For example, if you want to verify whether the CUSTOMER table was initialized correctly with application data, you type in the SQL statements shown in Figure 3-79.

C:\itso>c:\ibm\WID61\runtimes\bi_v61\derby\bin\embedded\ij ij version 10.1 ij> connect 'jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\ORDERDB;user=dbadmin;password=						
ij> selo CUSTID 	ect * from CUSTOMER; CUSTDESC ZIPC& CITY	I& IFISCALCODE IADDRESS IS& ISOLDTODATE IBUDGET				
10001	John Smith Corp.	IGIABC0000000012311245_South				
4 0000	12601 Poughkeepsie	INY 11000 150000				
10002	iJane Doe Inc.	IGIEKI00000000123513037 E. CO				
Koad	127709 i KI P	iNG i 50000 i 15000				
10003	iYXZ 1CSO COPP.	iFiLKJ000000001232i4205 5. M1				
10101	John Smith Corp.	IP ABC00000001231 1245 South				
10102 Road	Jane Doe Inc.	G ERT00000001235 3039 E. Co NC 50000 15000				
10103	IYXZ itso Corp. 127709 BTP	F LKJ000000001232 4205 S. Mi NC 10000 5000				
10201	John Smith Corp. 12601 Poughkeepsie	G ABC0000000001231 245				
10202	Jane Doe Inc.	G ERT000000001235 3039 E. Co				
Road	127709 BTP	INC 150000 115000				
10203	IXXZ itso Corp. 127709 IRTP	F LKJ000000001232 4205 S. Mi NC 10000 5000				
10301	John Smith Corp.	G ABC000000001231 245 South NY!1000 !50000				
10302	Jane Doe Inc.	IG ERT000000001235 3039 E. Co				

Figure 3-79 Viewing a database

3.11 Deploying modules

Deploying modules involves placing the files that comprise modules and adapters, if used, into an operational environment for production or testing. The two deployment environments include:

- WebSphere Integration Developer integrated test environment
- WebSphere Process Server production environment

3.11.1 Deploying the module for testing

WebSphere Integration Developer integrated test environment incorporates the runtime environment support for WebSphere Process Server, WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, or both, depending on the test environment profiles that are installed when WebSphere Integration Developer is installed.

In WebSphere Integration Developer, you can deploy the modules to one or more servers in the test environment. This method is typically the most common practice for running and testing business integration modules.

3.11.2 Deploying the module for production

Deploying a module built in WebSphere Integration Developer to WebSphere Process Server in a production environment is a two-step process:

- Export the module in WebSphere Integration Developer as an enterprise archive (EAR) file.
- Deploy the EAR file using the WebSphere Process Server administrative console.

3.12 Test tools

WebSphere Integration Develop provides a variety of tools to help you test your SCA application as well as J2EE applications. This section discusses the most commonly used features for testing for business integration and mediation modules.

3.12.1 Integrated test environment

WebSphere Integration Developer provides a WebSphere Process Server and a WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus runtime environment. The two server types are predefined when you open a workspace. The Servers view and Console view are the primary views that you use to work with servers.

Servers view

The Servers view, shown in Figure 3-80, allows you to start and stop the servers and to publish (deploy) to the server. The toolbar at the top of the view has icons to help you do these actions quickly. You can also select options from the context menu (right-click) of the server.

🚯 Business Integration – IBM W	/ebSphere.Integration.D	eveloper 6.1 - C:\itso\Dev¥	KSP1
<u>File Edit Navigate Search Proj</u>	ect Da <u>t</u> a <u>R</u> un <u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp	
i 📬 • 🔡 💩 👘 i 🚇 •	• 1 😰 1 💁 • 1 🗉	1 🖴 🖍 1 🗟 • 1 🎱	😰 🐯 Business Inte
[] 웹 ~ 웬 ~ ♡ ♥ ♥ ♥ ♥ .			
Busi 원 Phy 🗖 🗖			- 0
[2#200 □\$>			
📗 📥 Mapping 🛛 💽			
📮 🔁 CustomerModule 🛛 🦳	Build Activities Properties	Problems 👫 Servers 🗙	Console
😑 😵 Assembly Diagram 🔄			S () () 🖓 🖕 🔲 🗐
CustomerProces	Soruor	Shahur	State
🔒 B 🕱 0 V 🖵 🗖	WebSphere ESB S	Stopped	Synchronized
	WebSphere Proce	ess Server v6.1 🕋 Started	Synchronized
			>

Figure 3-80 Server view

To start a server, select the server, and click the Start icon (). The server starts, and you are switched to the Console view where you can monitor the progress of the startup.

To stop a server, select the server, and click the Stop icon 📃 . The server stops, and you are switched to the Console view where you can monitor the progress.

When you make changes to deployed applications, you need to republish the applications to the server. To do this, select the server, and click the Publish icon You need to publish changes only if the server state is Republish. If the state is synchronized, the server has the latest copy of the application.

Console view

The Console view, shown in Figure 3-81, shows you SystemOut messages from the server. Because the messages tend to be very long, double-click the bar above the view (to the right of the Console tab) to make it a full-screen view.

6	Busir	iess Ir	tegra	ation	- Custor	nerModu	e - Ass	embly.	Diagra	m - IBM)	WebSp	ohere In	tegrati	ion 🖃 🕻
E	ile <u>E</u> di	t <u>N</u> avi	gate	Se <u>a</u>	rch <u>P</u> roje	ct Da <u>t</u> a	<u>R</u> un	<u>W</u> indow	<u>H</u> elp					
****	<u> 1</u>	H d	6		• : :	- Q	10	1 🛯	8	6 2 •		E () Profilin	g and L
	>	2		- *	⇔ •	⇒ * 1	$\varphi \diamond$					Eg Bus	iness In	te
E	Build Act	ivities	Prope	rties	Problem	s Servers		onsole 🛛	×	_				
۷	VebSph	ere Pro	cess S	erver	v6.1 [We	bSphere Pi	rocess S	ierver] W	/ebSphe	ere 🔳 💥	1	R 🙆	1 🖻	🖻 • 🗗
	SibM	essag	je	I	[:]	CWSIS1	.568I	: Mess	agin	g engi	ne w:	idNode	.serv	/er1-Co
	SibM	essag	je	I	[:]	CWSIS1	569I	: Mess	agin	g engi:	ne w:	idNode	.serv	/er1-BP
	Core			I	CWS	CA30091	: The	e SCA	modu	le "Cu	stome	erModu	leApp	o" is s
	Syst	emOut	;	0	[47454	1 7] [get	Syncl	hroniz	edEx	tended	Metal	Data]	Confi	igImpl=
	Core			I	CWSC	CA30101	: The	SCA	modu	le sta	rted	succe	ssful	lly.
	Reso	urcel	lgr Iı	m I	<u>USVI</u>	<u>R00491</u> :	Bind	ding j	avax	.resou	rce.d	cci.Co	nnect	ionFac
	Diag	nosti	cPr	o W	com.ik	om.ws.r	asdia	ag.Dis	gnos	ticPro	vider	Regis	try r	egiste
	Reso	urcel	lgr Iı	m I	USVI	R00491:	Bin	ding (usto	merMod	ule.H	FlatFi	leOut	bound
	EJBC	ontai	ner	ΙI	USVI	<u> ROO371</u> :	Sta	ting	EJB	jar: C	ustor	nerMod	luleEd	JB.jar
	Acti	vatio	nSp	e I	<u>J2C</u>	<u>AO523I</u> :	The	Messa	ige E	ndpoin	t for	Acti	vatio	nSpec :
	Acti	vatio	nSp	e I	<u>J2C</u> i	<u>A0523I</u> :	The	Messa	ige E	ndpoin	t for	Acti	vatio	onSpec
	EJBC	ontai	ner	ΙI	USVI	R00571:	EJB	jar s	tart	ed: Cu	stome	erModu	leEJE	3.jar
	WebG	roup		A	SRVI	<u>:01691</u>	Load	ding b	Jeb M	odule:	Cust	comerM	lodule	eWeb.
	Virt	ualHo	st	I	SRVI	<u>:02501</u>	Web	Modul	e Cu	stomer	Modul	leWeb	has k	een bo
	Appl	icati	onM	g A	USVI	RO2211:	App.	licati	on s	tarted	: Cus	stomer	Modul	еАрр
6	<													>
	•								1					

Figure 3-81 Console view

You can clear the console so that you only see new messages by clicking the Clear console icon

You can switch between consoles of active servers by clicking the Display selected console icon 📃 🔹 and selecting the server from a drop-down list.

Deploying and undeploying applications

To deploy or undeploy applications to a server, select the server in the Servers view, right-click, and select **Add and remove projects**.

Component testing: When you run a component test, the application is deployed for you automatically. However, you might want to deploy the application and any dependent applications ahead of time to make sure all the components that you need are available.

Move the projects to deploy from the Available projects column to the Configured projects column, and click **Finish**. Note that projects are packaged as applications automatically. The project names you see will be the EAR file name. See Figure 3-82.

Add and Remove Project Add and Remove Project Modify the projects that are con	ts nfigured on the server	
Move projects to the right to co Available projects:	onfigure them on the serve	r Configured projects:
⊕… — ITSOModuleApp ⊕ — C OrderPreProcessingM	ec Add >	🗄 🛅 CustomerModuleApp
<	Add All >>	
0	< Back Next >	Finish Cancel

Figure 3-82 Add and remove projects

The server must be started for an application to deploy. If the server is stopped, this process starts it and deploys the application.

Administrative console

WebSphere Process Servers and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus servers are managed through administrative tools. The primary tool is the Web-based administrative console, shown in Figure 3-83.

To open the console in the workspace, select the server in the Servers view, right-click and select **Run administrative console**.

🖏 CustomerModule - Assembly Diagram 🛞 Admin Console × Integrated Solutions Console Welcome admin Help | Logout Welcome View: All tasks Welcome About this Integrated Solutions Co 🗄 Guided Activities Integrated Solutions Console, Integrated Solutions Servers 6.1.0.13 Console provides a Build Number: cf130745.06 Applications
 common Build Date: 11/13/07 administration console for multiple products, E Resources The table lists the LICENSED MATERIALS PROPERT 🗄 Security product suites that OF IBM can be administered through this installation. Select a Integration Application: product suite to view more information. System administration 🛨 Users and Groups Suite Name Version Monitoring and Tuning WebSphere 6.1.0.13 Application Troubleshooting Server × > < 1111

Log in to the console using admin as both the user ID and password.

Figure 3-83 Administrative console

Logs

The SystemOut and SystemErr logs for the servers is stored, by default, in the *WID_root*\pf*profile*\logs*server* directory, where profile is "wps" or "esb" depending on the server.

You can also view these logs through the administrative console by selecting **Troubleshooting** \rightarrow **Logs and Trace** \rightarrow *server* \rightarrow **JVMTM logs**. Select the Runtime tab.

3.12.2 Component testing

WebSphere Integration Developer provides an integration test client that is intended to test modules, individual components, and inter-module components.

The test client provides *emulation* services so that you can test individual components without having all the components available. An emulator can be defined for references, components, or imports in the module. Emulators are manual by default, meaning the test stops at the emulator and allows you to enter the response parameters for the emulated artifact before continuing. You can also have programmatic emulators that use a response file to emulate the artifact.

You can open the integration test client from the Business Integration view or assembly diagram by right-clicking the module or component that you want to test and selecting **Test Module** or **Test Component**.

A typical test sequence for a component is as follows:

- 1. Deploy the modules to the server.
- 2. Open the module in the assembly editor.
- 3. Right-click the component, and select **Test Component**. The integration test client opens to the Events tab.
- 4. Select the module, component, interface, and operation that you want to test. The test starts with the component that you select, so you can test by providing input at any component interface in the module.
- 5. Enter the data that you want to provide as input data in the Initial request parameters area. You have several options for entering this data, in addition to entering it manually:
 - Test data can be stored in XML files for import. Attributes in the XML that match the test data attributes are imported. The simplest way to create the XML files is to enter the data into the initial request parameters. Then, right-click the business object in the table, and select **Export to XML file** from the context menu. To use the file in a subsequent test, right-click the business object in the initial request parameters table and select **Import** from XML file.

This allows you to populate all the input parameter fields easily with pre-set values.

Store the data in the data pool. Enter the data manually the first time that you start the test. Then, right-click the field that you want to save and select Add value to pool from the context menu. You can retrieve the value for this field in subsequent tests by right-clicking the field and selecting Use value from pool.

This allows you to populate individual fields with pre-set values.

- You can also use the **Copy value** and **Paste value** functions from the context menu of each field to copy data from one field to another.

···•-	b Caraval Burn			
vents	Jeneral Prop	perties		
🎄 - 🔳 😫 🔘	Detailed Pro	perties		
	Configuration:	Default Module Tes	t	*
🕴 Invoke	Module:	ITSOModule		~
	Component:	CustomerRequest_	to_JDBCOutboundInter	rfaceE: 🔽
	Interface:	CustomerRequestIr	nterface	~
	Operation:	customerRequest		~
		t usina bindina		
	Invoke expor	t using binding		
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters		
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters		
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters Type	Value	
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters Type verb <string></string>	Value Value	
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters Type verb <string> Customer</string>	Value Value Create	
	Invoke expor Initial request pa B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	t using binding arameters Type verb <string> Customer string</string>	Value	
	Invoke expor Initial request pa ame rb Istomer CustomerId CustomerId	t using binding arameters Type verb <string> Customer d string lumt string</string>	Value ✓ Create ✓ ✓ 101 ✓ JD01	
	Invoke expor	t using binding arameters verb <string> Customer d string lumt string lame string</string>	Value Create V 101 JD01 John Doe	
	Invoke expor Initial request pa Initial request pa	t using binding arameters Verb <string> Customer d string lumt string lame string ype string</string>	Value Value Create V 101 JD01 John Doe Customer	
	Invoke expor Initial request pa ame rb istomer CustomerI CustomerI CustomerI CustomerI CustomerI CustomerI	t using binding arameters Verb <string> Customer d string lumt string lame string ype string tatu string</string>	Value Value Create V 101 John Doe Customer V Active	
	Invoke expor Initial request pa ame rb Istomer CustomerN CustomerN CustomerN CustomerT CustomerT	t using binding arameters Type verb <string> Customer d string lumt string lame string ype string tatu string ddr. Address[]</string>	Value Value Create V 101 JD01 John Doe Customer Active	

Figure 3-84 The integration test client populated with Customer info

- 6. Switch to the Configuration tab to verify, define or remove emulators.
- 7. Switch back to the Events tab and click the Continue icon () to start the test.

8. Select the deployment location (WebSphere Process Server v6.1) as shown in Figure 3-85 and click **Finish**.

•	Deployment Location		×
Se Sp	elect Deployment Location becify a runtime location where this test will deploy.	T ^E	2
[Deployment location:		
	WebSphere Process Servers WebSphere Process Server v6.1	New Server	

Figure 3-85 Deployment Location wizard

9. Enter the administrative user ID and password (admin for both) and click **OK** as shown in Figure 3-86.

🚯 User Login - Default Module Test 🛛 🔀			
Security is enabled on the selected runtime environment(s). Please sign in to continue the test.			
User ID:			
admin			
Password:			
Use the authentication settings in the preference and never ask again.			
OK Cancel			

Figure 3-86 User Login for Test Module

10. The invocation of the test runs with the data that you provided. Each step through the components is recorded in the Events pane (Figure 3-87), which lets you verify that the path that you expected the module to take is what actually happened.



Figure 3-87 Values retuned from the emulation

- 11. If a component implementation is missing (that is, if the reference in the assembly diagram is not wired), an emulator is defined for that reference. When the module reaches that point, the test client stops with an Emulate event. Select the event, and fill in the data the emulator is to provide as output. Then, click the Continue icon again.
- 12. At the end of the run, the output data is displayed in the Output parameters window.
- 13. To run a new test with different input parameters, click the Invoke icon Complete the new input parameters, and click the Continue icon.

To repeat a test using the same input data, right-click the Invoke event and select **Rerun**.

3.12.3 JSP component testing

To test a JSP component:

- 1. Switch to the J2EE perspective or one of the Java perspectives.
- 2. In the Physical Resources view, navigate to the Web module and locate the JSP as shown in Figure 3-88.



Figure 3-88 CustomerModuleWeb in the J2EE perspective



3. Right-click the JSP and select **Run As** \rightarrow **1. Run on Server** (Figure 3-89).

Figure 3-89 Starting JSP page from J2EE perspective

- 4. Select WebSphere Process Server v6.1 and click Finish.
- 5. Open a browser, enter the URL for the JSP, and test the execution.

3.13 Team development

WebSphere Integration Development supports team development with Concurrent Versions System (CVS) and Rational ClearCase®. This support allows developers to coordinate complex development projects and tasks (for example building and reuse, sharing of components, and version control) in a team environment.

3.13.1 Sharing your integration project

The single user environment is the basic environment for authoring a project. In this environment, a single user at a time builds, stores, validates, and analyzes the application. The single user environment is ideal for small scale projects in which parallel (or concurrent) development of the project does not often occur.

The multi-user environment supports larger projects with several users contributing to build the project. Parallel development occurs when two or more users work on the project simultaneously. The danger with parallel development in the single user environment is that data loss can occur.

If the team is using importing and exporting artifacts to share the project, the team members must cooperate and coordinate closely to avoid overwriting each other's changes and causing data loss.



Figure 3-90 Shared project integration

The following are reasons for using versioning tools:

- Efficient, reliable, and layered security
- Diversity of support for multiple platforms
- Central and distributed code
- Backup and multiple layers of saved changes
- Only differences are stored on server—not copies
- *Concurrent* access to the same file by multiple users

3.13.2 Using CVS

CVS is a program that allows multiple users to access, modify, and update projects and their contents simultaneously. It lets a team of developers share control of different versions of files in a common repository of files. CVS provides options to record the history of the source files in such way that several developers can work on the same project concurrently, where developers can edit files within their own working copy of the project and send (or check in) modifications to the server.

Table 3-1 lists common CVS terminology.

Components	Descriptions
Commit (check in)	The user makes changes to an artifact that is checked out by CVS and uploads the changes to the CVS repository.
Update	The user synchronizes the workspace with the repository. The user realizes that the local files are unmodified but that newer versions are available on the server. The user's local copy is out of date, and the user must extract the most recent copy from CVS.
Conflict	The user is trying to commit a file that has already been modified and committed by a different user. In other words, the version currently in CVS is not the version the user originally checked out. The user's artifacts are out of synch with the remote CVS server.
Share	Connect a project to a version control system.
Disconnect	Stop sharing from a version control system.
Check out	Copy to different local machine to make changes.
Synchronize	To determine the differences between the local copy and the central repository and when the user is ready to commit work and to synchronize with the repository.

Table 3-1 Common CVS terminologies

3.13.3 Install CVS and create a repository

The first step to using a CVS repository is to download the code and to install the server. This process is relatively simple, so we do not cover it here. For more information about downloading and installing a CVS server, see:

http://www.nongnu.org/cvs/

3.13.4 Adding a CVS repository to the workspace

You must define the CVS repository to your workspace in WebSphere Integration Developer. Each development team member must perform the following steps to define the repository on the workspace:

- 1. Open the CVS Repository Exploring Perspective. Anywhere in the CVS Repositories pane, right-click **New** → **Repository Location**.
- Enter the information that defines the location of the repository, the user ID with which to connect, and the connection type. Click Finish. See Figure 3-91.

Add a new CVS	Repository ^{VC}	
Add a new CVS Rep	ository to the CVS Repositories vie	w CVS
Location Host: Repository path: Authentication User: thalia Password: •••• Connection Connection type: Ouse default po Use port: Validate connect Saved password Market Saved password Market Saved password	9.42.170.176 /redbook pserver rt ion on finish rds are stored on your computer in an intruder to read.	n a file that is difficult, but not
0	(<u>Finish</u> Cancel

Figure 3-91 Add new CVS Repository wizard

3.13.5 Sharing a project with CVS

Use this option if you have not shared this project before and if this project does not exist in the CVS repository.

To share a project with CVS:

- 1. Open the Business Integration perspective.
- 2. In the Business Integration view, right-click the project that you want to share, and then select **Team** \rightarrow **Share Project**.
- 3. Select CVS as the repository type and click Next.
- 4. Select **Use existing repository location** and select the repository that you added as shown in Figure 3-92. Then, click **Next**.

Select an existing repository location or create a new location.				
This wizard will help you to share your files with the CVS repository for the first time. Your project will automatically be imported into the CVS repository, and the Commit wizard will open to allow you to commit your resources.				
<u>Create a new repository location</u> <u>Use existing repository location</u> :				
:pserver:thalia@9.42.170.176:/redbook				

Figure 3-92 Share Project with CVS Repository

5. Accept the default for the module name (**Use project name as module name**) as shown in Figure 3-93, and then click **Next**.





6. Accept the defaults, as shown in Figure 3-94, and then click Finish.



Figure 3-94 Share Project Resources

7. Enter a comment to the commit operation as shown in Figure 3-95, and then click **Finish**.



Figure 3-95 Commit files

3.13.6 Checking out a project from CVS

If other team members already have projects checked into CVS (for example, the shared library), you can use the following steps to check these projects out of CVS to start your own development:

1. Open the CVS Repositories view, expand the server, then expand **HEAD** as shown in Figure 3-96.



Figure 3-96 CVS server showing HEAD expanded

- 2. Right-click the project that you want to check out and select Check Out.
- 3. If you switch back to the Business Integration perspective, you see the Project that you just checked out from CVS.

3.13.7 Checking in changes to a project to CVS

As you develop your modules, you will want to check in changes periodically into CVS. The instructions in this section assume that you have either shared your project or that you have checked out a project from CVS.

For example, if you have checked in the module EmailOutbound previously in CVS and made additional changes, you check in new changes with the following steps:

1. The Business Integration perspective shows when a module or file has changes that are not in CVS. A > symbol is prefixed to the artifact name as shown in Figure 3-97.



Figure 3-97 Business Integration perspective showing differences with CVS

- To check in the changes to EmailOutbound, right-click EmailOutbound → Team → Synchronize with Repository. Confirm that you want to switch to the Team Synchronizing perspective by clicking Yes.
- 3. The Synchronize view has a toolbar at the top with icons that allow you to work with the changes (Figure 3-98).



Figure 3-98 Synchronize view

The status bar at the bottom of the screen shows a total for the incoming, outgoing, and conflicting changes. In this example, there are, respectively, 0 incoming, 2 outgoing, and 0 conflicting changes.

 Click the Incoming Mode icon repository. In this case, there are no incoming changes as shown in Figure 3-99.



Figure 3-99 Incoming mode

5. Click the Outgoing Mode icon to see the changes that are outgoing (Figure 3-100). You can expand the folders to examine your changes.



Figure 3-100 Outgoing mode

6. Click the Incoming/Outgoing Mode icon 😭 to see both (Figure 3-101).



Figure 3-101 Incoming and Outgoing modes

7. To check in your changes to CVS, right-click **EmailOutbound** in the Synchronize view and select **Commit** as shown in Figure 3-102.



Figure 3-102 Checking in changes into CVS

8. Enter a comment for the commit operation, then click Finish.

126 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development
4

Building business integration applications

Business integration means integrating applications, data, and processes within an enterprise or among a set of enterprises. Integration also means developing processes, because there is some logic to the sequence of the applications that are assembled to integrate them. WebSphere Integration Developer is used to create business integration applications.

This chapter discusses the details of creating business integration applications and their supporting artifacts. It includes the following topics:

- Typical development flow
- Service components for modules
- Using Java objects
- Business processes
- Human tasks
- Administering processes and tasks
- Business state machines
- ► Business rules
- Selectors
- Interface maps

4.1 Typical development flow

This section provides overview information of the development process for a business integration module.

In Chapter 3, "Basics of development" on page 29, we discussed the typical development flow for modules and mediation modules, which is as follows:

- 1. Start WebSphere Integration Developer and open a workspace (as described in 3.2.2, "Start WebSphere Integration Developer" on page 42).
- 2. Switch to the Business Integration perspective for development (as described in 3.2.3, "Using the Business Integration perspective" on page 43).
- 3. Create a library to store artifacts, such as business objects and interfaces that are shared among multiple modules (as described in 3.3.1, "Libraries" on page 44).
- 4. Create a new module or mediation module (as described in 3.3.2, "Modules and mediation modules" on page 46).
- 5. Create the business objects to contain the application data, for example, customer or order data (as described in 3.4, "Business objects" on page 53).
- 6. Create the interface and define the interface operations for each component. The interface determines what data can be passed from one component to another (as described in 3.5, "Interfaces" on page 63).
- 7. Create and implement the service components.
- 8. Build the module assembly by adding the service components, imports, and exports to the assembly diagram. Wire the components together. Bind the imports and exports to a protocol (as described in 3.6, "Module assembly" on page 69).
- 9. Test the module in the integrated test environment (as described in 3.12, "Test tools" on page 105).
- 10. Deploy the module to WebSphere Process Server. We discuss this step in *Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, Part 3: Run time,* SG24-7643.
- 11. Share the tested module with others on the team by putting it in a repository (as described in 3.13, "Team development" on page 115).

This chapter focuses on step 7, the implementation of the service components for a business integration module.

4.2 Service components for modules

When you create a module, an assembly diagram for the module is created. As you add components to the module, you populate the assembly diagram with these components. The assembly editor is used to visually compose the integrated application by using elements from the palette or from the tree in the Business Integration view.

The implementations of components that are used in a module assembly reside within the module. Components in other modules can be used in the assembly by publishing the external service as an export, and then dragging the exports into the required assembly diagram to create the import to call the service.



Figure 4-1 shows an example of an assembly diagram.

Figure 4-1 Assembly diagram of a sample module

In Figure 4-1, the main component (in the center) is implemented using a business process. The process has two references:

- ► The first invokes a Java component.
- ► The second invokes an external service through an import component.

The process is made available to clients through the export or stand-alone reference (on the left).

The service component's implementation contains the logic of the process. The various implementation types that are supported in WebSphere Integration Developer for components of a business integration module include:

- Java objects
- Business processes
- Human tasks
- State machines
- Rule groups (Business rules)
- Selectors
- Interface maps

In the assembly diagram, the component's implementation type is represented by an icon in the component. Figure 4-1 on page 129 shows all the implementation types listed with their symbols on the assembly editor palette.

In the remaining sections, we discuss how to build the important implementation types to implement the business logic.

4.3 Using Java objects

An implementation of a component in Java is referred to as a *Java object*. This implementation is one of the common implementations for a service component. This Java implementation type is sometimes termed as a *plain old Java object* or *POJO*. Generally, this implementation has a WSDL interface type, although this implementation can also have a Java interface.

When working with a Java object, the code remains hidden from you within the context of the editors. A POJO can also be used in a mediation module. So, it can be deployed to either a WebSphere Process Server or a WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.

4.3.1 Creating a Java component

Follow any of these methods to create a new Java component:

- Click Java on the palette menu of the assembly editor, move the cursor to the canvas, and click again to drop a Java component into the assembly diagram.
- Drag a Java class onto the assembly editor canvas. A Java class becomes a Java component in the assembly diagram.
- Apply a Java implementation to a component that has no implementation type.

4.3.2 Creating a "HelloWorld" sample

Follow these steps to create a Java component and implement using a POJO:

1. Create a module, HelloWorldModule, and an interface, HelloWorldIF, in the module, that looks similar to the one shown in Figure 4-2.

I HelloWorldIF ⋈		- 0
•Operations 🛛 👪 🛔	, p1 (p 🔊)	E C
Operations and their paramete	rs	
	Name	Туре
▼ ‱sayHello		
DI Input(s)	inputName	string
ID Output(s)	outputResponse	string

Figure 4-2 HelloWorldIF interface

2. Expand the HelloWorldModule, and then double-click **Assembly Diagram** to open it in assembly editor. Click **Java** on the palette menu of the assembly editor, move the cursor to the canvas, and click again to drop a Java component into the assembly diagram. Now, the assembly diagram looks similar to the one shown in Figure 4-3.



Figure 4-3 Java component on the assembly diagram

3. Use the Properties view to rename the component as HelloWorldJavaComponent as shown in Figure 4-4.

🔁 *HelloWorldModul	e - Assembly Diagram 🕱	
Aalette	IdJavaComponent	
		>
Build Activities 🔲 Pr	operties 🛛 Problems Servers Console	⁷ [–] [–]
Description	🛃 Component: HelloWorldJavaComponent (Java)	
Details	Name: HelloWorldJavaComponent	
Implementation	Display name: HelloWorldJavaComponent Synchronize with the na	ame field

Figure 4-4 Renaming Java component

- 4. Add the HelloWorldIF interface to the component:
 - a. Select the component.
 - b. Right-click it, and select $Add \rightarrow Interface$.
 - c. Select HelloWorldIF from the Add Interface wizard, and click OK.
- 5. Add an implementation to the component:
 - a. Click the component to select it, and select Generate Implementation.

Alternatively double-click the component, and click **Yes** on the Open dialog box to implement it.

b. Click **OK** on the Generate Implementation dialog box to use default package.

c. Implement the sayHello method in HelloWorldJavaComponentImpl.java as shown in the Figure 4-5.



Figure 4-5 Implementing Java component

6. Save the assembly diagram and all other resources. Now, the component looks similar to the one shown in Figure 4-6.



Figure 4-6 Implemented Java component in assembly diagram

- 7. Deploy the module by right-clicking WebSphere Process Server in the Servers view of WebSphere Integration Developer and by selecting Add and Remove Projects. Move the new application from the Available projects list to the Configured projects list, and click Finish.
- Test the component in the integration test client by right-clicking
 HelloWorldModule in the Business Integration View and by selecting Test →
 Test Module. Supply a string value for the input (Borusu in this example).
- 9. In the Events area of the test client, a message is sent to the HelloWorldJavaComponent, and then the Java component returns a

response after a moment. In the Value column of the value editor, the text Hello Borusu is returned for the outputResponse, as shown in Figure 4-7.

E HelloWorldModule_Test 🛛	
Events	
Events	General Properties
≱ - 🔲 🔆 🖸 📒	Detailed Properties
Invoke (HelloWorldJavaComponent:sayHello)	Module: <u>HelloWorldModule</u>
 Invoke started Invoke (HelloWorldJavaComponent:savHello) 	Component: HelloWorldJavaComponent
Return (HelloWorldJavaComponent:sayHello)	Interface: <u>HelloWorldIF</u>
Invoke returned	Operation: <u>sayHello</u>
	Return parameters:
	Name Type Value
	→ ↓ outputResponse string ✓ Hello Borusu

Figure 4-7 Response from HelloWorldJavaComponent in integration test client

10.Now the test is complete and successful. Close the integration test client and click **No** when asked whether you want to save the changes.

4.4 Business processes

A *business process* consists of a series of activities or individual tasks that are executed in a specific order, sequentially or in parallel, to achieve a larger business goal. The business process editor is used to build business processes based on BPEL standards.

4.4.1 Types of business processes

Business processes can be either long-running processes or microflows. You select the type of process when you create it. You can change the type from the Properties view for the business process in the business process editor.

Long-running processes

A *long-running process* executes over an extended period of time and is asynchronous in nature. It is used most commonly with services that might not respond immediately, in particular human tasks. Interruptible business processes and asynchronous business processes are examples of long running processes.

When a business process is interruptible, it is long running, and execution stops at specific activities and does not continue until an appropriate action takes place.

Typically, components that are implemented as long running processes are called *asynchronous*, which means that a client calls them and then proceeds to do other work while waiting for a reply.

When a process is paused, it is waiting. You decide what it waits for. For example, you might decide that the process needs instruction from a human before continuing, or you might decide that it cannot proceed until it has specific input from a partner.

Microflows

A *microflow* is a non-interruptible business process and runs within a single transaction. Because it runs automatically from start to finish, it is ideal for situations where the user is expecting an immediate response and does not require the use of a human task. Microflows are an IBM extension to BPEL.

A microflow has the following characteristics:

- Runs in one transaction or activity session
- Normally runs for a short time
- ► Is in a transient state and, therefore, is not stored in the runtime database
- Typically invokes services synchronously
- Can have only non-interruptible child processes
- Cannot contain:
 - Human tasks
 - Wait activities
 - Non-initiating receive activities or pick activities

Microflows are faster than long-running processes. Thus, you need to use them when possible. For example, you can attempt to decompose a long-running process into multiple processes using microflows when possible.

4.4.2 New, enhanced business process features with WebSphere Process Server V6.1

This section describes the new or enhanced business process capabilities for business integration applications that are available with WebSphere Process Server V6.1.

Note: We discuss some of these new features in detail in the subsequent sections.

The new or enhanced features include:

 Generic JMS interface for the Business Flow Manager allows for programmatic interaction with business process templates and instances (Figure 4-8).

In WebSphere Process Server V6.0.2, there is support for Enterprise Java Bean (EJB) clients and Web Services clients to interact generically with business process templates and instances.

In V6.1, this interface is also exposed to JMS clients. It allows custom JMS clients to:

- Query and retrieve processes and activities
- Invoke and send messages to processes
- Life cycle operations (Restart/Delete/Suspend/Resume instances)
- Repair a business process
- Create and work with stored queries
- Handle variable
- Handle Input/Output/Fault

* Evenet	_	
Undo Add Interface		
K Redo		
Add Interface		7
Generate Binding 🕨	HTTP Binding	1
Remove Binding	Messaging Binding 🕨	Generic JMS Binding
Refactor •	SCA Binding	JMS Binding
	Web Service Binding	MQ Binding
Сору		MQ JMS Binding
📋 Paste		

Figure 4-8 Generic JMS binding

- Extensions to the Generic Web Services Interface for Business Flow Manager and new runtime capabilities.
- The ForEach activity allows processing a dynamic number of multiple branches (either in parallel or serially).

The ForEach activity is an iterator that repeats its contained activity a specified number of times, either serially or in parallel. It allows you to specify a completion condition to be used if not all branches are required to complete (for example, when parallel requests are sent out and a sufficiently large subset of the recipients respond). The remaining branches are terminated if the completion condition is met.

 Suspend capabilities are extended to allow specifying that process instances resume automatically.

Suspending a business process instance means the navigation or execution of the process instance is put on hold. In all releases of WebSphere Process Server V6.0, processes can be suspended using a suspend operation, and are resumed explicitly calling a resume operation. In V6.1, suspending a process instance allows you to specify a duration or point in time if the process instance is to be resumed automatically.

 Automatic deletion can be restricted to processes that completed successfully, allowing you to keep only the process instances that need further analysis or repair (Figure 4-9).

In all releases of WebSphere Process Server V6.0, the process-level attribute autoDelete specifies whether a long-running process instance is deleted automatically upon its completion. In V6.1, an additional option is introduced that allows to delete only successfully completed process instances automatically. This additional option enables you to keep only those process instances that might need further attention, for example those processes that need to be analyzed or even repaired and restarted.

Description	🙎 Process - Sample	BP	
Details	Expression language:	Java	~
Server		VPath 1.0	 [14
Administration	Query language:	A 601 1.0	
Java Imports	Process is long-running		
Join Behavior	Automatically delete the proc	ess after completion:	On successful completion \checkmark
Imports	Ignore missing data		Yes
Environment	Compensation sphere:	Supports 🔘 Required	No

Figure 4-9 Automatic deletion on successful completion of a process

- Additional data-handling option ignores missing data during access instead of throwing faults.
- Back links in single-threaded flows are supported.

In WebSphere Process Server V6.0.2, a flow cannot contain back links. Arbitrary cycles can be circumvented using (nested) loop constructs (while activities). In V6.1, graph-oriented modeling of business processes is enhanced by enabling arbitrary cycles (also known as *back links*).

This capability is introduced by providing the cyclic flow activity, also known as *single threaded graph*. With arbitrary back links or cycles, it is possible to return to a prior activity in the flow. In particular, this capability is useful for human workflows to allow to go back to a prior step in the workflow.

- Support for wildcards and unconstrained content in interfaces, variables, and assign activities.
- Allow accessing an activity within a process.

In WebSphere Process Server V6.1, an additional variant of method activityInstance is introduced to allow accessing of not only the current activity but also an activity that is identified using its name. It returns null if no activity is found.

If there is no activity with the specified name or if the name is not unique within the scope of the process, a StandardFaultException of type bpws:selectionFailure is thrown.

4.4.3 Creating a business process

Follow these steps to create a new business process:

- 1. Create a new module. In this example, the module name is *SampleModule*.
- 2. Create a new interface for the module. The interface, SampleIF, looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-10.

We discuss how to create interfaces in 3.5.1, "Creating a new interface" on page 65.

iampleIF ×			- 8
Operations	3 3 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	R	
perations and their par	ameters		
	Name	Туре	

Input(s)	sampleInput	string	
(C) Output(s)	sampleOutput	string	

Figure 4-10 SampleIF in Interface Editor

- 3. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Business Process. In the New Business Process window, shown in Figure 4-11:
 - a. Select New default Business Process.
 - b. Browse to the module (or click **New** to create one).
 - c. Specify a folder (optional).
 - d. Specify a name for the new process (for example, SampleBP).
 - e. Click Next.

🚯 New Busine	ss Process	
New Business Create a new Busi	Process iness Process	
💿 New default B	Business Process O New From Pattern	
Module:	SampleModule Browse	New
Namespace:	http://SampleModule	
Folder:	Browse	
Name:	SampleBP	
0	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 4-11 New Business Process Wizard

4. Select a type for the business process, as shown in Figure 4-12.

You have the following process types:

- Long-running process: Executes over an extended period of time and is asynchronous in nature. It is used most commonly with services that might not respond immediately, in particular human tasks.
- Microflow: A non-interruptible business process that runs within a single transaction. Because it runs from start to finish automatically, a microflow process is ideal for situations where the user is expecting an immediate response and does not require the use of a human task.

WebSphere Integration Developer enhances BPEL capabilities through the use of extensions. If you want to create a process without the use of these extensions, then disable the "Use WebSphere Process server extensions" option. This option is not applicable to microflows because they are a BPEL extension.

Click Next.



Figure 4-12 Select business process type in the New Business Process wizard

5. Click **Select an existing Interface** as shown in Figure 4-13. Alternatively, you can select **Generate a new Interface** to generate a new interface to be used with this process.

🚯 New Business Process		
Select an Interface You can generate a new interface with one operation, or use an existing interface with one, or more		
 Generate a new Interface Select an existing Interface 		
Interface:	Browse	
Select operations to start the process.		
Operations: Select All Deselect All		
? < Back Next > Finish	Cancel	

Figure 4-13 Select an interface in the New Business Process wizard

6. To select an existing interface, click **Browse** and select the interface as shown in Figure 4-14. Then, click **OK**.

🚯 Interface Selection 🛛 🔄 🗖	
Filter by interface or qualifier (? = any character, $*$ = any String):
*	
Matching interfaces:	
Qualifier:	
Qualifier: ①http://SampleModule/SampleIF - SampleModule/SampleIF.w	sdl
Qualifier: (1) http://SampleModule/SampleIF - SampleModule/SampleIF.w	sdl
Qualifier: (1) http://SampleModule/SampleIF - SampleModule/SampleIF.w	sdl
Qualifier: Thttp://SampleModule/SampleIF - SampleModule/SampleIF.w OK Cancel	sdl

Figure 4-14 Interface Selection wizard

7. Click Finish (Figure 4-15).

🚯 New Busine	ess Process		
Select an Inte You can generate or use an existing	erface e a new interface with one operation, g interface with one, or more		
◯ Generate a n ⊙ Select an exis	ew Interface ting Interface		
Interface:	SampleIF	Browse	
Select operat	ions to start the process.		
Operations:	🗹 🏶 sampleOperation		
	Select All Deselect All		
⑦ < Bac	k Next > Finish	Cancel	

Figure 4-15 Selecting an existing interface on New Business Process wizard





Figure 4-16 SampleBP Business Integration View

4.4.4 Business process editor

The business process editor allows you to visually build and manipulate business processes. The editor consists of several distinct areas, including the palette, canvas, action bar, tray, and Properties view, as shown in Figure 4-17.



Figure 4-17 The Business Process Editor

The palette

The *palette* is the shaded area to the left of the canvas that houses the objects that can be dropped onto the canvas to build the process. The icons are categorized under several different headings. Click the heading once, and the icons remain hidden until you click that heading again.

To increase the size of the icons, right-click the palette and select **Use Large Icons**.

The canvas

The *canvas* is the white area in the middle of the editor that is used to assemble the activities to build the business process. When you click and drag an activity from the palette onto the canvas, the icon beside the cursor has a plus symbol, and you can decide where to drop the activity. When the cursor becomes a crossed out circle, continue moving the cursor until it becomes a plus sign again.

The action bar

The *action bar* is a miniature dialog box that opens beside certain activities when you select them. It contains a series of one or more icons that represent the actions that are relevant to that activity. For example, when you select the Receive activity, the **Set Partner** icon displays as shown in Figure 4-17 on page 146.

The tray

The *tray* displays the interface partners, reference partners, variables, correlation sets, and correlation properties that are associated with the process.

To see the interfaces and operations associated with the partners, click the small gray arrow (\triangleright) beside the partner's name. To create a new partner, variable, correlation set or correlation properties, click the corresponding green plus icon, or to remove one, highlight it and click the red $X \approx$ icon.

The Properties view

This area of the business process editor displays properties of the object that are currently selected on the canvas or the tray. Click the tabs to the left of this view to toggle through various property pages. Properties marked with an asterisk (*) are mandatory.

4.4.5 Building blocks of a business process

Several types of building blocks are used to compose a business process using the business process editor:

- ► Activities: The individual business tasks within the process.
- Correlations: The records that are used to keep track of multiple partners and messages and to correlate them with a specific instance of a business process at any point of time.
- *Elements*: The objects that are used to support or configure activities.
- Handlers: Consist of a group of activities that represent a specific course of action that is associated with a particular activity. A handler runs when certain situations occur within the parent activity (that is, the activity with which the handler is associated).
- Partners: The external parties (users or services) that interact with the business process. Within a process, the term partner describes the other services that might be calling the interfaces or that it might be calling.
- Variables: Store the data that is used within a business process. A variable belongs to the scope in which it is declared. When you create a variable, you need to declare what type it is before using it.

4.4.6 Using partners in a business process

The two types of partners that are available for use in a business process include:

- Interface partners: A direct link to the interface where the partner is configured. An interface partner is the process interface and exposes operations that can be called by external partners.
- *Reference partners*: The reference is not an interface but instead tells the process where to find operations that it can invoke. More to the point, it specifies the interface that is used in the invocation of another component.

When a client calls your process, that call comes from an interface partner. When the process calls another service, it does so using a reference partner. So, an interface partner contains incoming operations and a reference partner performs the outgoing operations.

Adding a partner to a business process

To create a partner in a business process using the business process editor:

- 1. Click the plus icon 🖶 besides the partner's (Interface Partners or Reference Partners) section on the tray.
- 2. Specify an appropriate name for the partner.
- 3. Click the Description tab in the properties area.
- 4. Select an interface from the drop-down list, or click **Browse** to choose an interface with the Interface Selection wizard.

When a business process is created, the interface partner that is associated with the Receive activity is created automatically. If you need any additional interface partners, you can add them by following the steps described here.

Figure 4-18 shows the interface partner, SampleIF, on the tray and its properties.



Figure 4-18 Properties of an interface Partner

You can create a reference partner following these same steps. Alternatively, you can select an interface from the Business Integration view and drag it onto the canvas. Figure 4-19 shows a reference partner, SampleReferenceIF, on the tray and its properties, which were created using this approach.



Figure 4-19 Properties of a reference partner

Use the Process template field to invoke another process from this process. The connection is resolved dynamically in the runtime environment. The calling process always picks up the current valid version of the process that it is invoking. In addition, if this is a subprocess binding, the called process is subject to life cycle operations of the calling process. For example, when the parent process is terminated, it will terminate the child process, too.

4.4.7 Using variables in a business process

Variables store the data that is used within a business process. The two types of variables that are available to use in a business process include:

- Data type variables: Can be either a business object or a simple type, such as string or integer.
- Interface variables: Uses either an input or output parameter as defined within an interface.

A variable belongs to the scope in which it is declared. If it is created in the global process scope, then it is a global variable and, thus, is visible to all objects and activities within the process. Those variables that are created within nested scopes are called *scoped* or *local variables* and are visible only to the objects within the scope in which they were declared.

Adding a variable to a business process

To create a variable in a business process using the business process editor:

- 1. To create a global variable, click a blank area of the canvas or any other activity that is not a scope.
- Then, click the plus icon (¹/₂) beside the Variables section on the tray. Alternatively, you can right-click in the Variables section and select Add Variable.
- 3. Specify an appropriate name for the variable.
- 4. Click the Description tab in the properties area.
- 5. Select the type for the variable by selecting either **Data type variable** or **Interface variable**.

If you select **Data type variable**, click **Browse** to choose a type or business object from the Data Type Selection wizard.

If you select Interface variable, follow these steps:

- a. Select an interface from the drop-down list, or click **Browse** to choose one with the Interface Selection wizard.
- b. Select an operation from the drop-down list.
- c. Select a direction by selecting **Input** or **Output**.

Note: Unlike Data type variables, when you use an Interface variable to send data to a partner, the variable must be initialized before sending it. You can use an Assign activity or a Java snippet for this purpose.

Figure 4-20 shows the properties of sampleInput variable.

Build Activities 🔲 Properti	es 🗙 Problems Serve	ers Console		
Description	🔎 Variable - samj	pleInput		
Server	Name:*	sampleInput		
Query Properties	O Data type variable		O Interface variable	
Event Monitor				
Global Event Settings	Data Type: <u>string</u>	Browse	Interface: N	one
			Operation: N	one

Figure 4-20 Properties of sampleInput variable

When you create a business process, global variables are created automatically. These variables are associated with the corresponding input and output parameters of the operation that is associated with the respective Receive and Reply activities of this business process. (Refer to Figure 4-23 on page 155 and Figure 4-24 on page 156.)

4.4.8 Using activities in a business process

The various categories of activities that are available on the palette of the business process editor, as shown in Figure 4-21, include:

- Basic Actions: Primitive activities that do not contain other activities. These
 activities represent an individual task within a business process.
- Structures: Define the order in which a collection of activities takes place. Structured activities are comprised of one or more basic activities and are used to express control patterns, data flow, and coordination of message exchanges between process instances.
- Faults: Anticipated errors that can occur in situations that arise which prevent a business process from reaching completion. Fault activities deal with these cases.



Figure 4-21 Snippets of Palette Menu of Business Process Editor

Adding an activity to a business process

To add an activity to a business process using the business process editor:

1. Click an activity icon on the palette and move the cursor onto the canvas.

The icon beside the cursor has a plus symbol when the cursor is at a place where you are allowed to drop the activity. When the cursor becomes a crossed out circle, continue moving the cursor until it becomes a plus sign again. If there are already activities on the path, then a black line displays as you hover over the path showing where you can drop this new activity (as shown in Figure 4-22 on page 154).



Figure 4-22 Adding an activity to a business process

- 2. Click the area of the canvas where you want to drop the activity.
- 3. If the activity added is a structured activity (that contains other activities), you can expand or collapse it by clicking the plus () or minus () icons or by double-clicking the structured activity itself.
- 4. Configure the activity as necessary in the properties area of the business process editor.

Receive activity

The Receive activity allows a business process to wait for a message (external input) to arrive and channels it into the process. It can have one or more associated reply activities if it is used in request-response operations.

A Receive activity is an entry point to a process; it is the point where the process starts or continues. You can associate a specific operation of an interface to a Receive activity using an interface partner. Figure 4-23 on page 155 shows the properties of a sample Receive activity.

When a call is made to this process's operation, the corresponding Receive activity accepts the call, and the process continues running from there. A Receive activity can also occur in the middle of a business process. In this case, if the process encounters a Receive activity while it is running, the process stops and waits for the corresponding operation to be invoked.

When you create a business process, Receive and Reply activities are created automatically and are associated with the operation of the interface for the process. The interface partners and global variables are also created automatically. (Refer to Figure 4-23 on page 155 and Figure 4-24 on page 156.)

Details tab of the Properties view of Receive activity

The Details tab of the Properties view allows you to choose the interface partner and the operation. The table that displays below the "Use Data Type Variables" options shows all of the inputs of the selected operation. If you want to use data type variables, select one from the list, or clear the option to use interface type variables. Then, browse to the appropriate interface variables with input direction. We discuss the interface variables in 4.4.7, "Using variables in a business process" on page 151.

The "Create a new process instance if one does not already exist" option determines how to proceed in cases where an instance of this process has not yet been created in the runtime environment. Enabling this option allows the creation of a new instance of the process. Clearing it denies such authority. There must be one receive-type activity or element in the process that has this setting enabled, usually it is the first receive of the process.



Figure 4-23 Receive activity of a business process

Reply activity

When a Receive activity belongs to a request-response operation, a Reply activity returns the output of the operation. The Reply activity specifies the same partner implementation as the corresponding Receive activity. A reply is always sent to the same partner from which a message was received previously.

A Reply activity does not necessarily need to be at the end of the process. A process can start with a Receive activity and then return a response before proceeding to do other work. You can have more than one Reply activity for each Receive activity, such as in the case where a process has multiple paths. The idea is that when another component calls a request-response operation of a process' interface, it needs to eventually get a response for that operation.



Figure 4-24 shows the properties of a sample Reply activity.

Figure 4-24 Reply activity of a business process

Invoke activity

The Invoke activity allows a business process to call a one-way operation (asynchronous) or request-response operation (synchronous) on a specific partner. The components and artifacts that can be invoked include:

- A Web service
- A Java class
- An EJB
- Another process
- Another SCA component

Figure 4-25 shows the implementation details of an Invoke activity, where the activity, labelled *Invoke*, is configured to invoke the sampleRefOperation of the reference partner, SampleRefIF.



Figure 4-25 Properties of Invoke activity

Assign activity

The Assign activity allows basic data manipulation through the use of expressions to map service endpoint references to or from partner links or to copy some form of information from one part of your process to another. For example, the Assign activity can used to copy values from one variable to another or to initialize variables.

The following example demonstrates one of the usages of the Assign activity. In this example, two Assign activities are used to populate request and response interface type variables:

- 1. Create a new business process as shown in Figure 4-25 on page 157.
- 2. Configure the properties of Invoke activity to use interface variables as shown in Figure 4-26.

🛷 Invoke - Invoke	
Partner:*	pampleRefIF
Interface:*	SampleRefIF
Operation:*	sampleRefOperation 🗸
🗌 Use Data Type	: Variables
Request:*	IFVarInput
Response:*	IFVarOutput

Figure 4-26 Properties of SampleRefIF invoke activity

You need to create two interface variables called *IFVarInput* and *IFVarOutput*. Figure 4-27 shows the properties of IFVarInput.

🗧 Variable - IFV	arInput			
Name:*	IFVarInput			
🔿 Data type variable			📀 Interface varia	able
Data Type: <u>(none</u>	L	Browse	Interface:	SampleRefIF
			Operation:	sampleRefOperation 💌
			Direction:	💿 Input i 🔘 Output

Figure 4-27 Properties of an interface variable, IFVarInput

- 3. Add an Assign activity between the existing Receive and Invoke activities, and change its properties as follows:
 - a. Select the Assign activity and go to the Description tab of the Properties view. Change both the Name and Display Name fields to AssignRequestParams.
 - b. Select the Details tab, and click **Select From** under the Assign From column. Select **sampleInput** by clicking it in the content assist dialog box.
 - c. Click Select To under the Assign To column and expand IFVarInput on the content assist dialog box. Select sampleRefInput. Figure 4-28 shows the results.

Assign - AssignRequestParams		
Assign From	\Rightarrow	Assign To
sampleInput	\Rightarrow	IFVarInput sampleRefOperationParameters sampleRefInput

Figure 4-28 Properties of AssignRequestParams, an Assign activity

4. Add one more Assign activity between the existing Invoke and Reply activities to assign the response from Invoke to the response to be send back by Reply. Configure its properties as shown in Figure 4-29.

Assign From	😑 Assign - AssignResponseParams		
	Assign From	⇔	Assign To
IFVarOutput sampleRefOperationResult sampleRefOutput 🔿 sampleOutput	IFVarOutput sampleRefOperationResult sampleRefOutput	⇔	sampleOutput

Figure 4-29 Properties of AssignResponseParams, an Assign activity

Your completed business process looks similar to the one shown in Figure 4-30.

Receive
😑 AssignRequestParams
😑 AssignResponseParams
Reply

Figure 4-30 Assign example business process

Human Task activity

A Human Task activity is used when work is to be performed by a person. This activity sends a process-related task out to a human for completion. It is referred to as *inline* because the task is implemented within a business process. We discuss human tasks in more detail in 4.5, "Human tasks" on page 184.

Snippet activity

The Snippet activity allows you to implement custom behavior into a business process. You implement the task of this activity using a Java programming snippet. You can either write a Java code or use the built-in graphical editor, *visual snippet editor*, to compose visual expressions and snippets that can be generated into valid Java code that can be used internally in the run time.

As shown in Figure 4-31 on page 161, you type in the Java code snippets in the Details tab of snippet's properties by selecting the Java editor and by clicking Java radio button.

Pa	AssignResponseParams		💱 Reference Partne	ers 🕂 🕯
			SampleRefIF	
	📓 Snippet		🔵 Variables	- 🔶 🤅
	••	=	sampleInput	
	E Reply		sampleOutput	
			IFVarInput	
	\odot	~	▼	
Build Activities 🔲 Propertie	es 🛿 Problems Servers Console			~ - [
Description	📓 Snippet - Snippet			
Details	🔘 Visual 💿 Java			
Server	System.out.println("Log out	put: "	+ sampleOutpu	it); ^
Administration				

Figure 4-31 Properties of a Snippet activity

For a more detailed discussion about using the visual snippet editor to compose Java code, refer to:

Customizing behavior with visual snippets

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/index.jsp?t
opic=/com.ibm.wbit.610.help.activity.ui.doc/topics/cactint.html

IBM WebSphere Developer Technical Journal: A guided tour of WebSphere Integration Developer—Part 4, Unleashing visual snippets and business state machines in your service-oriented application

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/techjournal/0606_gregory
/0606_gregory.html#VSE

Wait activity

The Wait activity pauses the process execution for a specified period of time. You configure this activity either by specifying a duration to wait, or by specifying a specific time and date when the process should continue to run. You can even use the visual snippet editor to compute the duration to wait.

Figure 4-32 shows a Wait activity configured to wait until 01 January 2009, 00 a.m., to proceed executing the next activity, which is named *Welcome to New Year 2009*.

Wait Welcome to New Year 2009				
es 🛛 Problems Serv	ers Console			
🕔 Wait - Wait				
Expression language:	Same as Process (Java) Outration			
Expression Type: 🔘 Visu	ual 🔿 Java 💿 Literal			
Date/Time (UTC):				
Jan	✓ / 01 ✓ / 2009			
00	▼ : 00 : 00			

Figure 4-32 Properties of a Wait activity

Empty Action activity

The Empty Action activity is an activity which does nothing. Use this activity when you have a construct that requires an activity but there is no work to be done.

For example, you might want to ignore certain faults and just carry on with the process. Because a fault handler must contain an activity, you can insert an empty activity to suppress the fault.

You can also use this activity as an undefined object to act as a placeholder within your process. You might do this if you are designing a process that you expected somebody else to implement or if you are trying to synchronize the activities within a parallel activity. Alternatively, these placeholders can be the activities whose details you will fill in later.

You can also change an Empty Action activity to a different activity using the Details tab of properties of this activity (Figure 4-33). Simply click the appropriate icon on the Details tab, and the Empty Action changes accordingly.
Palette	Receive EmptyAction	
Build Activities 🔲 Propertie	es 🛛 Problems Servers Console	
Description	Empty Action - EmptyAction	
Details Server	Action Category: Basic Actions 💌	Description:
Event Monitor	Choose one of these actions:	
Global Event Settings	» 🔋 🕈 🔊 🗐 😑	
	< []	>

Figure 4-33 Properties of EmptyAction, Details tab

Sequence activity

The Sequence activity is a structured activity that contains one or more other activities that are performed sequentially, in the order in which they are placed within the sequence activity. The editor canvas is actually one big Sequence activity (that is hidden) where you add more simple or structured activities.

Figure 4-34 shows a simple Sequence activity that contains three other activities to be executed in sequence.

- $ = $ InternationalTravel $ -$
ApplyPassport
🛷 VisaStamping
ar BookTickets

Figure 4-34 A Sequence activity

Parallel Activities activity

Use this structured activity to nest other activities that run concurrently. The nested activities run sequentially in an order that is dictated by links and transition conditions. (When no links are present, all activities will be executed concurrently.) When activities are arranged on separate control paths, the paths run concurrently.

This activity is equivalent to the concept of fork/join—all the paths within the activity run simultaneously and the target activity does not fire until all paths have completed.

A link is used to connect the activities within a Parallel Activities activity to form individual control paths. It is directional so that you can draw from a source activity to a target activity. When the source activity finishes running, the target activity at the other end of the link runs. You can create links from a single source activity to multiple target activities or from multiple source activities to a single target activity.

You can specify a transition condition on the link. If the link condition evaluates to false and if it is the only link between a source and a target activity, the target activity does not run.

To understand these concepts better, let us look at the business process in Figure 4-35 on page 166. This example shows a parallel activity that contains five activities. (For simplicity, we used snippets for all these activities, which might not be the case in the real world.)

Task1 \rightarrow Task3 and Task2 \rightarrow Task4 are two paths that run concurrently followed by Task5. More specifically, Task1 and Task2 run concurrently, where as Task3 and Task4 run only after the completion of Task1 and Task2 (as dictated by the Links). There is a link, Link3 from Task3 to Task5 that is followed, and the other link, Link4 from Task4 to Task5, is followed only if the condition (shown as bubble; select the link to see the condition in properties area) on Link4 is satisfied. Task5 is a special activity that is a target for multiple (two in this case) incoming links.

By default, the target activity runs when any one of the incoming links is followed. A *join condition* specifies when the target of one or more links should run. These join conditions can be created using Java code, a visual snippet, XPath, or by selecting from a list of simple choices: True, False, Any, and All.

If the link condition on Link4, the one from Task4 to Task5, evaluates to false, that link is not followed. So in this case, the join condition, All for Task5 as set in the Join Behavior tab cannot be satisfied, and a join failure occurs. Join failures for Task5 are suppressed as indicated by the selected setting.

Note: If a join condition is not satisfied, then a join failure fault is thrown. This can be suppressed to allow the process execution to skip the activity and carry on to the next one by selecting **Yes** for **Suppress Join Failure** on the Join Behavior tab of the activity's properties.

	ParallelAct	ivities Task2 Task4
Build Activities 🔲 Propert	ies 🛛 Problems Serv	vers Console
Description	📓 Snippet - Task	k5
Details	Expression language:	Simple 🗸
Server	Condition	All
Administration	Condition	
Join Behavior		
Environment	Suppress Join Failure:	

Figure 4-35 A parallel activity

Choice activity

The Choice activity is a structured activity that contains a set of activities that are organized onto individual control paths. The Choice activity decides the path of execution based on a condition.

A Choice activity contains case elements that include expressions that evaluate to either true or false, followed by a sequence of activities. During execution, the Choice activity evaluates the conditions on the paths in order (case elements) and follows the first path that evaluates to true. A Choice activity can also contain an otherwise element to be taken when no case element evaluates to true.

TransactionChoice Deposit Withdraw Otherwise InvokeWithdrawalService ! 🕈 ThrowInvalidChoiceFault InvokeDepositService Activities Properties 🖾 Problems Servers Console 📄 Case - Deposit cription ails Same as Process (Java) Expression language: ~ Expression Type: 🔘 Visual 💿 Java return transChoice.equalsIgnoreCase("deposit");

The business process shown in Figure 4-36 shows the usage of Choice activity.

Figure 4-36 A Choice activity

Receive Choice activity

The Receive Choice activity is a structured activity that halts the process in order to wait for an operation to be called on it or for a time-out alarm to go off. A Receive Choice activity is similar to a Choice activity. The difference is that instead of case elements, there are receive case elements that represent Receive activities and there is no otherwise element. Instead the Receive Choice activity can have a timeout element.

Each of the receive case elements in a Receive Choice activity accepts a particular type of message (an operation of the process's interface). When a Receive Choice activity is encountered, the process execution stops and waits to receive a message (operation). The difference between a normal Receive activity and a Receive Choice activity is that the Receive Choice activity can receive any one of the multiple operations of the associated interface. It follows the control path that is appropriate to the first message (operation) that it receives. The first activity in any path can be either a receive case element or a timeout element.

A timeout element is used within a Receive Choice activity to create a control path that is executed when a specified time either has been reached or has elapsed. During process execution, this path is chosen when no operation is received within this time period (duration) or by the specified date.

Figure 4-37 shows an example of a Receive Choice activity called *ArithmeticOperations*. When this activity is encountered, the process execution is paused and awaits a call to any one of the arithmetic operations (that is add, subtract, multiply, and divide) as configured on the receive case elements. Whichever is called first, the corresponding path is executed. In Figure 4-37, add is called first, then a DoAddition activity is invoked, and the process ends after sending back the reply through a Reply-add activity.

	avithm	aticOperations	
	And in		
add	subtract	multiply	divide
PoAddition	DoSubtraction	PoMultiplication	DoDivision
E Reply-add	E Reply-subtract	Reply-multiply	E Reply-divide
		8	

Figure 4-37 A Receive Choice activity

While Loop activity

The While Loop activity is a structured activity that repeatedly executes one or more activities as long as specific success criteria or conditions are met. This structured activity contains a group of other activities and a condition as part of its configuration. If the condition evaluates to true, then the activities within this While Loop activity are executed. When the condition evaluates to false, the loop terminates, and the process execution continues with the next activity.

The condition is checked before the first iteration of the loop, so it might happen that none of the nested activities are executed if the condition evaluates to false. The condition can be a Java or visual expression, a simple true or false, or an XPath.

Scope activity

A Scope activity is a structured activity that acts as a behavioral container for one or more activities in the process. By design, a process as a whole is contained within a single global scope, and you can create and nest other scopes within it, forming a hierarchy.

A Scope activity allows you to define local variables, local correlation sets, and various handlers. A variable is visible only in the scope in which it is created. If it

is created in the global process scope, then it is a global variable and, thus, is visible to the process as a whole. Those variables that are created within nested scopes can only be seen by activities or objects within that scope.

Each scope has a primary activity that defines its normal behavior. You can define fault, event, or compensation handlers for a particular scope (see 4.4.11, "Using handlers in a business process" on page 179).

A scope can be configured either as isolated or compensable:

- Choose *isolated* when you want to control simultaneous access to variables that are shared across various scopes and activities.
- Choose compensable if you want to allow compensation related activities on this scope. If this option is clear, then this scope is transparent to all compensation logic.

ForEach activity

The ForEach activity is an iterator that repeats the execution of the activities that it contains either sequentially or in parallel for a specified number of iterations. It is possible to define an early exit condition if not all branches are required to complete.

The ForEach activity is very useful in scenarios where you want to interact with a set of partners in parallel and where the partners are identified only at run time. Usually, this activity executes a part of the process multiple times in parallel, without having the knowledge of the actual number of parallel branches at the time that the process is defined. Instead, this number is determined dynamically during the process execution.

For example, you might want to get a quote for a particular product from all available supplier services and can determine only at run time which services are available. Or, you might want to design a process to perform the technical review of an article prior to publication by several independent reviewers in parallel and then consolidate the review comments. In this case, you can add an early exit criterion that specifies that the business process continues with the next activity of review comments consolidation when a reply is received from at least two of the reviewers.



Figure 4-38 lists the properties to be configured when adding a ForEach activity to a business process.

Figure 4-38 Properties of a ForEach activity in a business process

The properties include:

- Execution of iterations
 - Choose *Sequential* if you want the iterations (to execute group of activities) run one after the other.
 - Choose *Parallel* if you want the iterations run simultaneously.
- Index-Variable Name

Use this field to specify a name for the index variable. For each iteration, the value of this integer variable is increased by one. You can use this variable to determine which iteration you are in or to access an array element.

Iteration

Use this section to specify the iteration type (how you want the ForEach activity to iterate). This property implicitly defines the bounds of the range values for start and end. The various iteration options are as follows:

- Array (dynamic bounds): A simple option to define bounds of the range.
 When you choose this option, the ForEach activity then iterates through the elements of this array. The index variable's value starts with 1 and is increased in each iteration up to the size of the selected array.
- Integer (static bounds): Use this option when you know the number of iterations. When you choose this option, two text fields displays into which you enter the start and end values of the iteration.
- *Expression*: The most flexible option to specify expressions for start and end values. These expressions can be Java or XPath expressions.

Early Exit Criterion

You can specify an early exit criterion if you do not want to wait for all iterations to complete before the business process execution continues with next activity. When the criterion is met, the business process terminates the remaining iterations and continues with the next activity after the ForEach.

To specify an early exit criterion, you can use either an expression (Java or XPath) or an integer value.

Count successful iterations only: Select this option to count only successful iterations for the early exit criterion. An iteration is deemed successful if no fault occurs within the scope that is nested directly inside the ForEach activity.

Cyclic Flow activity

The Cyclic Flow activity (also known as *single threaded graph*) is used to nest activities on individual, customized control paths. This activity enhances the modeling of a business process by enabling arbitrary cycles (also known as *back links*). With arbitrary back links or cycles, it is possible to return to a prior activity in the flow. In particular, this activity is useful for human workflows to allow to go back to a prior step in the workflow.

This activity is equivalent to the concept of split/merge. Although there are multiple paths within the activity, only the path that evaluates to true is followed, and the target activity starts the moment that path is complete.

Use the link within a Cyclic Flow activity to connect nested activities and to form individual control paths. This activity is directional so that you can draw from a source activity to a target activity. When the source activity finishes running, the target activity at the other end of the link runs. You can create links from a single

source activity to multiple target activities or from multiple source activities to a single target activity.

You can specify a transition condition on the link. If the link condition evaluates to false and if it is the only link between a source and a target activity, the target activity does not run.

Figure 4-39 shows a section of a business process with a Cyclic Flow activity. The process execution can go back to a prior activity, PerformCodeChanges is based on the reviewer comments as modelled using the back link.



Figure 4-39 A sample Cyclic Flow activity

Compensate activity

You use the Compensate activity within a scope's fault or compensation handler to invoke a specific compensation handler within the scope. We discuss compensate handlers in detail in 4.4.11, "Using handlers in a business process" on page 179.

Compensation is an "undo" action for work that has completed successfully. For example, suppose that your process involves shipping orders after payment is received and that an activity to accept payment from a customer completes successfully. Then, something goes wrong, and the complete order cannot be shipped. A compensation handler can perform an action such as reimburse the customer for the unshipped order.

You must configure the Compensation activity with a target activity for the compensation. The target activity specifies the activity whose compensation handler or compensation operation executes when this compensation activity is invoked. This field lists only targets a single activity or a scope that are downstream from this activity (in other words, scopes that are nested and, therefore, can be called). You can leave the field empty. Then, all enclosing successfully completed activities are compensated.

Figure 4-40 shows a snippet of a business process with a Compensate activity for the Scope activity. This snippet is configured to invoke the compensation handler that is defined for the Invoke activity contained within the Scope activity.

Compensate
Properties X Problems Servers
Target Activity: Invoke 🗸

Figure 4-40 Target Activity for a Compensate Activity

Throw activity

A Throw activity is used to signal an error that can occur that might prevent a business process from reaching completion. A fault thrown by a Throw activity can be caught and handled within the business process using a fault handler.

If a fault that is thrown by a Throw activity is not handled within a process with a request-response operation, it is returned as a runtime exception to the process caller. A fault must have a name and, optionally, can contain a variable that holds information related to the error.

Note: You cannot return a fault with a Throw activity. You must use a Reply activity to return a fault to the process caller. A Reply activity can only return a fault that is defined on the interface that the process implements.

As shown in Figure 4-41, an InvaildChoiceFault is thrown for transaction choices other than deposit and withdraw, which are not covered by any of the case elements.



Figure 4-41 A Throw activity

Rethrow activity

You can use a Rethrow activity in a fault handler to rethrow the fault to the next enclosing scope. This activity might be useful when you want to do some fault handling on the current scope, such as triggering specific compensation handlers, and still want to make the enclosing scopes aware of this issue. You can also use a Rethrow activity when the current fault handler cannot handle the fault and wants to propagate it to an outer-scoped fault handler.

In the absence of a Rethrow activity, a fault propagated to a higher level using a Throw activity is a new fault instance. When a Rethrow activity is invoked, the fault is the same instance. The fault is rethrown exactly as it was caught by the fault handler (that is, any modifications of the associated fault data are ignored).

Terminate activity

A Terminate activity halts the execution of a process. When used, all activities that are currently active are stopped without any fault handling or compensation behavior.

Terminology for activity labels per BPEL specification

The palette menu shown in Figure 4-42 uses labels for activities per the BPEL specification.

🔹 🔤 Palette 🔤
🕞 Favorites
🖄 Basic Actions
🖉 Invoke
🚍 Assian
Pick
(N) Wait
Empty
🏖 Human Task
Snippet
Sequence
Switch
While
556 ForEach
🔄 Single Thread Graph
🚰 Faults
😚 Compensate
🚦 🗢 Throw
😫 Rethrow
📕 Terminate

Figure 4-42 Palette of Business Process Editor

Many of the labels that are used for activities and elements in the process editor differ from those used in the BPEL specification. Table 4-1 lists the original terms and how these terms map to those used in this editor.

Business process editor terminology	BPEL terminology	
Receive Choice activity	Pick activity	
Empty Action activity	Empty activity	
Parallel Activities activity	Flow activity	
Choice activity	Switch activity	
While Loop activity	While activity	
Cyclic Flow activity	Single Thread Graph activity	
Receive case element	OnMessage element	
Partner	Partner Link	

Table 4-1 Terminology used in the process editor and in the BPEL spec

The business process editor uses labels for its activities and elements that are meaningful and easy to understand, but you can change them.

To modify the terminology, follow these steps:

- 1. Select Window \rightarrow Preferences.
- 2. In the preferences window, expand **Business Integration** \rightarrow **Business Process Editor** as shown in Figure 4-43.



Figure 4-43 Business Process Editor Preferences window

- 3. Select the "Terms from the BPEL specification" option to use labels that are identical to those that are defined in the BPEL specification.
- 4. Click OK.

4.4.9 Using elements in a business process

Elements are the objects that are used to support or configure activities. The simple way to add elements to an activity is to use the action bar menu. Also, an alternative is to right-click the activity and then choose the add element option

from the drop-down menu. The elements and handlers that display in the action bar vary according to what activity is currently selected.

Figure 4-44 illustrates these two methods of adding elements for the Choice activity.



Figure 4-44 Adding elements to Choice activity

You can choose Add Case or Add Otherwise, as follows:

- Case element: This element within a Choice activity is used to create a control path and define the conditions that causes this path to run. During execution, the process evaluates the conditions in each of the case elements and follows the first condition that evaluates to true.
- Otherwise element: This element within a Choice activity is used to create a control path that runs when none of the other cases evaluate to true. Use this element on only one of the paths within a choice activity. When run, the process evaluates the conditions in each of the case elements and if none of the conditions evaluate to true, it runs the activities in this path.

4.4.10 Using correlation in a business process

Business process interactions involve stateful conversations between processes. In practice, these conversations can occur over a long period of time, possibly days or months. Message correlation is used to match returning consumers or partners to long-running business processes. When a request is issued by a partner, it is necessary to identify whether a new instance of the business process needs to be created or whether the request needs to be directed to an existing process instance. Instead of using a special instance ID, WS-BPEL correlation reuses identifying information from the existing business messages.

Correlation are the records that are used to keep track of multiple partners or messages and that correlate them with a specific and same instance of a business process at any point of time.

The two types of correlation artifacts include:

 Correlation sets: Used in runtime environments where there are multiple instances of the same process running. The sets allow two partners to initialize a business process transaction, temporarily suspend activity, and then recognize each other again when that transaction resumes.

 Correlation properties: Similar to correlation sets, correlation properties make it possible for the runtime engine to recognize a specific process in an environment where multiple ones are running.

4.4.11 Using handlers in a business process

Handlers consists of a group of activities that represent a specific course of action, which is associated with a particular activity. A handler runs when certain situations occur within the parent activity (that is, the activity with which the handler is associated).

The various types of handlers include:

- Compensation handlers
- Event handlers
- Fault handlers

Faults are any exceptional conditions that can change the normal processing of a business process. A well-designed process should consider faults and handle them whenever possible. Compensation and fault handlers are the two ways of handling faults.

Fault handlers

Use a fault handler to handle partial and unsuccessful work that is a result of a fault (problem or exceptional situation during process execution). A fault handler is a collection of specific activities that run when a fault is thrown on a particular activity with which the handler is associated. When a fault occurs in a process, the navigation moves to the fault handler.

Fault handlers can be added on an invoke or Scope activity. A fault handler can catch a specific fault name, fault type, or both using one or more catch elements. Each path within the fault handler is preceded by either a catch or a catch all element. You can add one catch element for each fault that can potentially occur within the scope or the invoke activity. Each catch is succeeded by a set of activities to deal with that particular fault. You can also add a catch all element to deal with any other faults that are not caught by any of the existing catch elements in the fault handler.

Adding a fault handler

To add a fault handler, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the scope or invoke activity for which you want to add a fault handler.
- 2. In the action bar, click the Add Fault Handler icon as shown in Figure 4-45. A fault handler is created with one default catch element and displays on the canvas besides the parent activity.

Receive
InvokeDepositService
Add Fault Handler

Figure 4-45 Action bar showing Add Fault Handler icon

3. Add to the existing catch path all the activities that are appropriate to deal with the specific exception that has occurred (as shown in Figure 4-46, the properties of the catch element, invalidAccountNo).

InvokeDepositService	invalidA	ccountNo	
× Problems Servers			~
invalidAccountNo			
🔘 Built-in 💿 User-defined			
{http://AccountProcessing/depositFund}in	nvalidAccountNo		
invalidAccountNoVariable			
🔿 Data type variable		💿 Interface var	iable
Data Type: (none)	Browse	Interface:	AccountTransacti 💟 🛛 Brows
		Operation:	depositFunds
		Direction:	🔘 Input 🔵 Output 💿 Fault
		Fault:	invalidAccountNo 🔽

Figure 4-46 Properties of Catch element

4. To add another path, click the fault handler to launch the action bar, and choose the appropriate element (that is Catch or Catch All) as shown in Figure 4-47.

Receive	
	invalidAccountNo Add Catch All
	HandleException

Figure 4-47 Action bar showing Add Catch All

Compensation handlers

Compensation lets you to undo a completed activity. The goal of a compensation handler is to return a failed process to a balanced state by executing a series of associated activities necessary to reverse the completed work. The handler runs only when a fault is thrown and after the parent activity is committed.

You can add a compensation handler to an Invoke or Scope activity. The activity that defines the compensation handler must complete before the compensation handler can run. Therefore, if a the activity throws a fault, compensation for that activity cannot run because it never completed its work. When you define a compensation handler for an activity, you can invoke the handler using a compensate activity.

Figure 4-48 shows the compensation handler for an invoke activity in the scope, and it contains an UndoInvoke activity.



Figure 4-48 Compensation Handler for an Invoke activity

Event handlers

Event handlers enable a running business process to react to events that occur independently and asynchronously. They can respond to events that happen at any time during an application's lifetime or as many times as those events repeat. There might be zero or multiple events at any time.

The advantage of using event handlers

In the GUI environment, events usually signify that the user has made a demand on the system, and the application must respond to it appropriately. In such cases, a Receive or Pick activity can usually be used, but these activities have limitations. For example, they can be used only during normal execution of a process, and they can be implemented only once. These limitations effectively mean that you have to know ahead of time how many events to expect and when to expect them.

Event handlers can be associated with either a scope or with the business process (which in turn is also a scope). When a scope starts, all associated event handlers are enabled. The event handlers belonging to a scope are disabled when the scope ends. If the scope ends with a fault, the processing of the event handler is terminated.

While a scope is active, the event handlers that are associated with that scope wait for specified events. If no event occurs while the scope is active, the event handler does nothing and is disabled when the scope completes. This behavior is different from a Receive or Pick activity. Receive or pick activities must encounter the message for which they are waiting before processing can continue. Event handlers stop waiting after the associated scope is complete.

There are two elements to support the events:

- OnEvent element: Use to create a control path and to specify the operation that causes this path to execute. These events are the incoming messages that correspond to a WSDL operation. A correlation must be specified for the incoming messages.
- Timeout element: Use to create a control path that is executed when a specified time either is reached or has elapsed. This element is used on a single path and is configured to specify either a specific date or period of time. During execution, this path is chosen when no input is received within this time period or by the specified date.

Figure 4-49 shows an event handler that is configured for the Scope activity. The Scope activity is designed to wait for specified duration. Whenever a sendAnEvent operation is invoked, the event handler is triggered, and the events are counted by CountEvents snippet. When timeout happens, the count of the events occurred display as designed in Display No of Events snippet.

(Wait	forSpecifiedDu	ration	OnEvent CountEvents	Timeout Display No of Events	
Properties 🔀	Problems	Servers Console			
📄 OnEve	ent - OnEve	ent			
Partner:*	SampleIF		Browse		
Interface:*	SampleIF				
Operation:*	sendAnE	vent	V		
🕑 Use Data T	ype Variables				
	Name	Variable Name			
Dinout(c)	processID	procID			
w input(s)	eventName	eventName			

Figure 4-49 Event handler configured for the Scope activity

4.5 Human tasks

Human interaction is key to many business integration applications. Human interaction can be required for input and initiation of a process or for review and approval of an item or activity in a business process. Human interaction can also be required to review and correct an error or exception situation in a process that is not fully automated. Even straight-through processing processes invariably have exceptions that cannot be handled automatically. So human interaction is still needed, even with the very capable fault handlers or compensation capability that currently exists.

There are many challenges that are involved when you add human interaction to a process integration solution, such as:

- How to make sure that the correct people are involved?
- How to add capabilities that model real-life human task management, where tasks are claimed, transferred, and completed or are overdue and need escalation?
- How do you make sure that the human interaction provides a suitable interface without disrupting the flexibility to change the business process?

A *human task* is an activity that needs the interaction of a human user. Whenever it is not possible to code logic or to automate part of a process, a human task is the way to enable the staff of a company to interact with a business process. The human task component recognizes the reality that many processes require human intervention for tasks such as reviewing, researching, and approving.

A human task implements a task that is carried out by a person. Human tasks are service components that either can assign work to users or staff or can invoke other services. Human task components include built-in support for role-based task assignment, scheduling, and escalation policies in case a task is not processed within in a predefined time limit.

The Human Task Manager in WebSphere Process Server supports the creation and tracking of tasks during run time. You can use existing Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP) directories (as well as operating system repositories and the WebSphere user registry) to access staff information. WebSphere Process Server also supports multi-level escalation for human tasks, including e-mail notification and priority aging.

WebSphere Process Server includes an extensible Web client that can be used to work with tasks of processes. This Web client is based on a set of reusable Java Server Faces (JSF) components that you can use to create custom clients or to embed human task functionality into other Web applications.

4.5.1 Implementations and types of human tasks

There are two methods to implement a human task, depending on the usage scenario, and four main types of tasks.

Implementations of human tasks

Human tasks can be implemented as:

- Inline tasks: Defined within an implementation of a business process. A inline task can be implemented either directly in the process using a human task activity or as a property of an Invoke, Receive, Receive Choice, event handler, or OnMessage activity. This task does not appear outside of the process and cannot be reused.
- Stand-alone tasks: Implemented as an independent component implementation that can be wired to any other components. This task exists independently of a business process and implements human interaction as a service, which is reusable.

The main differences between these two methods of implementation are as follows:

- Inline tasks are tied to a particular process, whereas stand-alone tasks can be reused across multiple processes.
- Stand-alone tasks can be replaced by other SCA implementations, for example business rules, without altering the original process.
- Inline tasks have access to the context information of the process in which they contained and any other inline task within the same process.
 Stand-alone tasks have access only to the context information of the individual human task.
- Inline tasks can be used for server-driven page flow applications using the completeAndClaimNext functionality. Stand-alone tasks are independent of each other.
- Inline tasks are deleted when their parent process is deleted.

Types of human tasks

The four main types of human tasks are:

- To-do task
- Invocation task
- Collaboration task
- Administration task

To-do task

A *to-do task* (machine-to-human or *M2H*) is a human task that is invoked by a service component, which assigns a task to a human to do something. A to-do task can be either inline or stand-alone. In earlier releases of WebSphere Process Server V6.1, this task is referred to as a *participating task*.

Invocation task

An *invocation* task (human-to-machine or H2M) is a human task that is triggered by a human who assigns a task to a service component. In this case, a human invokes a service component such as a business process. An invocation task can be either inline or stand-alone.

When this task is inline, an invocation task allows humans to invoke the operations that a business process exposes through activities such as Receive, Receive Choice, or event handlers. Through this task, a user can start a process and define authorization for its inbound activities. In earlier releases of WebSphere Process Server V6.1, this task is referred as an *originating task*.

Collaboration task

A *collaboration* task (human-to-human or H2H) is a human task that is triggered by a human who assigns a task to another human. A collaboration task is stand-alone in that there is no interaction between it and any other component. This task is self-contained and implements a stand-alone human interaction without any reference or interface to another service. In earlier releases of WebSphere Process Server V6.1, this task is referred to as a *pure human task*.

Administration task

An *administration* task is a human task that is created by components to offer an interface for a human administrator. This type of task grants to a human the right to perform administrative actions, such as suspend, terminate, restart, force-retry, or force-complete a business process. Administration tasks can be set up on either an Invoke activity or the process as a whole. This type of task is available only within a business process (inline task).



These tasks have the interaction patterns shown in Figure 4-50.

Figure 4-50 The interactions of the main types of human tasks

4.5.2 Creating a human task

To create a new human task, follow these steps:

- 1. Create a module. In this example, the module is *CustomerSupportModule*.
- 2. Create an interface in the module. In this example, we use *CustomerSupportIF*, as shown in Figure 4-51.

CustomerSupportIF 🛛		
•Operations	🎭 👂 🕼	
Operations and their parame	eters	
	Name	Туре
➡ WhandleQuery		
DI Input(s)	query	string
ID Output(s)	response	string

Figure 4-51 CustomerSupportIF for a new human task

- Select File → New → Human Task. In the New Human Task window, shown in Figure 4-52:
 - a. Select New default Human Task
 - b. Browse to an existing module (or click **New** to create one).
 - c. Specify a folder (optional).
 - d. Specify a name for the new human task (for example, CustomerSupportHT).
 - e. Click Next.

🚯 New Human Task 🛛 🔀					
Human Task: Select Destination A human task is an interaction between a human and a machine or two humans. Specify the module, folder, namespace, and name for the human task.					
 New default 	Human Task ONew From Pattern				
Module:	CustomerSupportModule Browse New				
Namespace:	http://CustomerSupportModule				
Folder:	Browse				
Name:	CustomerSupportHT				
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel				

Figure 4-52 New Human Task Wizard

4. Select the type of interaction for the human task. As shown in Figure 4-53, you have the following options in a stand-alone human task implementation:

To-do task	A service component assigns a task to a human to do something.
Invocation task	A human can "assign" a task to a service component.
Collaboration task	A human assigns a task to another human.

In this example, click To-do Task, and then click Next.



Figure 4-53 Select type of interaction for human task

- 5. In the New Human Task dialog box, shown in Figure 4-54:
 - a. Click **Select an existing Interface**. Alternatively, you can select **Generate a new Interface** to generate a new interface to be used with this human task.
 - b. Select the existing interface, CustomerSupportIF, from the drop-down menu. Alternatively, you can click Browse and select an interface in Interface Selection wizard as shown in Figure 4-55 on page 193.
 - c. Click Finish.

🚯 New Human Task 🛛 🛛 🔀						
Human Task: Interface Definition Specify the interface of this human task. You also need to specify an operation that this human task will implement.						
Generate a new Select an existing	v interface					
Interface: Operation:	CustomerSupportIF { http://O ➤ Browse handleQuery					
⑦ _ < Bad	k Next > Finish Cancel					

Figure 4-54 Select an interface in the New Human Task wizard

🚯 Interface Selection	
Choose an interface (? = any character, * = any String):	
*	
Matches:	
Qualifier:	
(I)http://CustomerSupportModule/CustomerSupportIF - Custo	
⑦ OK Cancel	

Figure 4-55 Interface Selection wizard for human task

The CustomerSupportHT is created and opens in the human task editor as shown in Figure 4-56.

🎼 Bu 🛛 Ph 🗖 🗖	CustomerSupportHT 🕱 🗖 🗖					
▽ 	▼To-do Task					
	Name	CustomerSupportH	п	T Display Name		
CustomerSupportModule						
Second and a secon	▼Service Interface					
Business Logic	(I) Interface	CustomerSupportIF				
🖻 🔕 Human Tasks	Operation	handleQuery				
CustomerSu	D1 Input	query	query			
🗁 Data Types		response			string	
Vinterfaces Output	the output	response			Jung	
A Mapping	▼People Assignment ((Receiver)	+ ×			
€ BampleModule	Potential Creators Everybody					
	Potential Owners Everybody					
	•User Interface		+ ×			
⇔ - ⇔ - 8	User Interface					
·						
CustomerSupp	•Escalation					
		壳				
	Ready Claimed Subt	task started				
		1111			>	
	Build Activities Propertie	es 🕴 Problems	Servers	Console	~ - 8)	
	Description	🚮 To-do Tasl	k - Cust	omerSup	porth ^	
	Details	Name:	CustomerSupportHT		∃≣	
	Interface					
	Duration	Namespace:	http://0	pportMc		
	Event Monitor	Description:			~	
	~ 6	<			>	

Figure 4-56 CustomerSupportHT Business Integration View

4.5.3 Human task editor

The human task editor, shown in Figure 4-57 on page 196, is a is a GUI-based tool. It helps you to visually configure the interaction between a service and its associated human participants. The human task editor includes the following areas:

► The service interface area

This area shows the interface and the operation, which is associated with this human task and the corresponding inputs and outputs. You can click the interface name link to launch the interface editor to make any changes to the interface.

► The people assignment area

This area shows a list of the people assignments (roles with criteria) who can interact with the task, providing the "Add roles to define access rights to the task" icon ($\stackrel{\bullet}{\rightarrow}$) to add a new people assignment. To remove an authorization role, highlight a role and click the delete ($\stackrel{\thickapprox}{\approx}$) icon.

The user interface area

Use this area to add additional, client type specific information to a human task. The clients that are listed here are the clients that can interact with the task in the runtime environment. Click the "Add definitions to be used by clients" icon (+) to add a new user interface and then to configure it in the Details tab of Properties view.

The escalation area

The escalation settings define how a task is handled when an expected action has not been performed within a predefined time period.

The Properties view

This area displays properties of the object that are currently selected in the editor. Click the tabs to the left of this view to toggle through various property pages. You can add or modify any of the properties by clicking the appropriate field shown on GUI.

CustomerSupportHT 🔀								
▼To-do Task								
Name	CustomerSupportH	Т	Display Name	(CustomerSup		Т	
▼Service Interface								
(I) Interface	CustomerSupp	CustomerSupportIF						
Operation	handleQuery	handleQuery						
D Input	query			string				
📫 Output	response			string				
▼People Assignment ((Receiver)	÷ ×					P	
Potential Creators	Everybody	rybody						
Potential Owners	Everybody							
▼ User Interface		+ %						
🔓 User Interface								
▼Escalation								
Ready Claimed Subt	ask started							
Properties 🛛 Proble	ems Servers							
Description	🚮 To-do Task	- CustomerS	upportHT					
Details	Name:	CustomerSuppo	ortHT	Displa	y name:	Custome	erSup	
Interface	Namespace: http://CustomerSupportModule Folder:					Custom	nerSu	
Duration	Namespace.	ntp.//customer	suppor unouule			Pedatoli	000	
Event Monitor	Description:						Inse	
Environment	Documentation:					<u>^</u>	Inse	

Figure 4-57 The human task editor

4.5.4 Building blocks of a human task

A human task definition is comprised of the following building blocks:

- ► Type and name of the task (the type can be to-do, invocation, or collaboration)
- Service interface (what needs to be done and how)
- People assignment (who can do the task)
- User interface (how the human interacts with the task)
- Escalation (what happens when the task takes too long)

You can configure or manipulate each of these settings using the human task editor. Figure 4-58 shows the building blocks for each type of human task. The figure contains a small portion of what you see when you open each of these three task types in the human task editor.

To-do Task			▼Invocation Task			Collaboration Task		
Name	To-d	oHT	Name	Invo	cationH	Name	Colla	aboration
Service Interface			• Service Interface			 Service Interface 		
(I) Interface		SomeIF	Interface SomeIF		<u>SomeI</u> F	(I) Interface	SomeIF	
🎡 Operation		doThis	Operation doThis		Operation		doThis	
DI Input		input	DI Input		input	DI Input		input
🕼 Output		output	🕼 Output		output	🕼 Output 🛛 ou		
People Assignment ((Rece	eiver)	▼People Assignment (Origin	nator)	▼People Assignment ((Orig	inator)
Potential Creators Everybody		r ybo dy	Potential Creators	Potential Creators Everybody		Potential Creators	Eve	rybody
Potential Owners Everybody		rybody	Potential Starters Everybody People		= Dooplo Accignment ((Dec	-	
llear Tatarface			•User Interface			People Assignment ((Reci	eiver)
						Potential Owners	Ever	ybody
Signal User Interface						▼User Interface		
Escalation			▼Escalation		Generation Interface			
Beady Claimed Subtask started			Running		▼Escalation			
						Ready Claimed Subt	task s	tarted

Figure 4-58 To-do, invocation, and collaboration tasks in the human task editor

4.5.5 People assignments

People assignment roles and the criteria that is defined for a task identifies the staff members to interact with the task based on their access rights. More specifically, *authorization roles* determine what the members are allowed to do in the runtime environment, and *people assignment criteria* defines who is a member of an authorization role.

The people assignment area of a task in human task editor facilitates the configuration of authorization roles and people assignment criteria.

A task is assigned to a role, not an individual. Each staff member who belongs to this role group has permissions assigned to the role as a whole. Figure 4-59 shows the assigned roles (for example, Potential creators, potential owners) under the people assignment area of the human task editor.

▼People Assignment (Receiver) 🕂 💥								
Potential Creat	ors Everybody	Everybody						
🜔 Potential Owne	rs Everybody	Everybody						
🔲 Properties 🕱								
Assign People 🔰 S	ssign People Staff role: Potential Owners							
Peo As	ple assignment criteria: Everybody signs every authenticated user. Supporte	d by default configurations for: Virtual Member Mana comatically.						
N	ame	Value						
<		1111						

Figure 4-59 People assignment roles and criteria

People assignment criteria (of a specific role) further refines the list of members of the specific role group who can work with the task. Figure 4-59 shows the people assignment criteria for a role (for example, Potential Owners as Everybody) that can be changed on the Assign People tab of the Properties view of the human task editor.
Authorization roles for human tasks

Authorization is the mechanism by which certain people (staff of an organization) are enabled to perform selected actions on tasks. Authorization roles are used to define sets of actions that are available to specific roles. Role-based authorization requires that administrative and application security is enabled for the application server. A role can be:

- ► A system-level J2EE role
- An instance-based role

System-level J2EE roles

System-level J2EE roles are set up when the Human Task Manager is configured. The authority level that is implied by these roles is valid for all tasks and escalations. You can change the assignment of users and groups to these roles using the administrative console of WebSphere Process Server. The following J2EE roles are supported:

- TaskSystemAdministrator: Users assigned to this role have all privileges. This
 role is also referred to as the system administrator for human tasks.
- TaskSystemMonitor: Users assigned to this role can view the properties of all of the task objects. This role is also referred to as the system monitor for human tasks.

Instance-based roles

Instance-based roles are valid for tasks and escalation instances or for the templates that are used to create task or escalation instances. The association of users to instance-based roles is determined either by people assignment criteria or as the result of task actions.

People are assigned to roles at run time by people assignment criteria that is based on the user and user group information that is stored in a people directory, namely, virtual member manager, LDAP, user registry, and system (operating system), as shown in Table 4-2.

Role name	Description
Potential Creators	Members of this role can create an instance of the task but cannot start it.
Potential Starters	Members of this role can start an existing task instance. This role is associated only with an invocation task.
Potential Owners	Members of this role can claim, work on, and complete tasks.

Table 4-2 Authorization roles determined by people assignment criteria

Role name	Description
66° Readers	Members of this role can view tasks but cannot work on them. This role can be used in situations where an employee wants to monitor a task without taking any action on it.
🥖 Editors	Members of this role can work with the content of a task but cannot claim or complete it.
Administrators 🤌	Members of this role can administer tasks. They have the authority to perform higher authority duties, such as suspend, terminate, restart, force-retry, and force-complete.
Escalation receiver	Members of this role have the authority of a reader for the escalation and the escalated task.

The roles shown in Table 4-3 are associated with only one user and are assigned as the result of a task action.

Role name	Description
Originator	The person who created the task. A person with a potential creator role becomes an originator after creating a task. The person with this role has administrative rights until the task starts. When the task starts, the originator has the authority of a reader and can perform some administrative actions, such as suspending tasks, resuming tasks, and transferring work items.
Starter	The person who started the task. A person with a potential starter role becomes a starter after starting a task. The person with this role has the authority of a reader and can perform some administrative actions, such as transferring work items.
Owner	The person who claimed the task. A person with a potential owner role becomes an owner after claiming a task. The person with this role works on and completes a task.

Table 4-3 Authorization roles determined by task actions

People assignment criteria

People assignment criteria are constructs that are used with human tasks to identify sets of people that can be assigned to an instance-based authorization role. At run time, this criteria is used to retrieve sets of users from people directories. The criteria can be composed using predefined staff verbs or keywords, such as Everybody, Group, and so forth, and replacement expressions.

People directories

People directories store user and groups information that is used for people resolution based on the people assignment criteria. The following people directories are supported:

- Virtual member manager (VMM), also referred to as *federated repositories*: This is the default people directory that is supported by WebSphere Application Server.
- LDAP directory
- Local operating system user registry
- WebSphere Application Server user registry

Figure 4-60 shows the people directory configuration property page for a to-do task, using a preconfigured sample VMM configuration. The drop-down list in the figure is expanded to capture the JNDI names of other people directories.

🚮 то-doнт 🛛				
▼To-do Task				
Name	To-doHT	Display Name		
Build Activities Propertie	es 🕴 Problems Servers			
Description	🚮 To-do Task - To-doHT			
Details	bpe/staff/samplevmmconfiguration			
Interface	Tack priority	bpe/staff/userregistryconfiguration		
Duration	Task priority:	bpe/staff/everybodyconfiguration		
Event Monitor Business category: • Global Event Settings Default language:		bpe/staff/sampleldapconfiguration		
		bpe/staff/samplevmmconfiguration		
Environment	berautienigueget	-		
	Event handler name:			

Figure 4-60 People directory configuration page for a to-do task

Assigning a role to a human task

To add a role to a task using the human task editor, follow these steps:

1. Open the task in the human task editor. Table 4-4 shows the roles that are added by default during creation for various types of human tasks.

Task Type	People Assignment Display	Description	
To-do	People Assignment (Receiver)	Person is a receiver. In this	
	Potential Creators Everybody	case, you can configure the roles for the people who can	
	Potential Owners Everybody	claim and work on this task.	
Invocation	▼People Assignment (Originator)	Person is an originator. In this	
	Potential Creators Everybody	case, you can configure the roles for the people who can initiate the task.	
	Potential Starters Everybody		
Collaboration	▼People Assignment (Originator)	Person-to-person (that is, the	
	Potential Creators Everybody	person is both a receiver and an originator). Because a	
		collaboration task is assigned to	
		both receiver and originator	
	Potential Owners Everybody	settings.	

Table 4-4 People assignment settings for various human tasks

2. Click the "Add roles to define access rights to the task" icon (+) to add a new role and to select one from the drop-down list.

Note: The drop-down list shows only those roles that are applicable and still not added. The roles that are listed as images in Table 4-2 on page 199 are the ones that you can add to the tasks under people assignment area.

3. Configure the people assignment criteria settings on the Assign People tab of Properties view of the human task editor (Figure 4-59 on page 198).

Testing people assignment criteria

You can test the people assignment criteria that is used in a human task to make sure that the correct people are retrieved from the people directory. Follow these steps:

- 1. Open a human task in the human task editor.
- 2. Select a role.
- 3. Click **Test** in the Assign tab of the properties page as shown in Figure 4-61).

Note: This button is available for all people assignment criteria except *everybody* and *nobody*.

							1
▼People Assign	ment (Originator)	+ ×				
🔷 Potential Cr	eators	Everybody					
🕨 Potential St	arters	Group Search					
			GroupID		*		
▼User Interface	2		+ ×				_
Build Activities Proble	ems Ser	rvers Console	Properties 🔀			7	7 🗆
Assign People	⊳ s	taff role: Pot	ential Starters				
	Peo	ple assignment crit	teria: Group Search			T	est
As co U th D gr		signs members of infigurations for: Vises this to find one ese groups. efine attribute value oup entry attribute	groups that match specifi irtual Member Manager, L ore more groups and crea ues to match Virtual Memb e values. Wildcards (*) ar	ed attribute value DAP, User Regist ate individual assi per Manager grou e permitted.	es. Supported by o ry. gnments for the m p entity property	default nembers of values or LDA	P
	N	ame	Value				^
	Gr	oupID	*				
	Ту	pe					
	In	dustryType					V

Figure 4-61 Testing people assignment criteria

4. Select one of the running WebSphere Process Server instances from the drop-down menu on the Test People Search window (shown in Figure 4-62), and click **Submit**.

Note: If the people assignment criteria contains one or more replacement variables, the dialog box includes an input field for each variable to enter some input data to be used in the query.

🕑 Test People Search	
Select a server to perform the Test People Query.	
Server: WebSphere Process Server v6.1	~
	Submit

Figure 4-62 Test people search window

5. Figure 4-63 shows an example of the query results. Click **OK** to close the window.

Test People Search	
Select a server to perform the Test People Query.	
Server:	
WebSphere Process Server v6.1	×
	Submit
The following people have been found:	
bdaniel mcharles jjames dcampbell mburnnet Icarlesberg	
0	ОК

Figure 4-63 People names queries in test people search

4.5.6 User interfaces

The User Interface area in the human task editor lists the clients that are used by people to interact with the task in the runtime environment. Click the "Add definitions to be used by clients" icon (+) to add a new user interface, and then configure it in the Details tab of Properties view.

▼User Interface	1
U	IBM Lotus Forms client
🔁 User Interface	Portal Client
	Business Process Choreographer Explorer
▼Escalation ₽	P

Figure 4-64 User interface clients for a human task

There are three user interfaces:

- IBM Lotus Forms client: Select IBM Lotus Forms client to present information to the user with the Lotus Forms Client.
- Portal client: Select the portal client to specify a client that is executed on WebSphere Portal.
- Business Process Choreographer Explorer: Select the Business Process Choreographer Explorer to use the standard Web client that is provided with the product.

4.5.7 Escalations

An *escalation* is a notification or an alert that can be raised automatically when a human task has not been actioned in the specified amount of time. Escalations for human tasks are optional but are very useful to ensure that tasks do not go overdue or get forgotten. For example, you can use an escalation to alert a supervisor or manager when a staff member is unable to complete a task by the defined deadline.

Escalations allow WebSphere Process Server run time to request an action automatically if a task has not been actioned (for example, claimed and completed) in a certain amount of time. **Note:** The *escalation time values* in WebSphere Process Server human tasks are not the same as the *task duration values*. Although a human task might exceed its duration and so become due, this does not trigger an escalation event automatically if no escalation details are defined.

If you want a task to be escalated, you must explicitly define an escalation for it.

Escalations gets activated at a certain task state and escalate only if the task is not moved to the expected task state when the defined time limit for the escalation expires. You can set up escalations to escalate a task to users or groups that are defined by any of the staff verbs and can use varying durations. The time period until the escalation is calculated from the point of time when the task is set to the particular state.

You can define escalations for tasks, and they get activated when the task reaches the task states shown in Figure 4-65.



Figure 4-65 Escalation task states

These task states are as follows:

Ready

For tasks in the ready state, you can define escalations for the following situations:

- Escalate when the task is not claimed in time using the expected task state of claimed.
- Escalate when the task is not completed in time using the expected task state of ended.
- Claimed

For to-do tasks or collaboration tasks in the claimed state, you can define escalations for the following situations:

- Escalate when the task is not completed in time using the expected task state of ended.
- Escalate when the subtasks of this task are not completed in time using the expected task state of all subtasks ended.

Subtask started

In the subtasks started sub-state of a to-do task or collaboration task, you can escalate the task when its subtasks are not completed in time using the expected task state of all subtasks ended. Note that it is the parent task that gets escalated, not the subtasks. For more information about subtasks, see 4.5.8, "Ad-hoc tasks" on page 209.

Running

In the running state of an invocation task, you can escalate when the invoked service does not return in time using the expected task state of ended.

When an escalation is raised, the people that are affected by the escalation (the escalation receivers) receive work items. Depending on the definition of the escalation, the escalation receivers might also receive an e-mail that notifies them that the task is escalated. The list of users who are notified is defined by people assignment criteria on the Assign People tab in the Properties view of the escalation.

The e-mail functionality is especially beneficial when you are notifying users who only occasionally interact with the business process and alerts them to the fact that they have a task to perform in the form of an escalation. The e-mail can contain the escalated task name, the state that the task should have reached, and a description of the task.

You can define repeating escalations. These escalations check the same expected task state at every timeout, and perform the defined escalation action until the expected task state is reached.

You can configure the escalation to increase the priority of the escalated task using the increase task priority property. The priority can be increased automatically either for this time only or for every iteration of the escalation.

These configuration properties are shown in Figure 4-66.

▼Escalation)
≣ Ready	Claimed Subtask starte	ed
C Escalation 1		
Build Activities Propertie	s 🕴 Problems Servers	Console
Description	Escalation	
Details	Expected task state:	Ended
Assign People		
Event Monitor	Escalate after:	O ♣ Days 2 ♣ Hours 0 ♣ Minutes 0 ♣ Second
· Global Event Settings		
Environment		.
	Notification type:	Work item
	E-mail message:	Work item E-mail
		Event
	Repeat notification every:	O Days 0 ⊕ Hours 0 ⊕ Minutes 0 ⊕ Second
		0
	Increase task priority:	No

Figure 4-66 Escalation properties

4.5.8 Ad-hoc tasks

Ad-hoc tasks are created "on-the-fly" in the runtime environment and represent parts of the original task or partially completed task. These tasks can be used when the application is stand-alone and when the task is either to-do or collaboration.

When you work on a task in the user interface of the runtime environment, you can define a task dynamically either as a subtask or as a follow-on task.

Subtasks

In the runtime environment, if a person who claims a task finds that the task cannot be completed, that person can delegate portions of that original task to other people in the form of *subtasks*. You can create subtasks from stand-alone task templates that are stored in the Business Process Choreographer database, from task templates created at run time, or by providing a new task model at run

time. The parent task can be a to-do task or a collaboration task, and it must have the supportsSubtask attribute set to true. The subtasks that you create can be either collaboration tasks or invocation tasks. These subtasks can, in turn, have subtasks or follow-on tasks.

There can be more than one subtask for any given parent task and the parent task owner has the control over the overall result. The parent task owner must then consolidate the information received from the subtasks back into the parent task. Escalation is still available on the parent task, and if the parent task fails to complete, the owner can see that it is because there are still subtasks to complete. So the owner of the parent task still has responsibility for the completion of the parent task.

Follow-on tasks

In the runtime environment, if a person who claims a task finds that the task cannot be completed, that person can assign the remaining work to other people in the form of a *follow-on task*. Follow-on tasks can be only collaboration tasks. You can start a collaboration task from a to-do task or a collaboration task that has the supportsFollowOnTask attribute set to true.

The follow-on task is similar in concept to the subtask; however, the data in the follow-on task must match the data in the original task from which you are following. This time, the original task is put into a forwarded state, and the original task owner does not get the response back. On completion of the follow-on task, the process continues as usual. Also, the follow-on task can have its own escalation. So, in this case the owner of the follow-on task has responsibility for completing the follow-on task.

4.5.9 New human task features in WebSphere Process Server V6.1

The new or enhanced human task capabilities for business integration applications available with WebSphere Process Server V6.1 include:

Extended people directory support

The Human Task Manager uses VMM as a people directory. *VMM* is a new component in WebSphere Application Server V6.1 to integrate customer specific people directories. This component provides the following functionality:

- A common schema that offers powerful people query functionality.
- Various external repositories.
- People repository federation, that is multiple directories are represent as a single directory with unified schema. For example, it allows federating multiple LDAP directories.

- Extending the built-in schema by adding additional people properties. Data from schema extensions is stored in VMM's look-aside repository.
- Plugging in custom repositories with powerful query functionality
- Pre-configured people directory

The WebSphere Integration Developer test environment allows for rapid prototyping of human tasks. This functionality is built upon VMM's file repository and supports testing of people resolution in the integrated test environment.

- The ability to test the people assignment criteria in the runtime environment.
- Participant substitution capabilities

Substitution capabilities allow users of the runtime applications to temporarily delegate work when they are unavailable. Human Task Manager allows users to specify substitutes for users.

People can specify a list of substitutes. If users notify the system of their absence, then work is assigned to substitutes:

- If someone is absent, then the tasks for that person are assigned to the appropriate person on that person's substitute list.
- If the first substitute is absent also, then the second substitute is used, and so on.

Tasks that are assigned to unavailable users are re-assigned automatically to their specified substitutes. Substitution occurs during people resolution and is re-evaluated upon refresh of people assignments. Substitution takes advantage of VMM and is supported only when using VMM as the people directory.

Enhanced performance for task list queries

In systems with large numbers of human tasks (hundreds of thousands) and large numbers of users (many thousands), the performance of task list queries might become an issue. *Materialized views*, a technique known from database management systems, are introduced to optimize the performance of task list queries.

Batch processing support

This support allows you to perform operations on batches of human tasks and work items. This operation leads to improved performance when dealing with a large number of items as only one client. Server interaction is required. New bulk HTM APIs are introduced to support batch processing.

Auto deletion can be restricted (optional) to tasks that completed successfully.

 Forms created using IBM Lotus Forms Designer (integrated into WebSphere Integration Developer) can be used as the user interface for human tasks and processes.

4.6 Administering processes and tasks

Business processes and human tasks are part of modules that are deployed and installed as part of an enterprise application. You can use the administrative console or the administrative commands to administer process templates and task templates, and you can use Business Process Choreographer Explorer to work with process instances and task instances. You can use Business Process Choreographer Observer to report on business processes and human tasks.

4.6.1 Business process templates and instances

Process templates define business processes within an enterprise application that can run on WebSphere Process Server. You can think of the template as the cookie-cutter that lets you create copies of business processes with the same definition. The user who wants to initiate a process must have permission to create an instance of that process from its template. If you want to control who can start and stop your process, you do that by controlling access to its template.

When an enterprise application that contains process templates is installed or deployed and started, the process templates are put into the started state. When a process template is started, new instances of the template can be started. The process template must be stopped before the business process application can be uninstalled. When a process template is in the stopped state, no new instances of this template can be started.

A *process instance* is an instance of a process template and can be a long-running process or a microflow.

The Business Process Choreographer Explorer displays information about process templates and process instances or acts on process instances. These actions can be, for example, starting process instances and, for long-running processes, other process life cycle actions, such as suspending, resuming, or terminating process instances, or repairing activities.

4.6.2 Human task templates and instances

A *task template* contains the definition of a deployed human task that was created using WebSphere Integration Developer or at run time using the Business Process Choreographer APIs.

The template contains properties, such as the task name and priority, and aggregates artifacts, such as escalation templates, custom properties, and people query templates. When an enterprise application that contains task templates is installed or deployed and then started, the task templates are put into the started state.

When a task template is started, new instances of the template can be started. The task template must be stopped before the human task application can be uninstalled. When a task template is in the stopped state, no new instances of this template can be started.

A *task instance* is an instance of a task template and represents a running human task.

4.6.3 Administering process and task templates

You can use the administrative console that is provided by the WebSphere Process Server runtime environment to administer process or task templates.

When an enterprise application that contains process or task templates is installed or deployed and then started, the process or task templates are put into the started state. You can use the administrative console or the administrative commands to stop and start these templates. The process or task templates that are started are shown in Business Process Choreographer Explorer.

Follow these steps to start or stop the templates:

- Select the module that you want to manage from the administrative console by clicking Applications → SCA modules → <module_name>.
- 2. In the Configuration page for the module under Additional Properties:
 - a. Click Business processes, and then select a process template.

or

- b. Click Human tasks, and then select a task template.
- 3. To start the template, click **Start**. To stop the template, click **Stop**.

Existing instances of the stopped templates continue to run until they end normally. However, you cannot create instances from a stopped template.

4.6.4 Business Process Choreographer Explorer

The Business Process Choreographer (BPC) Explorer is a Web client that facilitates a user to communicate with the runtime environment of WebSphere Process Server. It provides a user interface for administering business processes and human tasks or to work with assigned tasks.

When you start Business Process Choreographer Explorer, the objects that you see in the user interface and the actions that you can take depend on your user role. You can use Business Process Choreographer Explorer to perform the following tasks:

- If you are a business process administrator, you can manage the life cycle of business processes and human tasks, as well as manage work assignments. You can view information about process and task templates, process instances, task instances, and their associated objects. You can also act on these objects (for example, you can start new process instances, create and start tasks, repair and restart failed activities, manage work items, and delete completed process instances and task instances).
- ► If you are a business user, you can view and work with your assigned tasks.

You can configure the Business Process Choreographer Explorer using a script or through the WebSphere Process Server administrative console.

Launching Business Process Choreographer Explorer

Note: Before you can start using Business Process Choreographer Explorer from a Web browser, you must have installed the business process container, human task container, and the Business Process Choreographer Explorer application, and the application must be running.

To launch the Business Process Choreographer Explorer:

1. Open the Business Process Choreographer Explorer URL from a Web browser:

http://<app_server_host>:<default_host_port_no>/context_root

A sample URL in the address bar might be:

http://localhost:9080/bpc

2. If security is enabled, you must enter a user name and password, and then click **Login**.

Launching the Business Process Choreographer Explorer from WebSphere Integration Developer

Alternatively, if you are using WebSphere Integration Developer test environment, you can perform the following steps to start the Business Process Choreographer explorer:

- 1. Switch to the Business Integration perspective.
- 2. Click the Servers view tab. Otherwise, select Windows \rightarrow Show View \rightarrow Servers.
- 3. Select a server and start it.
- Right-click the server and select Launch → Business Process Choreographer Explorer.

The initial page of the Business Process Choreographer Explorer displays as shown in Figure 4-67.

Business Process Choreographer	Explorer - My To-dos - Microsoft Internet Explorer			
File Edit View Favorites Tools H	elp			
🚱 Back 🝷 💽 🕤 🛃 💰	🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🧑 🔗 - 🌺 🖬 -			
Address 🕘 http://localhost:9080/bpc/faces	s/pages/layouts/views/TaskInstanceListView.jsp			
Business Process Choreograph	er Explorer			
Welcome admin Logout My Sub	stitutes Define Substitutes Define Views Customize			
 Process Templates My Process Templates 	My To-dos Use this page to work on tasks that are assigned to you.			
 Process Instances Started By Me Administered By Me Critical Processes Terminated Processes Failed Compensations 	Start Work on Release Transfer Refresh Cl □ Priority <> Task Name <> State <> Kind <> Own Items found: 0 Items selected: 0			
 Task Templates My Task Templates 				
 Task Instances My To-dos All Tasks Initiated By Me Administered By Me My Escalations 				
IBM.				
🙆 Done				

Figure 4-67 My To-dos page of the Business Process Choreographer Explorer

Process and task templates

The process and task templates that are started are shown in Business Process Choreographer Explorer.

My Process Templates view

This view under the process templates group lists the process templates. From this view, you can view the information about the process template and its structure, navigate to running process instances that are associated with a template, and start process instances.

Figure 4-68 shows the My Process Templates view of Business Process Choreographer Explorer.

Му	Process Templates			
Use t	his page to view process templates o	on which you can work 🗓		
Sta	rt Instance Instances View Stru	ucture Refresh		
	Process Template Name 🗘	Valid From 🗘	Long Running 🗘	State 🗘 🛛 🛛
	Review	3/28/08 3:25:51 PM	yes	Started
	SampleBP	3/7/08 5:52:40 PM	yes	Started
Items	found: 2 Items selected: 0	<	1 of 1 >> Items	per page: 20 💌

Figure 4-68 My Process Templates view of Business Process Choreographer Explorer

My Task Templates view

This view under the task templates group lists the task templates. From this view, you can create and start a task instance and navigate to running task instances that are associated with a template.

4.6.5 Administering process and task instances

The various views that are available under process instances and task instances groups on the navigation pane of the Business Process Choreographer Explorer facilitate the administration of process and task instances.

Process instances

The process instances group includes the following views:

Started By Me

This view lists the process instances that you started. From this view, you can monitor the current state or progress of the process instance and list the activities, processes, or tasks that are related to it.

Administered By Me

This view lists the process instances that you are authorized to administer. From this view, you can act on the process instance (for example, suspend and resume a process or monitor the progress of the activities in a process instance).

Critical Processes

This view lists process instances in the running state that contain activities in the stopped state. From this view, you can act on the process instances or list the activities and then act on them.

Terminated Processes

This view lists process instances that are in the terminated state. From this view, you can act on these process instances.

Failed Compensations

This view lists the compensation actions that have failed for microflows.

Task instances

The task instances group includes the following views:

My To-dos

This view lists the task instances with which you are authorized to work. From this view, you can work on a task instance, release a task instance that you claimed, or transfer a task instance to another user.

All Tasks

This view lists all of the tasks for which you are the owner, potential owner, or editor. From this view, you can work on a task instance, release a task instance that you claimed, or transfer a task instance to another user.

► Initiated By Me

This view lists the task instances that you initiated. From this view, you can work on a task instance, release a task instance that you claimed, or transfer a task instance to another user.

Administered By Me

This view lists the task instances that you are authorized to administer. From this view, you can act on the task instance (for example, suspend and resume a task, create work items for the task instance, or display a list of the current work items for the task instance).

My Escalations

This view lists all the escalations for the logged on business user.

4.6.6 Business Process Choreographer Observer

The Business Process Choreographer (BPC) Observer is a Web application that generates reports about the execution of business processes and human tasks. The Business Process Choreographer Observer allows you to:

- Observe state and evolution of processes.
- Observe overall duration and actual work time of activities.
- Provide customizable reports and graphical charts of historical and accumulated data of processes.
- Retrieve statistical data on processes and activities through flexible drill downs.

4.6.7 New, enhanced Business Process Choreographer features with WebSphere Process Server V6.1

This section describes the new or enhanced features of Business Process Choreographer Explorer and Business Process Choreographer Observer that are available with WebSphere Process Server V6.1.

The new and enhanced features include:

- You can now perform the following tasks with the Business Process Choreographer Explorer enhanced capabilities:
 - Handle absence and substitution of users.
 - Use the "Suspend until" option for business processes and human tasks.

In V6.1, suspending a process or task instance allows you to specify a duration or point in time, if the process or task instance has to be resumed automatically. Figure 4-69 shows this option.



Figure 4-69 Suspend process until option for a process instance in BPC explorer

- View and edit XML source data.
- Use extended custom views to sort and control the amount of data that is
 presented to the application users.
- Combine filter criteria across processes and tasks with their definitions and instances.
- Navigate between related tasks (subtasks and follow-on), as well as administer and view information about specific ad-hoc tasks.
- Include human task priority and business category as filter criteria and list columns.
- Edit custom properties.
- Use an improved graphical process view.
- You can now export reports in the Business Process Choreographer Observer for further analysis in tools such as Microsoft® Excel®, and you can save the reports for automatic generation at a later time based on schedule or on demand.

4.7 Business state machines

A *state machine* is an event driven business application in which external operations trigger changes that guide the state machine from one discrete mode to another. Each mode is an individual state, and this mode determines what activities and operations can occur. The state machines are service components which represent business processes based on states and events instead of a sequential business process model.

You create business state machines in IBM WebSphere Integration Developer using the business state machine editor.

An example of a state machine

In this section, we describe a a simple example to understand business state machine simulation and usage—purchasing a snack from a vending machine. Figure 4-70 on page 222 shows the various interactions and activities that are involved during this purchase process.



Figure 4-70 State machine use

In this example, a customer must go through a sequence of interactions to purchase a snack from a vending machine. The vending machine does not respond until money is deposited. Even then, the vending machine does not proceed to the next state until a certain amount of money is deposited. In each of the states, the actions that the customer can perform is unique from any other state. For example, when it is in the primary state waiting for money, the customer can press buttons, but doing so has no effect on the transaction. This example helps you to understand the building blocks of a state machine that we discuss in subsequent topics. In the last topic, 4.7.7, "Vending machine sample" on page 236, we show the implemented state machine for this vending machine example.

4.7.1 Creating a state machine

This example assumes that a module called *SampleModule* and an interface for the module called *SampleMachineIF* have been created as shown in Figure 4-71.

SampleMachineIF 🗙			
Operations	neters		
Name Type			
√ ‰on			
Input(s)	id string		
▼ ‰off			
DI Input(s) id string			
➡ isomeOperation			
	id	string	
Tubar(2)	input1	string	
Output(s)	output1	string	

Figure 4-71 SampleMachineIF for the state machine

Follow these steps to create a new state machine:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Business State Machine.
- 2. In the New Business State Machine window (shown in Figure 4-72):
 - a. Browse to an existing module (or click **New** to create one).
 - b. Specify a folder (optional).
 - c. Specify a name for the new state machine (for example, SampleMachineBSM).
 - d. Click Next.

🚯 New Busin	ess State Machine	X
New Busines Create a new bu	s State Machine usiness state machine.	Ð
Module:	SampleModule Browse New	
Namespace:	http://SampleModule	
Folder:	Browse	
Name:	SampleMachineB5M	
0	< Back Next > Finish Cancel	

Figure 4-72 New Business State Machine wizard

3. Select an appropriate interface and operation to start the state machine, and then select the necessary operation inputs and outputs for correlation information as shown in Figure 4-73. Click **Finish**.

🚸 New Business State Machine 🛛 🔀			
Select an Interface Select an interface operation to start the state machine and			
specify correl	ation properties.		
Interface:	SampleMachineIF {http://SampleMachine/SampleMachineIF} 🗸		
Operation:	on		
Select opera machine, A j	ation input(s) or output(s) that contain correlation information for the property will be created for each selected element.		
□ [] on	input id : string		
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel		

Figure 4-73 Select an interface for new business state machine

The business state machine is created and opens in the business state machine editor as shown in Figure 4-74.

🚡 SampleMachineBSM 🗙			
		🔓 😤 SampleMachineBSN	1
No chabas		(1) Interfaces	⊕ ≈
		SampleMachineIF	
	🔵 InitialStal	te1 🗄 References	⊕ ≈
Einal		🔵 Variables	÷ ×
XTerminate	🛞 on	Correlation Properties	* *
		CorrelationProperty1	
	SimpleState1		
	FinalStat	e1	
Build Activities 🔲 Propert	ies 🛛 Problems	Servers Console	
Description	SampleMach	nineBSM	
Java Imports			
Event Monitor	Name:*	SampleMachineBSM	
 Global Event Settings 	Display name:	SampleMachineBSM	
	bispid, Hamer	Sampioridaninosori	
	Namespace:*	http://SampleModule	
			l: I
	Select date (UTC)	when the state machine become	s valid
	valid from:	Feb 🖌 / 19 🖌 / 008	~
		19 💽 : 31 💽 : 55	*

Figure 4-74 Business state machine editor

4.7.2 Business state machine editor

You can use the business state machine editor to build and manipulate state machines. This editor consists of several distinct areas, including the canvas, palette, tray, Properties view, and action bar. The white space is called the *canvas*. It is populated with objects pulled from the palette on the left and with references to the objects in the tray on the right to build a state machine. The Properties view displays pertinent details about whatever object is currently selected on the canvas or the tray.

The only two areas whose functionality and appearance differ when compared with those of the business process editor (as explained in the topic, 4.4.4, "Business process editor" on page 146) are the palette and the action bar, which we describe in the sections that follow.

The palette

The *palette* is the shaded area to the left of the canvas that houses the states that you click and drag onto the canvas to build a state machine. The icons that are available on the palette represent various states of a state machine, as shown in Figure 4-75.

 Palette
🗁 States
◯ Simple
😑 Composite
💿 Final
XTerminate

Figure 4-75 States on the palette of the business state machine editor

The action bar

The *action bar* is a miniature dialog box that displays beside certain objects when you select them. It contains a series of one or more elements that can be added to that object. For example, this dialog box, when a transition is selected.

4.7.3 Building blocks of a state machine

You use the following building blocks to compose a business state machine using the business state machine editor:

- Interface: A set of operations to which the state machine accepts and responds.
- Reference: Not an interface, but instead it tells the state machine where to find operations that it can invoke. More specifically, it points to the interface that is used in the invocation of another component.
- Variables: Store the data that is used within a state machine and can be either a business object or a simple type.
- Correlation properties: Used to distinguish one instance of a state machine from another within a runtime environment.
- State: One of several discrete individual stages that represent a business transaction.
- Transition: The movement from one state to the next by recognizing an appropriate triggering event. The movement is based on the evaluation of the conditions that are necessary for control to flow through it. During the transition, the associated actions are executed.
- Event: What (an external prompt) triggers a transition from one state to another.
- Condition: Guards the transition and only allows processing when and if it evaluates to true. Otherwise, the current state is maintained.
- Action: An activity that is executed when a state is entered, exited, or on a transition within a business state machine.

We discuss interface, reference partners, and variables in detail in 4.4, "Business processes" on page 134. The following sections provide more information about artifacts that are either unique in state machines or that must be configured in a different manner than in business processes.

4.7.4 Using correlation properties in a state machine

You use *correlation properties* to distinguish one instance of a state machine from another within a runtime environment. For each operation (event) to which the state machine responds, a property alias locates the input that corresponds to each correlation property that is defined.

This correlation is done in two steps:

- 1. Identify a property that will be present in all operations.
- 2. Identify, for each operation, the part that will be used to supply the value for the property.

Adding a correlation property to a state machine

To create a correlation property in a state machine using the business state machine editor:

- 1. Click the plus icon 🖶 besides the Correlation Properties section on the tray.
- 2. In the Add Correlation Property dialog box:
 - a. Specify an appropriate name.
 - b. Select the data type.
 - c. Click OK.
- 3. Click the Description tab in the properties area, and then:
 - a. Select each operation.
 - b. Click Add and specify property aliases.

Figure 4-76 shows the correlation property that is used by one of the sample business state machine that we discuss in 4.7.7, "Vending machine sample" on page 236.

🐻 id				
Name:*	id			
Type: Select or create an	<u>string</u> element from each (Browse	Namespace: http://www.w3.org/2001/XML:	5chema • this property:
(I) VendingMachi	ineIF		·	Add
🏶 on	/id			Edit
🍪 deposit	/coin/	/id		
🎲 select	/selec	tion/id		
谷 cancel	/id			
🎲 off	/id			

Figure 4-76 Correlation property of a sample business state machine

4.7.5 Using states in a state machine

A *state* is one of several discrete individual stages that represent a business transaction. An *action* is an activity that is executed when a state is entered or exited or on a transition within a business state machine. Typically, a state has the following life cycle:

- The state begins with the running of any existing entry actions.
- The state then waits and listens to a particular set of events.
- When an event occurs, an appropriate path through the state machine is chosen.
- An exit action, if any is executed before the state machine transitions to another state.

The various types of states are:

Initial state

Initial state is the first state in which a state machine starts. When used in a primary state machine, an initial state has one outbound transition that defines the operation that starts the state machine. When used in a composite state, the outbound transition must be automatic. In both cases, there can be only one outbound transition, and it cannot be guarded.

Simple state

Simple state is an individual discrete stage of a state machine. This state can have an action associated with state entry and exit. These actions occur whenever the state is entered or exited, respectively. When the state is entered, it enables all of its outbound transitions.

Composite state

Composite state is an aggregate of two or more states. This state is used to decompose a complex state machine diagram into an easy to comprehend hierarchy of state machines or to facilitate exception and error handling. These composite states can have one or more outbound exception transitions or a single default transition.

Final state

Final state is the state where the state machine comes to a normal or expected completion. When it is contained in a composite state, the movement to final state fires the composite state's default transition. This state can have only an entry action not an exit action.

► Terminate

Terminate is the state where the state machine comes to an abnormal or unexpected end. When this state is reached, entire activity within the state machine halts. This state can have only an entry action but not an exit action.

Adding a state to a state machine

To add a state to a state machine using the business state machine editor:

- 1. Click a state icon on the palette.
- Drag the cursor onto the canvas. The icon beside the cursor has a plus symbol when you are at a place where you are allowed to drop the state. When the cursor becomes a crossed out circle, continue moving the cursor until it becomes a plus sign again.
- 3. Click the area of the canvas where you want to drop the state.

Figure 4-77 shows a simple state, SimpleState1, added to a state machine.

InitialState1	
🛞 on	
SimpleState1	
FinalState1	

Figure 4-77 SimpleState of a state machine

Adding an entry or an exit to a state

An *entry* is an activity which is executed when entering a state, while the *exit* is executed while leaving the state. To add an entry or an exit to a state or a composite state using the business state machine editor, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the state for which you want to add an entry or an exit.
- 2. In the action bar, click the **Add an Entry** or **Add an Exit** icons that display as shown in Figure 4-78.

	,	୭୯
Simple:	State	ei

Figure 4-78 Action bar showing Entry and Exit icons

- 3. Click the Details tab in the Properties area.
- 4. Select one of the following options to implement the entry or exit:
 - **Visual**: Choose this option to use the visual snippet editor to graphically compose Java code.
 - Java: Choose this option to write the Java code yourself.
 - Invoke: Choose this option to invoke an operation on a reference.

Figure 4-79 shows a state with entry and exit actions.

SimpleState1
rvers Console Properties 🛛
💩 logEntry
Implementation: 🔿 Visual 💿 Java 🔿 Invoke
System.out.println("Entering SimpleState1");

Figure 4-79 A sample state with entry and exit

4.7.6 Using transitions in a state machine

A *transition* is the movement from one state to the next by recognizing an appropriate triggering *event*. The movement is based on the evaluation of the *condition* that is necessary for control to flow through it. During the transition, the associated actions are executed.

Events

An *event* is what (an external prompt which) triggers a transition from one state to another. There are three types of events:

- ► *Call event*: The transition is triggered when the correct operation is called.
- *Timer event*: The transition is triggered when the timer expires.
- Completion event: The transition is triggered when the source state is entered and its entry action, if any, is executed.

The call events are the operations, so the events can have attributes. The attributes are the input parameters of the operation. If the transition has an action, these attributes are available to the action.

Conditions

A *condition* guards the transition and allows movement to the next state only if the condition evaluates to true. Otherwise, the current state is maintained.

Life cycle guiding principles

A transition has a life cycle that is characterized by the following principles:

- A transition is disabled when the current state of the state machine is any other state than the source state of the transition. While disabled, a transition will ignore any instances of its trigger event.
- A transition is enabled when the state machine enters the source state of the transition.
- ► A transition is triggered when it is enabled, and an instance of its triggering event occurs.
- A transition is fired (followed) when it is triggered and either has no guard condition or the condition evaluates to true.

An event can trigger more than one transition at a time, but only one of those transitions fires. If an event triggers more than one outbound transition from a given state, the order that the transitions are checked is undefined. In the case of nested composite states, if an event triggers transitions in more than one composite state, the transitions are checked from the innermost composite state to the outermost composite state.

Adding a transition to a state machine

Follow these steps to add a transition to a state machine using the business state machine editor:

1. Click a state on the canvas, which is the source state for transition.

Alternative step: Move the cursor over the state (on the canvas) until the yellow "lollipop" appears above it.

2. Right-click the selected transition, and select $Add \rightarrow Transition$.

Alternative step: Hold the left mouse button, and drag the cursor onto the canvas. The cursor icon becomes a crossed-out circle.

- 3. Drag the cursor out over the canvas. When you hover over a valid target, the crossed-out circle disappears.
- 4. Click the state that is the target state for this transition. A dark grey arrow displays on the canvas linking the source and target states.
- 5. To change the visual appearance of transition on the canvas, right-click the transition, select **Layout**, and choose one of the following options:
 - Rectilinear: Choose this setting to have the transition drawn automatically with the bends at 90 degree angles.
 - **Bendpoint**: This option is the default setting and automatically chooses the shortest and most direct path. You can adjust this path manually by selecting the transition, clicking the tiny black box that displays at the midpoint of the transition, and then dragging it to a new location. Two new black boxes display at the mid-point of each half, and you can adjust these as well until the transition displays on the canvas as you want.

Note: You see only one of these options at a time. When one option displays on the menu, then the other one is, by default, the active setting that is used for the layout.

Figure 4-80 shows a transition with rectilinear layout, between SimpleState1 and SimpleState2.



Figure 4-80 A sample transition between two states
Configuring transitions

You can add the following elements to a transition:

- Operation: An operation (call event) triggers the movement from one state to another.
- Timeout: A timeout imposes a duration or an expiration on a state so that it is not maintained indefinitely while waiting for an operation that might never occur. When the timeout expires, the transition is triggered.
- Condition: A condition guards the transition and allows movement to the next state only if the condition evaluates to true.
- Action: An action is an activity that is executed on a transition.

To add an operation or timeout, condition, action to a transition using the business state machine editor, follow these steps:

- 1. Select and hover over the transition on the canvas.
- 2. In the action bar options:
 - Add an Operation
 - Add a Timeout
 - Add a Condition
 - Add an Action

Alternative step: Right-click the selected transition, and elect $Add \rightarrow < option >$.

3. Configure the operation/timeout or condition or action as necessary in the properties area of the business state machine editor.

Figure 4-81 shows a transition from SimpleState1 to SimpleState2, configured with an event (someOperation), a condition (checkInput), and an action (doThisAction). In this case when someOperation is invoked, the state machine moves from SimpleState1 to SimpleState2 if the checkInput evaluates to true. During this transition, the state machine performs doThisAction.



Figure 4-81 Transition configuration

4.7.7 Vending machine sample

This sample demonstrates how a business state machine can be used to simulate a vending machine as shown in Figure 4-82.



Figure 4-82 Business state machine implementation for a vending machine

When the state machine starts execution at the initial state, *Ready*, the first operation is *on*, and it makes the vending machine operational by displaying a welcome message that shows the available items list.

The state machine then enters the *Idle* state where it waits for an event to happen. There are two operations to which this state can react:

- The Off operation, which shuts down the state machine and moves to the final state, Off.
- The *deposit* event that signals the arrival of a coin. This event moves the state machine to the *Depositing* state while checking to make sure that it is a real coin and calculating its value.

The primary purpose of the *Depositing* state is to keep track of how much money has been deposited. There are several transitions out of the state, and one that cycles back into it. If the user enters another coin, then a transition checks the validity of the coin, updates the total, and returns the state machine to the *Depositing* state. If the user makes a selection, then another transition confirms that the total amount of money is sufficient to dispense the item, and moves the state machine to the *Idle* state after dispensing the item. Another transition has a timeout that determines if a transaction has taken too long to complete, and moves the state machine into the *Idle* state. The last transition is followed when the user cancels the transaction.

You can access this sample, with detailed instructions to build and test it, from WebSphere Integration Developer help menu. Select Help \rightarrow Samples / Tutorials (WebSphere Integration Developer).

4.8 Business rules

Business rules are service components that declare policy or conditions that must be satisfied within a business process. A business rule is a representation of how business policies or practices apply to a business activity. A rule can enforce business policy, establish common guidelines within an organization, make a decision, or infer new data from existing data.

Business rules externalize business policies, conditions, and values that are used to affect the operation of a business process. These policies, conditions, and values might change over time. They should not be embedded in code, which makes them difficult to change. Business rules make business process applications more flexible to respond quickly to changing business conditions.

IBM WebSphere Integration Developer provides graphical programming environment tools to develop business rules. IBM WebSphere Process Server includes the business rules manager, a Web-based runtime tool for business analysts to update business rules as business needs dictate, without affecting other components or SCA services.

Business rules are combination of conditions and the actions to be performed when a specific condition is met. There are two types of implementations for business rules:

- A rule set typically consists of a number of if-then rules, where the action is performed when the condition evaluates to true.
- A decision table captures simple rule logic in a table format where in the action to be performed is decided by more than one condition.

Rule sets and decision tables do not exist in isolation as a components for module assembly. They must be contained within a rule group. It is the rule group that exposes the interface and determines which set of rules are executed.

4.8.1 Cashback business rule sample

Consider the following example of using business rules in a "cash back" credit card offer. A major credit card company offers cash back when a credit card holder uses the card for purchases. This cash back offers varies depending upon the type of card and the season. Now let us look at the following business policies and offers for the cash back:

- A flat percentage on the amount spent from October to January:
 - 3% for Silver card customers
 - 5% for Gold card customers
- Varying percentages from February to September to offer incentives for larger purchases:
 - Silver
 - 3% if the amount spent <= 5000
 - 10% if the amount spent > 5000
 - Gold
 - 5% if the amount spent <=5000
 - 12% if the amount spent > 5000

Business leaders of the credit card company change these offers occasionally to compete with other credit card companies. Using business rules allows them to make these changes easily.

The first rule is implemented using a rule set. The second rule is implemented with a decision table. The criteria selection (the season) is configured in a rule group which holds both of these rule set and decision table.

Figure 4-83 shows the rule group that implements the interface.

I CalculateCashbackIF	2					
▼Operations	¥ \$		10-1	×		_
Operations and their parameters						
		Name		Туре	:	
✓ ‰ calculateCashback						
D Inout(s)		cardTyp	e	string	9	
the input(s)		amount		int		
(C) Output(s)		cashbad	k	int		

Figure 4-83 Interface of a rule group

4.8.2 Rule groups

A *rule group* is a type of component implementation that logically groups rule sets and decision tables. Similar to other component types, a rule group implements one or more interfaces. The selection of which business rule to invoke is based on date criteria that is configured in the rule group.

Creating a rule group

(This example assumes that a module and an interface, CalculateCashbackIF, have been created as shown in Figure 4-83.) Follow these steps to create a new rule group:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Rule Group.
- 2. In the New Rule Group window (shown in Figure 4-84):
 - a. Browse to an existing module (or click **New** to create one).
 - b. Specify a folder (optional).
 - c. Specify a name for the new rule group (for example, CashbackRG).
 - d. Click Next.

🚯 New Rule	Group
File Name Specify the nam	ne and the location for the new file.
Module: Namespace:	SampleModule Browse New
Folder: Name:	CashbackRG
0	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 4-84 New Rule Group wizard

- 3. In the Select an Interface window (Figure 4-85), follow these steps:
 - a. Browse to an existing interface or click New to create one.
 - b. Click Finish.

🚯 New Rul	e Group 🛛 🔀
Select an J Select an exis	Interface ting Interface or create a new one
Interface:	CalculateCashbackIF { http://SampleModul > Browse New
0	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 4-85 Selecting an interface from New Rule Group wizard

Note: At this point, you might see an error in the Problems view indicating that the rule set or decision table association to an operation is missing. This error is corrected after you configure the rule group, which can be done only after creating the rule set or decision table.

The definition of the calculateCashback operation is missing the rule destination.

Configuring rule group logic

A rule group is exposed to the caller as an interface. Rule sets or decision tables provide the implementation for this interface. For each operation of the associated interface, you can have different rule sets or decision tables defined.

Whenever a rule group is invoked, it selects a *rule logic* using the selection criteria and date range entries. Selection criteria is either a current date, an XPath expression that gets a date from a business object, or a Java snippet that returns a date.

A date range entry specifies a range of dates, during which a rule logic (such as a rule set or a decision table) is applicable. If the date returned from the selection criteria is within the date range, then the corresponding rule logic entry is used. The date range entries are optional. In fact, if no date range entry is specified or if no date range matches, the default rule logic is invoked.

Note: This section assumes the rule set and decision table have been created. We discuss how these are built in 4.8.3, "Rule sets" on page 244 and 4.8.4, "Decision tables" on page 252. We use these artifacts when configuring the rule group.

Note: Remember that the first rule is implemented as a rule set, and the second rule, as a decision table.

To configure the rule group to implement the business rules follow these steps:

1. Select the operation (calculateCashback) that will be associated with the rules in the rule group editor. You might need to expand the interface to select the operation that is contained within it (Figure 4-86).

E *CashbackRG 🛛	
E General	▼Scheduled Rule Logic 🛛 🕂 💥
▼Interfaces 🛉 💥	Oefault Rule Logic Enter Rule Logic
CalculateCashbackIF	Start Date End Date Rule Logic
Carculatecashback	Selection Criteria Current date
*Reterences	▼Available Rule Logic 🛛 🕂 💥

Figure 4-86 CashbackRG configuration in rule group editor

2. Click **Enter Rule Logic** on the Default Rule Logic row under the Scheduled Rule Logic section and select the existing decision table, CashbackDT. Make this as the default rule logic as shown in Figure 4-87.

SampleModule/CashbackRG.brg	▼Scheduled Rule Logic 🛛 🕂 💥
•Interfaces 🛉 💥	Default Rule Logic CashbackDT
CalculateCashbackIF	Start Date End Date Rule Logic
•References 🕂 🐈 💥	Selection Criteria Current date
	🕶 Available Rule Logic 🛛 🕂 💥
	CashbackDT

Figure 4-87 Using decision table as a default rule logic

3. As per the scenario, rule 1 (CashbackRS rule set) is used from October to January.

Click the Add Date Selection Entry $(\frac{1}{2})$ icon to add a selection entry (a row that shows rule logic with start and end dates) as shown in Figure 4-88.

E General	Scheduled Rule Logic 🕂	×	
•Interfaces 👍 💥	Default Rule Logic CashbackDT		
CalculateCashbackIE	Start Date	End Date	Rule Logi
CalculateCashback	Feb 24, 2008 12:00 AM	Feb 24, 2009 12:00 AM	Enter Ru
•References 🕂 💥	Selection Criteria Current date		
	Available Rule Logic 🛛 🕂	ж	
	CashbackDT		

Figure 4-88 Adding a date selection entry in rule group

- 4. To complete the rule group configuration, which looks similar to the one shown in Figure 4-89, follow these steps:
 - a. Click the calendar icon (IIII) and select the appropriate dates under Start Date and End Date columns.
 - b. Click **Enter Rule Logic** to select the existing rule set, CashbackRS, in the Rule Logic column.

caneral :	Scheduled Rule Logic 🛛 🕂 💥			
Interfaces 🔶 🕂 🕱	Default Rule Logic CashbackD	г		
CalculateCashbackIE	Start Date	End Date	Rule Logic	
© calculateCashbac	Oct 1, 2008 12:00 AM	📺 Jan 31, 2009 12:00 AM	CaskbackRS	
References 🔶 🐈 🕱	Selection Criteria Current date			
	Available Rule Logic	F X		
	CashbackDT			

Figure 4-89 Adding rule sets selection criteria in a rule group

4.8.3 Rule sets

A *rule set* is a group of if-then statements or rules. The action specified by the "then" clause is performed when the condition specified in the "if" clause evaluates to true. Rule sets are best suited for those business rules that have very few condition clauses.

If the condition is met, then the action is performed, which can result in more than one action being performed by the rule set. The order of rule processing is determined by the order of the rule statements in the if-then rule set. Therefore, when you modify or add a rule, you need to make sure that it is in the correct sequence.

Creating a rule set

Follow these steps to create a new rule set:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Rule Set.
- 2. In the New Rule Set window (shown in Figure 4-90):
 - a. Browse to an existing module (or click New to create one).
 - b. Specify a folder (optional).
 - c. Specify a name for the new rule set (for example, CashbackRS).
 - d. Click Next.

Namespace:	http://SampleModule	✓ Default
Folder:		Browse
Name:	CaskbackRS	

Figure 4-90 New Rule Set wizard

- 3. In the Interface and Operation window (Figure 4-91):
 - a. Browse to an existing rule group, or click New to create a new one.
 - b. If necessary, use the drop-down lists to select a different interface and operation.
 - c. Click Finish.

Rule Group:	CashbackRG {http://SampleModule }	Browse New
Interface:	CalculateCashbackIF	~
Operation:	calculateCashback	~

Figure 4-91 Selecting a rule group

Name	CaskbackRS	Display Nam	e	CaskbackRS
Interface				
(I) Interface	CalculateCas	hbackIF		
谷 Operation	calculateCash	nback		
	cardType	cardType		
wa niputs	amount	amount i		
🕼 Output	cashback		int	
v Variables	+ ×	Туре		
Rules	I 🏶 🗊 🛃 🖇	*		

The created rule set opens in the rule set editor as shown in Figure 4-92.

Figure 4-92 A rule set in a rule set editor

Rule types

A rule set can have two types of rules:

- An *if-then* rule determines what action is performed based on the condition of the incoming message.
- An action rule determines what action is performed regardless of the incoming message. This rule does not have any conditions, so it always performs the specified action.

Templates

A rule template is a pattern for creating similar looking rules. Use a rule set template to define the implementation and parameters for an if-then or action rule. Then, this template can be used to create new instances of the same rule using different parameters. The parameters in a rule instance at run time can be modified using the Business Rules Manager (as discussed in 4.8.5, "Business rules manager" on page 261).

There are two ways to create a template. You can create a rule and then convert it to a rule template, or you can create a rule template directly. The presentation field is the text that describes the rule template to an administrator or business analyst using the business rules manager, and it specifies the parameters that the rule template accepts. The parameters are inputs to the template and are listed under the parameters section.

▼Templates	📰 🏭 🗶				
Name	Template 1				
Presentation	If the card type is para	mCardType	then the cash ba	ck percentage is paramCashba	ckPer %
Description					
	Name	Туре	Constraint		Descrip
Parameters	paramCardType	string	Enumeration	Edit Enumeration Items	
	paramCashbackPer	int	None		
If	cardType == paramCardType				
Then	cashbackPercentage =	paramCas	hbackPer		

Figure 4-93 A rule template

Creating a rule set template

Follow these steps to create a template for either a if-then or an action rule:

1. Click either the Add If Then Template () or the Add Action Template () icon under the Templates section in the rule set editor. A new template is created as shown in Figure 4-94.

	▼Templates 📰 🖓 🗙					
	Name	Templa	Template 1			
0	Presentation					
	Description					
	Parameters	Name	Туре	Constraint	Description 🗣	
8	If	Condition				
8	Then	Action				

Figure 4-94 A template in rule set editor

- 2. Create parameters in the Parameters row by following these steps:
 - a. Click the Add Template Parameter (+) icon in the Parameters row. A new parameter is entered in the Parameters row.
 - b. Click the parameter name, **Param1**, to rename it.
 - c. Click **Select Type** in the Type column and select an appropriate data type from the list.
 - d. To add a restriction on the parameter, click **None** under the Constraint column to choose either **Range** or **Enumeration**.
 - If Range is selected, provide an expression by clicking Enter Expression.
 - If Enumeration is selected, specify values by clicking Edit Enumeration Items and adding values (Figure 4-95).

Edit Enumeration Items		
▼Enumer	ation Items 🛉 🗶 🕆 🕂	
Value	Presentation	
silver	Silver	
gold	Gold	

Figure 4-95 Edit Enumeration Items window

Figure 4-96 shows the parameters that are created to implement the example scenario.

• Templates	📰 🏭 🗙				
Name	Template 1				
Presentation					
Description					
	Name	Type	Constraint		Description •
Parameters	paramCardType	string	Enumeration	Edit Enumeration Items	
	paramCashbackPer	int	None		
If	Condition				
Then	Action				

Figure 4-96 Template parameters view

3. Type a sentence to describe the rule in the Presentation row.

Note that when you enter text in this field, you can click the text and an icon, isolays below it. Click the icon to launch a list of parameters from which you can select. The parameter is inserted into the Presentation field, allowing users of the template to make changes to the description.

4. Click **Condition** in the If row and use the choices in the window that displays to compose the condition. Figure 4-97 shows a sample of this pop-up window.



Figure 4-97 Sample pop-up window to compose a template condition

5. Click **Action** in the Then row and use the choices in the window that displays to compose the action. Figure 4-98 shows a sample pop-up window.



Figure 4-98 Sample pop-up window to compose a template action

Variables

Variables within a rule set have scope across all the rules that are contained within the rule set. Usually, you use a variable for the duration of the rules to hold

temporary values. This variable can be changed by an individual rule during processing and is used to calculate the final response returned to the caller.

Variables can be primitive or business object types. When variables are defined, they have no value and are not initialized. If you try to use them without initializing them, you get a runtime exception. Therefore, you must first assign a new business object instance to a business object variable before using it.

You create variables by clicking the plus icon in the Variables section of a rule set editor. Figure 4-99 shows the variable that is created to implement the example scenario.

•Variables 🕴 🕌	
Name	Туре
cashbackPercentage	int

Figure 4-99 Variables in a rule set

Figure 4-100 shows the template is created to implement the example scenario.

Templates	📰 🏭 🗶				
Name	Template 1				
Presentation	If the card type is para	amCardType	then the cash ba	ck percentage is paramCashba	ckPer %
Description					
	Name	Туре	Constraint		Descri
Parameters	paramCardType	string	Enumeration	Edit Enumeration Items	
	paramCashbackPer	int	None		
If	cardType == paramCa	rdType			
Then	cashbackPercentage =	para mCashb	oackPer		

Figure 4-100 Template created for example scenario

Creating a new rule from a template

You can create rules from existing templates. In this way, you can create a similar rule without having to redefine the implementation and by making changes to the parameters within the constraints specified.

To use a template as the pattern to create a new rule in the rule set editor:

- 1. Click the Add Template Rule () icon under the Rules section in the rule set editor.
- 2. Click the appropriate template from the drop-down list that shows all the available templates. Figure 4-101 shows the new rule that gets created.

Name	Rule2
Template	Template 1
Presentation	If the card type is <i>Enter Value</i> then the cash back percentage is <i>Enter Value</i> %

Figure 4-101 New rule created from rule template

3. Define the parameters by clicking **Enter Value** in the Presentation row. If there is an enumeration constraint for this parameter, a menu displays showing the available options, as shown in Figure 4-102, which shows enumeration values Silver and Gold. Otherwise, you can enter a value directly.

Name	Rule2
Template	Template 1
Presentation	If the card type is Enter Value, then the cash back percentage is Enter Value %
	Silver
Templates	📰 🏭 💥 🛹 Gold

Figure 4-102 Enumeration values during rule creation from a template

Creating an if-then or an action rule

Follow these steps to create an if-then or an action rule without any template:

- 1. Click either the Add If-Then Rule icon () or the Add Action Rule () icon under the Rules section in the rule set editor.
- 2. Type a sentence that describes the rule in the Presentation row.
- 3. Click **Condition** in the If row and use the choices in the window that displays to compose the condition. *Skip this step for action rule*.
- 4. Click **Action** in the Then row and use the choices in the window that displays to compose the action.

Completing the rules creation for the example scenario

The following steps are required to complete the example scenario:

1. Create an action rule to initialize the variable, cashbackPercentage, as shown in Figure 4-103.

▼Rules	📰 🏶 🗐 🖑 🗙
Name	Rule 1
Presentation	Default cash back is 0%
Action	cashbackPercentage = 0

Figure 4-103 Action rule1 for scenario

2. Create two if-then rules from the template. These rules need to look similar to those shown in Figure 4-104.

Name	Rule2
Template	Template 1
Presentation	If the card type is Silver then the cash back percentage is 3%
Name	Rule3
Template	Template 1
Presentation	If the card type is Gold then the cash back percentage is 5%

Figure 4-104 If-then rules for scenario

3. After executing the preceding rules, the cashbackPercentage variable contains the cash back percentage for a particular customer. Add an action rule that looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-105 to calculate the cash back value.

Name	Rule4
Presentation	
Action	cashback = amount * cashbackPercentage /100

Figure 4-105 Action rule to compute cashback for the scenario

4.8.4 Decision tables

A decision table captures simple rule logic in a table format that consists of conditions, represented in the row and column headings, and actions, represented as the intersection points of the conditional cases in the table.

Decision tables are best suited for business rules that have multiple conditions. Adding another condition is done by simply adding another row or column.

The decision table shown in Figure 4-106 represents the decision table for example scenario.

▼Table	- F 5 5	1 🗊 🛃 🕐 🔍
Conditions		
amount	<=5000	> 5000
cardType	cashback	cashback
"Silver"	amount * 3 / 100	amount * 10 / 100
"Gold"	amount * 5 / 100	amount * 12 / 100
		Actions

Figure 4-106 Decision table for example scenario

The condition states that if the cardType is Silver and the amount is less than or equal to 5000, then the cask back is 3% of the amount.

Creating a decision table

Follow these steps to create a new decision table:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Decision Table.
- 2. In the New Decision Table window (shown in Figure 4-107 on page 254):
 - a. Browse to an existing module (or click **New** to create one).
 - b. Specify a folder (optional).
 - c. Specify a name for the new decision table (for example, CashbackDT).
 - d. Click Next.

Ð New Decision Table		
ne and the location for the new file.		
SampleModule Browse New		
http://SampleModule		
Browse		
CashbackDT		
< Back Next > Finish Cancel		

Figure 4-107 New Decision Table wizard

- 3. In the Interface and Operation window (Figure 4-108):
 - a. Browse to an existing rule group, or click New to create a new one.
 - b. If necessary, use the drop-down lists to select a different interface and operation.
 - c. Click Next.

🚯 New Decision Table		
Interface and Operation Specify the interface you will use in your business rules.		
Rule Group: Interface: Operation:	CashbackRG { http://SampleModule } Browse New CalculateCashbackIF calculateCashback	
0	< Back Next > Finish Cancel	

Figure 4-108 Create a new decision table

- 4. In the Decision Table Layout window (Figure 4-109):
 - a. Set the Number of row conditions, 2 in this case.
 - b. Optionally, you can change the layout. The Preview option allows you to see how the table will look.
 - c. Click Finish.

🚯 New Decision Table		
Decision Table Layout Define the initial layout of the co	nditions and actions.	
Select a layout: Number of row conditions: Number of actions: Preview:	Row 🗸	Number of column conditions:
Con	ditions	Actions
0	< Back Ne	ext > Finish Cancel

Figure 4-109 Decision Table Layout

The created decision table opens in decision table editor as shown in Figure 4-110.

CashbackDT 🔀			- 6	
•Decision Table				
Name Ca	shbackDT	Display Name	CashbackDT	
▼Interface				
(1) Interface	CalculateCashb	ackIF		
Operation	calculateCashba	ack		
Di Incuta	cardType		string	
	amount		int	
🕼 Output	cashback		int	
• Initialize	* 2 • 5 7 7	2		
Conditions Enter Term: 0 Enter Term: 0	0 0 0	0) Decision Table Example X	
Enter Term; 2 2		(a) Actions		

Figure 4-110 Decision Table in decision table editor

Configuring conditions and actions in a decision table

The following steps discuss the configuration of conditions and actions for the decision table to implement the one required for the example scenario. The example decision table created in the previous step looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-111. It has two conditions and one action for each of the conditions.

▼ Table			÷	R.	Ş.	認	di.	?
Conditions								
Enter Term	0			8				8
Enter Term	0	0		8		8		0
Enter Term	0	8		8		8		8
							Acti	ons

Figure 4-111 Decision table before configuration

To configure conditions and actions for the decision tree:

1. Click **Enter Term** in the Conditions column and select the a condition variable (cardType in this example) from the list. The table now looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-112.

-	Table			-	1 F	• 🗊 🤞	?
	Conditions						
	cardType	0	Enter Va	lue.	8	Enter Va	alue 🛛 🛛
	Enter Term	0	8		0	8	8
	Enter Term	0	8		0	8	8
							Actions

Figure 4-112 Enter the condition term

2. Specify a value for each column in the new condition row. In the example, click **Enter Value** on the cardType row and specify Silver as a string using the pop-up window. Specify Gold in the second column of the same row. Now the table looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-113.

▼Table			•	*	\$FB	₽	æ	?
Conditions								
cardType		"Silver"			"Go	ld"		
Enter Term	0	8		8		8		0
Enter Term	0	0		8		8		8
							Acti	ons

Figure 4-113 Enter the condition values

3. Configure the next condition variable, amount, and its conditions as shown in Figure 4-114.

▼Table		.	F 📅 🤞	9			
Conditions							
cardType	"Silver"			"Gold"			
amount	<=5000		> 5000	<=5000		> 5000	
Enter Term 🛛 🛛		0	8		8		0
						Actions	

Figure 4-114 New conditions

4. Now, configure the corresponding actions in the last row as shown in Figure 4-115.

▼Table		1 🗗 🛃 🕐		
Conditions				
cardType	"Silver"		"Gold"	
amount	<=5000	> 5000	<=5000	> 5000
cashback	amount * 3 / 100	amount * 10 / 100	amount * 5 / 100	amount * 12 / 100
				Actions

Figure 4-115 Configuring actions in decision table

Changing the layout of decision table

Some decision tables are easier to understand if you change their orientation. By default, decision tables are created with row layout, where the conditions and actions appear as rows as shown in Figure 4-115 on page 259.

You can change this layout to column, so that the conditions and actions appear as columns. Follow these steps to change the layout from the decision table editor:

- 1. Click any cell in the condition row of an existing decision table.
- 2. Click the Changes Orientation of Condition icon (53).

The orientation of the decision table changes so that the actions and conditions now display in columns instead of rows as shown in Figure 4-116.

▼Table		r = r d 🖉 🕐
Conditions		
cardType	amount	cashback
"Silver"	<=5000	amount * 3 / 100
	> 5000	amount * 10 / 100
"Gold"	<=5000	amount * 5 / 100
	> 5000	amount * 12 / 100
		Actions

Figure 4-116 Column layout of a decision table

Now, repeat these steps to change the layout to row and column layout and the decision table looks similar to that shown in Figure 4-117.

▼Table		i de 🕐
Conditions		
amount	<=5000	> 5000
cardType	cashback	cashback
"Silver"	amount * 3 / 100	amount * 10 / 100
"Gold"	amount * 5 / 100	amount * 12 / 100
		Actions

Figure 4-117 Row and column layout of a decision table

4.8.5 Business rules manager

The business rules manager is a Web-based console that allows the business analyst to view and modify business rules. The tool is a Web application that you can select to install during WebSphere Process Server profile creation or later after installing the server.

Templates are the patterns for rule sets and decision tables. They provide the mechanism for business rule runtime authoring in the business rules manager. Using a template, you can modify business rule values, create a new rule within a rule set, create a new condition or action within a decision table, and publish changes to business rule definitions at run time.

Launching business rules manager

To launch the business rules manager, follow these steps:

1. Open the business rules manager URL from a Web browser:

```
http://<app_server_host>:<default_host_port_no>/context_root
```

For example:

http://localhost:9080/br

2. If security is enabled, you must enter a user ID and password, and then click **Login.**

Figure 4-118 shows the business rules manager page. It shows the installed rule group, CashbackRG, with a decision table, CashbackDT, and a rule set, CashbackRS.

Address 🕘 https://localhost:9444/br/pages/index.jsp 💽 🕞 Go									
Welcome admin Logout Search Help									
Publish and Revert	Business Rule Groups								
Business Rule Groups									
CashbackRG	Business Rules Resources	Description	Action						
	CashbackRG								
E CashbackRS	calculateCashback		Edit						
	■ <u>CashbackDT</u>		Edit						
	CaskbackRS		Edit						

Figure 4-118 Business rules manager

Launching the business rules manager from WebSphere Integration Developer

Alternatively, you can perform the following steps to start the business rules manager if you are using a WebSphere Integration Developer test environment:

- 1. Switch to the Business Integration perspective and Servers view.
- 2. Select a server and start it.
- 3. Right-click the server and select Launch \rightarrow Business Rules Manager.

Figure 4-119 shows a rule set, CashbackRS, in edit mode in the business rule manager and the options that are available to work with a rule set.

> CashbadkR	G > calculate	Cashback					
Edit Mod	le:Cask	backRS - Rule Se	t				
Save	Cancel	Messages:					
General Inf	ormation						
Display Na	me	CaskbackRS				Synchronize	with the name
Last Publis	shed F	eb 24, 2008 23:26 (Loc	al Tim	e) S	tatus	Original	
Descriptio	n						
Rules							
ituico							
New	Rule from	Template					
Name	Display Name	Rule		Description	Action		
Rule1	Rule1	Default cash back is (0%		- \$ -		
Rule2	Rule2	If the card type is Silver v then the card back percentage is 3	ash %		Ŷ		Synchron
Rule3	Rule3	If the card type is Gold v then the card back percentage is 5	ash %			ŷ Delete	Synchron

Figure 4-119 A rule set in edit mode in the business rules manager

Figure 4-120 shows the scheduled rule logic for the CashbackRG in edit mode in the business rule manager and the options that are available to work with scheduling of rule logic.

> CashbadkRG							
Edit Mode:calculateCash	nback - R	ule Schedule					
Save Cancel Mess	sages:						
General Information							
Last Published	Feb 24, 200	8 23:26 (Local Time)					
Description							
Scheduled Rule Logic Click 🗎 button to choose from sp Add Selection Record	ecifying date Sort	e, no start/end date, and (continuous for automatic	end date			
Start Date/Time		End Date/Time		Effectiv Logic			
🗎 Oct 🕶 1 🕶 , 2008	00 : 00	📔 Jan 🕶 30 🕶	, 2009 24 : 00	Caskb			
Default Rule Logic (If no other ru	le logic is ap	oplicable)		Cashb			
Available Rule Logic							
Rule Logic	De	scription	Action				
CashbackDT			Edit Cor	бу			
CaskbackRS Edit Copy							

Figure 4-120 Scheduled rule logic of a rule group in business rule manager

Publishing and reverting business rules

When you change business rules in the business rules manager and save them, the changes are saved locally. In order to push the changes to the data repository that resides on the runtime server, you need to publish the changes. Alternatively, you can cancel the changes to a business rule that has been saved locally by reverting the rule to its original state.

Figure 4-121 shows the Publish and Revert page of the business rules manager after changing a rule set values of rule set, CashbackRS.

Publish and Revert	Pub	lish and Revert			
 Business Rule Groups CashbackRG calculateCashba 	Ba	ck Publish Messa	ges:		
CashbackDT	Changed Business Rules Resources				
🔤 CaskbackRS	To revert local changes, press "Revert" button.				
	Select business rule groups and rule schedules to publish.				
	+	Resources	Status	Description	Action
		CashbackRG	Original		
		calculateCashback	Original		
		CaskbackRS	Local Change		Revert

Figure 4-121 Publish and Revert page of business rules manager

4.8.6 New, enhanced business rules features with WebSphere Process Server V6.1

The new or enhanced business rules capabilities for business integration applications available with WebSphere Process Server V6.1 include:

- Custom business user clients can now administer business rules with a new business rules administration API as an alternative to using the business rules manager. The API provides the ability to create, retrieve, update, and delete rules.
- New custom properties can be assigned to business rule groups and accessed from the rule logic of rule sets and decision tables to provide these rules with access to environment information captured in the properties. The properties can also be used for searching on business rule groups through the business rules manager or custom administrative clients.

4.9 Selectors

The business integration applications that drive the business should change with the changing business needs. Some of those changes might require that certain applications or business processes return different results at different times. The selector component provides the framework for that flexibility without changing the design of the applications.

A *selector* is a routing component that determines dynamically which implementation to invoke at run time based on the defined set of criteria. Similar to a rule group, a selector has *date range entries*, *selection criteria*, and a default *destination*. When a selector is invoked, it selects a destination (that is the target component) using the selection criteria and date range entries. A destination can be any SCA component.

Selector components provide a single interface to a service that can change results based on certain selection criteria. This criteria evaluates to a specific date, based on which, the selector table determines which destination or target component processes the request. The service returns the processing result provided by a target component to the client. What the selector does is simply decouple the client application from a specific target implementation. So change of implementation does not require the client to change.

Selectors allow additional flexibility beyond business rules. The major difference between a selector and a rule group is that the destination of a selector can be any service component, while a destination in a rule group can be only a rule set or decision table. In other words, a selector can re-route a service call dynamically to any other component at run time.

You can invoke selectors from any of your SCA components, because a selector uses the dynamic information to determine which component is selected and invoked to service the request. The set of destinations or target components is also configurable, allowing you to provide additional destinations at run time. A selector cannot be used in a mediation module. It can be deployed only to a WebSphere Process Server.

4.9.1 Creating a selector

Creating a selector is similar to creating any other component. As a best practice, design and create the interface of the selector component before proceeding with its creation. Often, you choose the interface based on the destination (that is the target component) implementation to which the selector routes.

Note: The interface operations of the selector must match the interface operations of the destinations exactly, including the parameters and their types.

Assume that a module named SelectorModule and an interface named DoSomethingIF have been created. The interface is shown in Figure 4-122.

I DoSomethingIF ⋈				
•Operations				
Operations and their parameters				
	Name	Туре		
#doSomething				
DI Input(s)	input	string		
COutput(s)	response	string		
	-			

Figure 4-122 DoSomethingIF for selector

Follow these steps to create a new selector:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Selector.
- 2. In the New Selector window (shown in Figure 4-123):
 - a. Browse to an existing module (for example, SelectorModule).
 - b. Specify a folder (optional).
 - c. Specify a name for the new selector (for example, SampleSelector).
 - d. Click Next.

🚯 New Selec	tor	
File Name Specify the nam	ne and the location for the new file.	
Module: Namespace: Folder: Name:	SelectorModule Image: Comparison of the second	New
0	< Back Next > Finish	Cancel

Figure 4-123 New Selector wizard

- 3. In the Select an Interface window (Figure 4-124):
 - a. Browse to an existing interface or click New to create one.
 - b. Click Finish.

🚯 New Sele	ector 🔀
Select an In Select an exist	nterface ting Interface or create a new one
Interface:	DoSomethingIF { http://SelectorModule/Do V Browse New
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 4-124 Choosing an interface for a selector

Note: At this point, you might see an error in the Problems view indicating that the target component association to an operation is missing. This error is corrected after you configure the selector.

The definition of the doSomething operation is missing the target component destination.

4.9.2 Configuring the selector

You can use the selector editor, a graphical editor, to configure the selector. After creating the selector, it opens in the selector editor as shown in Figure 4-125. Click the doSomething operation to associate it with the components in the selector editor. You might need to expand DoSomethingIF interface and select the operation, doSomething, that is contained within it.

🔄 SampleSelector 🕺			
💽 General	▼Scheduled Component 🕂 🗱		
▼Interfaces 🛉 💥	Default Component Enter SCA Component		
▼ ① DoSomethingIF	Start Date End Date Component		
o 😳 doSomething	Selection Criteria Current date		

Figure 4-125 SampleSelector configuration in the selector editor

You typically follow these steps while configuring the selector:

- 1. Configure selection criteria.
- 2. Configure default destination or default component.
- 3. Add date selection entries and configure target components.

A selector is exposed to the caller as an interface. The actual implementation for this interface is provided by the target components that are configured as destinations in the selector.

Whenever a selector is invoked, it selects a target component implementation using the selection criteria and date range entries. Selection criteria can be either a current date, an XPath expression that gets a date from a business object, or a Java snippet that returns a date. Click **Current date** link under Scheduled Component section of the selector editor to choose one of these options.

A date selection entry specifies a range of dates, during which a target component would be applicable. If the date that is returned from the selection criteria is within the date range, then the corresponding component entry is used. You can add date range entries by clicking the Add Date Selection Entry (+) icon to add a selection entry (a row showing component with start and end dates).

The date selection entries are optional. In fact, if no date selection entry is specified or if no date range matches, the component that is configured as default component is invoked. Click **Enter SCA Component** next to Default Component label under the Scheduled Component section of the selector editor to choose a default target component. When you click this option, it displays a list of available components. The list includes the components in the same module and exports from other modules.

Note: Keep in mind that if you do not specify a default destination and no date range entry matches the selection criterion, then an exception is thrown. Therefore, it is a good practice to always provide a default destination.

Figure 4-126 shows the configuration of a sample selector. The selector is configured to select Component2 if the current date is within the date range of Jan 1, 2008 to Apr 25, 2008. Otherwise it selects the default component, Component1.

🗟 SampleSelector 🛛				
🔄 General	▼Scheduled Component 📫 💥			
•Interfaces 🛛 🕂 🕱	Default Component Compone	nent Component1		
	Start Date	End Date	Component	
◆ () Dosomething	Jan 1, 2008 12:00 AM	Apr 25, 2008 12:00 AM	Component2	
	Selection Criteria Current dat	te		

Figure 4-126 Configuration of SampleSelector

Using the WebSphere Process Server administrative console, you can alter existing destinations to replace an existing service implementation with another one or add new destinations of a selector and their corresponding date ranges at run time without redeploying the original application and without requiring a restart of the application or server.
4.9.3 Adding selectors to the assembly diagram

Similar to all SCA components, selectors can be added to the assembly diagram, allowing you to connect the selector to other parts of the module or connect it to a calling module through an export.

Figure 4-127 shows the assembly diagram of a sample selector module.

ଷ	SelectorModule - Assembly Diagram 🛛
•]]	1 🖬 Component1
Palette	1 SampleSelector
	1 Component2

Figure 4-127 Assembly diagram with SampleSelector

Unlike other SCA components on the assembly diagram, you do not wire selectors to other components. In fact, you cannot start a wire from a selector because they make use of *dynamic wiring*. Dynamic wiring means the selector has predefined wires or target components which cannot be configured or bound to with a simple static wiring. This dynamic wiring is taken care of internally when you configure the selector as discussed previously. So, there is no need to wire the selector to any components because the destinations in the selector are not statically bound and because they might have destinations (exports from other modules) in other modules.

4.10 Interface maps

Business integration applications often contain components that were created for different applications. Typically, the interfaces of these components need a bridging component to make them interact. For example, two components can have methods that perform basically the same action but have different names, such as getData and getInformation.

An *interface map* is a bridge component between two SCA components that have interfaces with different method signatures, enabling them to communicate. An interface map maps the operations and parameters of these methods so that the differences are resolved and the two components can interact.

Interface mapping provides the context information that is required for the maintenance of relationships. There are two levels of interface mapping:

Operation mappings

In operation mappings, operations of the source interface are mapped to operations of the target interface (for example, a source operation called getData() to a target operation called getInformation()). An operation in one interface is bound to an operation in another interface. Operation mappings can have parameter mappings.

Parameter mappings

Parameter mappings are one level deeper than operation mappings. They map data from a source business object to a target business object. When a calling operation has different parameters than the receiving operation, an interface map reconciles the parameters.

Parameter mapping is essential in the process of moving information between different applications and also between components within the WebSphere Process Server system.

You can select the following types of parameter mappings:

- Map: Reconciles parameters between business objects that have different fields (field names, number of fields, and so forth). Selecting this type of mapping allows you to use a business object map to define the parameter mappings. You can use an existing business object map or create a new one.
- *Extract*: Extracts pertinent information from a complex parameter to reconcile it with output parameters.
- Move: Makes a simple connection between source and target parameters of the same type.
- Custom (Java): Calls Java code to perform the mapping.
- Assign: Rather than mapping an input parameter to an output parameter, you can select the Assign transform option on the output parameter to assign a value to it.

Note: You can use interface maps only in modules for business services, not for mediation services.

4.10.1 Creating an interface map

Working with interface maps involves the following steps:

- 1. Create the interface map artifact, which requires you to select the source and target interfaces.
- 2. Use the interface mapping editor to map the operations between the interfaces.
- 3. Use the interface mapping editor to map the parameters between the source and target operations.
- 4. Add the interface map to the assembly diagram.

Example

This example illustrates the use of an interface map that maps between two interfaces. It assumes the following:

- A module called ITSOModule.
- The interface to the module is CustomerRequestInterface. It has one request-response operation called customerRequest, shown in Figure 4-128.

🕄 ITSOModule - Assembly Diag	gram 🚺 CustomerRequestIn	nterface 🗙 🖳 🗖		
•Operations 🐉 🕃	🔭 👂 🕼 📈 📟 ters			
	Name	Туре		
✓╬customerRequest				
DI Input(s) inputCustomerBG CustomerBG				
📫 Output(s)	outputCustomerBG	CustomerBG		

Figure 4-128 The customerRequestion operation

Both the input and output for this operation are of type CustomerBG, as shown in Figure 4-129.

🛈 CustomerRequestIn	😨 Customer	rBG 🗙		» ₁		
•Business graph	1 1 1	X :				
💽 CustomerBG			┢	🖃 📋 Customer		
e verb string				CustomerId	string	
Customer Customer -				CustomerNumber	string	
				CustomerName	string	
				CustomerType	string	
v			į,			
			<u> </u>			-

Figure 4-129 customerBG business graph

 An import component represents a JDBC adapter has an interface called JDBCOutboundInterface, as shown in Figure 4-130.

JDBCOutboundInterfac	e ×		
Operations	💕 🦥 🔊 🕼 📈 🛱 rameters		
	Name	Туре	
➡ ScreateItsoCustor	nerBG		
Input(s)	createItsoCustomerBGInput	ItsoCustomerBG	
(Coutput(s)	createItsoCustomerBGOutput	ItsoCustomerBG	
₩ updateItsoCusto	merBG		
D Input(s)	updateItsoCustomerBGInput	ItsoCustomerBG	
(C) Output(s)	updateItsoCustomerBGOutput	ItsoCustomerBG	
➡ \$\$\$ deleteItsoCuston	nerBG		
Input(s)	deleteItsoCustomerBGInput	ItsoCustomerBG	
11 A.	deleteTtcoCustomerBCOutput	ItsoCustomerBG	

Figure 4-130 JDBCOutboundInterface

The input and output type for the operation used in the example, createltsoCustomerBG, is ItsoCustomerBG, as shown in Figure 4-131.

💽 ItsoCustomerBG 🗙	
-Business graph 👔 🕆 🦆	× =
🕞 ItsoCustomerBG	
e verb string	e custid string
C DbadminCustomer ItsoCustomer	e custdesc string
	e custtype string
	e fiscalcode string

Figure 4-131 DBadminCustomerBG

- ► CustomerRequest interface will be mapped to JDBCOutboundInterface.
- A Business Object Map, CustomerBG_to_ItsoCustomerBG. We use this map while mapping the parameters in step 5 under "Map the interface operations and parameters" on page 278.

We discuss how to create business object maps in 3.7.2, "Creating a business object map" on page 81.

Create the interface map

To create a new interface map, follow these steps:

- In the Business Integration view, expand the library or module and select the Mapping folder. Right-click and select New → Interface Maps. If this option is not available, select New → Other → Business Integration → Interface Maps.
- 2. In the New Interface Map dialog box (Figure 4-132), enter the name and location for the new map. Click **Next**.

🚯 New Interf	асе Мар	
Interface Ma	ар	9
Create an interf between interfa	ace map. Interface maps are used to re ices.	esolve and reconcile differences
Module:	ITSOModule	Browse New
Namespace:	http://ITSOModule/map	🔽 Default
Folder:	map	Browse
Name:	CustomerRequest_to_JDBCOutboun	dInterface1
0	< Back	Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 4-132 Create a New Interface Map wizard

3. Use the Browse button to find and select the source and target interfaces for the mapping, and click **Finish**.

🚯 New Interfa	се Мар	×
Interface Map Select the source	and target interfaces.	&
Source interface Target interface	CustomerRequestInterface { http://Custome V Browse JDBCOutboundInterface { http://ITSOModul V Browse	New
?	<pre>Back Next > Finish</pre>	Cancel

Figure 4-133 Select the source and target interfaces

The map is created and opens in the interface mapping editor.

Map the interface operations and parameters

The next step is to define the operation bindings and parameter transformations in the new interface map using the interface mapping editor. To do this, you connect operations in the source interface to operations in the target interface. Follow these steps:

1. In the Operation mappings section, select the source operation (customerRequest in Figure 4-134). As you hover the mouse over the operation an orange circle displays. Select the circle, and drag it to the target operation (createltsoCustomerBG operation).



Figure 4-134 Operation mappings wizard

2. Selecting the wire between the two operations opens a new section in the editor called *Parameter mappings*, which allows you to map parameters within the interface operations (Figure 4-135). You might have to scroll past all of the operations to view the Parameter mappings section.



Figure 4-135 Parameter mapping view

3. Using the same method as in the previous step, connect the source parameters to the target parameters.

Note: You have to drag the connection for the output in the opposite direction (from createltsoCustomerBGOutput on the right to outputCustomerBG on the left).

4. By default, each connection has a Move parameter mapping type. To change the mapping type, (for example to *Map*) select a new type from the drop-down menu for Parameter Mapping Type in the Description tab of the Properties view. The options and tabs in the Properties view change to accommodate the mapping type that you select. See Figure 4-136.

▼Parameter mappin	gs			
Connect parameters to	define mappings.			
🏶 customerRequest				谷 createItsoCustomerBG
inputCustomerBG	CustomerBG	Мар		CreateItsoCustomerBGInp
iii outputCustomerBG	i CustomerBG	Map	0-	createItsoCustomerBGOut
<				
Build Activities 🔳 Proper	ies 🗙 Problems	Servers		
Description	Parameter M	apping		
Details	Parameter Mapping	Type:	Мар	~
Event Monitor			Мар	
Global Event Settings			Extract Move	
			Custom	

Figure 4-136 Connect parameters to define mappings and Parameter Mapping

5. In the example, Map is selected as the mapping type for both connections. Select **Map** and go to the Details tab of the Properties view to define the map. You can select an existing map from a drop-down menu or to create a new map.

In this example, we select an existing map, CustomerBG_to_ItsoCustomerBG map, from the Business Object Map drop-down list for the input mapping, as shown in Figure 4-137.

🚴 *CustomerRequest_to_:	JDBCOutboundInterface	1 🛛		
■Parameter mapping	s			
Connect parameters to d	efine mappings.			
🏶 customerRequest			谷 createItsoCust	omerBG
 inputCustomerBG outputCustomerBG 	CustomerBG = CustomerBG		CreateItsoCusto	merBGInput ItsoCusto merBGOutput ItsoCusto
Build Activities 🔲 Propertie	es X Problems	Servers		
Description	Parameter Mapp	bing		
Details	Business Object Map:	CustomerBG_to_ITSOCustomerBG	New	
Event Monitor - Global Event Settings	Map inputs:		Map outputs:	
	Map input	Input parameter	Output parameter	Map output
	CustomerBG	inputCustomerBG	createItsoCustomerBGI	ItsoCustomerBG
	<		<	11

Figure 4-137 Parameter mapping

- 6. Select the next Map connection for the output to select an existing map or to create a new map. In this example, we created a simple map by clicking **New** and defining new map connections between the two business graphs.
- 7. Save and close the completed interface map.

4.10.2 Adding the map to the assembly diagram

To use the interface map in this module:

- 1. Open the assembly diagram in the assembly editor by double-clicking **Assembly Diagram** for the module in the Business Integration view.
- 2. Drag the interface map from the Business Integration view to the assembly editor canvas as shown in Figure 4-138.

😵 *ITSOModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙	
CustomerRequest_to_JDBCOutboundInterface 1	

Figure 4-138 CustomerRequest_to_JDBCOutboundInterface map in the Assembly diagram

3. Select the interface map in the diagram, right-click, and select **Generate** Export → SCA Binding.



Figure 4-139 Generated SCA binding for CustomerRequest

Note that the name in this case is unusually long. For usability, you can change the name by simply typing over the Name field in the Description tab of the Properties view. We renamed the export component to *CustomerBG ITSOExport* as shown in Figure 4-140.

S *ITSOModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙
CustomerRequest_to_JDBCOutboundInterface
1 Interface found: CustomerRequestInterface (WSDL Interface)

Figure 4-140 Rename the Export

- 4. Drag and drop the interface (JDBCOutbound) from the Business Integration view to the assembly editor. Then, follow these steps:
 - a. Select Import with no Binding and click OK.



Figure 4-141 Generating an SCA Binding to Export component

b. Change the name of the of the JDBCOutboundInterfaceImport component to *JDBCOutboundInterface* (for usability) as shown in Figure 4-142.

😴 *ITSOModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙	
OustomerBG_ITSOExport	
Descont to	
IDBCOutboundInterface	

Figure 4-142 Assembled ITSOModule with all the part

- 5. Wire the interface map to the import component.
- 6. Save and close the updated assembly diagram.

You can use the export for this module on the assembly diagram of another module as an import component.

284 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development

Building mediations

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus is a product that is designed to implement an enterprise service bus in a service-oriented architecture (SOA) solution. WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus functionality is also integrated into WebSphere Process Server. When we refer to *WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus* in this book, we are referring to either case; however, we implemented all of our samples with WebSphere Process Server.

This chapter discusses the architecture of WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus and how to build mediations for WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus using WebSphere Integration Developer. It includes the following topics:

- WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus architecture
- Service message objects
- Typical development flow
- Creating a mediation
- Service connection and invocation
- Transformation primitives
- Routing primitives
- Tracing primitives
- ► Error Handling primitives
- Custom Mediation primitive

Additional material: We illustrate many of the primitives that we discuss in this chapter through samples that are included in the additional materials. For information about downloading the additional materials, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511. The mediation examples are included in the MedationSamples.zip project interchange file.

5.1 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus architecture

This section explores the structure of WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus by working through the different layers of the product architecture in a top-down manner.

5.1.1 Mediations, service consumers, and service providers

A service interaction in SOA defines both service consumers and service providers. The role of WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus is to intercept the requests of service consumers and fulfill additional tasks in mediations in order to support loose coupling. When the mediation completes, the relevant service providers are invoked.

The mediation tasks include:

- Centralizing the routing logic so that service providers can be exchanged transparently
- Performing tasks such as protocol translation and transport mapping
- Acting as a facade to provide different interfaces between service consumers and providers
- Adding logic to provide tasks such as logging

As shown in Figure 5-1, mediations customize the protocol and the details of a request and also modify the results of the reply.



Figure 5-1 WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus and mediations

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus can interconnect a variety of different service consumers and providers using standard protocols including:

- ► JMS
- SOAP over HTTP (for Web services)
- SOAP over JMS (for Web services)
- HTTP

For back-end applications (such as SAP), several IBM WebSphere Adapters are available.

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus supports diverse messaging interaction models to meet your requirements, including the following models:

- One-way interactions
- Request-response
- Publish/subscribe

5.1.2 Mediation modules

The *mediation module* is a type of SCA component that can process or mediate service interactions. As illustrated in Figure 5-2, the mediation module is externalized or made available through an *export*, which specifies the interfaces that are exposed. These interfaces are defined in a WSDL document. *Stand-alone references* provide the externalized interface only for SCA clients. They do not define a WSDL document. Instead, they specify the interface declaration in Java (called a *reference*).

The mediation module typically invokes other service providers. These providers are declared with the creation of an *import*, which represents an external service to be invoked.



Figure 5-2 Mediation modules

For each export and import, you need to specify an interface. Each interface has multiple operations, which in turn can have multiple input and output parameters that are associated with either simple data types or business objects. A one-way operation has only input parameters.

Every export and import must be associated with a *binding*. A binding identifies a specific type of invocation for a service consumer or provider. WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus supports the same bindings that WebSphere Process Server supports (for more information, see 2.1.3, "Import and export bindings" on page 17).

Finally, data types (business objects) and interfaces can be defined on the module level, but they can also be defined and referenced in *libraries* in order to centralize them.

5.1.3 Mediation flow components

Inside a mediation module there can be one *mediation flow component*. Mediation flow components offer one or more *interfaces* and use one or more *partner references*. Both of these components are resolved and are assigned to exports or imports using wires, as shown in Figure 5-3.



Figure 5-3 Mediation flow component

In addition to the mediation flow component, a mediation module can have one or more Java components that are created using custom mediation implementations.

Restriction: WebSphere Integration Developer does not stop you from creating more than one mediation flow component per mediation module; however, only one mediation flow is allowed. Therefore, there is a one-to-one relationship between a mediation module and a mediation flow component.

5.1.4 Mediation flows

Mediation flows (Figure 5-4) contain the high-level mediation logic. Thus, in a mediation flow, the different processing steps of a request are declared in a graphical way. In WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, the processing of requests is separated from processing of responses. Therefore, we distinguish between a *request flow* and a *response flow*. In both directions, you can apply logic or modifications.

Note: You need to define mediation flows for *every operation* that gets exposed using an export of a mediation module. For those operations that do not need any additional functionality to the wrapped interface, you wire them from input to input response.



Figure 5-4 Mediation flows

Mediation flows consist of a sequence of processing steps that are executed when an input message is received. A *request flow* begins with a single *Input node* for the source operation and can have multiple *Callout nodes*. If a message is to be returned to the source directly after processing, it can be wired to an *Input response node* in the request flow. If fault messages are defined in the source operation, an *input fault* is also created.

A *response flow* begins with one or more *Callout response nodes* and ends with a single input response (and optionally a callout fault). Both a request flow and a response flow are associated with a mediation flow. The request flow can map data to a correlation context and the transient context.

In terms of the actual data, WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus introduces the service message object (SMO). SMO is a special kind of a service data object that represents the content of an application message as it passes through a mediation flow component. As well as the payload in the body, SMO contains context and header information that can be accessed and acted upon inside the mediation flows.

5.1.5 Mediation primitives

Mediation primitives (Figure 5-5) are the smallest building blocks in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. They are wired and configured inside mediation flows. With mediation primitives, you can change the format, content, or target of service requests, as well as log messages, perform database lookups, and so forth.



Figure 5-5 Mediation primitives (in the complete overview)

WebSphere Integration Developer and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1 provides the following standard mediation primitives:

- The Message Logger primitive (V6.0) logs a copy of a message to a database for future retrieval or audit. For example, the integration developer can customize the primitive by naming the database.
- The *Database Lookup* primitive (V6.0) retrieves values from a database to add them to a message.
- The Message Filter primitive (V6.0) compares the content of a message to expressions that are configured by the developer and routes the message to the next primitive based on the result.
- The XSL Transformation primitive (V6.0) transforms messages according to transformations that are defined by an XSL style sheet.
- ► The *Fail* primitive (V6.0) throws an exception and terminates the path through the mediation flow.
- The Stop primitive (V6.0) silently terminates the path through the mediation flow.
- The Business Object Map primitive (V6.1) allows you to define message transformation using a business object map.
- The Service Invoke primitive (V6.1) calls a service from inside a mediation flow. If the service returns a fault, a retry option is available to call the same service or a different one.
- ► The *Fan Out* primitive (V6.1) is used to create different messages from a repeating element in the input message.
- ► The *Fan In* primitive (V6.1) is used to combine multiple messages that were created using Fan Out mediation.
- The Endpoint Lookup primitive (V6.0.2) searches for service information in a WebSphere Service Registry and Repository.
- The Event Emitter primitive (V6.0.2) emits events from inside a mediation flow.
- ► The Message Element Setter primitive (V6.0.2) sets the content of messages.
- The Set Message Type primitive (V6.1) allows the user to overlay message fields with more detailed structures.
- ► The *Custom Mediation primitive* allows the user to implement their own mediate method using Java. The Custom mediation, similar to other primitives, receives an SMO and returns an SMO. It can be used to perform tasks that cannot be performed using the other primitives.

Mediation primitives use terminals for message flow. The type and number of terminals depends on the type of primitive. The three types of terminals are:

- In terminal: All primitives have an input terminal that can be wired to accept a message.
- Out terminal: Most primitives have one or more output terminals that can be wired to propagate a message (exceptions are the stop and the fail primitive).
- ► *Fail terminal*: If an exception occurs during the processing of an input message, then the Fail terminal propagates the original message, together with any exception information.

5.1.6 Security

In WebSphere Integration Developer, you specify *security attributes* for mediation flow components in the Properties view at the boundaries and the implementation of an component (Figure 5-6).

At the mediation flow component level, you can define the role a user must have in order to call the interface. At the interface level, you can define the permission for every operation.

Properties 🛛			•		
Description	Component: SecuredMediation (No Implementation)				
Details	Interfaces MyInterface MyInterface Solution References MyInterfacePartner	Details Qualifiers Event Monitor Quality of Service (QOS) Qualifiers			
Implementation					
		Security permission	Add		
			Delete		
			Overrid		
		Properties of Qualifier Security permission			
		Role: AdminRole			

Figure 5-6 Security permission qualifier on interfaces

5.2 Service message objects

Messages can come from a variety of sources, so the payload must be able to carry a number of different types of messages. Mediation primitives need to be able to operate on these messages, and SMOs represent the common representation that is needed.

The types of messages that are handled by WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus include:

- SDO data object
- SDO data graph
- SCA component invocation message (request, reply or exception)
- SOAP message
- JMS message
- HTTP message

The SMO model is extensible so that it can support other message types in the future, such as COBOL structures. SMO extends SDO with additional information to support the needs of a messaging subsystem.

5.2.1 SMO structure

All SMOs have the same basic structure, which is defined by an XML schema. An SMO has three major sections:

- The body contains the application data (payload) of the message, particularly the input or output values of an operation.
- The *headers* contain the information relevant to the protocol that is used to send the message.
- The context covers the data specific to the logic of a flow or failure information.

Figure 5-7 shows a sample SMO when calling the stock quote sample that is provided with WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.



Figure 5-7 Sample SMO

Data section

The data that is carried in the SMO body is the operation that is defined by the interface specification and the inputs, outputs, and faults that are specified in the message parts set in the business object definition (Figure 5-8).



Figure 5-8 Content of the SMO body

Context section

The context includes the correlation, transient, and shared context information.

Correlation context is used to maintain data across a request/response flow, while *transient* context maintains data only in one direction. Both of these contexts are used to pass application data between mediation primitives.

Shared context is a thread-based storage area that you can use to aggregate data. There is one shared context per thread per flow. You usually have one thread per flow. So, one shared context is valid along the flow. However if you have a Service Invoke primitive, for example, that has an asynchronous invocation style with a callback outside a Fan Out and Fan In aggregation sequence, this situation creates a new thread, and the shared context will be empty after the invocation.

So, basically, there might be different copies of an SMO along a flow, each one having its correlation and transient contexts, while shared context will be unique for a given thread in a flow for all of the SMO in that thread.

Contexts are described as business objects containing XML schema that are described as data objects and that are specified on the mediation flow's input

node properties. You need to design shared context objects that are suitable for all of the aggregation scenarios along the flow.

The context also includes the failInfo, which is added to the SMO when a Fail terminal flow is used. The information that is provided includes the failureString (nature of the failure), origin (primitive in which the failure occurred), invocationPath (the flow taken through the mediation), and predecessor (previous failure).

Context example

This section includes a general to-do list for working with contexts in a mediation flow. The example makes use of the Fan Out and Fan In primitives, which split and aggregate messages in a flow. The example follows these steps:

1. Design and define business objects for the contexts that you need.

Correlation context business objects hold properties that you need to access along both the request and response flows. See Figure 5-9.

CorrelationBo	
Constring string	

Figure 5-9 Correlation context example Business Object

Transient business objects hold properties that you need to access along the *current* flow (might be request or response). See Figure 5-10:

e transientStr string	

Figure 5-10 Transient context example Business Object

Shared business objects hold properties that you need for storing aggregated results from service invocations. The attributes needed in the object depend on how many services you invoke and what object they return. In this example (Figure 5-11), we invoke two services that each return one string.

🛱 SharedBO
▲
e sharedStr1 string
sharedStr2 string

Figure 5-11 Shared context example Business Object

2. When developing the flow, you must define the context business objects in the detail properties of the Input node (Figure 5-12).



Figure 5-12 Defining contexts at the mediation flow input node level

3. Then, move the appropriate content from the input message body elements to the correlation and transient context elements using a transformation primitive, such as an XSL Transformation primitive (Figure 5-13).



Figure 5-13 Moving body elements in the contexts

Figure 5-14 illustrates a possible implementation of such a transformation. Note how some body elements are moved to the contexts while others are carried on in the body, because they are used as service invocations inputs.

e context	ContextType1			🖃 🖻 context
e headers	HeadersType			🖃 💽 correlation
e? body	mediationOperationRequestMsg		•	corrString
🖃 🖻 mediationOperation	MediationOperationType			🖃 💽 transient
e toBeReturnedUnchanged	string	Move 🔻		e? transientStr
	string	Move 🔻		표 🖻 failInfo
	String	Move		표 💽 primitiveContext
e serviceInput	string	move +		표 💽 shared
				🕀 🖻 headers
				🖃 💽 body
				🖃 🖻 mediationOperatio
	c toBeReturnedUr			
				c toBeUsedInTheM
		L	_	e serviceInput

Figure 5-14 Moving elements from the input body to the contexts

4. At a certain point in the mediation flow, you invoke your services. In this example, the flow is split by the Fan Out primitive, and the services are invoked with identical copies of the SMO message, with the shared context in common. See Figure 5-15.



Figure 5-15 Flow split and service invocation

5. Next, use the Message Element Setter primitive or XSLT transformation primitive to aggregate the responses from the shared context of each service. In the example, the Aggregate1 and Aggregate2 XSLT Transformation primitives are placed between the Service Invoke and the Fan In that rejoins the flows (Figure 5-16).



Figure 5-16 Aggregating service responses and merging flows

- 6. To implement Aggregate 1:
 - a. Ensure that all contexts are mapped using the **Map source to target based on names and types** utility.
 - b. Go into the Inline Maps implementation and remove the mapping for the element that you want to take from the message body (that is the service result). Figure 5-17 shows Aggregate1 for this example.

🛾 🔡 shared	SharedBO	🖃 🛃 shared	SharedBC
e? sharedStr1	string	e? sharedStr1	string
e? sharedStr2	string	Move Move Angle	string

Figure 5-17 Shared context inline map must miss automatic mapping for what you carry from the body

c. Map the body elements to the appropriate shared context elements as shown in Figure 5-18.



Figure 5-18 Moving service invocation response to the shared context

7. Use another transformation to get content from the transient context and to make it available to some other primitive (in this example, Custom Mediation primitive) as shown in Figure 5-19. This primitive can work with the service responses from the shared context.



Figure 5-19 Getting transient data for further elaboration

a. Use the **Map source to target based on names and types** utility to create the initial mapping. Remove the mapping between the transient contexts (Figure 5-20).

ontext	ContextType1			🖃 🛃 context
correlation	CorrelationBo	Inline map 👻	-	
transient	TransientBO			🗉 🖻 transient
failInfo	FailInfoType	Inline map 🔻 🖄	•	🗉 🖻 failInfo
	· aman or / po	Toline man 🖉	•	🗉 💽 primitiveConte
primitiveContext	PrimitiveContextType		-	표 🖻 shared
shared	SharedBO	Inline map 🔻 🎽		

Figure 5-20 Removing transient automatic mapping from the context Inline Map

🖃 🔡 smo 🖃 🛃 smo Inline map 🥆 표 🖻 context 🖃 💽 context ContextType1 표 💽 headers CorrelationBo 🖃 💽 body 🖃 💽 transient TransientBO 🖃 💽 mediat Move 🔻 e? transientStr string e unch 표 💽 failInfo FailInfoType e med 🗄 💽 primitiveContext PrimitiveContextType 🗄 💽 shared SharedBO Inline map 🔻 표 💽 headers HeadersType 표 💽 body mediationOperationResponseMsg

b. Map the transient content to the appropriate body element (Figure 5-21).

Figure 5-21 Moving transient context in the body

8. Retrieve the correlation context and put it in the appropriate output message body element using a last transformation (Figure 5-22).



Figure 5-22 Getting back correlation context data in the mediation flow

9. Finally, move the correlation context in the appropriate element of the body (Figure 5-23).

•		1	
🖃 诸 smo			🖃 🛃 smo
🖃 🖻 context	ContextType1		표 🖻 context
correlation	CorrelationBo		🗄 🖻 headers
e? corrString	string	Move 🔻	🖃 🖻 body
	TransientBO		😑 🖻 media
🗉 🖻 failInfo	FailInfoType		e und
🗉 💽 primitiveContext	PrimitiveContextType		e med
	SharedBO		
표 🖻 headers	HeadersType		
🗄 🖻 body	mediationOperationResponseMsg		

Figure 5-23 Getting correlation context back to the body

Header section

The *header section* of an SMO includes the following supplemental information:

- ► SM0Header: Information about the message (message identifier, SMO version)
- ► JMSHeader: Used when there is a JMS import or export binding
- ► SOAPHeader: Used when there is a Web services import or export binding
- SOAPFaultInfo: Includes information about SOAP faults
- Properties []: Arbitrary list of name value pairs (for example, JMS user properties)

5.2.2 SMO manipulation

During the execution of mediation flows, the active primitives can access and manipulate the SMO. There are three different ways to access SMOs:

XPath V1.0 expressions

The primary mechanism that is used by all primitives.

XSL style sheets

Used by the XSL Transformation primitive. The common method to modify the SMO type within a flow. You can also use an XSL style sheet to modify the SMO without changing the type (using XSLT function and logical processing with XSL choose statements).

Java code

Using the Custom Mediation primitive, you can access the SMO either using the generic DataObject APIs (commonj.sdo.DataObject, which is loosely typed) or the SMO APIs (com.ibm.websphere.sibx.smobo, strongly typed).

5.3 Typical development flow

This section provides overview information about the development process for a business integration module.

In Chapter 3, "Basics of development" on page 29, we discussed the typical development flow for modules and mediation modules, which is as follows:

- 1. Start WebSphere Integration Developer and open a workspace (as described in 3.2.2, "Start WebSphere Integration Developer" on page 42).
- 2. Switch to the Business Integration perspective for development (as described in 3.2.3, "Using the Business Integration perspective" on page 43).
- 3. Create a library to store artifacts, such as business objects and interfaces, that are shared among multiple modules (as described in 3.3.1, "Libraries" on page 44).
- 4. Create a new mediation module (as described in 3.3.2, "Modules and mediation modules" on page 46).
- 5. Create the business objects to contain the application data, for example customer or order data (as described in 3.4, "Business objects" on page 53).
- 6. Create the interface and define the interface operations for each component. The interface determines what data can be passed from one component to another (as described in 3.5, "Interfaces" on page 63).
- 7. Create and implement the service components.
- 8. Build the module assembly by adding the service components, imports, and exports to the assembly diagram. Bind the imports and exports to a protocol (as described in 3.6, "Module assembly" on page 69).
- 9. Test the module in the integrated test environment (as described in 3.12, "Test tools" on page 105).
- 10. Deploy the module to WebSphere Process Server. This step is discussed in Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, Part 3: Run time, SG24-7643.
- 11.Share the tested module with others on the team by putting it in a repository (as described in 3.13, "Team development" on page 115).

This chapter focuses on step 7, the implementation of the service components for a mediation module.

5.4 Creating a mediation

The common steps for building a mediation module are as follows.

- 1. Open WebSphere Integration Developer and open the Business Integration perspective.
- 2. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Mediation Module from the top menu bar.
- 3. In the first panel (Figure 5-24 on page 307):
 - a. Enter a name for the module.
 - b. Select the target run time. Mediation modules can run in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus or WebSphere Process Server application servers.
 - c. Click Next.
| Mediati | ion module |
|---|--|
| Create a
project tł | new mediation module. A mediation module is a nat is used for development, version management, |
| Module | name: SampleMediation |
| 🔽 Use | e default location |
| Location | n: C:/itso/OrderWKSP/SampleMediation Browse |
| Target i | runtime: WebSphere ESB Server v6.1 |
| | |
| | |
| 🗹 Creat | e mediation component |
| ✔ Creat
Name: | e mediation component
SampleMediation |
| ✔ Creat
Name: | e mediation component
SampleMediation |
| Creat
Name:
Mediation
Service E
together
consume | e mediation component SampleMediation n modules can be deployed and run on WebSphere Enterprise Bus or WebSphere Process Server. They contain flows, which lin operations for modifying and routing messages between service rs and service providers. |

4. Add any required libraries. For example, if you created a library to contain the business objects and interfaces that this module uses, select that library here. Click **Finish**. See Figure 5-25.

🚯 New Mediation Module 🛛 🛛 🔀	
Select required libraries Select libraries containing re-usable resources such as interfaces, to be used by this module.	
Libraries: OrderManagementLib Module dependencies are primarily configured using the dependency editor.	
Cancel Cancel	

Figure 5-25 Select required libraries

- 5. The new mediation module is created. You see the structure in the Business Integration view. The assembly diagram opens in the workspace and is populated with one component that represents the mediation flow.
- 6. Add interfaces for services that you want to import to the assembly diagram. These interfaces can come from any libraries that are specified as required during the module creation wizard, or you can create new interfaces. These interfaces are added to the diagram as import components.
- 7. Select the mediation flow component, and click **Regenerate Implementation** to open a Mediation Flow Editor.
- 8. Define the mediation logic using the Mediation Flow Editor.

5.4.1 Mediation flow editor

Generating an implementation of a mediation component opens the Mediation Flow Editor in WebSphere Integration Developer automatically, as shown in Figure 5-26.

🖏 TestBOMap - Assembly Diagram 🛛 🐁 *Mediation Flow Editor: TestBOMap 🗙 🦳 🗮	
•Operation connections \mathfrak{S} \mathfrak{S} \mathfrak{K} X Select a source operation, connect it to one or more target operations, and define the mediation flow.	^
① GetCustNameAddrIF 診 getCustNameAddr > getCustNameAddr > updateCustomer	•
 Palette Palette	× 1FI ×
Request: getCustNameAddr	
Properties 🛛 Tasks Problems Error Log Model Report Data Output Bookmarks	
Description	
Terminal	
Details	
Root: /body	
Mapping File: myBO_map/myFirstBO_map.map Browse.]

Figure 5-26 Mediation flow editor

Operation connections area

The operations connections area (Figure 5-27) is where you wire interface operations (on the left) to reference operations (on the right). Each wire implies a separate mediation flow. You can have many interfaces and interface operations and many references and reference operations.

🕶 Operation connections 🛛 🔊 🌄 🤽 🗶	
Select a source operation, connect it to one or more target operations, and d	lefine the mediation flow.
GetCustNameAddrIF getCustNameAddr	CustomerServiceII

Figure 5-27 Operation connections area

Mediation flow area

Clicking a wire between the interface and a reference in the operations connections area opens the mediation flow for that connection (Figure 5-28). Separate canvases represent the request and response flows, each with a tab at the bottom of the mediation flow area that allows you to switch between them. The Request flow canvas is populated automatically with Input, Callout, and Input Response nodes. The Response flow canvas contains Callout Response and Input Response nodes. You are not obliged to use them.



Figure 5-28 Mediation flow editor

To the left of the work area is a *Palette* that contains folders with mediation primitives grouped by their functionality. There are four groups of mediation primitives located in the Palette:

- Transformation
- ► Routing
- ► Tracing
- Error Handling

Clicking a folder opens a list of the primitives in that category.

To the right of Palette is a *canvas* that visually represents the mediation flow. The visual elements of the flow are called *mediation nodes* and *wires*. When you drop a primitive onto a canvas, it becomes a new node. You connect a node with another node or nodes by wires.

Mediation flows

Different patterns of mediation logic are encapsulated in mediation primitives. If there is no matching mediation primitive, you can employ a Custom Mediation primitive that allows you to write your own Java code. One more option is to import the third-party mediation primitives.

Figure 5-29 shows six nodes. Each node has at least one terminal that represents the node's ability to connect with other nodes.



Figure 5-29 Wiring nodes

Wires connect terminal nodes and represent directions of the mediation data flow. Most often a primitive has an input, an output, and a fail terminal. There can be more than one wire coming out or going into a node. The data type of terminals is NULL until wired. You can also assign fixed data types for terminals. Most Input and Output terminals can be wired only if their data types match.

Mediation nodes

To set or change a node's properties, select the node in the canvas and then go to the Details tab of the primitive's Properties view, as shown in Figure 5-30.

🔲 Properties 🖾 🛛 Tasł	s Problems	Error Log	Model Report	Data Output	Bookmarks			
Description	🗿 Busir	ness Obj	ject Map : B	OMapper1				
Terminal								
Details	Root:	/boo	łv					
Promoted Properties		1000	-,					
	Mapping F	ile: myE	30_map/myBO_	resp_map.map	Browse.	Edit	New.)

Figure 5-30 Details tab of the Properties view

Mediation primitives often use XPath language expressions to extract or modify elements of XML structures. We do not discuss XPath here. However, some basic understanding of the language is required because some mediation samples do use simple XPath expressions.

5.5 Service connection and invocation

Service access is a basic function of a mediation:

- Service connection, in terms of protocol binding, import components, and export components is common to both business integration and mediation modules.
- Service invocation in a mediation module can be inline or through a Callout node.
 - When service invocation is inline, it contributes to the overall mediation flow. The inline service invocation is performed using the Service Invoke primitive, as discussed in 5.7.4, "Service Invoke primitive" on page 352.
 - When service invocation is through a Callout, it becomes the final target of the mediation module. This is the classic usage of service invocation, in which the mediation module mediates access to the service to provide message or protocol transformation, routing, and so forth. You can find examples of this invocation throughout the mediation examples.

The basic tasks to invoke a service through a Callout or a Service Invoke primitive include:

- 1. Ensure that you have the service interface in your module or in a library that is imported by the module.
- 2. Import the service with the appropriate binding in the assembly diagram. The binding protocol that you use depends on the requirements of the service. Follow these steps:
 - a. Create the Import component in the assembly diagram.
 - b. Add the service interface to the Import.
 - c. Generate the binding for the Import component.
 - d. Wire the mediation flow component to the import accepting the automatic reference creation.

The assembly diagram looks similar to that shown in Figure 5-31.



Figure 5-31 Mediation Module Assembly Diagram importing a service

3. Regenerate the implementation for the mediation flow component. Regeneration is the easiest way to have the implementation aligned with the interface and references of the components. The new interfaces and reference partners display in the Mediation Flow Editor (Figure 5-32).

•Operation connecti	ons 🔊 🎝 🤽 🗶	
Select a source operatio	n, connect it to one or more target operations, and de	fine the mediation flow.
(I) NeededWorkInter	face	ServiceInterfacePar
🐞 performTheJob		iserviceJob
Palette		Mei
	Input	Refere
	performTheJob:	► Serv
		📄 Correla

Figure 5-32 Mediation editor after implementation regeneration

At this stage you can wire the NeededWorkInterface performTheJob operation to ServiceInterfacePartner serviceJob to create a service callout, or you can leave these unwired and have the mediation flow invoke the ServiceInterfacePartner inline as part of the logic.

If you are mediating the message flow to the service (using a callout):

1. Wire the interface operation (performTheJob) to the Partner operation (serviceJob in the example). This creates a Request flow with a Callout and, if the operation is two-way, a Response flow. See Figure 5-33.

▼Operation con Select a source o	nnections 🔊 💭 🖧 🗶 peration, connect it to one or more targ	et operations, and define the me	diation flow.
	orkInterface		ServiceInterfacePar
饕 performThe.	Job		눯 serviceJob
▲ = Palette =			🔪 🕨 📸 Med
	Input	P P	Callout Seferer
🔁 Favorites	performTbe lob :	servio	eloh : Serviu
🗁 Routing		Sorric	Server Server
<i>i</i>			🛛 🦢 Correla

Figure 5-33 Wiring operations for mediating access

2. Develop the mediation flow and then you are finished.

•Operation con	nections 🛛 🔊 🌄	£ 🗙		
Select a source op	eration, connect it to one o	r more target operatio	ons, and define the mediati	ion flow.
I NeededWor	Interface		E	ServiceInterfacePartne
🐞 performTheJ	ь [serviceJob
Palette =	Input erformTheJob :	BOMapper1	Callout serviceJob : Servi	Medial Reference Service Correlation
> Tracing				<not spec<="" td=""></not>

Figure 5-34 Example request flow completed

To access the service as part of the mediation logic, leave the operations unwired. Use the Service Invoke primitive (selecting the partner that you want too invoke, such as ServiceInterfacePartner in the example) at the point that you need in the flow, as shown in Figure 5-35.



Figure 5-35 Invoking a service as part of the mediation flow

5.6 Transformation primitives

The primitives that you find in the Mediation Flow Editor in the Transformation category are:

- XSL Transformation primitive
- Business Object Map primitive
- Database Lookup primitive
- Message Element Setter primitive
- Set Message Type primitive
- Custom Mediation primitive

5.6.1 XSL Transformation primitive

The XSL Transformation primitive performs Extensible Stylesheet Language (XSL) transformations on an XML serialization of the message. XSL transformation is very common in message flows. You can find many examples of using this primitive in the scenario that we describe in this book.

Properties

The properties to note in the Details tab of the Properties view are:

- Mapping file: Specifies the name of the XSL style sheet that the primitive uses.
- Root: An XPath 1.0 expression that specifies the root of the transformation. You can specify:
 - / refers to the complete SMO
 - /headers refers to the headers of the SMO
 - /context refers to the context of the SMO
 - /body refers to the body section of the SMO

This property is used for both the input message and the transformed message.

 Validate input: If true, causes the input message to be validated before the mediation is performed.

Using the XSL Transformation primitive

The XSL Transformation primitive has one input terminal (In), one output terminal (Out), and one fail terminal (Fail). The service message object arrives at the In terminal and exits through the Out terminal.

As an example, consider the mediation flow shown in Figure 5-36. The message from the Input is of type updateCustomerRequestMsg.



Figure 5-36 Wiring primitive terminals

The message that goes to Callout needs to be of type updateDbadminCustomerBGRequestMsg, as shown in Figure 5-37.



Figure 5-37 Wiring primitive terminals

The XSLT Transformation primitive is used to map the input message fields to the appropriate output message fields as follows:

1. Open the mapping for this node by double-clicking it in the canvas. The XML mapping wizard starts (Figure 5-38). Accept the defaults and click **Next**.

🚯 New XML Mapping					
XML Mapping Create a new XM	L Map.				
Namespace:	http://XSLTSample1Module/xslt/XSLTransforma				
Folder:	xslt Browse				
Name:	XSLTransformation1_req_1				
Create a sam	ple xml input file for testing the XML Map				
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel				

Figure 5-38 Create a new XML mapping

2. Specify the message root, the input body, and the output body (Figure 5-39). The input and output body fields default to the input and output message types if the XSLT transformation is wired. If it has not been wired, you need to select the messages that you will map. Click **Finish**.

🚯 New XML Mappin	e 🖌		×
Specify Message T Select Input and Output	ypes Message Type		SE
Message Root:	/body	*	
Input Message Body:	updateCustomerRequestMsg		Browse
Output Message Body:	updateDbadminCustomerBGRequestN	1sg	Browse

Figure 5-39 Specify message types

3. The map opens with the input message fields on the left and the output on the right. Develop the XSL transformation graphically by mapping elements from the source SMO to the target SMO. Expand the source and target messages in order to see all individual components (Figure 5-40).

XSLTransformation1	_req_2 🔊 🖟	₽× ↓	pi 🏚 🔒 👘 🛱			
🖃 🐮 body					🖃 🛃 body	
🖃 🖻 updateCustomer	UpdateCustomerType				🖃 🖲 updateDbadminCustomerBG	UpdateDbadminCustomerBGTy
🖃 🖻 customer	Customer				updateDbadminCustomerBGInput	DbadminCustomerBG
custID	string		Move 🔻		📸 any []	
custName	strina		Move 🔻		🗉 💣 package	[] anyType
	Sang		Move T		🗈 💽 changeSummary	anyType
ef address	string		NOVE +			anyType
e? zipCode	string		Move 🔻		🗈 💣 eventSummary	[] anyType
e? city	string		Move 🔻	1	👸 anyAttribute []	
Contrate	stripa		Move 🔻		e? verb	VerbType
e state	sang				🖃 🖻 DbadminCustomer	DbadminCustomer
C budget	int		Move 🗸		e? custid	string
e? soldToDate	int		Move 🔻		e custdesc	string
					e custtype	string
					e fiscalcode	string
				-	e address	string
					e zipcode	string
					e city	string
					e state	string
					e soldtodate	int:Object
					e budget	int:Object

Figure 5-40 XML Mapping

- 4. Perform the mapping functions.
- 5. Save and close the mapping file.
- 6. Save and close the mediation flow editor.
- 7. Save the assembly diagram.

When a mapping is required in the request flow, a corresponding reverse mapping is often required in the response flow to map the response messages.

Mapping functions

To map an element, drag a line between the source and target elements. The mapping functions that are available for mapping simple message elements include:

- ► *Move*: Moves the value from the source to the target (the default).
- Custom: Uses an XPath expression or an XSL style sheet to define the mapping logic.
- Normalize: Normalizes the input string. For example, you can use this function to remove multiple occurrences of white space (such as space, tab, or return).
- Substring: Extracts elements of a source value based on an index and a delimiter.

If the mapping takes place between two complex types, the default operation is Move. Other mapping functions that are available for complex types are:

- ► Custom
- ► *Inline map*: Executes an embedded map within the same XSL style sheet.
- Submap: Calls an external XSL style sheet as part of the current transformation.

While the mapping operations require both the input message elements and the output message elements, you can also apply a transformation to the output message elements only.

Transforms

To transform an output message element, right-click it and select **Create Transform** as shown in Figure 5-41.



Figure 5-41 Create a transform action on an output message element

The default value is Assign for a base type (Figure 5-42) and Input map for a complex type. Custom operation is available for all cases.

	🖃 💽 body	
	🖃 🖻 updateCustomerResponse	UpdateCusto
	🖃 🖻 returnCode	ReturnCode
Assign	RC 💽	string

Figure 5-42 Assign transform

The Assign transform action allows you to designate a value for the message element. To supply the value, select **Assign**, go to the Properties view, and set the value as shown in Figure 5-43.

Build Activities	Proper	ties 🗙 Problems Servers
General	🔁 Tr	ransform - Assign
Cardinality	Value:	ol
Condition		9
Order		

Figure 5-43 Assigning a value

Mapping utilities

Mapping utilities provide a shortcut for mapping similar input message elements to output message elements.

Select **Match Mapping** from the pop-up menu for the SMO or individual message elements, or select **Map source to target based on names and types** from the horizontal icon menu.

If matching names and types in the input and output messages are found, a default Inline map action is created (Figure 5-44). To see the content of the inline map, click the yellow arrow in the upper-right corner of the inline map rectangle.

Inline map	•	⊻-

Figure 5-44 Inline map

5.6.2 Business Object Map primitive

Business objects are containers for application data that represent business functions or elements, such as a customer or an invoice. You can use *business object maps* to assign values to the target business objects based on the values in the source business objects.

The Business Object Map primitive is used to change the context, headers, or body of incoming or outgoing messages. Transformations are defined by a business object map. The Business Object Map primitive has one input terminal, one output terminal, and one fail terminal.

The Business Object Map primitive is located under Transformation folder of the Mediation Flow Editor.

The Business Object Mapping Editor provides following mapping actions:

- Assign: Assigns a constant value to the target element.
- Custom: Provides Java code to define mapping logic.
- Custom Assign: Provides Java code to assign a value.
- *Custom Callout*: Provides Java code to define mapping logic.
- *Extract:* Provides a convenient way to extract a substring from a string defining a delimiter and a substring index.
- Join: Provides a method to combine two or more elements.
- Move: Copies the source element value to the target element value.
- Relationship: Creates an association between data from two or more business objects. The source and target of a relationship transform must be complex types (business objects).
- Relationship Lookup: Maintains a mapping between the same data that is represented with different values in different business objects (for example, North Carolina <=> NC or euro <=> EUR).
- Submap: Maps complex types.

The Business Object Map primitive provides a similar, but enhanced, functionality to that of an XSL Transformation primitive.

The key difference is that the XSL Transformation primitive performs transformations in XML, using a style sheet, where the Business Object Map primitive performs transformations on business objects using Service Data Objects (SDO). If you have existing XSL style sheets, you might be able to reuse them with the XSL Transformation primitive. In addition, if you have existing business object maps, you might be able to reuse them with the Business Object Map primitive. Some types of transformation are easier to perform in XSL, while others are easier using a business object map.

5.6.3 Database Lookup primitive

The Database Lookup primitive modifies messages using information from a user-supplied database.

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *TestDBLookup* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

Properties

The properties to note in the Details tab of the Properties view are:

- Data source name: JNDI name of the data source defined on the WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus server.
- ► *Table name*: Name of the database table, including the schema name.
- ► Key column name: Name of the column in the table to be used for the look up.
- ► *Key path*: An XPath expression that returns a value from the message.
- Validate input option: If selected, enables input message validation to ensure it matches its type definition at run time.
- Data elements table: Each line defines the column from which the value is retrieved, the type of information it is, and the place in the message where the retrieved value is to be stored.

Using the Database Lookup primitive

The Database Lookup primitive has one input terminal (In), two output terminals (out and keyNotFound), and one fail terminal.

When a service message object arrives at the In terminal, one of the following actions is taken:

- If the key is found, the message, updated with database values that are associated with the key, is returned using the Out terminal.
- If the key is not found in the database, the message is unchanged and returned using the keyNotFound terminal.
- If an exception occurs both the unchanged message and exception are returned using the Fail terminal.

Note: The Database Lookup primitive is used commonly in conjunction with the Message Filter primitive. Using Database Lookup, a value can be obtained from a database and stored in the transient or correlation context. The Message Filter can then filter messages using this value by defining an XPath expression to the context.

The following example searches the OLDCUSTOMER table of the OLDDB database for customer information. If a database record is found that has a CUSTID value equal to the value of /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custID in the input message, the message is updated.

The message fields to be updated are listed under the Message elements column of Data elements. *Value column name* is the name of the column in the database record. In other words, a database value from *Value column name* is copied into *Message element* of the message.

If a database record with a matching value is not found, the message exits the primitive unchanged.

Figure 5-45 shows the property values of the primitive. Data elements list column names of OLDCUSTOMER table, value type, and message elements to which the values need to be copied.

🔋 Database Lookup : OldCustomerDBLookup				
Data source name:* jdb	c/DerbyOLDDB			
Table name: * OLD	CUSTOMER			
Key column name: * CU	STID			
Key path: /boo	dy/retrieveCustomer/cus	stomer/custID	Edit	
Validate input				
Data elements:				
Value caluma asma				
value column name	Message value type	Message element	Add	
CUSTDESC	Message value type String	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName	Add	
CUSTDESC ZIPCODE	Message value type String String	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode	Add Edit	
CUSTDESC ZIPCODE CITY	Message value type String String String	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/city	Add Edit	
CUSTDESC ZIPCODE CITY STATE	Message value type String String String String	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/city /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/state	Add Edit Remove	
CUSTDESC ZIPCODE CITY STATE SOLDTODATE	Message value type String String String String int	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/city /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/state /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/soldToDate	Add Edit Remove	
CUSTDESC ZIPCODE CITY STATE SOLDTODATE BUDGET	Message value type String String String String int int	Message element /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/city /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/state /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/soldToDate /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/budget	Add Edit Remove	

Figure 5-45 Database Lookup properties

Figure 5-46 shows the Database Lookup primitive in the message flow. One of three actions is taken:

- If the matching record is found, the updated message exits the primitive through the Out terminal, then enters OldCustomerXSLT for further processing.
- If no matching record is found, the unchanged messages exits the primitive through the keyNotFound terminal, then enters WebServiceXSLT for further processing.
- If the lookup ended with failure, the unchanged message exits the primitive through the Fail terminal, then enters DBLookupFailure for further processing.



Figure 5-46 Database Lookup primitive in the message flow

Accessing the database in the workspace

To access a database while you are building a message flow, you must define to the workspace.

To create a connection to the database:

- 1. Switch to Data perspective and create a connection to the database.
- 2. In the Database Explorer view, right-click **Connections** and select **New Connection**. If the database does not exist, you can create it using this wizard.

 Select the database manager and version. The options on the panel change to those appropriate for the database type. Complete the required fields (Figure 5-47), including the location of the database, driver class location, and the user ID and password to access the database.

Connection Parameters				
Select the database manager, JDBC driver, and required connection parameters.				
Connection identification				
Use default naming convention				
Connection Name: OLDDB				
Select a database manager:	JDBC driver: Derby E	Embedded JDBC Driver		
⊕ · DB2 for z/OS A	- Connection URL det	ails		
10.0	Database location:	C:\itso\sampleDB\OLDDB		
10.1	Create the data	hase if required		
🗄 Generic JDBC	Generic JDBC			
User information		abase to the current version		
User ID: dbadmin 😽	JDBC driver class:	org.apache.derby.jdbc.EmbeddedDriver		
Password: ******	Class location:	C:\IBM\WID61\runtimes\bi_v61\derby\lib\derby.ja		
Test Connection	Connection URL:	jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\OLDDB;create=true;		

Figure 5-47 New database connection properties

4. Click Finish.

You can execute SQL commands using the SQL editor to create tables, to populate the tables with data, and to perform other actions that you might need to take to prepare the database. To use the editor:

1. Click the Open SQL Editor icon.



Figure 5-48 Open SQL Editor icon

A window opens where you can type or copy SQL statements (Figure 5-49).



Figure 5-49 Entering SQL statements

- 2. Save the statements by right-clicking in the window and selecting Save.
- 3. Run the SQL by right-clicking in the window and selecting **Run SQL**. Select the "Use an existing connection" option, and then select the connection. Click **Finish**.

С	Create a new connection
•	Use an existing connection
r	Existing connections
	Derby Sample Connection
	OLDDB
	ORDERDB
	testDerby

Figure 5-50 Select the connection

4. You can view the data in a table by navigating to the table in the connection, as shown in Figure 5-51.

😑 🙀 Connections			
□ Derby Sample Connection [Derby 10.1]			
🖨 👍 OLDDB [Derby 10.1]			
🗄 🗀 Authorization IDs			
😑 🦳 Schemas			
🕀 📲 APP			
🖨 🔡 DBADMIN			
🕀 🗀 Dependencies			
🕀 🧰 Stored Procedures			
🖃 🧰 Tables			
🕀 🧰 User-Defined Functions			
🗄 🖳 Views			

Figure 5-51 Database structure in the Connections directory

5. Right-click the table name and select **Data** \rightarrow **Edit**. The table opens in a new view as shown in Figure 5-52.

😵 TestDBLookup - Assembly Diagram 🛛 🔠 OLDCUSTOMER 🔀							
CUSTID	CUSTDESC [VARCH	ADDRESS [VARCHAR(30)]	ZIP	CITY [VAR	S	SO	BUDGET
20001	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20002	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20003	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20101	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20102	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20103	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20201	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20202	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20203	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20301	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20302	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20303	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20401	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20402	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000

Figure 5-52 Viewing and editing database data

6. If you are working with Derby, remember to disconnect from the connection by selecting the connection, right-clicking, and then selecting **Disconnect**.

The embedded version of Derby allows only one connection at a time to a database. When you have a connection open from the workspace, no other application can access the database.

5.6.4 Message Element Setter primitive

The Message Element Setter primitive provides a simple mechanism for setting the content of messages. It allows you to change, add, or delete message elements, but it does not allow you to change the type of the message.

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *MessageElementSetterMediation* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

Properties

The message elements to be set are defined in the Details tab of the Properties view. Each message element in the table has the following parts defined:

- Target: An XPath 1.0 expression that describes the location of the element to set, create or delete. You can specify:
 - / to use the complete SMO
 - /headers to use the headers of the SMO
 - /context to use the context of the SMO
 - /body to use the body of the SMO

If you want to set a target message element to a constant value, the target XPath expression must resolve to a single leaf element. If you want to copy from a source message element to a target message element, both the source and target must specify an XPath expression that resolves to a single message element (a single leaf or subtree).

If you set multiple targets, all elements are effectively set simultaneously. Therefore, if you set element X from value 13 to value 14, and element Y to the value of element X, the mediation sets element X to value 14 and element Y to value 13.

If you specify the same target element more than once, the last operation performed on the target element takes precedence.

► *Type*: The type of the element value.

If you want to set the target to a constant value, the type must be a Java primitive or Java string.

If you want to set the target to a value that is copied from somewhere in the input SMO, the Type property must be the keyword *copy*. When you copy a value from somewhere in the input SMO, the target type is assumed to be the same as the source type.

If you want to copy a value from the input SMO to a new element instance, appended to a repeating element in the output, the Type property must be the keyword *append*. You can append only to a repeating element in the output, and the target type is assumed to be the same as the source type.

If you want to delete an element instance, the Type property must be the keyword *delete*. You can delete only optional or repeating elements.

Value: If the Type property is set to copy or append, the Value property should be an XPath 1.0 expression that identifies the source element. The copy and append operations always take their source value from the unmodified input SMO.

If the Type property is set to *delete*, the Value property should not be set.

If the Type property is not set to *copy*, *append*, or *delete*, the Value and Type properties must be compatible. For example, if the Type is int, the Value could validly be 14, but not GoldAccount.

If the "Validate input" option is selected, the input message is validated before the mediation is performed.

Using the Message Element Setter primitive

The Message Element Setter primitive has one input terminal (In), one output terminal (Out), and one fail terminal.

The example shown in Figure 5-53 uses the Message Element Setter primitive to set a return value to be equal to the customer ID. The primitive is placed between the Callout Response and Input Response nodes of the response flow.



Figure 5-53 The Message Element Setter primitive in a mediation flow

Figure 5-54 shows the values that are used to define the message element to be changed.

📩 Message Element Setter : ReturnValueSetter				
Message Elements:				
Target	Туре	Value		
/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/returnCode/RC	сору	/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/custID		

Figure 5-54 Message element definition

5.6.5 Set Message Type primitive

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *SetMessageTypeMediation* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

The Set Message Type primitive lets you do the equivalent of casting a generic data type to a more specific data type. A field is *weakly-typed* if it can contain more than one type of data. A field is *strongly-typed* if its type and internal structure are known.

Typically, a weakly-typed field is declared as having an XML schema type of anyType or anySimpleType or is an XML wildcard element (any). Less commonly used weak-typing constructs are abstract types and substitution groups.

The Set Message Type primitive is used to overlay message fields with more detailed structures. It can overlay both weakly-typed and strongly-typed fields, allowing you to have more control in manipulating message content.

There are three weakly-typed fields as of WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1:

- ▶ anyURI
- anySimpleType
- ► anyType

Notes:

- If no Set Message Type primitive is used in the mediation flow, the XSLT editor and other editors display the weakly-typed attribute. Custom nodes (that is, Custom Mediation primitive, custom XSL style sheet) are required to access the weakly-typed field.
- The Set Message Type primitive can also overlay a strongly-typed field with another strongly-typed attribute (if the new strongly-typed attribute is derived from the original one).

Properties

The properties to note are:

- Message field refinements: Specifies how a weakly-typed field needs to be cast to a more specific data type. It has two parameters.
 - Weakly typed field: Specify the XPath of the weakly-typed field that you want to refine.
 - Actual field type: Specify the data type that you want to use for the refinement.
- Reset message type: If true, causes the current primitive to forget Message field refinements information from previous Set Message Type primitives.
- Validate: If true, causes the Set Message Type primitive to perform runtime validation.

Using the Set Message Type primitive

The Set Message Type primitive has one input terminal (In), one output terminal (Out), and one fail terminal.

To use the Set Message Type primitive:

1. Create a business object of the weakly typed field (that is anyType). Add one field and change the type to a weak type.

To change the type to anyType:

- a. Click the field's type.
- b. In the window that opens, click Browse, and select anyType.
- c. Then, click **OK** to set the new data type.
- 2. Create an interface with this object and add the interface to the mediation flow component as an export.
- 3. Add a Set Message Type primitive to the canvas and wire the In and Out terminals. The primitive is located in the Transformation folder of the Palette.
- 4. Cast the message type to the actual business object. In the Properties view, select the weakly-typed field (the new business object that was created in step 1) and set the business object to which it needs to be cast.

For example, assume that we have a weakly-typed customerData field as shown in Figure 5-55.

₹ B	usiness object 🛛 🔊	Û
	AnyCustomerBO	
	e customerData anyType	

Figure 5-55 Weakly typed object

To cast this object to a complex Customer data type, set the primitive properties as shown in Figure 5-56.

Set Message Type : SetInternalTyp	ie	
Message field refinements:		
Weakly typed field	Actual field type	Add
/body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/customerData	a {http://OrderManagementLib}Customer	Edit

Figure 5-56 Set Message Type properties

As an example of when you might use this primitive, assume that there are two different Web services to retrieve and update customer information. The Web services have dissimilar interfaces—different operation names (updateCustomer and updateExtCust) and different data types (Customer and ExternalCustomerInfoBO). A message is routed to a specific Web service depending on a value in the message. For example, if the customer ID starts with *I*, it is sent to CustomerService service. Otherwise, it is sent to ExternalCustomerService.

The input message is defined using a unifying interface AnyCustomerIF with updateAnyCustomer operation and AnyCustomerBO business object that has one weakly-typed field called customerData. This field is of anyType type.

This allows a caller to pass in any data structure. In the mediation module, the message is first cast to the Customer data type, and the custID value is checked. If the value starts with I, the message is sent to the CustomerService service. If

not, the message is cast to ExternalCustomerInfoBO and sent to the ExternalCustomerService service.

Figure 5-57 illustrates the mediation flow.



Figure 5-57 Set Message Type primitive in a mediation flow

5.7 Routing primitives

The primitives that you find in the Mediation Flow Editor in the Routing category include:

- Message Filter primitive
- ► Endpoint Lookup primitive
- ► Fan In primitive
- ► Fan Out primitive
- Service Invoke primitive

5.7.1 Message Filter primitive

The Message Filter primitive routes messages down different paths, based on the message content.

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *MessageFilterMediation* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

Properties

The properties to note are:

- Filters: A list of expressions, and associated terminal names that define the filtering performed by the primitive. The order is significant in the list of expressions. Expressions are evaluated in the order they appear in the table.
- Pattern: An XPath 1.0 expression against which the message is tested. The expression is evaluated starting from the XPath expression /, which refers to the complete SMO.
- Terminal name: The name of an output terminal. There is one terminal name for each pattern XPath expression. The terminal name must be a valid connection endpoint, and it must not be fail or default. The default value is empty, which is invalid.
- Distribution mode: Determines the behavior of the primitive when an inbound message matches multiple expressions. If the Distribution mode is set to *First*, the message is propagated to the first matching output terminal. If the Distribution mode is set to *All*, the message is propagated to all matching output terminals. If there is no matching output terminal, the default terminal is invoked.

Using the Message Filter primitive

By default, the Message Filter primitive has one input terminal (In), one output terminal (Default), and one fail terminal (Fail). You can add any number of output terminals and assign meaningful names to them for routing filtered messages.

To add a new output terminal, right-click the primitive icon and select **Add Output Terminal** from the pop-up menu as shown in Figure 5-58.



Figure 5-58 Add an output terminal

To filter out North Carolina (state = 'NC') and New York (state = 'NY') customers in the response flow of retrieveCustomer operation

- 1. Add two output terminals and call them NCcustomer and NYcustomer.
- 2. Then, create an XPath expression to detect an NC customer, and direct the message to leave the primitive through the NCcustomer terminal.
- 3. In the same way, direct the message to leave the primitive through the NYcustomer terminal if the customer is from NY.

Figure 5-59 shows the details of this primitive.

뚿 Message Fil	ter : NorthCarolinaMessageFilter	r	Noncommunity.
Distribution mode:	First		
Filters:			
Pattern		Terminal name	Add
/body/retrieve	CustomerResponse/customer/state='NC'	NCcustomer	
/body/retrieve	CustomerResponse/customer/state='NY'	NY customer	Ealt
			Remove

Figure 5-59 Message Filter properties
4. Finally, connect the NCcustomer terminal to NorthCarolinaXSLT, the NYcustomer terminal to the Fail1 primitive, and the Default terminal to WebServiceResult, as shown in Figure 5-60.



Figure 5-60 Message Filter primitive in the mediation flow

5.7.2 The Endpoint Lookup primitive

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *CustomerServiceEndpointMediation* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

The Endpoint Lookup primitive is used to route messages dynamically to appropriate service endpoints. The Endpoint Lookup primitive searches for service information in WebSphere Service Registry and Repository and, if found, updates the message header (/headers/SMOHeader/Target/address) with the appropriate dynamic endpoint information.

To use the Endpoint Lookup primitive, you need to add service endpoint information to the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository registry. If you want to extract service endpoint information about Web services, the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository registry must contain either the appropriate WSDL documents or SCA modules that contain exports using Web service bindings. If you want to extract service endpoint information about exports that use the default SCA binding, the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository registry must contain the appropriate SCA modules. The Endpoint Lookup primitive lets you retrieve service endpoint information that relates to the following:

- ► Web services using SOAP/HTTP
- Web services using SOAP/JMS
- SCA module exports with Web service bindings, using SOAP/HTTP
- SCA module exports with Web service bindings, using SOAP/JMS
- SCA module exports with the default SCA binding

Properties

The properties to note are:

- ► *Name*: Search the registry for services that implement a particular portType, the name of which is specified by Name.
- Namespace: Search the registry for services that implement a particular portType, the namespace of which is specified by Namespace. The PortType Namespace can be specified in any valid namespace format (for example, URI or URN).
- Version: Search the registry for services that implement a particular portType, the version of which is specified by Version.
- Registry Name: Identifies the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition to be used by Endpoint Lookup primitive. A WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition is created using the server administrative console. It provides connection information for a WebSphere Service Registry and Repository instance. At least one WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition needs to exist on the server on which your mediation module is installed. If the Registry Name is absent, then the default WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition needs to exist on the server of which your mediation module is installed. If the Registry Name is absent, then the default WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition is used.
- Match Policy: If the registry has more than one service that matches your query, the Match Policy determines how many service endpoints need to be added to the message.

Advanced properties

Advanced properties enable registry searches for services that are annotated with user-defined properties. The properties include:

- ► *Name*: The name of the user defined property.
- ► *Type*: The type of the user defined property. If the type is *String*, then what you specify as the Value is used as a literal in the search query. If the type is *XPath*, then what you specify as the Value must be an XPath expression. The XPath expression must resolve to a unique leaf node in the inbound SMO. The value of the leaf node is used in the search query.

- ► *Value*: The value of the user-defined property. This value can be either a literal value or an XPath expression, depending upon the Type property.
- ► *Classification*: Search for objects that match a particular classification.

Using the Endpoint Lookup primitive

The Endpoint Lookup primitive has one input terminal (In), two output terminals (Out and noMatch), and a fail terminal. If a service endpoint is found, the updated message exits through the Out terminal. If no matching services are found, the message exits the node through the noMatch terminal.

This example assumes that a WebSphere Service Registry and Repository implementation called ITSO-WSRR is up and running. It contains a registered service that implements CustomerServiceIF with the http://OrderManagementLib/CustomerServiceIF namespace. Additionally, the service registry has a user-defined property called CustomerID that has a value of *1*.

Figure 5-61 shows how to set the properties to retrieve endpoint information from ITSO_WSRR for a given interface name and the namespace value.

Properties 🛛 Prol	olems Servers Cor	nsole Progress
Description	🖲 Endpoint	Lookup : CustomerServiceLookup
Terminal		
Details		
· Advanced	Name:	CustomerServiceIF Browse
Promoted Properties	Namespace:	http://OrderManagementLib/CustomerServiceIF
	Version:	
	Registry Name:	ITSO-WSRR
	Match Policy:	Return first matching endpoint and set routing target

Figure 5-61 Endpoint Lookup properties

To stipulate that this service is invoked only if the customer ID in the Input message starts with *l*, set the Advanced properties as in Figure 5-62.

rties 🛛 Probl	ems Servers Con	sole Progres	s	~ - 6
on	🕘 Endpoint I	.ookup : C	CustomerServiceLookup	
anced	Classifications:			
Properties				Add
				Edit
				Remove
				27
	User Properties:			
	Name	Туре	Value	Add
	Custome	XPath	<pre>substring(/body/getCustData/custID ,1 ,1)</pre>	Edit
				Remove
				2 7

Figure 5-62 Endpoint Lookup advanced properties

If the matching service is found successfully, the updated message exits the primitive through the Out terminal to proceed with a Web service call as shown in Figure 5-63.



Figure 5-63 Endpoint Lookup in the mediation flow

To use the dynamic endpoint information, you need to enable the "Use dynamic endpoint if set in the message header" property for the Callout node as shown in Figure 5-64. Otherwise, the run time uses the default endpoint if there is one, or throws an error.

Description Terminal	≽ Callout : retriev	eCustomer : CustomerServiceIF
Details · Retry Promoted Properties	Reference name: Operation name:	CustomerServiceIFPartner retrieveCustomer if set in the message header
	Async timeout (seconds):	5

Figure 5-64 Set dynamic endpoint setting in the Callout

5.7.3 Fan Out and Fan In primitive

This section provides an overview of the Fan Out and Fan In primitives (new in WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1). These primitives let you split and aggregate messages and flows within mediations to provide parallel processing over the message.

Use of the Fan Out and Fan In primitives involves the following concepts:

- Context management
- Service inline invocation through the new Service Invoke primitive
- Transformation primitives

Fan Out and Fan In primitives are used for two main objectives:

To split a message, perform some processing, and then combine (aggregate) the resulting messages, as illustrated in Figure 5-65. Both the Fan Out and Fan In primitives are required to perform this type of function.



Figure 5-65 Fan Out and Fan In usage in a split and aggregate fashion

 To Broadcast messages one way to services using the Fan Out primitive, as illustrated in Figure 5-66.



Figure 5-66 Broadcasting messaging through Fan Out

Transformation is likely to be involved in both cases, as follows:

- ► To map the input message to the format that the invoked service expects.
- In the split and aggregation scenario, to map the aggregated messages to the output format.
- ► To move elements in and out from the body to the correlation, transient, and shared context.

Also in both cases, you are also likely to invoke multiple services. These services are included in the assembly diagram (Figure 5-67).



Figure 5-67 Aggregation and broadcast mediation flows wired with the used services

You do not need to connect the interface and partners in the mediation flow editor, as illustrated in Figure 5-68.

ht
FanOutBroadcastIF
🐉 fanOutBroadcast

Figure 5-68 Mediation Flow Editor while using inline service invocations in Fan Out Fan In flows

Fan Out primitive

In the Fan Out primitive configuration, you must decide how many times you want the primitive to fire the input message.

If you specify *once*, Fan Out sends one identical copy of the same message along each of the output branches. All of the copies share a *shared context*, where you can store the service results after their execution.

Alternatively, you can send the same object multiple times along every output branch. In this case, you need to specify an XPath expression, and the message is fired as many times as the expression element occurrences.

Build Activities 🔲 Propert	ies X Problems Servers Console
Description	🕂 Fan Out : FanOut
Terminal	
Details Promoted Properties	Fan Out Fire output terminal with original input message once
	◯ for each element in XPath expression

Figure 5-69 Possible configuration of the Fan Out primitive

Fan In primitive

The Fan In primitive is associated with a Fan Out primitive. You configure the condition that makes the primitive fire out the output message (Figure 5-70). The condition can be one of the following conditions:

- A certain number of messages has arrived to the Fan In over the incoming branches.
- An XPath expression that is compared to the incoming messages evaluates to true.

Optionally, you can specify a timeout that makes the primitive fire out the message when it expires.

Build Activities 🔲 Propert	ies X Problems Servers Console		
Description	🔁 Fan In : FanIn		
Terminal			
Details	Associated Fan Out: FanOut		
Promoted Properties	Fire output terminal with original input message		
	() once		
	O for each element in XPath expression		
	-Fan In		
	Fire output terminal when		
	Input messages have been received		
	XPath expression evaluates to true		
	O the associated Fan Out primitive has iterated through all messag		
	Enable timeout		
	Fire incomplete terminal if the output terminal has not fired after		

Figure 5-70 Fan In configuration

Note: When you insert a Fan In primitive and indicate the corresponding Fan Out primitive, both the primitive configurations show the corresponding primitive in read-only mode.

5.7.4 Service Invoke primitive

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *ServiceInvocationSample* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

The Service Invoke primitive lets you call a service from inside a mediation flow, rather than waiting until the end of the mediation flow and using the callout mechanism. The input message is used to call the service and, if the call is successful, the response is used to create the output message. If the call is unsuccessful you can retry the same service, or call another service.

Properties

The properties to note are:

- Reference Name: The name of the service reference to be called. The reference name is associated with a WSDL interface. Initially, the reference name is set through a WebSphere Integration Developer dialog box and cannot be changed afterwards. You have to create a new Service Invoke primitive to change the reference name.
- Operation Name: The name of the service operation to be called. The operation name is associated with a WSDL operation. Initially, the Operation Name is set through a WebSphere Integration Developer dialog box and cannot be changed afterwards. You have to create a new Service Invoke primitive to change the operation name.
- Use Dynamic Endpoint if set in the message header: Determines whether the SMO header field Target, if present, needs to be used to override the service endpoint specified by the reference operation. You can use the Endpoint Lookup primitive to set the Target field, or you can set the field yourself.
- Async Timeout: The time to wait for a response when a call is asynchronous with a deferred response. The Async Timeout property is not used for calls that are asynchronous with callback. If the Async Timeout is 0, there is no wait and the response is immediate. If the Async Timeout is -1, the wait is indefinite. When a timeout occurs the timeout terminal is fired. A timeout is treated as an unmodeled fault, with regard to retry.
- Require mediation flow to wait for service response when the flow component is invoked asynchronously with callback: Set to true (select the check box) to force a service call to act in a synchronous manner. If true, an asynchronous call causes a deferred response, rather than a callback. Set this property to true if the whole mediation flow is to run in a single transaction. If you set this property to false and the primitive is involved in a Fan Out/Fan In operation,

the run time overrides the setting and forces the service call to act in a synchronous manner.

- *Retry On*: Determines whether, and how, fault responses cause a retry. The following values are valid:
 - Never
 - Any fault
 - Unmodeled fault
 - Modeled fault

To enable retry, you must set the value of the Retry On property to Any fault, Unmodeled fault, or Modeled fault.

Modeled faults are those that are explicitly listed in a WSDL file. Any other fault is an unmodeled fault. This property is only applicable to request-response operations.

- *Retry Count*: How many times a service call is retried before an output terminal is fired. The output terminal that is fired can be modeled fault, timeout, or fail. The value can be zero or a positive integer.
- *Retry Delay*: The delay (in seconds) between retry attempts. The value can be zero or a positive integer.
- Try Alternate Endpoints: Determines whether any alternate endpoints in the SMO need to be used on retries. Set to true (select the check box) to try to alternate endpoints.

Using the Service Invoke primitive

The Service Invoke primitive has one input terminal (In) and multiple output terminals. There is a fail terminal (Fail) for unmodeled faults, and one output terminal for each modeled fault. Modeled faults are those that are explicitly listed in a WSDL file. Any other fault is an unmodeled fault. In addition, there is an output terminal (Out) that maps to the WSDL response message and a timeout terminal (Timeout) that is used for some types of asynchronous calls.

Figure 5-71 shows how to set properties to call retrieveCustomer operation of CustomerServiceIF.

🔲 Properties 🛛 🛛 Pro	blems	Servers	Console	Progress	
Description		Service	Invoke	: retrie	eveCustomer
Terminal					
Details	Refe	rence na	me:	Custo	merServiceIFPartner
Promoted Properties	Oper	ation nar	ne:	retriev	veCustomer
	U []	se dynam	nic endpoir	nt if set in	the message header
	Asyn	ic timeout	t (seconds): 5	
	R	equire me	ediation flo	ow <mark>to wait</mark>	for service response when the flor

Figure 5-71 Service Invoke properties

Figure 5-72 shows the retrieveCustomer Service Invoke primitive in the mediation flow. If the service invoke is successful, the updated message exits the primitive through the Out terminal and proceeds to CustomerInfoRetrieved transformation primitive. If the service call failed or timed out, the flow is routed to CustomerNotFound transformation.



Figure 5-72 Service invoke primitive in a message flow

Note: This type of mediation does not require a response flow.

5.8 Tracing primitives

The primitives in the Mediation Flow Editor in the Tracing category are:

- Message Logger primitive
- Event Emitter primitive

5.8.1 Message Logger primitive

The Message Logger primitive stores messages in a relational database during a mediation flow. The Message Logger primitive logs messages to a relational database using an IBM-defined database schema (table structure). It does not write to other storage mediums such as flat files.

Properties

The properties to note are:

- Data source name: The JNDI name of the data source that defines where the data will be logged. At V6.1, the default jdbc/mediation/messageLog maps to the Common database.
- Root: An XPath 1.0 expression representing the scope of the message to be logged. You can specify:
 - / refers to the complete SMO
 - /body refers to the body section of the SMO
 - /headers refers to the headers of the SMO
 - Your own XPath expression

If you specify your own XPath expression, the part of the SMO you specify is processed. The message to be logged is converted to XML from the point specified by Root.

 Transaction mode: Defines whether to commit changes to the database, in the flow's transaction or in a new transaction.

If you specify Same, the message is logged in the flow's transaction. By default, the flow is executed under a local transaction although the mediation component can be configured to run under a global transaction. If a global transaction is specified and a failure occurs in the flow then the global transaction, including the log operation, is rolled back.

If you specify New, the message is logged in its own local transaction. In this case, if a failure occurs in the flow the message logging is not rolled back.

Using the Message Logger primitive

The Message Logger primitive has one input terminal (In), one output terminal (Out), and one Fail terminal.

Figure 5-73 shows how to set the primitive properties to log *custID* value from the Input message. Note that you do not have to type the *Data source name* value unless you want to change the default.

🔲 Properties 🕺 🛛 Tasks	Problems	Error Log	Model Report	Data Output	Bookmarks	Se
Description	😽 Messa	ige Logg	jer : Messa	geLogger1		
Terminal						
Details Promoted Properties	Data source	name:*	jdbc/mediation/	messageLog		
	Root:		body/retrieveC	ustomer/custo	omer/custID	
	Transaction	mode: 🤅	Same			

Figure 5-73 Message Logger properties

The data source that defines that database must be defined to the application server. The data source definition must have the JNDI name defined to match the Data source name field specified here. The default definitions point to the Common database.

Figure 5-74 shows how Message Logger primitive is wired in the mediation flow.



Figure 5-74 Message Logger primitive in a message flow

To view the Message Logger database, find the name and location of the database corresponding to the data source name jdbc/mediation/messageLog on the WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus server. To find the database:

- 1. Open the administrative console for WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus.
- 2. Select Resources \rightarrow JDBC \rightarrow Data Sources.

- 3. Select All Scopes as the scope.
- 4. Match the data source name specified in the Message Logger primitive to the JNDI name column.
- 5. Double-click the data source to open it, and find the database name in the data source properties (Figure 5-75).

Derby data source properties * Database name		
C:/IBM/WID61/pf/esb/databases/WPR	CSDB	
Apply OK Reset Cancel		

Figure 5-75 Derby data source properties

You can use the Database Explorer view in the Data perspective to create a connection to the logging database and to view the logging records. By default, the records are in the MSGLOG table of the WPRCSDB database as shown in Figure 5-76.

ise Explorer 🕱 📃 🗖	🕄 TestDBLookup - As	🐁 Mediation Flow
= 🔄 💼 👍 🛒 🏹	TIMESTAMP [TIMESTAMP]	MESSAGEID [VARCH
Innections Derby Sample Connection [Derby 10.1] ORDERDB [Derby 10.1] WPRCSDB [Derby 10.1] WPRCSDB Authorization IDs Chemas Chem	15/02/2008 16:16:24 16/02/2008 23:10:55 16/02/2008 23:14:30 16/02/2008 23:15:09 16/02/2008 23:17:41 16/02/2008 23:18:30 16/02/2008 23:38:13 16/02/2008 23:51:04 16/02/2008 23:51:16 16/02/2008 23:51:35 <new row=""></new>	1EF480B5-0118-400 25966134-0118-400 2599AA54-0118-400 259A43A6-0118-400 259C93DF-0118-400 259D5403-0118-400 25AF540B-0118-400 25BB257F-0118-400 25BB9E1A-0118-400
E Tables		
	•	Edit
		Load

Figure 5-76 Viewing data in a table

5.8.2 Event Emitter primitive

Additional materials: We include a sample mediation called *EventEmitterMediation* in Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511 to illustrate this primitive.

The Event Emitter primitive sends out business events during a mediation flow. The events are generated in the form of common base events (CBE) and are sent to a common event infrastructure (CEI) server.

Properties

The properties to note are:

- Label: Allows you to define a unique identifier for the event. The unique identifier maps to the extension name of the CBE. WebSphere Integration Developer provides a default label, but it is strongly recommended that you provide a more meaningful event label for your particular event type. Events are emitted to the CEI server, which can be accessed by many different event consumer applications. Therefore, event names need to be unique across the system in order to distinguish different event type. If two Event Emitter primitives generate exactly the same event type, it might be acceptable to have the same Label name.
- Transaction mode: Allows you to override the transaction mode set on the emitter. (An event source, such as an Event Emitter primitive, does not interact directly with the event server. Instead it interacts with an object called an *emitter*.) The transaction mode can be configured in the CEI infrastructure or overridden at the Event Emitter primitive level.

If you specify the Default transaction mode, events are sent to the CEI server using the default setting in the CEI emitter.

If you specify the Existing transaction mode, events are sent to the CEI server in the flow's transaction.

If you specify the New transaction mode, events are sent to the CEI server outside the flow's transaction.

- *Root:* An XPath 1.0 expression representing the part of the message to be included in the CBE. You can specify:
 - /
 - /headers
 - /context
 - /body
 - Your own XPath expression

Using the Event Emitter primitive

The Event Emitter primitive has one input terminal, one output terminal, and a fail terminal.

Figure 5-77 shows the primitive properties for the case when custID of the Input message is used as event value.

🔄 Event Emitt	er : EventEmitter1
Label: *	EventEmitterMediation_EventEmitter1_Req
Root:	/body/retrieveCustomer/custID
Transaction mode:	Default 🗸

Figure 5-77 Event Emitter properties

In the sample mediation shown in Figure 5-78, the input message is routed to the retrieveCustomer service call if customer ID starts with *1*. Otherwise, a new event is emitted with customer ID as its content. The MessageFilter1 primitive is responsible for filtering, while EventEmitter1 emits the event.



Figure 5-78 Event Emitter in a message flow

To see the events that are emitted, you need to start the Common Base Event Browser as shown in Figure 5-79.



Figure 5-79 Starting the Common Base Event Browser

5.9 Error Handling primitives

The primitives in the Mediation Flow Editor in the Error Handling category are:

- Fail primitive
- Stop primitive

5.9.1 Fail primitive

The Fail primitive stops the mediation flow and raises an exception. Existing transactions are rolled back and the module throws a FailFlowException.

The Fail mediation has the *Error message* property. This property is an optional, user-supplied, error message. The Error message value is added to the FailFlowException that is generated by the Fail primitive.

The Fail primitive has only one in terminal.

Note: If a transaction is in progress, when the mediation flow is stopped by a fail primitive, the transaction is rolled back, and the FailFlowException is stored in the transient context.

5.9.2 Stop primitive

The Stop primitive stops a particular path in the flow.

The primitive has no properties. The Stop primitive has only one in terminal.

You can use the Stop primitive to consume exceptions silently. If another primitive's Fail terminal is wired to a Stop primitive, then any messages that go to the Fail terminal are consumed. This has the same effect as an empty catch block in Java.

5.10 Custom Mediation primitive

A Custom Mediation primitive lets you do whatever you do not find covered in other default Transformation primitives. The Custom Mediation primitive receives an input SMO, manipulates it according to your definition, and fires it out.

The Custom Mediation primitive consists of Java code. You can enter the Java code in directly or use the Visual editing tool to create it.

Figure 5-80 shows an example of using the Visual editor to create the code. It shows the features that are available (for example, expression builders, iterative constructs, choices, and so forth).

Build Activities 🔲 Propert	ies 🗙 Problems Servers Console
Build Activities Propert Description Terminal User Properties Details Java Imports Promoted Properties	Problems Servers Console Custom Mediation : CustomMediation1 Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Implementation: Implementation: Visual Java Implementation: Implementation: Implementation: Implementa
	!⇒ Throw (● Return Image: Comment

Figure 5-80 Custom mediation visual editor

You can add an extra terminal to a Custom Mediation primitive by right-clicking the Custom Mediation primitive and selecting either **Add Input Terminal** or **Add Output Terminal**. The name that you give to a terminal is used in code generation and, therefore, must be a valid Java identifier.

You can define your own properties in a Custom Mediation primitive by going to the User Properties tab of the Properties view. You can add, edit, and remove user properties.

6

Mediation examples

This chapter includes a series of mediation examples. These examples illustrate the use of some of the mediation primitives. It also provides information about how to build and test mediations.

Additional material: The examples that we discuss in this chapter (and more) are included in the additional materials for this book. For information about downloading the additional materials, see Appendix B, "Additional material" on page 511. The mediation examples are included in the MedationSamples.zip project interchange file. Be sure to import all the projects in this project interchange file.

This chapter includes the following topics:

- Database Lookup example
- Message Element Setter example
- Set Message Type example
- Message Filter example
- Endpoint Lookup example
- ► The Event Emitter primitive

6.1 Database Lookup example

Additional material: This example is included in the TestDbLookup and DBMSServiceMediation projects in the additional materials.

This example illustrates the use of a Database Lookup primitive and the JDBC adapter in a mediation flow. In this example, we assume that customer information is stored in multiple places. Some records are in a local database called OLDDB. Others can be retrieved through the CustomerService Web service. The Web service is emulated by the DBMSServiceMediationApp of our OrderManagement application.

The instructions in this section illustrate how this mediation and its database were created.

6.1.1 Create the database and connection

This example assumes that the Derby database has been created. The next step defines a connection to the database from the WebSphere Integration Developer workspace.

Switch to the Data perspective and create a connection to the database:

- 1. In the Database Explorer view, right-click **Connections** and select **New Connection**.
- 2. Select **Derby 10.1** as the database manager and complete the required fields as shown in Figure 6-1.
- 3. Click Finish.

Connection identification	
Connection Name: OLDDB	
Select a database manager:	JDBC driver: Derby Embedded JDBC Driver
⊕ DB2 for z/OS ⊜ Derby	Connection URL details
10.0	Database location: C:\itso\sampleDB\OLDDB
Generic JDBC	Create the database if required
User information	Upgrade the database to the current version
User ID: dbadmin	JDBC driver class: org.apache.derby.jdbc.EmbeddedDriver
Password: ******	Class location: C:\IBM\WID61\runtimes\bi_v61\derby\ib\derby.jar
Test Connection	Connection URL: jdbc:derby:C:\itso\sampleDB\OLDDB;create=true;u

Figure 6-1 New database connection properties

Create the table

To create the table, follow these steps:

1. Click the Open SQL Editor icon (Figure 6-2). to open a New_Statement_1 tab, where you can type or paste SQL statements.



- 2. Copy the contents of OLD_CUSTOMER_TABLE.ddl.
- 3. Right-click anywhere in the SQL editor panel and select **Run SQL** from the pop-up menu.
- 4. In the Connection Selection panel, select **Use an existing connection** and select the **OLDDB Connection**.
- 5. Click **Finish**. The table is created in the database, and the Connection structure reflects this (Figure 6-3).

🖃 🙀 Connections
□ □=== Derby Sample Connection [Derby 10.1]
🖨 📲 OLDDB [Derby 10.1]
🕀 🦳 Authorization IDs
🖹 🗀 Schemas
🕀 📲 APP
🕀 🗀 Dependencies
🕀 🧰 🎦 Stored Procedures
🚊 🦳 Tables
🕀 🧰 User-Defined Functions
🗄 🗀 Views

Figure 6-3 New connection to OLDDB

Load the data

To load the data, follow these steps:

- Right-click the OLDCUSTOMER table, and select Data → Load from the pop-up menu.
- 2. On the Load Data panel select the OldCustomer.data file as the input file.

🕄 TestDBLo	ookup - Assembly Diagram	ο DLDCUSTOMER δ	3				
CUSTID	CUSTDESC [VARCH	ADDRESS [VARCHAR(30)]	ZIP	CITY [VAR	S.,	SO	BUDGET
20001	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20002	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20003	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20101	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20102	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20103	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20201	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20202	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20203	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20301	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20302	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20303	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20401	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20402	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20403	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20501	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20502	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20503	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20601	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20602	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20603	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20701	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20702	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20703	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20801	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20802	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20803	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
20901	Old John Smith Corp.	245 South Road	12601	Poughkeepsie	NY	1000	50000
20902	Old Jane Doe Inc.	3039 E. Cornwallis Road	27709	RTP	NC	50000	15000
20903	Old YXZ itso Corp.	4205 S. Miami Blvd	27709	RTP	NC	10000	5000
<new ro<="" td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></new>							

3. Click **Finish** to load the data. The customer data displays as shown in Figure 6-4.

Figure 6-4 Customer data

4. Disconnect from the OLDDB database.

6.1.2 Create the mediation module

To create the mediation module, follow these steps:

- Select File → New → Mediation Module. Name the new module TestDBLookup.
- 2. Set the target run time to **WebSphere ESB Server v6.1** as shown in Figure 6-5.

🚯 New Mediation Module	
Mediation module Create a new mediation module. A mediation module is a project that is used for development, version	
Module name: TestDBLookup Image: C:/workspace/RB_04/TestDBLookup Browse	
Target runtime: WebSphere ESB Server v6.1	
Create mediation component Name: TestDBLookup	

Figure 6-5 Create the TestDBLookup mediation module

3. Click Next and add OrderManagementLib as a required library (Figure 6-6).

🚯 New Mediation Module 🛛 🛛 🔀
Select required libraries
Select libraries containing re-usable resources such as interfaces, to be used by this module.
Libraries:
OrderManagementLib WarehousesLib
Module dependencies are primarily configured using the dependency editor.
? < Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 6-6 Adding OrderManagementLib as a dependency

4. Click Finish.

6.1.3 Complete the assembly diagram

Initially, the assembly diagram contains one component, TestDBLookup. We need to add the import component for the CustomerService Web service.

 In the Business Integration view, select CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort Web service port in OrderManagementLib (as shown in Figure 6-7).



Figure 6-7 Web service interface

- 2. Drag and drop it into the assembly diagram canvas. Choose **Import with Web Service Binding** in the Component Creation window and click **OK**. Name the import component CustomerServiceIFImport.
- 3. Wire TestDBLookup to CustomerServicelFImport as shown in Figure 6-8.



4. Select CustomerServiceIFImport and switch to its Binding tab in the Properties view. Make sure that the port number is set to the port that is used by the server on which you plan to test. Our test server uses port 9081. So, we change 9080 to 9081, as shown in Figure 6-9.



Figure 6-9 Set the port number

- 5. Add the CustomerServiceIF interface to the TestDBLookup component.
- 6. Right-click **TestDBLookup** and choose **Regenerate Implementation** from the pop-up menu. Answer *Yes* to replace the existing implementation to open a Mediation Flow Editor window.

6.1.4 Wire the operation connections

Wire the retrieveCustomer operation of CustomerServiceIF to the retrieveCustomer operation of CustomerServiceIFPartner. Select the wire that connects the two to open the mediation flow for that connection (Figure 6-10).



Figure 6-10 Wire the operation connections

6.1.5 Build the mediation flow



Figure 6-11 shows the mediation flow that we build for this example.

Figure 6-11 Database Lookup primitive in the message flow

The mediation attempts to find customer data based on a key value (customer ID) in a local database. If the database lookup is successful, the information is retrieved from the local database and the result is returned. If the database lookup does not find a customer record, a Web service call retrieves the record. If an error occurs during the customer information retrieval, the return code is set to -1 and the flow is exited.

Database Lookup

The Database Lookup primitive is the first primitive that you add to the flow. To add and configure this primitive, follow these steps:

- 1. Add a Database Lookup primitive to the mediation flow canvas. The primitive is located under Transformation folder of Palette.
- 2. Rename the mediation to OldCustomerDBLookup and wire it into the flow. Connecting the wire to the in terminal sets the type of the input message for the primitive.

3. In the Details tab of Properties view set the values as shown in Figure 6-12.

🔋 Database Looku	p : OldCustomerDl	BLookup	
Data source name:* jdbo	/DerbyOLDDB		
Table name: * OLD	CUSTOMER		
Key column name: * CUS	ID		
Key path: /bod	ly/retrieveCustomer/cu	stomer/custID	Edit
Validate input			
Value column name	Message value type	Message element	Add
CUSTDESC	String	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custName	
ZIPCODE	String	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/zipCode	Edit
CITY	String	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/city	Remove
STATE	String	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/state	
SOLDTODATE	int	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/soldToDate	
BUDGET	int	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/budget	
ADDRESS	String	/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/address	

Figure 6-12 Database Lookup primitive details

XSL Transformation primitives

Four XSL Transformation primitives are used to transform the new message to the required format, depending on the path the message takes:

- 1. Drag and drop an XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas, and rename it to 01dCustomerXSLT.
- 2. Add another XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas, and rename it to WebServicesXSLT.
- 3. Add another XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas, and rename it to RC=-1.
- 4. Add another XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas, and rename it to DBLookupFailure.
- 5. Wire the out terminal of OldCustomerDBLookup to the in terminal of OldCustomerXSLT, the keyNotFound terminal to WebServiceXSLT, and the fail terminal to DBLookupFailure.

- 6. Wire the out terminal of the OldCustomerXSLT to Input Response node, and wire the fail terminal to RC-1.
- 7. Wire the out terminal of the WebServiceXSLT to the Callout node, and wire the fail terminal to RC-1.
- 8. Wire the out terminal of RC=-1 to the Input Response node.
- 9. Create the mappings for each XSL Transformation primitive.

Figure 6-13 shows the mapping for OldCustomerXSLT.

wVELTwaneformation1 and 1		
*ASLITANSIONIAtion1_req_1	🖦 😾 tha tha 🕪 nFE 🕁	
⊟ 🔁 body		⊡ e ≩body
e retrieveCustomer RetrieveCustomerType		🖃 🖻 retrieveCustomerResponse
E customer Customer		e customer
e? custID string	Move 🔻	e? custID
e? custName string	Move -	e? custName
-2	Move	e? address
e address string		e? zipCode
e? zipCode string	Move	e? city
e? city string	Move 🔻	e? state
e? state string	Move	e? budget
	Moult	e? soldToDate
ef budget int		🖃 🖻 returnCode
e? soldToDate int	Move	e? RC
	Assign 🔻	
Build Activities 🔲 Properties 🖄 Problems Serve	rs Console Data Output	
General 🔄 Transform - Assign		
Cardinality Value: 'success from OLDDB date	abase'	
Condition		

Figure 6-13 OldCustomerXSLT mapping

XSLTransformation2_	req_1	₽× ₽	x 🕼 🙀 👘	₽		
🖃 🔁 body					🖃 🥵 body	
e retrieveCustomer	RetrieveCustomerType				🖃 🖻 retrieveCustomer	RetrieveCus
🖃 🖻 customer	Customer				e customer	Customer
e? custID	string	<u> </u>	Move 🔻		e? custID	string
e? custName	string		Move 🔻		e? custName	string
		-	Maura		e? address	string
e? address	string		Move 👻		e? zipCode	string
e? zipCode	string		Move 🔻		e? city	string
e? city	string		Move 🔻		e? state	string
-2			Move 🔻		• e? budget	int
e state	string				e? soldToDate	int
e? budget	int		Move 🔻			
e? soldToDate	int		Move 🔻			
		1				

Figure 6-14 shows the mapping for WebServiceXSLT.

Figure 6-14 WebServiceXSLT mapping

Figure 6-15 shows the mapping for DBLookupFailure.

XSLTransformation4_req_1		
▼X5LTransformation4_req_1 🔊 🕼 🚑 🗱 💭 🕪 🕸 🛱		
□ È body	⊡ e ≩body	
eretrieveCustomer RetrieveCustomerType	🖃 🖻 retrieveCustomerResponse	RetrieveCustomer
	🗉 🖻 customer	Customer
	🖃 🖻 returnCode	ReturnCode
Assign 💌	e? RC	string
uild Activities 🔲 Properties 🕄 Problems Servers		
General 🗟 Transform - Assign		
Cardinality Value: dblookup failed		
Condition		
Order		

Figure 6-15 DBLookupFailure mapping

Figure 6-16 shows the mapping for RC=-1.

▼XSLTransfor	mation3_	req_1	₽ 🗙	ter ter B	• 🐚 🛱		
🖃 诸 body						🖃 🛃 body	
🗄 🖻 retrieve	eCustomer	RetrieveCustomerType				🖃 🖻 retrieveCustomerResponse	RetrieveCustomer
						🕀 🖻 customer	Customer
						🖃 🖻 returnCode	ReturnCode
				Assign 🔻		e? RC	string
<]							
uild Activities	Propertie	s 🛛 Problems Serve	rs				
General	🕤 Tra	nsform - Assign					
Cardinality	Value:	-1					
Condition							
Order							

Figure 6-16 Assign the return code value

6.1.6 Response flow

Build the response flow using the following steps:

- 1. Click the Response tab to open the response flow.
- 2. Add an XSL Transformation primitive. Name the new primitive WebServiceResult, and wire it between the Callout Response node and the Input Response node. See Figure 6-17.



Figure 6-17 Response Flow

XSLTransformation 1_res_1			
XSLTransformation1_res_1	14 a 🛪 🔰 🕹	B. 10 🛱	
□ 诸 body			⊡ e ≩body
🖃 🖲 retrieveCustomerResponse 🛛 Retrieve	CustomerResponseType		🖃 🖻 retrieveCustomerRespo
🖃 🖻 customer Custome	er		e customer
e? custID string		Move 🔻	e? custID
e? custName string		Move 🔻	e? custName
		Move 🔻	e? address
e address string		THE IS	e? zipCode
e? zipCode string		Move	e? city
e? city string		Move 🕶	e? state
e? state string		Move -	e? budget
-2.		Move	e? soldToDate
ef budget int		PIOYE	🖃 🖻 returnCode
e? soldToDate int		Move	e? RC
	Code	Assign -	
1			
dd artistica 🔲 Davartina 🕅 🛛 Davlines	Server Controls Data Outrat		
ulid Activities Properties 23 Problems	Servers Console Data Output	•	
General 🔄 Transform - Assig	n		
Cardinality Value: success from DBM	S web service		
Condition			

3. Complete the mapping for WebServiceResult as shown in Figure 6-18.

Figure 6-18 WebServiceResult mapping

4. Save the mediation flow component and the module.

6.1.7 Preparing the run time

The properties of the Database Lookup primitive specify a data source reference to access the database. Before deploying the mediation module, you need to create a corresponding data source and a corresponding J2C authentication alias in the runtime environment.

In this case, you need to create a data source that specifies a JNDI name to match the data source name that is specified in the primitive (jdbc/DerbyOLDDB). Follow these steps:

 In the administrative console, select Security → Secure administration, applications and infrastructure → Java Authentication and Authorization Service → J2C authentication data. 2. Click **New** to create a new authentication alias. Populate it with the user ID and password for the database (dbadmin for both, in this case, as shown in Figure 6-19).

Secure administration, applications, and infrastructure > JAAS - J2C authentication data > New
Specifies a list of user identities and passwords for Java(TM) 2 connector security to use.
Configuration
General Properties
* Alias OLDDB_Alias
* User ID dbadmin
* Password
Description
Apply OK Reset Cancel

Figure 6-19 J2C authentication alias for the database
- 3. In the administrative console, select **Resources** \rightarrow **JDBC** \rightarrow **Data sources**.
- 4. Change the scope to the cell scope and click **New** to create a new data source. Follow the wizard using the information shown in the summary in Figure 6-20.

Summary	
Summary of actio	ons:
Options	Values
Scope	cells:widCell
Data source name	OLDDB
JNDI name	jdbc/DerbyOLDDB
Component- managed authentication alias	widNode/OLDDB_Alias
JDBC provider name	Derby JDBC Provider (XA)
Description	Derby embedded XA JDBC Provider. This provider is only configurable in version 6.0.2 and later nodes
Class path	\${DERBY_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/derby.jar
Native path	

Figure 6-20 New data source

6.1.8 Test the module

Now test the module using the Integration Test Client following these steps:

- 1. Deploy both the TestDBLookup and the DBMSServiceMediation modules to the server and start them.
- 2. Use a Web browser to make sure the Web service is accessible using the URL that is specified in the binding tab for the CustomerServiceIFImport interface, as shown in Figure 6-21.



Figure 6-21 Testing the Web service from a browser

3. Run the test using 10001 as the customer ID. Figure 6-22 shows the results.

- D	etailed Properties		
Mo	odule: <u>TestDBLookup</u>		
Co	mponent: <u>TestDBLookup</u>		
In	terface: <u>CustomerServ</u>	iceIF	
Op	eration: <u>retrieveCustor</u>	<u>mer</u>	
Ret	urn parameters:		
E			
	Name	Type	Value
	😑 💾 customer	Customer	*
	ustID	string	✓ 10001
	🖳 🛄 custName	string	✓ John Smith Corp.
	💭 address	string	✓ 245 South Road
	💭 💭 zipCode	string	✓ 12601
	🖳 🛄 city	string	✓ Poughkeepsie
	💭 state	string	✓ NY
	👘 🛄 budget	int	✓ 50000
	soldToDate	int	✓ 1450
	😑 🖳 returnCode	ReturnCode	*
		string	 success from DBMS web service

Figure 6-22 Test results

This value causes a keyNotFound condition and results in a call to the Web service, as shown in Figure 6-23.



Figure 6-23 List of events, including the Web service call

4. Repeat the test using 20001 as the customer ID. Figure 6-24 shows the results of the test.

 Detailed Properties 		
Module: <u>TestDBLookup</u> Component: <u>TestDBLookup</u> Interface: <u>CustomerServ</u> Operation: <u>retrieveCustor</u>	L L liceIF mer	
Return parameters:		
E. 8		
Name	Туре	Value
😑 💾 customer	Customer	×
🛄 custID	string	✓ 20001
👘 🛄 custName	string	 Old John Smith Corp.
👘 💭 address	string	 245 South Road
👘 🛄 zipCode	string	✓ 12601
👘 🛄 city	string	✓ Poughkeepsie
👘 💭 state	string	✓ NY
👘 💭 budget	int	✓ 50000
💭 💭 soldToDate	int	✓ 1000
😑 💾 returnCode	ReturnCode	~
Ē⊐ RC	string	✓ success from OLDDB database

Figure 6-24 Testing DatabaseLookupSample1Module

This time the customer is found in the OLDDB database. Note that the sequence of calls differs from the first test (Figure 6-25).



Figure 6-25 List of events with no Web service call

5. Repeat the test a third time using 30001 as a customer ID. This time, you see an exception thrown by the Web service, as shown in Figure 6-26.

🖃 🌃 Invoke (TestDBLookup:retrieveCustomer)
🖃 隆 Invoke started
Invoke (TestDBLookup:retrieveCustomer)
Request (TestDBLookup> CustomerServiceIFImport:retrieve(
Response (TestDBLookup < CustomerServiceIFImport:retrieven)
Exception (ServiceRuntimeException)
Invoke returned

Figure 6-26 List of events, including an exception thrown by the Web service

The exception displays in the component test window (Figure 6-27).

becaned rioper	ties
Module:	TestDBLookup
Source component:	TestDBLookup
Source reference:	CustomerServiceIFPartner
Target component:	CustomerServiceIFImport
Target interface:	CustomerServiceIF
Target operation:	retrieveCustomer
Exception dass:	
com.ibm.websphere	e.sca.ServiceRuntimeException
Exception message:	
ng>com.ibm.websp occurred when proc DBMSServiceMediat com.ibm.wsspi.sibx exception occurred import from mediati CWSXM0206E: An u	mediation flow for component DBMSServiceMediation in module tion: caused by: .mediation.flow.MediationRuntimeException: CWSXM1025E: An unexpe during flow invocation: CWSXM0111E: Service runtime exception invo on component DBMSServiceMediation in module DBMSServiceMediation unexpected exception
Exception trace:	

Figure 6-27 Exception data

6. When the testing is complete remove the projects from the server.

6.2 Message Element Setter example

Additional material: This example is included in the MessageElementSetterMediation project in the additional materials.

This mediation illustrates the use of the Message Element Setter primitive.

6.2.1 Build the assembly diagram

To build the assembly diagram, follow these steps:

- 1. Create the MessageElementSetterMediaiton mediation module, and add OrderManagementLib to its dependencies.
- 2. Import CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpService.
- 3. Add CustomerServiceIF interface, and wire MessageElementSetterMediation to CustomerServiceIFImport1 as shown in Figure 6-28.

MessageElementSetterMediation	CustomerServiceIFImport1
Figure 6.00 Magage Floment Catter Mediation	

Figure 6-28 MessageElementSetterMediation

4. Right-click MessageElementSetterMediation, and select Regenerate Implementation from the pop-up menu to open a Mediation Flow Editor.

6.2.2 Operation connections

In the Operation connections section, wire the retrieveCustomer operations (Figure 6-29). Select the connection to open the mediation flow.

•Operation connections	s 🔊 🗊 🖧 🗙	
Select a source operation, o	connect it to one or more target operations, and define the m	ediation flow.
① CustomerServiceIF		CustomerServiceIFPartner
👹 retrieveCustomer		👹 retrieveCustomer
👹 updateCustomer		👹 updateCustomer

Figure 6-29 Operation connections

6.2.3 Build the request flow

To use the Message Element Setter primitive:

- 1. Locate the primitive in the palette under the Transformation folder.
- 2. Drop it on the canvas, and name it *CustomerldSetter*. Wire the in and out terminals for the primitive. See Figure 6-30.



Figure 6-30 Message Element Setter in the mediation flow

- 3. Select the primitive and open the Details tab in the Properties view.
- 4. Click Add to define a message element.

You can enter the Target, Type, and Value fields, or you can click **Edit** to open the XPath expression builder. The options shown in Figure 6-31 assign a string value of 10001 to the /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custID element. Click **Finish**.

🚯 Add/Edi	t 🛛 🔀
Add/Edit p Specify the p	roperties.
Target:	/body/retrieveCustomer/custID Edit
Value:	10001
?	Finish Cancel

Figure 6-31 Message Element Setter properties

5. Repeat the process for each target element that you want to set (Figure 6-32).

📩 Message Element	Setter : (CustomerIdSetter		
Message Elements:				
Target	Туре	Value		Add
/body/retrieveCus	String	10001		Edit
				Remove
<	1111		>	2 7
Validate input				

Figure 6-32 Elements to be set

6.2.4 Build the response flow

To build the response flow, follow these steps:

- 1. Switch to the Response:retrieveCustomer tab.
- 2. Add a new Message Element Setter primitive to the canvas. Name it ReturnValueSetter.
- 3. Wire the new primitive between the Callout Response and Input Response nodes, as shown in Figure 6-33.



Figure 6-33 Response flow

- 4. Switch to the Details tab of the ReturnValueSetter Properties. Then:
 - a. Set Target to /body/retrieveCustomerResponse/returnCode/RC.
 - b. Select **copy** for the Type field.
 - c. Set /body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/custID for the Value field.
 - d. Click Finish.

Target:	/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/returnCode/RC	Edit
Type:	сору	▼
Value:	/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/custID	Edit

Figure 6-34 Message Element Setter properties

The properties that you set display as shown in Figure 6-35.

Message Element Setter : Return	1ValueSette	Channel Channel and the second second
ssage Elements:		
Target	T	Value
/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/returnCo	ode/RC copy	/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/custID
		>
Validate input		

Figure 6-35 Message Element Setter properties

5. Save all the changes.

6.2.5 Test the module

To test the module:

1. Switch to assembly diagram. Right-click the diagram and select **Test Module** to open the Detailed Properties window (Figure 6-36).

You do not need to set any values in this window. The Set Message Element primitive sets these values in the request flow.

2. Click Continue.

Detailed Pro	perties			_	
Configuration:	Default	t Module Test			~
Module:	Messag	geElementSetterM	ediation		~
Component:	Messag	MessageElementSetterMediation			
Interface:	Custom	nerServiceIF			~
Operation:	retriev	eCustomer			~
Invoke expo	rt using b	inding			
nitial request p					
niuai request pa	arameter	s			
R 🖞 🗖	arameter:	s			
Ranequest provinces of the second sec	arameter:	Туре		Value	
Request provide the second sec	e tomer	s Type Customer		Value	
Ritial request pr	tomer custID	s Type Customer string	~	Value	
Riterio Contractorio Contractor	tomer custID custNam	s Type Customer string string	~	Value	
	tomer custID custNam address	s Type Customer string string string	× × × ×	Value	
	tomer custID custNam address zipCode	s Customer string string string string	****	Value	
	tomer custID custNam address zipCode city	Type Customer string string string string string	× × × × ×	Value	
	tomer custID custIAam address zipCode city state	Type Customer string string string string string string	× × × × ×	Value	
	tomer custID custNam address zipCode city state budget	Type Customer string string string string string int	> > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >	Value	

Figure 6-36 Test properties

3. During the test run, the mediation flow retrieves the record for customer ID 10001, and then sets RC to the custID, which in our case is 10001 as shown in Figure 6-37.

Detailed Propertie	5	
Module: Message	ElementSetterMediati	ion
Component: Message	ElementSetterMediat	ion
componenta <u>Message</u>	ciementsettermediau	
Interface: Custome	rServiceIF	
Operation: <u>retrieve</u>	Customer_	
eturn parameters:		
Name	Type	Value
	Customer	J. Tende
	string	10001
- Č ustNa	m string	 John Smith Corp.
- Č addres	s string	✓ 245 South Road
	e strina	✓ 12601
ity ity	string	
i state	string	V NY
- È budaet	int	✓ 50000
	De int	✓ 1000
E P. returnCode	ReturnCode	~
	string	✓ 10001
1.00		

Figure 6-37 Test results

4. When testing is complete, remove the projects from the server.

6.3 Set Message Type example

Additional material: This example is included in the SetMessageTypeMediation, ExternalCustomerLib, and ExternalCustomerInfo projects in the additional materials.

This example uses two Web services that can update customer information:

- CustomerServiceIF is an internal service that retrieves and updates customer information for customer IDs that start with 1. This Web service is an existing service in OrderManagementLib.
- ExternalCustomerIF is an external service that processes all other customer IDs. This Web service and its interface are built in this example.

The Set Message Type mediation is used to cast the input object to the object type that is required by the service that is called.

6.3.1 Build the ExternalCustomerLib library

The ExternalCustomerLib library contains the Web service business objects and interfaces so that the WSDL files can be shared easily with clients.

To build the ExternalCustomerLib library:

- 1. Build a new library and name it ExternalCustomerLib.
- 2. Create the ExternalCustomerInfoBO business object in the library with the fields shown in Figure 6-38.

₹Ē	Business object 🧊 ứ
r	ExternalCustomerInfoBO
	e custID string
	e custName string
	e custAddr string
	custPhone string
L	

Figure 6-38 ExternalCustomerInfoBO business object

3. Build the ExternalCustomerIF interface with one updateExtCust operation that takes the inExtCust object for input and the outExtCust for output. Both objects are of type ExternalCustomerInfoBO. The interface is shown in Figure 6-39.

🕄 SetMessageTypeMedia	AnyCustomerBO	ExternalCustomerIF
•Operations	s 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
	Name	Туре
▼ WupdateExtCust		
DI Input(s)	inExtCust	ExternalCustomerInfoBO
ID Output(s)	outExtCust	ExternalCustomerInfoBO

Figure 6-39 ExternalCustomerIF interface

4. Save and close the library.

6.3.2 Build the ExternalCustomerInfo Web service

Now, you can create an ExternalCustomerInfo Web service. This Web service is actually a dummy mediation module that acts as the Web service and simply returns the input data.

To build the ExternalCustomerInfo Web service:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow New \rightarrow Mediation Module to build the new module.
 - a. Name it ExternalCustomerInfo.
 - b. Select WebSphere ESB Server v6.1 for the Target run time.
 - c. Add ExternalCustomerInfoLib as a required library.
 - d. Click **Finish** to open the assembly diagram with the ExternalCustomerInfo component.
- 2. Add ExternalCustomerIF to the ExternalCustomerInfo component.
- 3. Select **Regenerate Implementation** from the component's pop-up menu to open the Mediation Flow Editor.

Build the request flow

In the mediation flow editor:

- 1. Drop an XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas and name it XSLTexternalCust.
- 2. Wire the Input node to the XSLTexternalCust input terminal, and write the Input Response node to the XSLTexternalCust output terminal as shown in Figure 6-40.



Figure 6-40 Mediation flow

3. Double-click the XSLTexternalCust to create the mapping. Move each field on the left to the corresponding field on the right to effectively configure the module to return the input data. See Figure 6-41.

Mapping Root						
XSLTransformation1_req_1						
rXSLTransformation1	L_req_1	₽× .	þi 📭 🖳 🛍			
🖃 诸 body					🖃 💽 body	
🖃 🖻 updateExtCust	UpdateExtCustType				e updateExtCustResponse	
🖃 🖻 inExtCust	ExternalCustomerInfoBO				🖃 🖻 outExtCust	
e? custID	string		Move 🔻		e? custID	
e? custName	string		Move 🔻		e? custName	
	build		Move		e? custAddr	
ef custAddr	string		MOVE *		e? custPhone	
e? custPhone	string		Move 🔻			

Figure 6-41 XSLTexternalCust mapping

4. Save the changes and close all open windows.

Test the module

Test the module to ensure that it returns the input values properly. Follow these steps:

- 1. Right-click in the assembly diagram and select **Test Module**.
- 2. Enter values for the test data (examples shown in Figure 6-42).

Detailed Pro	operties	;	
Carfornation			
Configuration:	Default	Module Lest	
Module:	Externa	CustomerInfo	
Component:	Externa	lCustomerInfo	
Interface:	Externa	CustomerIF	
Operation:	updateE	xtCust	
Invocation para	meters		
Name	e	Туре	Value
😑 📇 inE	xtCust	ExternalCustome	~
Í	custID	string	✓ 567
····[=	custNam	string	✓ Great NAME
···· [=	custAdd	string	 Great ADDRESS
ļ	custPho	string	✓ 555-5555

Figure 6-42 ExternalCustomerInfo Input

3. The results of the test should be the same data that you entered (as shown in Figure 6-43).

Detailed Pro	operties	i		
Madular E				
Module:	xternalC	ustomerInto		
Component: E	xternalO	<u>ustomerInfo</u>		
Interface: E	xternalO	ustomerIF		
Operation: u	pdateExt	tCust		
Return paramet	ers:			
E: 8: 0				
Name	2	Туре		Value
🗆 📇 out	ExtC	ExternalCustome	4	
(custID	string	¥	567
L	custNam	string	~	Great NAME
L	custAdd	string	¥	Great ADDRESS
ĒĒ	custPho	string	4	555-5555

Figure 6-43 ExternalCustomerInfo Output

Export the module as a Web service

Export the module as a Web service:

 Right-click the ExternalCustomerInfo component in the assembly diagram and select Generate Export → Web Service Binding from the pop-up menu to add the export to the assembly diagram, as shown in Figure 6-44.



Figure 6-44 Add an export with a Web service binding

Notice, that an ExternalCustomerIFExport1_ExternalCustomerIFHttpPort is created and placed under Web Service Ports of ExternalCustomerLib, as shown in Figure 6-45.



Figure 6-45 New Web service port definition

- Double-click ExternalCustomerIFExport1_ExternalCustomerIFHttpPort to open a plain text WSDL file.
- 3. Note that the port number is 9080. Change this value to the port number for your test server. In this example, change it to 9081, as shown in Figure 6-46. Then, save the file.



Figure 6-46 Change the port in the WSDL

- 4. To test the export, right-click **ExternalCustomerlFExport1** and select **Test Component** from the pop-up menu.
- 5. Enter any custID, custName, custAddr, and custPhone as shown in Figure 6-47.

Configuration: Default Mo		Iodule Test			
Module:	ExternalCustom	erInfo			
Component:	ExternalCustom	erIFExport1			
Interface:	ExternalCustom	erIF			
Operation:	updateExtCust				
✓ Invoke expor	t using binding				
Initial request pa	rameters				
₽ ₽ □					
Name		Туре	Value		
∃[□] any		anyType]	66		
😑 💾 Se	ecurity	SecurityHeaderType	~		
] any	anyType]	667		
	🖳 💾 UsernameT	UsernameTokenType	¥		
[[] anyAttribute	anySimpleType[]	×,		
	tribute	anySimpleType[]	×,		
Body		Body	✓		
∃ [□] any		anyType[]	661		
e 🗄 up	odateExtCust	updateExtCust	¥		
E E	inExtCust	ExternalCustomerInf	¥		
	CustID	string	✓ 4		
	💭 custName	string	✓ External Cust Name		
	🗇 💭 custAddr	string	✓ 55555 Main Street, External Vill		
	👘 💭 custPhone	string	✓ 555-5555		
[II] anyAt	tribute	anySimpleType[]	*		
any		anyType[]	667		
□] anvAttrib	ite	anySimpleTypeT	H_		

Figure 6-47 Test the export

6. Click **Continue** and review the output (Figure 6-48) to ensure that the Web service export works as expected.

Detailed I	Properties				
Module:	ExternalCustomerInfo				
Component:	ExternalCust	omerIFExp	port1		
Interface:	ExternalCust	omerIF			
Operation:	getExternalC	ustInfo			
Return param	eters:				
E: 8: E					
1	Name	Туре	Value		
🗆 😑 📇 (ustOut	Exter	~		
(🗀 custID	string	✓ 4		
(🗀 custName	string	✓ External Cust Name		
····i	🗆 custAddr	string	✓ 55555 Main Street, External Village, ZZ, 99.		
	🗀 custPhone	string	✓ 555-5555		

Figure 6-48 Export test results

Figure 6-49 shows the sequence of events.



Figure 6-49 Test sequence

6.3.3 Build SetMessageTypeMediation module

The mediation flow sends a message to one of two Web services.

 CustomerService: An Internal Customer Service that you can use to retrieve and update customer information for a customer with customer ID starting with *1*. The interface, CustomerServiceIF, requires a *Customer object* (Figure 6-50) to be passed to updateCustomer operation.

	Customer		1
e	custID	string	
е	custName	string	
е	address	string	
е	zipCode	string	
е	city	string	
е	state	string	
е	budget	int	
е	soldToDate	int	
			J

Figure 6-50 Customer business object

ExternalCustomerInfo: For all other customer ID's, you have to call an external customer service that has a different interface.

The interface, ExternalCustomerIF, has one operation called *updateExtCust*. This operation takes a inExtCust object for input and a outExtCust for output. Both objects are of type ExternalCustomerInfoBO, as shown in Figure 6-51.

🛱 ExternalCustomerInfoBO						
e custID string	-					
e custName string						
e custAddr string						
e custPhone string						
- //	2					

Figure 6-51 ExternalCustomerInfoBO

To start building the mediation:

- 1. Create a new mediation module called SetMessageTypeMediation.
- 2. Add both OrderManagementLib and ExternalCustomerInfoLib as required libraries.

6.3.4 Create an anyType business object and the interface

The next step is to build a business object and interface that will work with both Web services. Follow these steps:

1. Create a business object AnyCustomerBO with one weakly-typed field, customerData, of anyType.

To change the type to anyType, click the field's type to open a window that displays data types. Click **Browse** to look for and choose **anyType**. Click **OK**.

B	usiness object 🧊	ŕ
	AnyCustomerBO	
	customerData anyType	

Figure 6-52 Weakly-typed message field

2. Build the interface to use the new business object. Figure 6-53 shows the AnyCustomerIF interface, which has one operation, updateAnyCustomer. The input parameter of this operation, custData, is of type AnyCustomerBO.



Figure 6-53 Interface

- Locate the Web service ports in the Business Integration view. Select the port for each of the following Web services and drag and drop it to the assembly diagram:
 - CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort
 - ExternalCustomerlFExport1_ExternalCustomerlFHttpService

Leave the default names for imports.

- 4. Wire both imports to the SetMessageTypeMediation component.
- 5. Add AnyCustomerIF to the SetMessageTypeMediation component.



Figure 6-54 Assembly diagram

6. Regenerate the implementation. The Mediation Flow Editor opens.

6.3.5 Wire the connections

The operation connections for this module are wired as shown in Figure 6-55. Select one of the connections to open the mediation flow.

•Operation connections	🔊 💭	<u></u> ×		
Select a source operation, co	nnect it to one o	r more targe	t operations, and define t	he mediation flow.
(I) AnyCustomerIF				CustomerServiceIFPartr
👹 updateAnyCustomer			Π	👹 retrieveCustomer
	a			W updateCustomer
				ExternalCustomerIFPart
				🛶 👹 updateExtCust

Figure 6-55 Operation connections

6.3.6 Build the request flow

Figure 6-56 on page 403 shows the mediation flow. Add the following primitives to the mediation flow, name them, and wire them as shown in Figure 6-56.

- Two Set Message Type primitives called SetInternalType and SetExternalType.
- One Message Filter primitive called RouteCustomer. Add one output terminal to this primitive called internalCustomer. The default terminal is wired to SetExternalType. The internalCustomer terminal is wired to InternalXSLT.
- Two XSL Transformation primitives called InternalXSLT and ExternalXSLT.



Figure 6-56 Set Message Type primitive in the mediation flow

SetInternalType Message Type primitive

This primitive casts AnyCustomerBO to Customer. To configure this primitive:

- 1. Select the primitive in the mediation flow and set the new message type:
 - a. In the Details tab of the Properties view, click **Add** to set a new message type of the custData field.
 - b. Click Edit by the Weakly typed field to open an XPath Expression Builder.
 - c. Select /body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/customerData and click Finish.
 - d. Click Browse for the Actual field type. Choose Customer.

Weakly typed field:	/body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/customerData	Edit
Actual field type:	{http://OrderManagementLib}Customer	Browse

Figure 6-57 Set Message Type properties

2. Click Finish.

Now, you see the following weakly-typed field is treated as a strongly-typed Customer field in the following mediation flow (as shown in Figure 6-58):

/body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/customerData

🖾 Set Message Type : SetInternalType		
Message field refinements:		
Weakly typed field	Actual field type	Add
/body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/custData	{http://OrderManagementLib}Customer	Edit

Figure 6-58 Set Message Type properties

RouteCustomer Message Filter primitive

The Message Filter primitive is used to route the message to the next primitive in the flow. The primitive has two out terminals. The default terminal is wired to SetExternalType. The internalCustomer terminal is wired to InternalXSLT.

Using this filter:

- ► If the customer ID starts with *I*, the message is routed to InternalXSLT and eventually results in a call to the updateCustomer operation.
- ► If it does not start with a *1*, then the message is routed to ExternalXSLT and eventually results in a message to the updateExtCust operation.

To configure the RouteCustomer primitive, perform the following steps

1. Select the primitive in the mediation flow and open the Details tab of the Properties view.

2. Click **Add** to create a the new filtering condition. This starts a wizard where you can enter the pattern. You can enter the pattern, or you can click **Edit** to the right of the Pattern field to use the xPath Expression Builder to build the pattern, as shown in Figure 6-59. Make sure that you leave no trailing spaces in the expression.

Figure 6-59 XPath Expression Builder

3. Select the terminal name, and click **Finish** to complete the wizard. Figure 6-60 shows the results.

芦 Message Fi	ter : RouteCustomer	
Distribution mode:	First	
Filters:		
Pattern		Terminal name
substring(/boo	y/updateAnyCustomer/custData/customerData/custID, 1, 1)='1'	internalCustomer

Figure 6-60 Filtering condition

InternalXSLT XSL Transformation primitive

This primitive moves the values from the customerData typed as Customer. Open the map for the InternalXSLT primitive and add the mappings shown in Figure 6-61.

Mapping Root						
XSLTransformation2_req_3)					
rXSLTransformation2_req	L3 🔊 🖗 🍃		R. 16 🛱			
回 爸? body					🖃 🛃 body	
🖃 🖻 updateAnyCustomer	UpdateAnyCustomerType				🖃 🖻 updateCustomer	Updat
🖃 🖻 custData	CustDataType				🖃 🖻 customer	Custo
🖃 🧧 customerData	Customer				e? custID	string
e? custID	string	[Move 🔻		e? custName	string
e? custName	string		Move -		e? address	string
=2			Move 🔻		e? zipCode	string
e address	string		Hove -		e? city	string
e? zipCode	string		Move 🔻		• e? state	string
e? city	string		Move 💌		e? budget	int
e? state	string		Move 🔻		e? soldToDate	int
e? budget	int		Move 🔻			
e? soldToDate	int		Move 🔻	,		

Figure 6-61 InternalXSLT mapping

SetExternalType

Update the properties for the second Set Message Type primitive called SetExternalType as shown in Figure 6-62. This casts AnyCustomerBO to ExternalCustomerInfoBO.

Set Message Type : SetExternalType	
Message field refinements:	
Weakly typed field	Actual field type
/body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/custData	{http://ExternalCustomerLib}ExternalCustomerInfoBO



ExternalXSLT XSL Transformation primitive

Open the mapping for ExternalXSLT and create the mappings shown in Figure 6-63.

Note that body/updateAnyCustomer/custData/custData is now viewed as ExternalCustomerInfoBO type.

Mapping Root					
XSLTransformation1_req_5)				
XSLTransformation1_rec	L5 🔊 🖗 🍃	X Ibi Ite	🖳 🏗 🛱		
🖃 🗟 Pody				🖃 💽 body	
🖃 🖻 updateAnyCustomer	UpdateAnyCustomerType	-		e updateExtCust	UpdateExtCu
🖃 🖻 custData	CustDataType			e inExtCust	ExternalCust
🖃 🖻 customerData	ExternalCustomerInfoBO			e? custID	string
e? custID	string		Move 💌	e? custName	string
e? custName	string		Move 🔻	e? custAddr	string
e? custAddr	string		Move 🔻	e custPhone	string
e? custPhone	string		Move 🔻		

Figure 6-63 ExternalXSLT mapping

6.3.7 Response flow

To complete the response flow:

- 1. Open the response flow.
- 2. Add two XSL Transformation primitives called InternalCustResp (for the internal customers) and ExternalCustResp as shown in Figure 6-64.



Figure 6-64 Response flow

3. Double-click the ExternalCustResp and use the Concat action to add all fields on the left to the result field on the right, as shown in Figure 6-65.

XSLTransformation2_res_1			
'XSLTransformation2_res_1	🔊 🖗 🎘 🗮	p (p 🖳 🌆	
🖃 诸 body			⊡ € \$body
🖃 🖻 updateExtCustResponse	UpdateExtCustResponseType		🖃 🖻 updateAnyCustomerR
🖃 🖻 outExtCust	ExternalCustomerInfoBO		e result
e [?] custID	string	Concat V	
e? custName	string		
e? custAddr	string		
e? custPhone	string		

Figure 6-65 ExternalCustResp mapping

4. Select the Concat action. In the Properties view, add a delimiter to this operation to better format the result, as shown in Figure 6-66.

🗟 Transform - Concat	
Prefix:	
Default delimiter:	
Input	Delimiter
custID	1
custName	,
custAddr	,
custPhone	
	Restore default delimiter
Postfix:	
Example: <custid>,<custname< td=""><td><pre>>,<custaddr>,<custphone></custphone></custaddr></pre></td></custname<></custid>	<pre>>,<custaddr>,<custphone></custphone></custaddr></pre>

Figure 6-66 Add a delimiter for the Concat action

5. Double-click the InternalCustResp primitive to open the mapping. Because updateCustomer operation of the internal CustomerService returns only one value, we move it the *result*, as shown in Figure 6-67.

mation1_res_1			
ormation1_res_1	₽ \$P \$ X \$P	↓ 🗣 🎼 🛱	
			⊟ 🛃 body
eCustomerResponse	UpdateCustomerResponseType		e updateAnyCustomerResponse
rnCode	ReturnCode		e result
с	string	Move 🔻	
C	string	Move 🔻	C result

Figure 6-67 InternalCustResp mapping

6. Save and close all open windows.

6.3.8 Test the flow

To test the flow, follow these steps:

1. Launch the internal, DBMSServiceMediationApp, and external, ExternalCustomerInfoApp, Web services. See Figure 6-68.

Properties	Problems	해 Servers	X C	onsole	Progress
Server				Statu	IS
🗉 🛗 w	ebSphere E	SB Server v6	i.1	🔓 Sta	arted
• Ē	DBMSSer	viceMediation	Арр	🖡 Sta	arted
• E	External	CustomerInfo	Арр	🖡 Sta	arted
🛗 W	ebSphere P	rocess Serve	r v6.1	🖥 Sto	pped

Figure 6-68 Start the server and applications

2. Click anywhere in the white space of the assembly diagram and select **Test Module** from the pop-up menu. 3. Make sure that you are testing SetMessageTypeMediation module and component, AnyCustomerIF interface, updateAnyCustomer operation, as shown in Figure 6-69.

General Prop	erties			
 Detailed Prop 	perties			
Configuration:	Default Module	Test		~
Module:	SetMessageTy	peMediation		~
Component:	SetMessageTy	peMediation		~
Interface:	AnyCustomerIF			
Operation:	updateAnyCustomer			
Invoke expor	t using binding			
Initial request pa	rameters			
R 🖞 🗖				
N	ame	Туре		Value
🗆 😑 📴 cust	Data	AnyCustomerBO	\sim	
	customerData	anyType	26	

Figure 6-69 Test properties

- 4. Notice that customerData field is of type anyType. To define the type for this field:
 - a. Select the field, right-click, and choose **Use Derived Type** from the pop-up menu, as shown in Figure 6-70.
 - b. Select ExternalCustomerInfoBo from the Data Type Selection window.

Name	Туре	Value
😑 💾 custData	AnyCustomerBO	~
📙 customerDa	ta anvTvne	8,
	Copy Value	
	💼 Paste Value	
	Select All	
	Set To Set Required to Defa	ult
	Add Value to Pool Use Value from Pool. Import from XML File.	
	Export to XML File	
	Use Derived Type	
	Select Element	

Figure 6-70 Use Derived Type

The field type changes; however, the field stays locked with an X sign.

c. Right-click the field again, and choose **Set To** \rightarrow **Default** to make all fields available for setting test values (as shown in Figure 6-71).

Ŗ	t I		
	Name	Туре	Value
	😑 🖳 custData	AnyCustomerBO	~
	😑 🏪 customerData	ExternalCustomer	×
	🛄 custID	string	×
	🖳 🛄 custName	string	×
	🖳 🛄 custAddr	string	¥
	🛄 custPhone	string	¥

Figure 6-71 New type for customerData

5. Enter the values of your choice, but make sure that custID does not start with *1* (see Figure 6-72). Then, click **Continue**.

 Detailed Pro 	perties				
Configuration:	Default	Default Module Test			
Module:	SetMes	SetMessageTypeMediation			
Component:	SetMessageTypeMediation AnyCustomerIF				~
Interface:					
Operation:	updateAnyCustomer				
Invoke expor	t using bi	inding			
Initial request pa	rameters	3			
Ŗ <u></u>					
Name		Туре		Value	
; custData		AnyCustomerBO	4		
- 🖳 custom	erData	ExternalCustomer	~		
- 💭 custID		string	~	5555	
Ū cus	tName	string	~	External Customer	
Ū cus	tAddr	string	1	RTP	
👘 🛄 cus	tPhone	string	~	555-5555	

Figure 6-72 Enter the test values

You should see results similar to that shown in Figure 6-73.

 Detailed Properties 						
Module: SetMessageTypeMediation						
Component:	Component: SetMessageTypeMediation					
Interface: AnyCustomerIF						
Operation: updateAnyCustomer						
Return param	eters:					
E: 8: 0						
Name		Туре	Value			
🖳 💭 result		string	✓ 5555, External Customer,			

Figure 6-73 Test results

6. Check the sequence of components that are called to make sure that the ExternalCustomerInfo Web service is invoked as shown in Figure 6-74.



Figure 6-74 Test component sequence

7. Now, test the CustomerService. Because you will update the customer data, it might be worth knowing what that data is before the update.

To retrieve customer data change the test Component to CustomerServiceIFImport1, Interface to CustomerServiceIF, Operation to retrieveCustomer. Enter a valid customer ID, such as 10903.

 Detailed Provide the Provide	operties				
Configuration: Def		efault Module Test			
Module:	SetMes	sageTypeMediatio	n	•	
Component:	Custom	CustomerServiceIFImport1			
Interface: Custo		stomerServiceIF			
Operation:	retrieve	eCustomer		[
Invoke expo	rt using b	inding			
Initial request p	arameters	S			
Name		Туре	Value		
customer		Customer	 ✓ 		
👘 💭 custID		string	✓ 10903		
👘 🕮 custNa	ame	string	×		
👘 🛄 addre	ss	string	×		
- İ zipCoo	le	string	✓		
👘 🛄 city		string	~		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
🐘 🖳 🛄 state		string	✓		
··· 💭 state	t	string int	✓ ✓ 0		
··· 💭 state ··· 💭 budge ··· 💭 soldTo	t Date	string int int	✓ 0 ✓ 0		

Figure 6-75 Test CustomerServiceIFImport1

8. Click **Continue** and check the results. Figure 6-76 shows the results.



Figure 6-76 Test results

9. Note these values so that the test can be run with a customer ID of 10903.

Note: Normally, the easiest way to update the values is to save the values for custID=10903 in the following manner:

- 1. Select the customer object under the Name column, right-click, and choose **Copy Value** from the pop-up menu.
- 2. Then, when you have invoked the new test and changed the customerData object to Customer type, use the **Paste Value** option to fill in the data.

However, there seems to be a bug for this method when the type is anyType. So we entered the values manually.
3. Now, click **Invoke** again (as shown in Figure 6-77).

Events				
å⊳ • ⊞ ‡				
å⊳ Invoke	essageTypeMediation:updateAnyCustomer)			
Run Test	arted e (SetMessageTypeMediation:updateAnyCustomer)			
Emit	est (SetMessageTypeMediation> ExternalCustomerI			
Return (SetMessageTypeMediation:updateAnyCustomer)				
Invoke r	eturned			

Figure 6-77 Invoke the test

4. Select the SetMessageTypeMediation component to test. Set the customerData object type to Customer as shown in Figure 6-78.

Conformations	Defeults	Madula Tast			
Configuration:	Default	Module Lest			×
Module:	SetMess	ageTypeMediation			~
Component:	SetMess	ageTypeMediation			~
Interface:	AnyCust	omerIF			~
Operation:	updateA	nyCustomer			~
Invoke export	t using bin	nding			
Initial request par	rameters				
	runicucia				
Ş 🖞 🗖	rune der s				
R d □ Name	rune ter s	Туре		Value	
Reference		Type AnyCustomerBO	~	Value	
R Image: Construction Name custData Image: Custome	erData	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer		Value	
Name Name CustData Custome Custome	erData (Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Value	
Name	erData (tID tName	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string		Value	
Name Name CustData CustData Custome Cust C	erData (tID tName Iress	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string string	× × × ×	Value	
Name Name CustData CustOata Custome Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust	erData [tID tName Iress Code	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string string string string	* * * * *	Value	
Name Name CustData CustData Custome Custome Cust	erData [tID tName lress Code	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string string string string string	> > > > > > > > > >	Value	
Name Name CustData CustData Custome Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust	erData (tID tName Iress Code	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string string string string string string	× × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × × ×	Value	
Name Name CustData CustData CustOata Custome Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust Cust	erData fi tID tName Iress Code te Iget	Type AnyCustomerBO Customer string string string string string string int	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	Value	

Figure 6-78 New test settings

5. Enter the new test data values based on those that you noted previously. Change the budget value from 99999 to 10000 by clicking the **99999** value in the **budget** field. Enter a new value of 10000 as shown in Figure 6-79.

 Detailed Prope 	erties			
Configuration:	Default Module Test			
Module:	etMes	sageTypeMediation	1	~
Component: S	SetMes	sageTypeMediation		~
Interface:	AnyCu	stomerIF		~
Operation: u	pdate	AnyCustomer		~
Invoke export u	ising b	inding		
Initial request para	meters	S		
R 🖞 🗖				
Name		Туре	Value	
custData		AnyCustomerBO	\checkmark	
🖳 customerD	ata	Customer	✓	
💭 custID		string	✓ 10903	
🖳 💭 custNa	me	string	 YXZ itso Corp. 	
- Ū addres	s	string	🗸 4205 S. Miami Blvd	
💭 zipCod	e	string	✓ 27709	
👘 🛄 city		string	✓ RTP	
🖳 💭 state		string	V NC	
👘 💭 budget	t	int	10000	
💭 💭 soldTol	Date	int	Press 'Alt+Enter' to ad	d lines

Figure 6-79 New test input

6. Click **Continue** to run the test.

7. Verify the result, which should be 3 as expected from the CustomerServiceIF:updateCustomer operation, as shown in Figure 6-80.

 Detailed Properties 					
Module:	SetMessag	<u>eTypeMediation</u>			
Component:	SetMessag	eTypeMediation			
Interface:	Interface: <u>AnyCustomerIF</u>				
Operation:	Operation: updateAnyCustomer				
Return parameters:					
Name Type Value					
Î	esult	string	√ 3		

Figure 6-80 Test results

8. Verify the component invocation sequence. You should see that CustomerServiceIFImport1:updateCustomer was invoked appropriately (Figure 6-81).



Figure 6-81 Test component sequence

9. Remove the projects from the server.

6.4 Message Filter example

Additional material: This example is included in the MessageFilterMediation project in the additional materials.

This sample demonstrates how to create a Message Filter primitive to route messages based on message content. It builds on the TestDBLookup mediation and adds additional processing for North Carolina customers using a message filter on the response flow.

6.4.1 Create the module

To create the module, you need to copy the TestDBLookup mediation and paste it in the workspace under a different name. The steps are as follows:

- 1. In the Business Integration view, right-click **TestDBLookup**, and select **Copy** from the pop-up menu.
- 2. Right-click anywhere in the white space of the Business Integration pane and select **Paste** from the pop-up menu.
- 3. Enter MessageFilterMediation as the new module name, and click OK.

These steps create a new MessageFilterMediation module with its own namespace that contains all the artifacts of the original TestDBLookup mediation module.

6.4.2 Build the response flow

To build the response flow, follow these steps:

- 1. Open the MessageFilterMediation assembly diagram.
- 2. Double-click TestDBLookup component to open it in the mediation flow editor.
- 3. Click the Response:retrieveCustomer tab (Figure 6-82).

Callout Response retrieveCustomer	WebServiceResult	Input Response retrieveCustomer
tomer 斗 Response: r	etrieveCustomer	

Figure 6-82 Response flow

The Callout Response node is wired to the Input Response node through the WebServiceResult XSL Transformation. The transformation simply sets "success from DBMS Web service" for the return code RC.

6.4.3 Message Filter primitive

Next, you add and configure a Message Filter primitive. Follow these steps:

1. In the Palette, expand the Routing folder. Click the Message Filter primitive, and then drag and drop it on the canvas (as shown in Figure 6-83).



Figure 6-83 Add the Message Filter primitive

2. Right-click the Message Filter primitive and select **Add Output Terminal** from the pop-up menu. Name the terminal NCcustomer (as shown in Figure 6-84), and click **OK** when prompted. Then, click **OK** again.

🚯 New Dynamic Terminal 🛛 🛛 🔀				
Create a new d	ynamic terminal			
Create a new dynan	nic terminal from a list of pre-defined terminal types.			
Terminal type	match			
reminar type				
Terminal name	NCcustomer			
Terminal description	On successful processing, if the input message content matches an XPath patternList[i], the input message is propagated unchanged to the output terminal with the name matchedTerminalNames[i]			
0	OK Cancel			

Figure 6-84 New Message Filter terminal

3. The new terminal is added to the MessageFilter1 primitive, as shown in Figure 6-85. The primitive routes messages for North Carolina customers through this terminal. All other messages go through the default terminal.



Figure 6-85 Message filter terminals

- 4. Rename MessageFilter1 to NorthCarolinaMessageFilter.
- 5. Now, select and delete the wire that connects the Callout Response node with WebServiceResult (Figure 6-86).



Figure 6-86 Delete the wire from the callout response

6. Then, connect the Callout Response node with NorthCarolinaMessageFilter instead (Figure 6-87).



Figure 6-87 Rewire the callout response

- 7. Next, select **NorthCarolinaMessageFilter**, and click the Details tab in the Properties view to add a new filter.
- 8. Leave the distribution mode field set to First, which means that the message that satisfies the filter criterion is routed only to the first matching output terminal. If the distribution mode is set to A11, the message goes to all matching terminals. The default terminal is used if the message meets none of the conditions.
- 9. Click Add to define a new filter. Then:
 - a. On the Add/Edit properties window, select a matching terminal name, NCcustomer in our case, and click Edit. The XPath Expression Builder window opens (Figure 6-88 on page 423).
 - b. In the Data Types Viewer expand the message elements until you find the **state** field and click it.
 - c. Click the equal sign (=) in Operations pane.

- d. Enter NC to the right of the equal sign (=) sign.
- e. Click Finish.



Figure 6-88 Using the XPath Expression Builder to build the filter

10. The Pattern field has the new filter expression, as shown in Figure 6-89. Click **Finish**.

🚯 Add/Edit			
Add/Edit prope	rties		
Specify the propertie	2S.		
Pattern:	/body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/state='NC'		Edit
Terminal name:	NCcustomer		~
0		Finish	Cancel

Figure 6-89 New filter pattern

The new filter is now in the list of the Properties view as shown in Figure 6-90.

Message Filter : MessageFilter1		
Distribution mode: First		~
Pattern /body/retrieveCustomerResponse/customer/state='NC'	Terminal name NCcustomer	Add Edit Remove

Figure 6-90 New filter

11.Save the filter pressing Ctrl+S.

6.4.4 NorthCarolinaXSLT XSL Transformation

Now, you add and configure the XSL Transformation primitive that transforms the response message as follows:

- 1. Add a new XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas. Rename it to NorthCarolinaXSLT. You will need this primitive for special processing of the filtered message.
- Connect the NCcustomer terminal of NorthCarolinaMessageFilter to NorthCarolinaXSLT and the default terminal with the in terminal of WebServiceResult. Connect the out terminal of NorthCarolinaXSLT to the in terminal of CustomerServiceIF_retrieveCustomer_InputResponse. See Figure 6-91.



Figure 6-91 Add the NorthCarolinaXSLT primitive

3. Double-click **NorthCarolinaXSLT** and map the similar objects together with the exception for two fields: budget and RC.

4. Create a custom mapping for the budget fields and set it so that 1000 is added to the budget of a NC customer. (See the Properties view in Figure 6-92.)

•XSLTransformation2_res_1	A 1 = X = A	P R R R	
⊡ 🗟 body			🖃 💽 body
e retrieveCustomerResponse	RetrieveCustomerResponseType		🖃 🖻 retrieveCus
🖃 🖻 customer	Customer		🖃 🖻 customer
e? custID	string	Move 🔻	e? custID
e? custName	string	Move 🔻	e? custNar
e? address	string	Move 🕶	ef address
e? zipCode	string	Move	e zipcout
e? city	string	Move -	e? state
e? state	string	Move -	e? budget
-2		Custom	e? soldTot
ef budget	int	Custom	🖃 🖻 returnCo
e? soldToDate	int	Move	e? RC
	ReturnCode	Assign -	
1		-	
ild Activities Properties 🛛	Problems Servers Console Data	i Output	
eneral 🔄 Transform	- Custom		
Code: XPath	XSLT		
order Spudget+1000			

5. Assign the string successfully filtered NC customer to the RC field.

Figure 6-92 NorthCarolinaXSLT mapping

6. Save the assembly diagram and mediation flow.

6.4.5 Test the flow

Test both cases as follows:

1. Run a component test using customer ID 10002. The result shows an increased budget and a "successfully filtered NC customer" return code (as shown in Figure 6-93).

r Detailed Properties				
Module: <u>MessageFilterM</u>	Nodule: MessageFilterMediation			
Component: TestDBLookup				
Interface: <u>CustomerServic</u>	<u>eIF</u>			
Operation: retrieveCustom	er_			
Return parameters:				
	_			
Name	Туре	Value		
😑 📇 customer	Customer	~		
🖳 🛄 custID	string	✓ 10002		
🖳 🛄 custName	string	✓ Jane Doe Inc.		
- 💭 address	string	✓ 3039 E. Cornwallis Road		
👘 💭 zipCode	string	✓ 27709		
👘 🛄 city	string	✓ RTP		
🕂 💭 state	string	V NC		
👘 🛄 budget	int	✓ 16000		
👘 💭 soldToDate	int	✓ 50000		
😑 💾 returnCode	ReturnCode	×		
RC	string	\checkmark successfully fitered NC customer		

Figure 6-93

2. Now test Customer ID 10001. The response message is not changed because that Customer ID is not a NC customer. See Figure 6-94.

 Detailed Properties 	Detailed Properties			
Module: MessageFilter	Mediation			
Component: TestDBLookup)			
Interface: CustomerServ	- iceIF			
Operation: rotriovoCusto	mor			
operation. <u>retrieveCusto</u>	mer			
Return parameters:				
Name	Type	Value		
😑 📇 customer	Customer	✓		
👘 🛄 custID	string	✓ 10001		
👘 💭 custName	string	 John Smith Corp. 		
👘 💭 address	string	✓ 245 South Road		
👘 💭 zipCode	string	✓ 12601		
👘 🛄 city	string	✓ Poughkeepsie		
👘 💭 state	string	✓ NY		
👘 💭 budget	int	✓ 50000		
soldToDate	int	✓ 1450		
😑 💾 returnCode	ReturnCode	*		
T RC	string	✓ success from DBMS web service		

Figure 6-94 Test non-North Carolina customer

It is interesting to observe that because the filter is set on the response flow and there is no response flow from the database lookup, the filter works only for the customer records that are retrieved through the Web service.

6.5 Endpoint Lookup example

Additional material: This example is included in the CustomerServiceEndpointMediation project in the additional materials.

This sample shows how to upload service definition to WebSphere Service Registry and Repository, create user properties, and invoke services based on selector criteria.

In this example, the customer information is stored in an EIS and can be accessed through an appropriate Web service. If the customer ID starts with I, the CustomerService Web service is called. If the customer ID starts with 5, a ThirdPartyCustomerInfo service is to be called.

The CustomerService Web service is taken from the Order Management System scenario. The ThirdPartyCustomerInfo service is created here.

6.5.1 Building ThirdPartyCustomerInfo

Build the ThirdPartyCustomerInfo Web service as follows:

- From the top menu bar select File → New → Mediation Module. Call the mediation module ThirdPartyCustomerInfo. Add OrderManagementLib and click Finish.
- 2. Right-click the component, and add the CustomerServiceIF interface from OrderManagementLib to the assembly diagram.
- 3. Select **ThirdPartyCustomerInfo**, and regenerate the implementation implementation. The Mediation Flow Editor opens.

We do not do any actual mediating in this example. We need just set some default values for a ThirdPartyCustomer.

4. Add an XSL Transformation primitive to the mediation canvas, and rename it to SetThirdPartyCustomerInfo, as shown in Figure 6-95.

			A V
Palette			
	Inout		
🕞 Favorites	retrieveCustomer	SetThirdPartyCus	retrieveCustomer
🗁 Transformation			
Custom Mediation			

Figure 6-95 ThirdPartyCustomerInfo mediation flow

5. Double-click **SetThirdPartyCustomerInfo** to open the mapping and use the Assign transform to assign values (Figure 6-96).

	⊡ ⊑ } body	
	retrieveCustomerResponse	RetrieveCustomerResponseType
	🖃 🖻 customer	Customer
Move 🔻	 e [?] custID	string
Assign 🔻	 e? custName	string
Assign 🔻	 e? address	string
Assign 🔻	 e? zipCode	string
Assign 🔻	 e [?] city	string
Assign 🔻	 e [?] state	string
	e? budget	int
	e? soldToDate	int
	🕀 🖻 returnCode	ReturnCode

Figure 6-96 Assign values

The values to assign are:

custName:	Third Party Customer
address:	11111 Main Street
zipCode:	27514
city:	Chapel Hill
state:	NC

6. Select File \rightarrow Save All.

Test the service

Test the component to make sure the service returns these values. Follow these steps:

- 1. Select ThirdPartyCustomerInfo in the Business Integration view. Right-click, and select Test \rightarrow Test Module.
- 2. Enter a customer ID, as shown in Figure 6-97, and click the Invoke icon.

Detailed Properties			
Configuration: Default Module Test Module: ThirdPartyCustomerInfo Component: ThirdPartyCustomerInfo Interface: CustomerServiceIF Operation: retrieveCustomer			
	meters		
	Name	Туре	Val
🗆 😑 📇 cu:	stomer	Customer	¥
- t	custID	string	✓ 555
È			
SSSSSS :	custivame	string	4
- I	address	string string	*
[address zipCode	string string string	* * *
	address zipCode city	string string string string	* * * * * * * * *
	address zipCode city state	string string string string	> > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > > >
	address zipCode city state budget	string string string string int	 ✓ /ul>
	address zipCode city state budget soldToDate	string string string string int int	 <
	address i zipCode i city i state budget i soldToDate	string string string string int int	 0 0

Figure 6-97 Test values

The results should look similar to that shown in Figure 6-98.

	Name	Type	Va
	🖃 📇 customer	Customer	✓
	🖳 🛄 custID	String	✓ 555
	🖳 🛄 custName	String	✓ Third Party Cus
	🖳 🛄 address	String	✓ 111111 Main S
	🖳 🛄 zipCode	String	✓ 27514
	🖳 🛄 city	String	 Chapel Hill
	🖳 💭 state	String	V NC
	🖳 🛄 budget	int	8
	🛄 soldToDate	int	H
	🛄 returnCode	ReturnCode	✓ null

Figure 6-98 Test results

6.5.2 Export the service as a Web service

Export the ThirdPartyCustomerInfo mediation as a Web service as follows:

- 1. Right-click ThirdPartyCustomerInfo in the assembly diagram, and select Generate Export → Web Service Binding → soap/http.
- 2. Rename the new Export component to ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport, and use Alt+Shift+R to refactor, as shown in Figure 6-99.



Figure 6-99 Rename the export and refactor

The wiring looks similar to that shown in Figure 6-100



Figure 6-100 Assembly diagram

3. By default, the port that you create is added to the library. Expand **OrderManagementLib**, and then expand **Web Service Ports** (Figure 6-101).



Figure 6-101 New Web service port

4. Double-click

ThirdPartyCustomerServicelFExport_CustomerServicelFHttpPort to open a plain text file. Change the port number to match your integrated test environment server, as shown in Figure 6-102.

Figure 6-102 Update the Web service port URL

5. Test the Export component using a component test (Figure 6-103).



Figure 6-103 Test export

6. Point your browser to the service URL and verify that the result is valid, as shown in Figure 6-104.



Figure 6-104 Test service presence with a browser

6.5.3 Export the service definitions

Now, there are two services that implement the same interface. Note that we have not implemented the updateCustomer operation, but this update is not important for the purpose of this sample scenario.

Export the service definitions by following these steps:

- 1. Right-click anywhere in Business Integration pane and choose **Export** from the pop-up menu. Select **Business Integration** → **WSDL/Interface**.
- Select ThirdPartyCustomerInfo_CustomerServicelFExport1.wsdl. Then, select Export dependent resources. Select a directory to export to (for example, c:\itso\WSRR) as shown in Figure 6-105.

🕀 Export	
WSDL/Interface Export to File System Select WSDL file(s) to export	
DBMSServiceMediation	DBMSServiceMediation_ItemServiceIFExport1.wsdl DBMSServiceMediation_OrderServiceIFExport1.wsdl DBMSServiceIF.wsdl IEmailServiceIF.wsdl OrderManagementIF.wsdl OrderManagementIF.wsdl OrderServiceIF.wsdl OrderService
Options Overwrite existing files without warning ✓ Export dependent resources Merge dependent XSD resources into the parent WSDL file Merge dependent WSDL resources into the parent WSDL file ■ ① ThirdPartyCustomerInfo_CustomerServiceIFExport1.wsdl ⊕… ● CustomerServiceIF.wsdl	

Figure 6-105 Export the service interface

- 3. Click Finish.
- 4. Repeat this operation for CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort.

5. Verify that the definitions export to the directory correctly as shown in Figure 6-106.



Figure 6-106 Newly exported WSDL

6.5.4 Load the definitions to the registry

Now, you need to upload the two service definitions to the registry. Follow these steps:

1. Make sure that WebSphere Service Registry and Repository is up and running and access the registry. In our case the registry is at the following URL:

http://192.168.157.132:9081/ServiceRegistry/

2. Click Load Documents under Service Documents (Figure 6-107).

WebSphere. Service Registry and Repository	
Perspective: Administrator 💉 Go	
= Home	
Search	
Go	
🗄 Business Metadata	
Service Documents	
Load Documents Document Groups WSDL Documents	
XSD Documents XML Documents	
Policy Documents	
Other Documents	
1 Service Metadata	

Figure 6-107 Load documents to WebSphere Service Registry and Repository

- 3. In the Load Documents dialog box (Figure 6-108):
 - a. Click Browse and navigate to the c:\itso\WSRR directory.
 - b. Select DBMSServiceMediation_CustomerServiceFExport1.wsdl and click Open.
 - c. Add a document description. Then, click OK.

Load Documents
This facility enables you to load one or more documents, with the option to save them as a group. document type and, optionally, enter a description and a version.
Path to the Document
O Local file system
Specify path
C:\itso\WSRR\DBMSServiceMediation_Custome Browse
O Remote file location
Specify URL
Document type WSDL
Enter document description:
DL for DBMSServiceMediation_CustomerService
Enter document version:
OK

Figure 6-108 Identifying the WSDL to be loaded

The registry discovers that CustomerServiceIF.wsdl is required (Figure 6-109).

Load Documents
Documents to be Loaded
This view shows documents to be loaded and their dependency relationships. Some documents ref these dependencies need to be resolved before you can complete the load:
- filename (required) indicates the document needs to be loaded, or selected from multiple option
When all required documents are listed below select either 'Finish' to complete the load or 'Save a these documents as a document group.
Add Another Document Finish Save as a Group Cancel
DBMSServiceMediation_CustomerServiceIFExport1.wsdl Remove Replace CustomerServiceIF.wsdl (required) Add
Add Another Document Finish Save as a Group Cancel

Figure 6-109 Required WSDL is identified

d. Click **Add** to add the CustomerServicelF.wsdl file to the list of files to be uploaded as shown in Figure 6-110.

Load Documents
Add CustomerServiceIF.wsdl (namespace: http://OrderManagementLib/CustomerServiceIF)
Specify a file to load, select a document type and enter a description.
Path to the Document
O Local file system
Specify path
C:\itso\WSRR\CustomerServiceIF.wsdl Browse
O Remote file location
Specify URI
Document type
WSDL
Enter document description:
WSDL for CustomerServiceIF.wsdl
Enter document version:
OK Go Back

Figure 6-110 Load the required WSDL

e. Click **OK**. Figure 6-111 shows the list of files to be uploaded.

Load Documents
Documents to be Loaded
When all required documents are listed below select either 'Finish' to complete the load or 'Save as these documents as a document group.
Add Another Document Finish Save as a Group Cancel
DBMSServiceMediation_CustomerServiceIFExport1.wsdl (ready to load) Remove Replace
CustomerServiceIF.wsdl (ready to load) Remove Replace
ReturnCode.xsd(in repository) Replace
Customer.xsd(in repository) Replace
Add Another Document Finish Save as a Group Cancel

Figure 6-111 List of files to be uploaded

f. Click Finish to upload the files.

Load Documents	
Documents Loaded Successfully The following documents have been loaded into the rep	pository:
Name	Description
CustomerServiceIF.wsdl	WSDL for CustomerServiceIF.wsdl
${\tt DBMSServiceMediation_CustomerServiceIFExport1.wsdl}$	WSDL for DBMSServiceMediation_Customer
	https://www.incomediation_bastome

Figure 6-112 Uploaded documents

4. Repeat step 2 to load the WSDL file for ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort. 5. When all the WSDL files are uploaded, select **Service Metadata** \rightarrow **WSDL** \rightarrow **Ports** in the navigation pane. The window shown in Figure 6-113 opens.

Ports			
Ports			
This is the collection of WSDL Ports present in the registry.			
Preferences			
Add Property Add Relationship Add Classification	ns 🗌	Subscribe	Add
Select Name 🛟	Graph	Description (> Nam
CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort	B 000 B 000		http
ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport_CustomerServiceIFHttpPo	rt 📲		http
Total: 2			

Figure 6-113 Ports in the registry

- 6. Now, create a new property for each of the services. The registry uses the property value for selecting the right service. Follow these steps:
 - a. Click **CustomerServicelFExport1_CustomerServicelFHttpPort** to open the Details page (Figure 6-114).

General Properties	Additional Proper
Name	Binding
CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServic	SOAP Addres
Description	Properties
	Relationships
Namespace	Graphical Vi
http://OrderManagementLib/CustomerSer	= Gruphical VI
Owner	
UNAUTHENTICATED	= Policies
Version	Policy Attach
	Custom Relation
	= Classificatio
Last modified	

Figure 6-114 Detail properties for the port

- b. Click Properties under Additional Properties.
- c. Click New.

d. Create a property called CustomerID, and set its value to 1, as shown in Figure 6-115.

Details		
General P	roperties	
Name		
Custom	erID	
Value		
1		
Apply	OK Reset Cancel	

Figure 6-115 CustomerID property

e. Click OK.

The new CustomerID displays as shown in Figure 6-116.

Prope	Properties		
CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort > Properties This is the collection of metadata properties defined for the entity with name CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort and type port.			
⊕ Pr	eferences		
Nev	v Delete		
Selec	t Name 🗘	Value 🗘	
	bsrURI	d82184d8-960e-4e61.82ee.f	
	name	CustomerServiceIFExport1_C	
	namespace	http://OrderManagementLib/	
	version		
	description		
	owner	UNAUTHENTICATED	
	lastModified	Wednesday, 20 February 200	
	creationTimestamp	Wednesday, 20 February 200	
	lastModifiedBy	UNAUTHENTICATED	
	CustomerID	1	
Tota	Total: 10		

Figure 6-116 The new CustomerID property in the port

7. Repeat the same operation for

ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort. Assign 5 to its CustomerID property. See Figure 6-117.

Properties			
Ports > ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort > Properties This is the collection of metadata properties defined for the entity with name ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExport_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort and type port.			
New	New Delete		
D			
Select	Name 🗘	Value 🗘	
	bsrURI	2681b426-9345-4562.8245.e1d	
	name	ThirdPartyCustomerServiceIFExp	
	namespace	http://OrderManagementLib/Cu	
	version		
	description		
	owner	UNAUTHENTICATED	
	lastModified	Thursday, 21 February 2008 10:	
	creationTimestamp	Thursday, 21 February 2008 08:	
	lastModifiedBy	UNAUTHENTICATED	
	CustomerID	5	
Total:	Total: 10		

Figure 6-117 The new CustomerID property in the port

6.5.5 Configure the registry to WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus

To configure access to the registry from WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus, follow these steps:

- 1. Open the administrative console for the WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus server.
- 2. Expand Service integration and select WSRR definitions.
- 3. Click New to create a new definition.
- 4. Set the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository definition name to ITS0-WSRR, and increase the Timeout of cache to 600, as shown in Figure 6-118.
- 5. Click **Apply**.

General Properties * WSRR definition name	The additional properties will not be this item are applied or saved. Additional Properties
ITSO-WSRR Description	Connection properties
Default WSRR definition	
Web service	
Apply OK Reset Cancel	

Figure 6-118 Define a new WSRR connection

6. Click Connection properties under Additional Properties.

It is a good practice to make sure that you know the correct URL to use as a connection to the registry by pointing to the URL with a browser as shown in Figure 6-119.



Note that this example does not use a secured registry.

Set the Registry URL to the following address (as shown in Figure 6-120): http://192.168.157.132:9081/WSRRCoreSD0/services/WSRRCoreSD0Port

General Properties
Connection type
Web service
* Registry URL
http://192.168.157.132:9081/WSRRCoreSDO/services/WSRRCoreSDOPort
Authentication alias
Select 💙
SSL Configuration
Apply OK Reset Cancel

Figure 6-120 Connection properties

7. Click **OK** to save all the changes. You now have an ITSO-WSRR service definition as shown in Figure 6-121.

w	WSRR definitions			
	WSRR definitions			
	A WebSphere Service Registry and Repository (WSRR) definition enables an application or serve WSRR instance.			or server r
	Preferences			
	New Delete Set as Default			
	Select	Name 🗘	Description 🗘	Default :
		ITSO-WSRR	Service Metadata Registry for ITSO	Yes
	Total	1		

Figure 6-121 New WSRR definition

6.5.6 Create the mediation module

Now that the services are in place, you create a mediation module that can choose between two (or more) implementations of CustomerServiceIF interface.

To create the mediation module:

- 1. You create a new mediation module called CustomerServiceEndpointMediation.
- 2. Then, select WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus as the target run time.
- 3. Finally, choose OrderManagementLib as the required library.

6.5.7 Create the interface

Create a CustomerDataIF interface with one getCustData operation that takes a custID string for input and returns a string of custData, as shown in Figure 6-122.

🕄 CustomerServiceEndpoint	Mediation - Assembly Diagram	🛈 *CustomerDataIF 🛛
▼Operations	🍇 🕅 🕼 🧸 🙀	
Operations and their param	eters	
	Name	Туре
→		
DI Input(s)	custID	string
[Output(s)	custData	string

Figure 6-122 CustomerDataIF interface

6.5.8 Build the assembly diagram

Next, populate the assembly diagram as follows:

- 1. Add CustomerDataIF to the CustomerServiceEndpointMediation component.
- 2. Import CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort with a Web service binding, as shown in Figure 6-123.



Figure 6-123 Create the Import component
3. Wire CustomerServiceEndpointMediation to CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort (Figure 6-124).



4. Regenerate the implementation.

6.5.9 Build the operation connections

In the Mediation Flow Editor, wire getCustData operation to retrieveCustomer operation, as shown in Figure 6-125.

CustomerserviceEndpointmedi	adon - Assembi	* Mediation Flow I	Editor: CustomerServiceEndp 🔀
Operation connections Select a source operation, conne Operation CustomerDataIF getCustData	ect it to one or more targ	get operations, and de	fine the mediation flow.
Palette alette Palet	getCustData : Cu n Input getCust getCust	Callout etrieveCustomer Response Data : Cu	Mediation Flow References CustomerServiceIFPartner Correlation Context <not specified=""> Transient Context <not specified=""> Shared Context <not specified=""></not></not></not>

Figure 6-125 Connections and mediation flow

6.5.10 Build the request flow



The request flow looks similar to that shown in Figure 6-126.

Update the Callout node

Update the Callout node to use a dynamic endpoint for the service call. Follow these steps:

- 1. Click the Callout node to open its properties.
- 2. On the Details tab, make sure that the "Use dynamic endpoint if set in the message header" option is selected, as shown in Figure 6-127.

Properties Problems Servers Console Progress						
Description	Callout : retrieveCustomer : CustomerServiceIFPartner					
Terminal						
Details	Reference name:	CustomerServiceIFPartner				
· Retry	Operation name:	ratriaua@ustamor				
Promoted Properties		retrievecustomer				
	Use dynamic endpoint	if set in the message header				
	Async timeout (seconds):	5				

Figure 6-127 Callout properties: Use dynamic endpoint

Figure 6-126 Request flow

Endpoint Lookup primitive

Add the Endpoint Lookup primitive, as follows:

- 1. Find the Endpoint Lookup primitive under the Routing folder in the palette and drop it to the canvas. Name it CustomerServiceLookup.
- 2. Wire the Input node to CustomerServiceLookup
- 3. Go to the Details tab of the CustomerServiceLookup Properties (Figure 6-128).
 - a. Click **Browse** to search for the service interface to use. Select CustomerServiceIF.
 - b. Enter ITSO-WSRR as the Registry Name.
 - c. Set the Match Policy to Return first matching endpoint and set routing target.

Description	Endpoint Lookup : CustomerServiceLookup				
Terminal					
Details					
· Advanced	Name:	CustomerServiceIF Browse			
Promoted Properties	Namespace:	http://OrderManagementLib/CustomerServiceIF			
	Version:				
	Registry Name:	ITSO-WSRR			
	Match Policy:	Return first matching endpoint and set routing target			

Figure 6-128 Endpoint Lookup properties

- 4. Click Advanced under the Details tab.
- 5. Click Add under User Properties.

6. Create the CustomerID property and set a value to it. The property name has to match the property name that you defined previously on the WebSphere Service Registry and Repository server. For the value, take the first digit of the customer ID. See Figure 6-129.

Name:	CustomerID	
Type:	XPath	~
Value:	substring(/body/getCustData/custID ,1 ,1)	Edit

Figure 6-129 Define a new property

7. Click Finish. The properties display as shown in Figure 6-130.

Properties 🛛 Probl	lems Servers Cons	sole Progres	S	<
escription	🔋 Endpoint l	.ookup : C	CustomerServiceLookup	
erminal				
etails	Classifications:			
· Advanced				
romoted Properties				Add.
				Edit.
				Remo
				上生」
	User Properties:			
	Name	Туре	Value	Add.
	Custome	XPath	substring(/body/getCustData	a/custID ,1 ,1)
				Edit.
				Remo

Figure 6-130 Endpoint Lookup properties

XSL Transformation primitives

Add the two XSL Transformation primitives as follows:

- 1. Add an XSL Transformation primitive to the mediation flow, and call it XSLTtoCustomerService. Wire the out terminal of the CustomerServiceLookup node to the in terminal of XSLTtoCustomerService. Wire XSLTtoCustomerService to the Callout node.
- 2. Add another XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas, and call it XSLTtoServiceNotFound. Wire it between the noMatch terminal of the CustomerServiceLookup node and Input Response node.
- 3. Open the **XSLTtoServiceNotFound** map. Use a Custom mapping between custID and custData, as shown in Figure 6-131.

	XSLTransformation2	_req_1				
-	XSLTransformatio	n2_req_1	⊳ 10 15	- 🗙 🕼	1	
	🖃 🕍 body					🖃 💽 body
	🖃 🖻 getCustData	GetCustDataType				🖃 🖻 getCustDataRes
	e custID	string		Custom		e custData

Figure 6-131 XSLTtoServiceNotFound mapping

Use the following XPath expression:

concat('Data for customerID=', /body/getCustData/custID, ' not found')

- 4. Open the XSLTtoCustomerService Map. Use a Move mapping between custID in the source and custID field of customer on the target, as shown in Figure 6-132.
- Mapping Root XSLTransformation1_req_1 XSLTransformation1_req_1 Ð D) l 🕩 🖃 诸 body 🖃 💽 body 🖃 🖻 getCustData GetCustDataType e retrieveCustom Move 🔻 🖃 🖻 customer e custID string e? custID e? custName e? address
- 5. Save the changes.

Figure 6-132 XSLTtoCustomerService mapping

6.5.11 Build the response flow

To build the response flow:

- 1. Go to the Response:getCustData tab.
- 2. Add an XSL Transformation primitive to the canvas.
- 3. Map all fields of the source to one field of the target using the Concat mapping action, as shown in Figure 6-133.

Mapping Root			
XSLTransformation1_res_1			
<pre>XSLTransformation1_res_1</pre>	M X 🖶 🗄 🕷	🕪 🔒 🌇 🛱	
⊟ 🔁 body			🗆 🛃 body
retrieveCustomerResponse	RetrieveCustomerResponseType		🖃 🖻 getCustDataResp
🖃 🖻 customer	Customer		e custData
e? custID	string	Concat -	
e? custName	string		
e? address	string		
e? zipCode	string		
e? city	string		
e? state	string		
e? budget	int		

Figure 6-133 XSL Transformation mapping

4. Click **Concat** and add delimiters and a prefix to better format the result (Figure 6-134).

Properties 🛙	3 Problems Se	rvers Console	Progress		
General	🗟 Transform	m - Concat			
Cardinality	2	C			
Condition	Prefix:	CustomerID:			
Order	Default delimiter:				
	Input			Delimiter	
	custID			Address:	
	custName			,	
	address			,	
	city			1	
	state			1	
	zipCode				
					Restore default delimiter
	Postfix:				
	Example: Custom	erID: <custid></custid>	> Address:	<custname>,</custname>	<address>, <city>, <state>, <zipcode:< td=""></zipcode:<></state></city></address>

Figure 6-134 Add delimiters and a prefix to the Concat mapping action

5. Save all by selecting File \rightarrow Save All.

6.5.12 Test the flow

To test the flow, follow these steps:

1. Make sure that the WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus server is up and running and both Web services are deployed and started. See Figure 6-135.

Properties Problems	Console Progress	
Server	Status	State
😑 🔛 WebSphere ESB Server v6.1	🖡 Started	Synchroni
🕀 📋 ThirdPartyCustomerInfoApp	🖡 Started	
① DBMSServiceMediationApp	🕞 Started	
Eff WebSphere Process Server v6.1	🛅 Stopped	Republish

Figure 6-135 Start the applications

2. Run the test using custID 5555555. Figure 6-136 shows the results.

Madulau	C		de la constante de la constante
Module:	Customers	erviceEnd	apointmediation
Component:	CustomerS	erviceEnd	dpointMediation_
Interface:	CustomerD	ataIF	
Operation:	getCustDa	ta	
Return param	neters:		
]		
Na	ame	Туре	Value
	custData	string	✓ CustomerID: 5555555 Address:Third Party Customer, 111111 Main Street, Ch

Figure 6-136 Test results

3. Run the test using custID 10001. Figure 6-137 shows the results.

 Detailed F 	Properties				
Madalas					
Module:	CustomerServiceEndpointMediation				
Component:	CustomerServiceEndpointMediation				
Interface:	Interface: CustomerDataIF				
Operation:	<u>getCustData</u>				
Return param	neters:				
Nar	me T				
- i - c	custData string 🗸 CustomerID: 10001 Address: John Smith Corp., 245 South Road, Poughkeepsie, N				

Figure 6-137 Test results

4. Run the test using custID 20001. Figure 6-138 shows the results.

 Detailed Properties 					
Module: Component:	CustomerServiceEndpointMediation CustomerServiceEndpointMediation				
Interface:	CustomerDataIF				
Operation:	<u>getCustData</u>				
Return param	eters:				
E: 8: 0					
Na	me Type				
	ustData string	✓ Data for customerID20001 not found			

Figure 6-138 Test results

6.6 The Event Emitter primitive

Additional material: This example is included in the EventEmitterMediation project in the additional materials.

This sample illustrates the use of the Event Emitter primitive. In this sample, a mediation module called EventEmitterMediation uses a message filter to determine how to forward a message through the mediation flow.

If the customer ID in the message starts with a I, the mediation flow calls the retrieveCustomer operation of the DBMSServiceMediation. If the customer ID starts with any number other than I, the mediation flow emits an event and stops the mediation.

To build the mediation:

- 1. Create a mediation module called EventEmitterMediation.
- Import the CustomerServiceIF Web service from OrderManagementLib by selecting CustomerServiceIFExport1_CustomerServiceIFHttpPort from the Web Service Ports folder in OrderManagementLib and dropping it to the assembly diagram.

By default, it is assigned a name of **CustomerServicelFImport1**.

3. Wire EventEmitterMediation to CustomerServicelFImport1 and add the CustomerServicelF interface to EventEmitterMediation, as shown in Figure 6-139.



Figure 6-139 EventEmitterMediation assembly diagram

4. Right-click EventEmitterMediation and select **Regenerate Implementation** from the pop-up menu to open the Mediation Flow Editor with the new mediation flow.

6.6.1 Operation connections

Wire retrieveCustomer to retrieveCustomer, as shown in Figure 6-140.



Figure 6-140 Wire the operations

6.6.2 Build the mediation flow



The mediation flow looks similar to that shown in Figure 6-141.

Figure 6-141 EventEmitterMediation mediation flow

Add the following primitives to the mediation flow canvas and take the default names:

- Message Filter
- Event Emitter
- Stop

Message Filter primitive

The Message Filter primitive is used to validate the first character of the customerID. If the first character is not l, the flow emits an event and stops the mediation. Otherwise, it proceeds with a Web service call.

To build the mediation:

- 1. Wire the Input node to the input terminal of the MessageFilter1.
- 2. Right-click **MessageFilter1** and select **Add Output Terminal** from the pop-up menu. The new terminal is named match1.
- 3. Select the MessageFilter1 primitive, and go to the Details tab of the Properties view. Click **Add** to add a new pattern.

4. Set the pattern to compare the first character of custID to *1*. Set the terminal name to match1, and click **Finish**. See Figure 6-142.

Pattern:	substring(/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custID ,1 ,1)!='1'	Edit
Terminal name:	match1	~

Figure 6-142 Add a pattern to the Message Filter primitive

5. In the Details tab, set the distribution mode to First, as shown in Figure 6-143.

🚏 Message Filter : MessageFilter1		
Distribution mode: First		~
Filters:		
Pattern	Terminal name	Add
substring(/body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custID , 1 , 1)! = '1'	match1	Edit
		Remove

Figure 6-143 New pattern and distribution mode

- 6. Complete the wiring in the flow as follows:
 - Wire the match1 terminal to EventEmitter1.
 - Wire the default terminal of MessageFilter1 to the Callout node.
 - Wire the output terminal of the EventEmitter1 to the Stop1 node.

Event Emitter primitive

In the Details tab of the Properties view for the EventEmitter1, set the Root value to /body/retrieveCustomer/customer/custID, as shown in Figure 6-144. Save the mediation and assembly diagram.

🖹 Event Emitt	er:EventEmitter1	
Label: *	EventEmitterMediation_EventEmitterMediation_EventEmitter1_Req	
Root:	/body/retrieveCustomer/custID	Edit
Transaction mode:	Default	•

Figure 6-144 Event Emitter properties

6.6.3 Test the mediation

To test the mediation:

- 1. In the assembly diagram, right-click the EventEmitterMediation component and choose **Test Component** from the pop-up menu.
- 2. Set custID to 54321 (as shown in Figure 6-145), and click **Continue** to run the test.

Configuration:	Default	t Module Test		
Module:	EventE	mitterMediation		~
Component:	EventE	mitterMediation		~
Interface:	Custon	nerServiceIF		
Operation:	retriev	eCustomer		
🗌 Invoke export	using b	inding		
Initial request para	ameter	s		
¥ ± 🗖				
Name		Туре	Value	
😑 💾 custo	mer	Customer	~	
Φ α	ustID	string	✓ 54321	
💭 ci	ustNam	string	$\mathbf{\vee}$	
🗖 a	ddress	string	×	
zi	ipCode	string	×	

Figure 6-145 Test input

The test run should complete without errors, as shown in Figure 6-146.

Ŀ	vents
	😑 🐩 Invoke (EventEmitterMediation:retrieveCustomer)
	😑 隆 Invoke started
	Invoke (EventEmitterMediation:retrieveCustomer)
	Return (EventEmitterMediation:retrieveCustomer)
	Invoke returned

Figure 6-146 Test event sequence

To see the event, open the Common Base Event Browser:

- 1. Switch to the Servers tab.
- Right-click the server and select Launch → Common Base Event Browser from the pop-up menu.
- 3. Enter the user ID and password (admin/admin by default). The Common Base Event Browser window opens (Figure 6-147). On the left, you see the number of events.

WebSphere.	software Common Base Event Browser
Get Events	Logout Help
Event Views	Get Events Retrieve set of Common Base Events from the Common Events Infrastructure to
All Events	Event Data Store Properties
User Data Events	*Event Data Store
Server Events	java:comp/env/eventsaccess
Number of events: 1	

Figure 6-147 Common Base Event Browser

4. Click **All Events** under **Event Views** in the left navigation bar. Select the event that you want to view, and the data for the event displays in the bottom portion of the screen (as shown in Figure 6-148).

	*** *		e 🔳	1	*	Se	lect Act	ion	-	► Go		
~	Select 🔺	Creatio	n Time	^	Name						^	Pri
	0	2008-05-02	2T16:06:40.	<u>406Z</u>	EventEmit	terMediatio	n_EventEm	itterMe	diation_E	ventEmitter	1_Req	
	۲	<u>2008-05-02</u>	2116:21:43.	812 <u>Z</u>	EventEmit	terMediatio	n_EventEm	itterMe	diation_E	ventEmitter	1_Req	
	Page	1 of 1					Total:	2 Fi	i <mark>ltere</mark> d:	2 Dis	olaye	d: 2
<			11	11								
	situation / sit	uationType .	/ reasoning:	Scope	;	EXTER	NAL					
	situation / Re	eportSituation	n / reportCa	tegor	y	STATU	IS					
	wbi:event					<u><wbite< u=""></wbite<></u>	vent xmins	:vvbi="	http://www	/w.ibm.com	/xmlns	/prod/

Figure 6-148 List of events

5. At the very bottom of the Event Data find the wbi:event field. Click the <wbi:event xmlns:wbi=...> value on the right to display the event data (as shown in Figure 6-149). The <wbi:eventPointData> and <wbi:application Data> tags are of interest.



Figure 6-149 Event data

6. Deploy DBMSServiceMediationApp and rerun the test with custID=10001, which should pass the MessageFilter1 and proceed with a successful Web service call. No event is emitted.

470 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development

7

Using adapters

This chapter introduces the IBM WebSphere JCA Adapter support in IBM WebSphere Integration Developer and illustrates how to incorporate adapters into business integration modules and mediations.

This chapter contains the following topics:

- IBM WebSphere JCA Adapter architecture
- IBM WebSphere Adapter Toolkit
- Enterprise Metadata Discovery
- Tools for creating JCA adapters
- Example: Using the WebSphere Adapter for JDBC

7.1 IBM WebSphere JCA Adapter architecture

There are two main interfaces to a JCA adapter (Figure 7-1):

- The Service Provider Interface (SPI)
- The Common Client Interface (CCI)

The SPI is the application server's view of the adapter. It contains the contracts that are necessary to work with an application server, including connection creation and matching, security, and work management.

The CCI is designed to provide a common view of data and interaction with the adapter. The CCI defines the data model and provides a common mechanism to interact with the adapter.



Figure 7-1 JCA adapter architecture

Import and export components with an EIS binding provide SCA components with the uniform view of the services external to the module. This view allows components to communicate with a variety of external EIS systems using consistent SCA programming model.

You can find all resource adapters that come with the product in the *WID_root*\Resource Adapters directory.

Exports (inbound)

An EIS service export is an export component that makes a service available to clients outside of the module. The EIS export interface defines the interface of the exported service. See Figure 7-2.

Within the EIS export, the EISExportBinding binds the exported service to the external EIS service to:

- ► Allow the service to subscribe to (listen for) EIS service requests.
- Specify the mapping between the definition of inbound events as it is understood by the Resource Adapter (using JCA interfaces) and the SCA operation invocation.



Figure 7-2 EIS Inbound to WebSphere Process Server

Imports (outbound)

The EIS service import is an import component that allows components in the module to use an EIS service that is defined outside of the module. The interfaces that are specified in the import, either WSDL or Java, represent the interface of the external service available through the import. Within the EIS import, the EISImportBinding binds external EIS services to the SCA module. See Figure 7-3.

The binding specifies the mapping between the definition of the outbound SCA operation invocation and the interaction information as understood by the Resource Adapter (using JCA interfaces).



Figure 7-3 WebSphere Process Server to EIS outbound

Consult the documentation that comes with these resource adapters for more information, such as details about their availability on platforms such as Linux.

7.1.1 Different types of WebSphere JCA Adapters

WebSphere JCA Adapters implement the Enterprise MetaData Discovery specification to provide a simple integration experience with graphical discovery tools without resorting to writing code.

There is a distinction between two categories of WebSphere JCA adapter:

- Application adapter
- Technology adapters

Application adapters

WebSphere Adapters V6.1 connect enterprise business application suites to IBM Business Process Management, enterprise service bus, and application server solutions in a service-oriented architecture (SOA).

Application adapters include:

JD Edwards EnterpriseOne

Provides bidirectional, real-time integration between JD Edwards Enterprise One and OneWorld Xe.

Oracle E-Business Suite

Supports real-time, bidirectional integration to all Oracle applications modules and other systems.

PeopleSoft Enterprise

Provides bidirectional, real-time integration between PeopleSoft and other applications.

► SAP Exchange Infrastructure

Allows business applications to send and receive business data and events as XML messages asynchronously.

SAP Software

Provides bidirectional, multi-threaded, real-time integration between SAP and other applications, using SAP's all interfaces capabilities.

Siebel Business Applications

Provides comprehensive bidirectional, real-time integration between Siebel and order management, ERP, e-business, and existing systems.

Technology adapters

WebSphere Adapters V6.1 technology adapters deliver file and database connectivity solutions for IBM Business Process Management and enterprise service bus solutions in an SOA.

The technology adapters include:

Email

Enables the exchange of business objects with a variety of applications.

Flat Files

Enables the communication with an application through the exchange of text files.

► File Transfer Protocol (FTP)

Extend ESB with business document exchange via FTP server.

► JDBC

Allows the exchange of objects with applications built on any database supported by JDBC Driver.

7.2 IBM WebSphere Adapter Toolkit

IBM WebSphere Adapter Toolkit enables customers and business partners to develop custom JCA adapters to meet unique business requirements. The toolkit helps to create either a basic JCA 1.5 adapter or an adapter that takes advantage of the additional capabilities of the Adapter Foundation Classes utilized by WebSphere Adapters.

The Eclipse-based toolkit includes:

- A wizard to create an adapter project, including the Java code stubs for the appropriate adapter classes.
- The Adapter Foundation Classes that provide a consistent implementation for WebSphere Adapters based on JCA 1.5.
- A graphical Resource Adapter Deployment Descriptor Editor to ease creation and modification of the XML deployment descriptor file.
- A sample adapter and its associated enterprise application with source. The sample adapter takes advantage of the Adapter Foundation Classes and implements the Enterprise Metadata Discovery (EMD) specification for wizard-driven configuration and the Service Data Objects (SDO) specification for exchanging data.

IBM WebSphere Adapter Toolkit is provided as a no-fee download from IBM developerWorks® to customers and business partners who secure licenses to WebSphere Integration Developer and Rational Application Developer. To access WebSphere Adapter Toolkit, visit IBM developerWorks.

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/downloads/wat/

7.3 Enterprise Metadata Discovery

To realize the benefits of an SOA, it is critical to have easy interoperability with EIS systems.

The Enterprise Metadata Discovery specification introduces a new metadata discovery and import model for resource adapters and the enterprise application integration (EAI) tools framework. The model allows resource adapters to easily plug into an integration framework and improves the usability of adapters within the framework. Tools that support Enterprise Metadata Discovery specification have become the standard way to implement JCA-based applications.

The *external service wizard* in WebSphere Integration Developer supports the specification. The wizard browses the metadata information of an EIS system in

a process called *discovery*. Then the artifacts that are of interest are imported into a *service description*. The service description contains all the information that is required to generate an implementation of the service that can then be deployed to an application server.

In addition to generating a service, you might be able to edit the configuration of the resource adapter or service after it has been created and configured. The tools in WebSphere Integration Developer that perform this editing function, the assembly editor and the business object editor, are demonstrated in the task help.

7.4 Tools for creating JCA adapters

WebSphere Integration Developer provides tools that support using JCA adapters in modules and mediation modules.

7.4.1 Using the external service wizard

WebSphere Integration Developer provides the *external service wizard* to implement resource adapters in projects.

To start the wizard:

- 1. Create the module that will use the adapter, and open the assembly diagram.
- Select New → External Service from the context menu of the module in the Business Integration view.

Alternatively, you can select an adapter from the Inbound or Outbound adapter list in the palette and drop it into the assembly diagram.

The wizard provides following capabilities:

- Allows you to select the resource adapter and to include it in the workspace, either bundled with the module or as a separate RAR to be deployed.
- Builds the connector project to hold the files that are associated with the module.
- Finds the application or data on the EIS system and builds the import component (for outbound services) or export component (for inbound services) required for the service.

An import component lets your application invoke a service on the EIS system.

An export component lets an application on an EIS system invoke a service in WebSphere Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. Exports can only be created for EIS systems that support initiating external function calls.

• Generates business objects representing data structures on the EIS systems.

7.4.2 Using the adapter pattern wizard

Patterns enable the creation of integrated solutions based on predefined pieces. WebSphere Integration Developer provides a number of patterns for integrating adapters into your solution. These patterns can be used by invoking the *adapter pattern wizard*.

You first create the module that will use the adapter. Then, invoke the wizard to populate the module with the necessary artifacts by selecting $New \rightarrow From$ **Patterns** from the context menu of the module in the Business Integration view.

Figure 7-4 shows the patterns that are available.

Select one of the available patterns to create artifact(s)
Filter: type filter text
Available Patterns
Business Processes Integration Adapters Email Create an outbound Email service to send mail
Create an inbound FTP service to read from a remote file Create an outbound FTP service to write to a remote file Flat File Create an inbound Flat File service to read from a local file Create an outbound Flat File service to write to a local file Create an outbound Flat File service to write to a local file

Figure 7-4 Adapter patterns

7.4.3 Adapter deployment options

When planning for implementation, you must to decide whether to bundle the adapter within the module that uses it or to deploy it separately. You typically bundle the adapter within the module when that module is the only application that will use the adapter or if that module uses a unique version of the adapter. When the Adapter is bundled with the module, it is packaged in the same EAR file as the module, as shown in Figure 7-5.



Figure 7-5 Embedding the adapter in your module

You can also choose to deploy the adapter separately. In this case, a Resource Adapter Archive (RAR) is deployed and is accessible to any application in the run time.

7.5 Example: Using the WebSphere Adapter for JDBC

The JDBC resource adapter enables bidirectional connectivity for integration to any database application. The exchange of data for such applications happens at the database level. The JDBC resource adapter can integrate with any database, as long as there is a JDBC driver that supports the JDBC 2.0 (or higher) Specification, available for the database. Examples of such databases include DB2, Oracle, Microsoft SQLServer, Sybase, and Informix.

For complete information about this adapter, see the WebSphere Adapter for JDBC documentation, which is available at:

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.wsadapters.610.jca_jdbc.doc/doc/stbp_jdb_welcome.html

This example demonstrates how to build a business object using the JDBC Resource Adapter, as follows:

- 1. Create the database, and ensure that the system that hosts WebSphere Integration Developer has access to this database.
- 2. In the WebSphere Integration Developer, switch to the Business Integration perspective, and create a new module called **ITSOModule.**
- 3. Right-click **ITSOModule** in the Business Integration view, and select $New \rightarrow External Service$.
- 4. Select Adapters, and click Next (Figure 7-6).

🔂 External Ser	wice
New External Select the type o	Service f service you would like to access.
 Adapters 	Create a service to connect to an external enterprise application, database, mail server, or file system.
∩ Renistries	Use external registries to discover and connect to existing Web services.
?	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 7-6 Select Adapters as the external service type

5. Select IBM WebSphere Adapter for JDBC (IBM: 6.1), as shown in Figure 7-7, and click **Next**.

📀 External Service	
Select an Adapter	
Select the adapter you want to use.	~
IBM WebSphere Adapter for Hat Files (IBM : 6.1.U.U_IFU4)	
IBM WebSphere Adapter for FTP (IBM : 6.1.0.0_IF03)	
IBM WebSphere Adapter for JDBC (IBM : 6.1.0.0_IF03)	
JOE IBM WebSphere Adapter for JD Edwards EnterpriseOne (IBM : 6.1.0.0_IF04)	
IBM WebSphere Adapter for PeopleSoft Enterprise (IBM : 6.1.0.0_IF03)	
	>
? < Back	Cancel

Figure 7-7 External Service Adapter for JDBC

6. The archive file to be imported and the connector project name that is used displays (Figure 7-8). You can specify a new connector project or use an existing one. Also, select a target run time. Then, click **Next**. The connector project is created, and the archive is imported to it.

🚯 External Servic	e 🛛 🔀
Adapter Import Import a resource ada a connector project fo	pter archive (RAR) from the file system to create
Archive file:	C:\IBM\WID61\ResourceAdapters\JDBC_6.1.0.0_IF03\deplo y\CWYBC_JDBC.rar
Connector project:*	CWYBC_JDBC
Target runtime:	WebSphere Process Server v6.1
0	< Back Next > Finish Cancel

Figure 7-8 External Service Adapter Import

7. Next, you select the JDBC driver JAR files to be used to access the database.

For each driver, click **Add**, browse to the appropriate JAR files, and click **Open**. Figure 7-9 shows the JAR files that we selected for IBM DB2 V9.1. Click **Next**.



Figure 7-9 Required JDBC driver files for the Adapter

8. Click **Outbound**, and click **Next** (Figure 7-10).



Figure 7-10 The Adapter Style options

- 9. The next panel specifies the connection properties for the database server (Figure 7-11 on page 485).
 - a. Use the left panel to select the database vendor, driver, and version to which you want to connect.
 - b. In the right panel, enter the information that is required to connect to the database (ITSO).
 - c. Then, click Next. A connection to the database opens.

The user ID and password are temporary settings that are used to access the database during the wizard.

External Service Discovery Configuration Specify properties to begin discovery.		×
Connection properties Database system connection informat Database system connection informat DB2 UDB OB2 UDB V7.2 V8.1 V8.2 V9.1 OB2 UDB iSeries OB2 UDB iSeries OB2 UDB iSeries OB2 UDB zSeries Oracle Connection informat	ion Properties: JDBC driver type: Database: * Host name: * Port number: * JDBC driver classname: * Database URL: Additional JDBC driver connection properties [name:value;name:value]:	IBM DB2 Universal ITSODB Iocalhost S0000 com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver jdbc:db2://localhost:S0000/
User name: * dt	o2admin	
Password: * *	****	
Prefix for business object names: Advanced >> Change logging properties for wizard		

Figure 7-11 Connection properties for database system and connection information

- 10.Click **Run Query** to list the tables, stored procedures, views, and synonyms for each schema in the database.
- 11.Select the tables for which you want the wizard to create operations and click the > (Add) button (as shown in Figure 7-12). Click **Next**.

Query: Schema name pattern=	null; Supported data	base object types=Tabl	Edit Query
Discovered objects:	静区四	Selected objects:	0
ADMINISTRATOR ADDRESS ADDRESS ADDRESS CUSTOMER INE_ITEM ORDERS Views Stored Procedures		ADDRESS OUSTOMER ODERS ORDERS	
0	< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext	t > Einish	Cancel

Figure 7-12 Object discovery and selection
12.Select the operations that will apply to the business objects and business graphs that are generated.

In the Configure Composite Properties screen (Figure 7-13), leave all the default settings and click **Next.**

D External Service		
Configure Composite Properties		
Specify properties that apply to all selected o	bjects.	
		-
Operations for selected business objects —		
Operations for these functions will be ac	ided to the service interface:*	
Create		Add
Delete		
Retrieve		Rem
RetrieveAll		
ApplyChanges		
Create and configure user-defined wrapper	objects	
Wrapper object names:		
		Ade
	F	Rem
Maximum records for DetrieupAll operation	100	
Maximum records for Recheveral operation:	100	
Business object namespace:	http://www.ibm.com/xmlns/prod/webs	
Specify the relative folder for generated bus	iness objects	
Folder:		
Generate a business graph for each busin	pess object	
- Tacherate a business graph for each busin		
2		0

Figure 7-13 Configure Composite Properties

- 13.Next, enter the database security credentials, as well as deployment options and the JNDI name to use to access the database. Select one of the following deployment options:
 - With module for use by single application (our choice in this example)
 - On server for use by multiple applications
- 14. Specify how you want the adapter to get the database user name and password at run time (see Figure 7-14 on page 489).

There are three options:

Use an authentication alias.

Select Specify a Java Authentication and Authorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential and enter the name of the alias in the J2C Authentication Data Entry field. The alias can be an existing alias, or it can be created later.

- To use an existing data source on the server:
 - i. Clear the "Specify a Java Authentication and Authorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential" option.
 - ii. Click Advanced.
 - iii. Expand Alternate ways to specify connection information and enter either a data source JNDI name or an XA data source name and XA database name.
- To specify the database user name and password to be saved in the adapter properties:
 - i. Clear the "Specify a Java Authentication and Authorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential" option.
 - ii. Click Advanced.
 - iii. Under Database system connection properties, enter the User name and Password.

Note: When you specify the password here, it is saved as clear text in an adapter property, which unauthorized users might be able to see.

In this example, we use a data source entry. So, we enter a JNDI name (jdbc/itsodb) for the data source. You must create this data source manually. The wizard does not create it.

Click Next.

Service operations		
If you want to modify the names, to be generated in the interface fi	or add a description to the operations [Ed	
Deployment properties		
Specify a Java Authentication	and Authorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential.	
J2C Authentication Data Entry:		
Deploy connector project:	With module for use by single application	
Specify the settings used to conne	ect to JDBC at runtime:	
Connection properties:	Specify connection properties	
Connection properties		
Database system connection	information	
If you want to modify the names, or add a description to the operations to be generated in the interface file, press the "Edit Operations" button. Deployment properties Specify a Java Authentication and Authorization Services (JAAS) alias security credential. J2C Authentication Data Entry: Deploy connector project: With module for use by single application Specify the settings used to connect to JDBC at runtime: Connection properties: Specify connection properties Connection properties: Specify connection properties Database system connection information Database URL: jdbc:db2://xpxv812.itso.ral.ibm.com:50000/ITSODB JDBC driver classname: com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver Database vendor: * DB2 User name: Password: < Alternative ways to specify connection information Datasource JNDI name: ⁹ jdbc/itsodb] XA datasource name: XA database name: Figure 7-14 Deployment properties		
JDBC driver classname:	com.ibm.db2.jcc.DB2Driver	
Database vendor: *	DB2	
User name:		
Password:		
<< Advanced		
 Alternative ways to speci 	ify connection information	
Datasource JNDI name: ⁹	jdbc/itsodb	
XA datasource name:		
XA database name:		
Figure 7-14 Deployment properties		

15. In the Service Location Properties panel (Figure 7-15), select the new module and click **Finish**.

Service Location Specify location pro	on Properties perties for saving the service.		P
Properties for serv	ice		
Module:	ITSOModule	~	New
Namespace;	http://ITSOModule/wsdl/JDBCOutboundInterface		
	✔ Use default namespace		
Folder:	wsdl		Browse
Name: *	JDBCOutboundInterface		
	Save business objects to a library		
Library:	CustomerLibrary	Y	New
Description:			
0	< Back Next > Finish		Cancel

Figure 7-15 Service Location Properties

When the wizard completes, a file listing of the newly created module and an assembly diagram of its interface displays as shown in Figure 7-16.

🖏 ITSOModule - Assembly Diagram 🗙		
🔹 💳 Palette 💳 👘		
<u>}</u> €.€		
🗁 Favorites		
🕞 Components	IDBCOutboundInterface	
💁 Untyped Component		
🔊 Human Task		
RJ 1		

Figure 7-16 Generated Artifacts in the assembly diagram

7.5.1 Creating an authentication alias for the database

Next, you need to create an authentication alias that includes the credentials required to access the database.

To set the authentication alias, you first need to start the server. You can start the server from the Servers view by right-clicking on the server and selecting **Start**.

After the server is started, follow these steps:

- 1. When the server status is Started, right-click the server, and then select **Run** administrative console. Log in to the administrative console.
- 2. In the console, select Security → Secure Administration, applications and infrastructure.
- 3. On the right, click **J2C Authentication Data** under Java Authentication and Authorization Service.
- 4. Create an authentication alias (Figure 7-17 on page 491):
 - a. In the list of J2C authentication aliases that displays, click New.
 - b. In the Configuration tab, type a name for the authentication alias in the Alias field.
 - c. Enter the user ID and password that are required to establish a connection to the database.
 - d. Optionally, type a description of the alias.
 - e. Click OK.

General Properties
* Alias
* User ID
db2admin
* Password
•••••
Description Apply OK Reset Cancel

Figure 7-17 Configuration General Properties console

The newly created alias displays (Figure 7-18). Note the full name of the alias, which includes the node name. This full name is the one that you use in subsequent configuration windows.

f. Save the configuration.

New Delete				
Select	Alias 🛟	User ID 🗘	Description 🗘	
	Filter: widNode/ITSODB			
	widNode/ITSODB	db2admin		
Total	6 Filtered total: 1			

Figure 7-18 JAAS: JCA authentication data console

7.5.2 Creating the data source for the database

Using a data source lets applications share connections to a database. For example, if multiple applications access the same database with the same user name and password, the applications can be deployed using the same data source. Using a J2C authentication alias is a robust, secure way to deploy applications. An administrator creates the authentication alias that is used by one or more applications that need to access a system. The user name and password are known only to that administrator.

This process assumes that you have created the authentication alias with the credentials required to access the database. Follow these steps:

- 1. In the administrative console, select Resources \rightarrow JDBC \rightarrow JDBC Providers.
- 2. Select the scope at which you want to create the JDBC provider. Because JDBC providers point to files on a a server, the node scope is often the most appropriate.
- 3. Click **New** at the top of the list of JDBC providers.

4. Name the new JDBC provider and select the database and provider type as shown in Figure 7-19. Click **Next**.

Step 1: Create new JDBC provider	Create new JDBC provider
Step 2: Enter database class path information Step 3: Summary	Set the basic configuration values of a JDBC provider, which encapsulates the specific vendor JDBC driver implementation classes that are required to access the database. The wizard fills in the name and the description fields, but you can type different values. Scope
	cells:widCell
	* Database type DB2
	★ Provider type DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider ▼
	* Implementation type
	Connection pool data source 💙
	* Name
	DB2 Provider for ITSODB
	Description
	Non-XA DB2 Universal JDBC Driver-compliant Provider. Datasources created under this provider support only 1-phase commit processing except in the case where driver type 2 is used under WebSphere Application Server for Z/OS. On WebSphere Application Server for Z/OS, driver type 2 uses RRS and supports 2-phase commit
lext Cancel	

Figure 7-19 Create new JDBC provider

5. Specify the directory location that contains the provider JAR files (Figure 7-20). Click **Next**.

Step 1: Create new JDBC provider	Enter database class path information
Step 2: Enter database class path information Step 3: Summary	Set the environment variables that represent the JDBC drive files, which WebSphere(R) Application Server uses to define provider. This wizard page displays the file names; you sup the directory locations of the files. Use complete directory pa you type the JDBC driver file locations. For example: /home/db2inst1/sqllib/java on Linux(TM). If a val specified for you, you may click Next to accept the value.
	Class path:
	\${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc.jar \${UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc_license_cu.jar \${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_PATH}/db2jcc_license_cisu ar
	Directory location for "db2jcc.jar, db2jcc_license_cisuz.jar" w
	c:\IBM\SQLLIB\java
	Native library path
	Directory location which is saved as WebSphere variable \${DB2UNIVERSAL_JDBC_DRIVER_NATIVEPATH}
revious Next C	Cancel

Figure 7-20 Enter database class path information console

6. The last panel shows a summary of your selections. Click Finish.

The driver is created and a list of providers displays, including the new driver.

7. Click the driver name to open the configuration, and then click **Data sources** as shown in Figure 7-21.

deneral Properdes	Additional Properties
* Scope	
cells:widCell	Data sources
	Data sources
* Name	(WebSphere
DB2 Provider for ITSODB	Application Server
	<u>V4)</u>
Description	
Non-XA DB2 Universal JDBC	
Driver-compliant Provider.	
Datasources created under this	
provider support only 1-phase	
commit processing except in the	

Figure 7-21 DB2 Universal JDBC Driver Provider

- 8. Click **New** to create a new data source. In the panel that displays (Figure 7-22):
 - a. Enter a new name for the data source, the JNDI name for the data source. This name must match the name that is specified in the external service wizard (see Figure 7-14 on page 489).
 - b. Select the authentication alias that you created earlier in 7.5.1, "Creating an authentication alias for the database" on page 491.
 - c. Click Next.

Enter basic data source information
Set the basic configuration values of a data source for association with your JDBC provider. A data source supplies the physical connections between the application server and the database.
Requirement: Use the Data sources (WebSphere(R) Application Server V4) console pages if your applications are based on the Enterprise JavaBeans (TM) (EJB) 1.0 specification or the Java(TM) Servlet 2.2 specification.
Scope
cells:widCell
JDBC provider name
DB2 Provider for ITSODB
* Data source name
ITSODB DS
* JNDI name
jdbc/itsodb
Component-managed authentication alias and XA recovery authentication alias
Select a component-managed authentication alias. The selected authentication alias will also be set as the XA recovery authentication alias if your JDBC Provider supports XA. If you choose to <u>create a new</u> J2C authentication alias, the wizard will be canceled.
widNode/ITSODB

Figure 7-22 Enter basic data source information

9. Enter the information that is required to connect to the database as shown in Figure 7-23. Click **Next**.

ter basic	Enter database specific properties for the data source
n	Set these database-specific properties, which are required by the database vendor JDBC driver to support the connections that are
ter specific	managed through this data source.
for the	* Database name
	ITSODE
mmary	* Driver type 4
	* Server name
	localhost
	* Port number 50000
	✓ Use this data source in container managed persistence (CMP)
Next	Cancel

Figure 7-23 Enter database specific properties for the data source

- 10. Review the summary, and click **Finish** to create the data source.
- 11.Save the changes.
- 12.Click Test connection to make sure the data source is defined correctly (Figure 7-24).



Figure 7-24 Setting data sources

7.5.3 Deploying the module to the test environment

The result of running the external service wizard is a module that contains an EIS import or export. Install this SCA module in WebSphere Integration Developer integration test client. Follow these steps:

- 1. In the Servers view in the lower-right pane, right-click the server, and then select **Start**.
- 2. When the Server status changes to Started, add the module to the server.
 - a. Right-click the server, and then select Add and Remove Projects.
 - b. Select **ITSOModuleApp** and click the > (Add) button.
 - c. Click Finish.
- 3. Verify that the server and ITSOModuleApp are in the Started state, as shown in Figure 7-25.



Figure 7-25 ITSOModuleApp started and ready for testing

Now, test the JDBCOutboundInterface component by creating and an outbound request:

1. Open the assembly diagram for ITSOModule. Right-click the JDBCOutboundInterface import and select Test Component from the context menu.

- 2. In the test client, set the properties as shown in Figure 7-26 on page 499:
 - a. Make sure the Operation field is set to createItsoCustomerBG.
 - b. Enter test data in the Initial request parameters table as shown in Figure 7-26.

Admin Console	😵 ITSOModule - Assembly Diag	ram 🔲 ITSC	Module_Test	×		' E
Events						
A Select the com	popent interface, and operation s	you would like to in	voke. Click Co	optique to rup		
Events	pononic, interraco, and operation ;	General Pro	perties	indindo to ram.		^
å⊳ • I ⊞ I 🐎		 Detailed Pro 	pertie s			
¶► Invoke		Configuration:	Default Mod	lule Test	~	
		Module:	ITSOModule	,	~	
		Component:	JDBCOutbo	undInterface	*	
		Interface:	JDBCOutbo	undInterface	¥	
		Operation:	createItsoC	ustomerBG	¥	
		Invoke expor	rt using bindin	g		
		Initial request pa	arameters			
			Turne	Ushas	_	
			Type TheoCust			
			verb <stri< td=""><td>✓ Create</td><td></td><td></td></stri<>	✓ Create		
			ItsoCust	×		
			l int	✓ 0		
			string	🗸 Customer		
			string	 Active 	-	
			string	🗸 John Doe		
		<	l strina	2	<u> </u>	
						× .
ents Configurations						

Figure 7-26 ITSOModule_Test mod

- 3. Click the Continue icon 🚺
- 4. Select **WebSphere Process Server v6.1** as the deployment location and click **Finish**.
- 5. If administrative security is enabled on server, log in using admin for the User ID and Password.

The test runs. Figure 7-27 shows the results.



Figure 7-27 WebSphere Administration Console for testing

6. Using the DB2 Control Center, verify that the ITSO customer record was created to the CUSTOMER database table, as shown in Figure 7-28.

🏪 Open Table - CUSTOMER								
KCGG1F4 - DB2 - ITSO - ITSO.CUSTOMER								
Edits to the: to change t	se re: he fo	sults are peri Irm of editing	forme(d as searche	d UPI	DATEs and [DELE.	TEs. Use the Tools Settin
ITSO_ID	ŧ	TYPE	÷	STATUS	ŧ	NAME	⇔	CREATION_DATE 🖨
	100	Cstomer		Active		JCA Test		
	101	Customer		Active		John Doe		

Figure 7-28 Creation of customer record to the ITSO database

502 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development

Α

WebSphere Integration Developer installation

This appendix includes an example of installing WebSphere Integration Developer on a Windows platform.

Installation of WebSphere Integration Developer

There are a number of scenarios that you can follow when installing WebSphere Integration Developer. This scenario illustrates just one of the methods.

Hardware and software requirements

WebSphere Integration Developer can run on a Windows or Linux operating system. You can find specific hardware and software requirements at:

http://www.ibm.com/software/integration/wid/sysreqs/

Getting started with the installation

The following steps are an example of installing WebSphere Integration Developer on a Windows operating system:

- 1. Double-click launchpad.exe in the root directory of the installation media.
- 2. On the Launchpad (Figure A-1 on page 505), select **Install IBM WebSphere** Integration Developer V6.1.



Figure A-1 IBM WebSphere Integration Developer V6.1 launchpad

3. If IBM Installation Manager is not detected on your workstation, then it is installed at the same time as the WebSphere Integration Developer package.

4. From the IBM Installation Manager Install Packages window, select all the options, as shown in Figure A-2.

(1) IBM Installation Manager	
Install Packages Select the packages you want to install.	
Installation Packages	Status
 IBM® WebSphere® Integration Developer Version 6.1.0.0 IBM® WebSphere® Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Version 6.1.0.0 	ce Installed

Figure A-2 Select the packages to install

- 5. When you have read the terms in the license agreements, accept the license by selecting I accept the terms in the license agreement.
- 6. By default, the package group installation directory is C:\Program Files\IBM\WID61 for Windows XP and Windows Server®. In this scenario, we shorten this to C:\IBM\WID61.

IBM Installation Manager
Install Packages A package group is a location that contains one or more package will share a common user interface. Select an existing package gr Install Licenses Location Features Use the existing package group Create a new package group Package Group Name Installation Directory
IBM WebSphere Integration Developer_ C:\IBM\WID611

Figure A-3 IBM Installation Manager Installation Directory

7. Select the features appropriate for your installation. At minimum, we recommend those shown in Figure A-4.

单 IBM Installation Manager
Install Packages
Select the features you want to install.
Install Licenses Location Features Summary
Features
🖃 💼 🏠 IBM® WebSphere® Integration Developer
Integrated Development Workbench
IBM WebSphere Adapters
Portal tools
🖃 🔽 🏠 IBM® WebSphere® Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Test
IBM WebSphere Process Server profile
IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus profile

Figure A-4 IBM Installation Manager Installation Features

The minimum features shown in Figure A-4 are:

Integrated Development Workbench

Provides tools in a comprehensive development environment to build integrated solutions.

- IBM WebSphere Adapters

Adapters access programs and data on Enterprise Information Systems (EISs). Installing the following adapters and their documentation, which are included with WebSphere Integration Developer Version 6.1, is optional:

- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Email
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for FTP
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Flat Files
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for JDBC
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for JD Edwards EnterpriseOne
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Oracle E-Business Suite
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for PeopleSoft Enterprise
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for SAP Software
- IBM WebSphere Adapter for Siebel Business Applications

- IBM WebSphere Process Server profile

A profile is used to define a separate runtime environment, with separate command files, configuration files, and log files. The WebSphere Process Server profile enables you to run SCA applications, BPEL business processes, human tasks, transition tables, business rules, selectors, and other resources. You can also run mediation flows that are contained in mediation modules. If you intend to eventually deploy an integration module with one or more of these resources to a WebSphere Process Server production server, then you need to install the WebSphere Process Server profile.

- IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus profile

A profile is used to define a separate runtime environment, with separate command files, configuration files, and log files. The WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus profile enables you to run mediation flows contained in mediation modules. However, you cannot run BPEL business processes, human tasks, business rules, selectors, and other resources. If you intend to eventually deploy your mediation module to a WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus production server, then you need to install the WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus profile.

Portal tools

Provides tools to create, customize, test, debug, and deploy portal applications. The Portal development tools support IBM WebSphere Portal versions 5.1 and 6.0.

8. Click Finish to start the installation.

ڬ IBM Installation Manager
Install Packages Review the summary information. Click Back to make changes, or click Install.
Install Licenses Location Features Summary
Target Location
Package Group Name: IBM WebSphere Integration Developer_1
Installation Directory: C:\IBM\WID611
Shared Resources Directory: C:\IBM\SDP70Shared
Features
Feature
🖃 🏠 IBM® WebSphere® Integration Developer
🚯 Integrated Development Workbench
🚯 IBM WebSphere Adapters
🖃 🏠 IBM® WebSphere® Process Server or WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Test Er
ibm WebSphere Process Server profile
IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus profile

Figure A-5 IBM Installation Manager Installation Summary

 When installation is completed, you start WebSphere Integration Developer by clicking Start → Programs → IBM WebSphere Integration Developer → IBM WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1 → WebSphere Integration Developer 6.1.

510 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development

Β

Additional material

This book refers to additional material that you can download from the Internet as described in this appendix.

Locating the Web material

The Web material that is associated with this book is available in softcopy on the Internet from the IBM Redbooks Web server. Point your Web browser at:

ftp://www.redbooks.ibm.com/redbooks/SG247608

Alternatively, you can go to the IBM Redbooks Web site at:

ibm.com/redbooks

Select the **Additional materials** and open the directory that corresponds with the IBM Redbooks form number, SG247608.

Using the Web material

The Web material contains a zipped file with project interchange files that are intended for use with IBM WebSphere Integration Developer V6.1. They are provided on an "as-is" basis.

Create a subdirectory (folder) on your workstation, and decompress the contents of the Web material zipped file into this folder.

To import these files to WebSphere Integration Developer:

- 1. Select File \rightarrow Import \rightarrow Other \rightarrow Project Interchange. Click Next.
- 2. Navigate to the *download_location*\MediationSamples\MediationSamples.zip file. Click **Open**.
- 3. Select all the files and click **Finish**.
 - OrderManagementLib
 - CWYBC_JDBC
 - DBMSServiceMediation

Several of the example mediations use a Derby database. This database is also included with this material. To use the database:

- 1. Create the C:\itso\sampleDB directory.
- 2. Copy the *download_location*\MediationSamples\OLDDB database to the new directory.

Related publications

We consider the publications that we list in this section particularly suitable for a more detailed discussion of the topics that we cover in this book.

IBM Redbooks publications

For information about ordering these publications, see "How to get IBM Redbooks" on page 514. Note that some of the documents referenced here might be available in softcopy only.

- Getting Started with WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 2: Scenario, SG24-7642
- Getting Started with WebSphere Process Server and WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 3: Runtime, SG24-7643
- Human-Centric Business Process Management with WebSphere Process Server V6, SG24-7477
- Building SOA Solutions Using the Rational SDP, SG24-7356
- Business Process Management: Modeling through Monitoring Using WebSphere V6.0.2 Products, SG24-7148

Online resources

The following Web sites are also relevant as further information sources:

WebSphere Process Server V6.1 information center.

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.websphere.wps.610.doc/welcome top wps.htm

WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus V6.1 information center

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.websphere.wesb.61x.root.doc/info/welcome.html

WebSphere Integration Developer V6.1 information center

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/topic/com.i
bm.wbit.610.help.nav.doc/topics/welcome.html

 WebSphere Integration Developer V6.1 information center: Configuring and Using Adapters

http://publib.boulder.ibm.com/infocenter/dmndhelp/v6r1mx/index.jsp?to
pic=/com.ibm.wbit.610.help.adapter.emd.ui.doc/topics/tcreatecmps.html

New platform support, including support for i5/OS and 64-bit Windows and UNIX platforms. A full list of supported platforms can be found at:

http://www-1.ibm.com/support/docview.wss?rs=2307&context=SSQH9M&uid= swg27009829

What's new in WebSphere Process Server V6.1

http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/library/techarticles/071
2_fasbinder_wps/0712_fasbinder.html

 IBM WebSphere Developer Technical Journal article, A guided tour of WebSphere Integration Developer - Part 4 Unleashing visual snippets

```
http://www.ibm.com/developerworks/websphere/techjournal/0606_gregory
/0606 gregory.html#VSE
```

How to get IBM Redbooks

You can search for, view, or download Redbooks, Redpapers, Technotes, draft publications and Additional materials, as well as order hardcopy Redbooks, at this Web site:

ibm.com/redbooks

Help from IBM

IBM Support and downloads

ibm.com/support

IBM Global Services

ibm.com/services

Index

Α

action 228, 230, 235-236, 249, 261 action bar 147, 227 action rule 251-252 action rules 246 actions 252 activation specification 76 activities 148 activityInstance 138 ActivitySessions 21 adapter 78 Adapter Foundation Classes 476 adapter pattern wizard 478 Add and Remove Projects 133, 498 add and remove projects 108 ad-hoc task 209 administration task 186–187 administrative console 109, 379, 447, 491-492 administrative security 500 administrative user ID 112 administrators role 199 aggregate 348 alternate endpoint 353 anySimpleType 336 anyType 336-337, 400, 411, 414 anyURI 336 application adapter 474 application developer 30-31 Application Server Facilities (ASF) 4 application-specific business objects (ASBOs) 26 array 60, 171 ASBO 81 assembly diagram 14, 32, 40, 50, 52, 69, 71, 73, 86, 129, 281, 370, 450, 498 assembly editor 21, 129 Assign 324-326 assign 80.272 Assign activity 158–159 assign transform 272 asvnc timeout 352 authorization role 198-199 autoDelete 137 automatic deletion 137

В

back link 138, 171 batch 211 bendpoint 234 binding 15, 17, 32-33, 73-74, 78 body 294 BPC Explorer 214 BPC explorer 215 BPC Observer 219 BPEL 134 BPEL capabilities 141 BPEL process 13, 24 bpws selectionFailure 138 Broadcast messages 349 Business Flow Manager 4, 136 business graph 26, 54, 62-63, 65, 82 business integration module 46, 69 Business Integration perspective 31-32, 36, 43-44 Business Integration view 36, 43-44 business object 26, 40, 58-59, 128, 305, 391, 400 business object editor 53, 55 business object field 53 business object map 79, 81 Business Object Map primitive 6, 292, 325 Business process 130 business process 2, 23, 33, 40, 134, 139, 219 Business Process Choreographer Explorer 2, 4, 206, 212, 214, 219 Business Process Choreographer Observer 2, 212, 219 - 220business process component 70 business process editor 134, 146 Business rule 13 business rule 25, 237, 253, 263 business rule manager 262-263 business rules administration API 264 Business Rules Manager 247 Business rules manager 2 business rules manager 238, 261-262, 264 business state machine 13, 22, 221 business state machine editor 226-227

С

call event 233 callback 352 Callout 312 Callout node 6, 290, 310, 312, 347, 374, 453 Callout Response node 335, 376, 387, 420, 422 Callout response node 291 callout Response node 310 CalloutResponse node 422 canvas 147, 227, 311 Case element 178 case element 166 catch element 181 check in 122 check out 117, 122 Choice activity 166, 178 CICS transaction 24 claimed 207 clear console 107 COBOL structure 294 collaboration 197, 202 collaboration task 186-187, 191, 207 com.ibm.websphere.sibx.smobo 305 commit 117, 121, 125 Common Base Even 2 Common Base Event Browser 360, 467 common base events (CBE) 358 Common Client Interface (CCI) 472 Common Event Infrastructure (CEI) 27 common event infrastructure (CEI) 358 commonj.sdo.DataObject 305 compensable 169 Compensate activity 172 compensation 172, 218 Compensation activity 173 compensation handler 172, 182 completion event 233 component 12 component test 108, 434 component testing 110 composite state 230 Concat 408. 458-459 Concurrent Versions System 115 condition 228, 233, 235-236, 249, 251, 261 conditions 252 conflict 117 connector project 477, 482 Console view 106-107 context 294, 296, 348

context business objects 298 context path 21 Copy Value 414 correlation 147-148, 178 Correlation context 327 correlation context 296-297, 299, 303-304 correlation properties 179, 228 correlation set 147, 178 critical processes 218 current flow 297 Custom 326 custom 80, 272, 323 Custom Assign 326 custom assign 80 Custom Callout 326 custom callout 80 custom mapping 426 custom mediation 289 Custom Mediation primitive 305, 311, 336 Custom mediation primitive 292 Customer relationship management (CRM) 7 CVS 115, 117, 122 CVS Repositories view 122 CVS repository 117-119 Cyclic Flow activity 4, 171

D

data binding 17, 76 Data perspective 329, 357 data pool 110 data section 296 data source 327, 355–356, 377, 492, 496 data transformation 80 data type 312 data type variable 151 data types 44 database 329, 484, 492 Database Explorer view 357 Database Lookup primitive 292, 327, 364, 372, 377 database table 327 DataObject API 305 date selection entries 269 date selection entry 269 DB2 Control Center 501 decision table 238-239, 241-243, 252, 254, 260-261 default component 269-270 default destination 269

default messaging provider 19 dependencies 44, 52, 90 dependency 44 Deploy with Module 90 Derby 333 disconnect 117 discovery 477 distribution mode 340, 422 doc-lit-wrapped 20 document/literal 20 dynamic bound 171 dynamic endpoint 352, 453 Dynamic Web project 41 dynamic wiring 271

Ε

early exit criterion 171 editors role 199 EIS binding 21, 78 EIS service export 473 EIS service import 474 EISExportBinding 473 EISImportBinding 474 EJB 136, 157 EJB project 41 element 148 elements 177 Email 475 e-mail 208 Empty Action activity 162 Emulate event 113 emulation services 110 emulator 111, 113 encoding style 20 Endpoint Lookup primitive 6, 292, 343, 345, 454 Enterprise Application project 41 enterprise bean 24 Enterprise information systems (EIS) 7 Enterprise Metadata Discovery 476 Enterprise MetaData Discovery specification 474 Enterprise Metadata Discovery specification 7, 476 Enterprise resource planning (ERP) 7 enterprise service bus (ESB) 5 Enterprise Service Discovery tool 21 entry 232 enumeration 248, 251 error message 361 escalation 195, 197, 206-208, 210, 219

escalation receiver role 199 even 233 event 228, 233, 236 Event Emitter primitive 292, 358–359, 461, 465 event handler 183–184 exit 232 export 14 Export component 434 export component 16, 18, 20, 73–74, 78 external service discovery wizard 78 external service wizard 476–477, 496, 498 Extract 326 extract 80, 272

F

Fail 361 fail 327, 329, 337, 345 Fail primitive 292, 361 fail terminal 356, 373 failed Compensation 218 Failed event manager 2 FailFlowException 361 failInfo 297 failureString 297 Fan In primitive 6, 292, 348, 351 Fan Out primitive 6, 292, 300, 348-351 fault 153, 172-173 fault handler 162, 173–174, 180 fault handlers 179 fault terminal 293 field type 56 File Transfer Protocol (FTP) 475 final state 230 Flat Files 475 follow-on task 210 ForEach activity 4, 137, 169–170 function selector 77

G

GBO 81 generate implementation 132 generic business objects (GBOs) 26 Generic JMS 4 generic JMS 20 generic JMS binding 19 generic JMS interface 136 global transaction 355 global variable 152

Н

handler 148 handlers 179 header 294, 304 HTM API 24 HTTP 287 HTTP 1.0 4, 20 HTTP 1.1 4, 20 HTTP binding 20 HTTP message 294 Human resource systems (HR) 7 Human task 130 human task 13, 24, 40, 185, 189, 202, 219 Human Task activity 160 human task editor 194–195 Human Task Manager 185, 210 human task manager 25 human-to-human (H2H) 25 human-to-machine (H2M) 25

I

IBM CICS ECI Resource Adapter 7 IBM CICS ECI Resource Adapter Version 7 7 IBM IMS Connector for Java 7 IBM IMS Connector for Java Version 9.1.0.2.4 7 IBM Lotus Forms client 206 IBM Lotus Forms Designer 212 IBM WebSphere Adapter for Email Version 6.1 7 IBM WebSphere Adapter for Flat Files Version 6.1 7 IBM WebSphere Adapter for FTP Version 6.1 7 IBM WebSphere Adapter for JD Edwards EnterpriseOne Version 6.1 8 IBM WebSphere Adapter for JDBC Version 6.1 7 IBM WebSphere Adapter for Oracle E-Business Suite Version 6.1 8 IBM WebSphere Adapter for PeopleSoft Version 6.1 8 IBM WebSphere Adapter for SAP Software Version 6.1 8 IBM WebSphere Adapter for Siebel Business Applications Version 6.1 8 if-then rule 246, 251-252 implementation 12-13, 15, 21 import 14 import component 16, 18, 20, 33, 71–74, 78, 370 in terminal 293 incoming mode 124

initial state 230 inline map 323, 325 inline task 186 Input fault node 290 Input map 324 Input node 290, 298, 310, 393, 454 Input Response node 310, 335, 374, 376, 387, 393, 420 Input response node 290 input response node 310 instance-based roles 199 integer 171 integrated test environment 41, 128, 211, 305, 433 integration developer 30 Integration Test Client 380 integration test client 110, 133–134 interaction style 14 Interface 289 interface 12, 14-15, 21, 32, 40, 63, 73, 128, 132, 228, 277, 305, 392, 400, 450 interface editor 66 Interface map 130 interface map 13, 40, 272-273, 276, 278, 280-281 interface mapping editor 273, 278 interface partner 147-149 interface variable 151, 158 interfaces 44 invocation 197, 202 invocation task 186-187, 191, 208 invocationPath 297 Invoke activity 157, 173, 182 isolated 169

J

J2C authentication alias 377, 492 J2C Authentication Data 491 J2C authentication data 76 J2EE perspective 114 Java 52, 311 Java class 157 Java code 160, 305 Java component 14, 130 Java Connector Architecture 1.5 specification 7 Java interface 16 Java object 13, 130 Java objects 40 Java type interface 14 JavaServer Pages 15 JD Edwards EnterpriseOne 475 **JDBC 475** JDBC adapter 274, 364 JMS 287 JMS 1.1 4 JMS Binding 75 JMS binding 19, 75–76 JMS broadcast mode 20 JMS message 294 JMS resource 76 JMSHeader 304 Join 326 join 80 join condition 165 join failure fault 165 **JSP 85** JSP component testing 114

Κ

key 327 key column 327 key path 327 keyNotFound 327, 329 keyNotFound condition 381 keyNotFound terminal 373

L

libraries 44, 308 library 43, 45–46, 48, 433 library project 44 Lightweight Directory Access Protocol (LDAP) 201 local correlation set 168 local transaction 355 local variable 168 long-running business processes 24 long-running process 135, 141, 212 Lotus Forms Designer 4

Μ

machine-to-human (M2H) 25 map 272, 280 Map source to target based on names and types 325 mapping editor 83 mapping file 318 mappings 44 Match Mapping 325 Match Policy 454 Mediation 286 mediation 3 Mediation flow Request flow 290 Response flow 290 mediation flow 13, 35, 52, 69, 290, 311 Mediation Flow component 289 Interface 289 Partner reference 289 Wiring 289 mediation flow component 27, 289 Mediation Flow Editor 309, 371 Mediation module 288 mediation module 27, 32, 43-44, 51, 69, 289, 305-306.368 mediation modules 46 Mediation primitive 291 mediation service application 3 Message Element Setter primitive 292, 300, 333, 385-387 Message field refinements 337 Message Filter primitive 292, 327, 339-340, 402, 404, 419-421, 463 Message Logger database 356 Message Logger primitive 355–356 message root 321 MessageLogger primitive 292 microflow 24, 135, 141, 212 module 32, 40, 43-44, 46-47, 128 module assembly 14, 69 Move 326 move 80, 83, 272, 279 Move mapping 457 MQ binding 18–19 MQ JMS 18, 20 MQ JMS binding 18-19 MSGLOG table 357 My Task portlet 4

Ν

noMatch 345 normalize 323

0

Object Discovery Agent (ODA) 8 OnEvent element 183 one-way 18 one-way interaction 287 one-way operation 66, 76, 157 operation 66, 235 operation connections 371, 385, 402, 452, 462 operation mapping 272, 278 operations connections 310 Oracle E-Business Suite 475 origin 297 Originator role 200 Otherwise element 178 otherwise element 166–167 out terminal 293 outgoing mode 124 Outline view 39 owner role 200

Ρ

Palette 311 palette 69, 71, 227 palette, tray 227 Parallel Activities activity 164 parameter mapping 272, 278, 280 participant substitution 211 partner 148 Partner reference 289 partner reference 14, 16, 21 partner references 15 Paste Value 414 Payload 291 people assignment 195, 197–198 people assignment criteria 198, 200, 203 people directories 201 people directory 4, 211 PeopleSoft Enterprise 475 perspective 31 Physical Resources view 37, 44, 114 point-to-point 76 POJO 131 port number 371 Portal client 206 potential creators role 199 potential owners role 199 potential starters role 199 predecessor 297 process 23 process instance 212, 218 process template 150, 212–213, 217 Processes 13

profile 109 project 44 Properties 304 Properties view 147, 227 protocol translation 286 publish/subscribe 76, 287 publish-subscribe 18

Q

qualifier 21 quality of service security 293 quality of service (QoS) 21 queue 76

R

range 248 RAR 477 Rational ClearCase 115 Rational Software Development 30 readers role 199 ready state 207 Receive activity 147, 149, 154, 156 receive case element 167 Receive Choice activity 167–168 rectilinear 234 Redbooks Web site 514 Contact us xv Reference 288 reference 12, 14–15, 72–73, 228, 352 reference partner 72, 147–148, 150 References view 38 Regenerate Implementation 385, 392 regenerate implementation 72 Relationship 326 relationship 25, 80 Relationship Lookup 326 relationship lookup 80 Relationship manager 2 reliable messaging 21 Reply activity 156, 173 Request flow 290 request flow 310, 402 request-response 287 request-response operation 66, 76, 156-157, 173, 273 Reset message type 337 resource adapter 78

Resource Adapter Archive (RAR) 479 Resource Adapter Deployment Descriptor Editor 476 Response flow 290 response flow 310, 376, 387, 407, 428, 458 rethrow activity 174 retry 353 retry count 353 retry delay 353 root 318, 355 Routing 419 RPC-encoded 20 RPC-literal 20 Rule group 130 rule group 239-242, 244 rule groups 13, 40 rule set 238-239, 241-246, 261-262 rule set editor 246 rule set template 247 rule template 246-247 rule type 246

S

SAP 475 SAP Exchange Infrastructure 475 SCA binding 20, 281 SCA component invocation message 294 schema 327 Scope activity 168, 182 SDO 326 SDO data graph 294 SDO data object 294 SDO DataObjects 27 Security 293 security 21, 76, 293, 491 selection criteria 269 Selector 13, 130 selector 25, 265, 267, 269 selectors 40 Sequence activity 163 Servers view 106, 108, 498 service component 12–14 Service Component Architecture (SCA) 2, 12 Service Component Definition Language (SCDL) 21 Service consumers 286 Service Data Objects 476 Service Data Objects (SDOs) 26

service interface 197 service interface area 195 service invocation 312 Service Invoke primitive 6, 292, 296, 317, 348, 352-353 service message object 27, 291, 294 manipulation 304 structure 294 context section 296 header section 304 Service Provider Interface (SPI) 472 Service providers 286 Service-Oriented Architecture (SOA 12 Set Message Element primitive 389 Set Message Type primitive 6, 292, 336-337, 402, 406 share 117, 119 shared business objects 298 shared context 296, 300, 350 Show Outline mode 39 Siebel 475 simple state 230 single threaded graph 171 SMO 304 SMO. See service message object. SMOHeader 304 snippet 24 Snippet activity 160 SOAP message 294 SOAP over HTTP 4, 287 SOAP over JMS 287 SOAP/HTTP 19-20, 344 soap/http 432 SOAP/JMS 19-20, 344 SOAPFaultInfo 304 SOAPHeader 304 split messages 348 SQL Editor 365 SQL editor 331 SSL 20 Stand-alone reference 288 stand-alone reference 15, 85 stand-alone task 186 stand-alone task template 209 starter role 200 state 228, 230-231, 234 State machine 130 state machine 13, 23, 40, 221, 223–224, 228, 231, 233-234

static bound 171 Stop primitive 292, 361 strongly-typed field 336 structure 153 submap 80, 83–84, 323, 326 substitution 219 Substring 323 subtasks 209 subtasks started 208 supportsSubtask attribute 210 suspend 137 synchronize 117 Synchronize view 123 SystemErr 109 SystemOut 107, 109

Т

tables 331 target 334 Target Activity 173 target component 269 target component association to an operation 268 task instance 213, 218 task list queries 211 task template 212-213, 217 task template. 24 TaskSystemAdministrator 199 TaskSystemMonitor 199 team development 115 Team Synchronizing perspective 123 technology adapters 475 template 251, 261 terminate 231 Terminate activity 174 terminated processes 218 Test Component 397 test data 110 test environment 106 Test Module 389, 394 test people query 211 Throw activity 173 timeout 235 Timeout element 183 timeout element 167 timer event 233 to-do 197, 202 to-do task 186, 191, 207 topic 76

Transaction 361 transaction 21 transaction mode 355, 358 transform 324 transformation 323 transient business objects 297 transient content 303 Transient context 327 transient context 299, 302 transition 228, 233–237 transition condition 164 tray 147 Type 334 type 334 Type Message Type primitive 403

U

untyped component 14 update 117 Use Derived Type 411 Use dynamic endpoint if set in the message header 347 user interface 195, 197 user interfaces 206

v

Validate 337 validate input 318 variable 147–148, 151, 228, 249 verb 63 version control 115 virtual member manager (VMM) 201 visual snippet editor 160 VMM 211

W

Wait activity 161 wbi:event 469 weakly-typed field 336, 400, 403–404 Web project 89 Web service 157 Web services binding 370, 450 Web services Business Process Execution Language (WS-BPEL) 2 WebSphere Adapter for JDBC 479 WebSphere Adapter Toolkit 476
WebSphere Adapters 21, 287 WebSphere Business Integration Adapters 7–8 WebSphere Business Integration Server 9 WebSphere Integration Developer 10 WebSphere InterChange Server 9 WebSphere JCA Adapter 474 WebSphere JCA Adapters 7 WebSphere Message Broker 9 WebSphere MQ 4, 18-19 WebSphere Portal 2, 4 WebSphere Service Registry and Repository 343-345, 429, 436, 447, 455 WebSphere Transformation Extender 4 While Loop activity 168 wildcard 138 wire 16 workspace 31, 42 WPRCSDB 357 WS-BPEL 23 WSDL type interface 14 WSRR definition 447

Х

XPath 312, 327, 334 XPath expression 456 XPath Expression Builder 403, 422–423 XPath expression builder 386 XPath V1.0 expression 304 XSL style sheets 304 XSL Transformation primitive 292, 318, 326, 373–374, 376, 393, 402, 406–407, 425, 429, 456, 458 XSLT primitive 304 XSLT transformation primitive 300

524 Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere ESB Part 1: Development



(1.0" spine) 0.875"<->1.498" 460 <-> 788 pages

Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus Part 1: Development



Build business	This IBM Redbooks publication provides developers with
integration	information about building and testing applications for IBM
applications	WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus. It helps developers with the tasks of creating
Build mediations	business integration applications and mediations. It also includes information about the use of adapters.
Use adapters	This is the first book of a three-part series:
	Getting Started with IBM WebSphere Process Server and IBM WebSphere Enterprise Service Bus:
	 Part 1: Development, SG24-7608 Part 2: Scenario, SG24-7642 Part 3: Run time, SG24-7643

BUILDING TECHNICAL

INFORMATION BASED ON PRACTICAL EXPERIENCE

INTERNATIONAL TECHNICAL SUPPORT

ORGANIZATION

IBM Redbooks are developed by the IBM International Technical Support Organization. Experts from IBM, Customers and Partners from around the world create timely technical information based on realistic scenarios. Specific recommendations are provided to help you implement IT solutions more effectively in your environment.

For more information: ibm.com/redbooks

SG24-7608-00

ISBN 0738430013

